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Dedication

This Gift of Love from Bapuji ( Bapu ki Prem Prasadi) is
dedicated to Bapu.

This is a .ollection of letters which Bapu wrote to me from
time to time and also those which 1 wrote to him. The letters
which Mahadevbhai and others wrote to mesas well as those |1
wrote Lo them have also been included in this collection for the
reason that they were written under Gandhiji’s instructions,
inspiration or with his consent. In fact, even the letters which
1 wrote to them were all mecant for Bapu only. Therefore,
considering all these as correspondence belween Bapu and
myself, 1 have included them in this publication since, if I were
to cxclude those letters, the entire connccting link would be
broken.

Most of Bapu lelters are in Hindi. Whatever letters Lie
wrote to me in English or on his behaif Mahadevbhai and others
wrote in"English, have been .ranslated into Hindi and included
in the Hindi edition of this collection. Similarly, now in English
edition of this collection, the letters in Hindi have been rendered
into English and included in this collection.

This bunch of letters provides an incomparable opportumty
to the people to study the mind of Bupu. They get education as
well, for Bapu’s corresponden.e covers an assottment of many
absorbiug topics. What is of supreme importance is to unders-
tand this fact that whatever exhortations or directions that one
finds here, be they individual, political or ethico-religious, arc
not just thosc of a great man or Mahatma but of a saintly man
and the outpourings of a friendly soul. As such they are useful
in the life of the common man, edifying and worthy of emulation
by all in their daily life.

At first, I had no intention of bringing out these in print; but
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my daughter-in-law Sarala was very insistent. Her insistence
appealed to me and so I acceded to it. This publication is the
outcome of that. It is Durga Prasad Mandelia’s enthusiasm and
labour that saw the book through the press. Pandit Viyogi Hari
also gave several useful suggestions.

The late Shri Sudhir Ranjan Das, retired Chief Justice of the
Supreme Court of India, was a very old fricnd of mine. He read
the entire correspondence and suggested that some letters which
were of a personal nature might be excluded. Accordingly,
certain letters have not becn included in this publication. My
friendship with Justice Das extended over an unbroken period of
55 years : Such longstanding friendship is not something which
comcs by easily in lifc, cven if one assiduously secks it.

Above all, I am cxtremely indebted to Kaka Saheb Kalelkar.
He occupies a special place among the few surviving chosen
co-workers of Gandhiji. He has laid me in a deep debt of grati-
tude by writing the Forcword to this collection.

The purpose of printing this collection is to help people in
understanding Bapu’s heart — not the heart of a Mahatma but
that of a human being. There is an added reason. Maybe, some
hundred or two hundred years from now, this collection may
become an invaluable treasure because the unfoldment of Bapu's
real life will begin only after a ccntury or two. This is my view.

It is indeed God’s infinite mercy on me that I could become
the recipient of Bapu's love in an abundant measure, that this
relationship lasted 32 years, that I could learn a great deal from
my association with him and that through him I could gain the
friendship of great souls like Sardar Patel. Such is the bountiful
grace of the Lord on me. I derive great contentment from the
successful culmination of this venture because—

The spotless standard of Yama’s troops
Comes before my eycs be-dimmed by age
And fighting a losing battle with discases
This mortal frame doth droop day by day.



Preface

Gandhiji was very regular in his correspondence. It was by
this means alone that he was able to maintain a hearty relation
with innumerable peoplc and was able to influence them to
maintain high ideals in their lives. To cnter with his heart into
the individual life of the person with whom a rclation was
established and to help him in his development, having undecr-
stood the individual’s ability, his special nature and its depth,
were the peculiar features of his correspondence. Hence
Gandhiji’s correspondence is as important as his writings and
speeches. To understand the personality of Gandhiji, his cor-
respondence is very useful. 1 have observed that his style of
writing letters is also a typical one. Few world leaders have left
behind them such a volume of correspondence as has Gandhiji.

I have always had the feeling while reading Gandhiji’s cor-
respondence that 1 was taking a dip in the sacred Ganges and
sipping jts waters. Always it was a purifying and pleasant ex-
perience for me to rcad L. s letters. The surrounding climatc of
its contents is purifying, ufe-sustaining and soothing.

Because of this 1 was very happy when Shri Ghanshyamdasji
sent to me the entire bunch of his correspondence with Gandhiji.
[ began rcading it with immense enthusiasm. As 1 went on read-
ing, it bccame clear to me that this correspondence is not
merely confined to the letw ;5 exchanged between Ghanshyam-
dasji and Gandhiji but also includes those exchanged between
the late Mahadevbhai Desai, who was a close friend of
Gandhiji, and Ghanshyamdasji. Apart from these, there is the
correspondence with other friends of Gandhiji, many leaders
and workers of the nation, Viceroys and politicians. There is
also a description of their interviews. In short, a valuable
history of the present times is to b2 found here.
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Seeing this, T exclaimed, *“Ah, if only this material had come
into my haunds five years ago!”

Today, Tam 91. I am becoming increasingly forgetful. I go
on forgetting so casily many a valuable fact. I have to record
with sorrow today I am not able to dive so deep into this cor-
respondence as I would have been able to, had this material
reached my hands five years carlier. Yet I feel that the basic
structure of my thinking on fundamental ideals has not
changed in me. It is with its aid that 1 dare plunge into this
ocean.

Before the year 1915, our people had experimented with
several solutions for the attainment of Independence. We adop-
ted the use of extremist mcthods. We also tried the path of
petitions and prayers. We madc cfforts to make industrial
progress. We started social reform movements for reforming
society. We also fervently increased our faith in religion, We
trod the path of swadeshi and boycott. Also we used bombs
and pistols. We, Indians, tried with devotion, all thosc solutions
that occurred to us or were suggested to us for the gaining of
swaraj. Yet there was neither swaraj near at hand nor there
was to be found a ray of hope. Some of our efforts, instcad of
removing the British Empire, only helped in strengthening it
much more. The whole country was in uttter despair when in
1915, Gandhiji returned to India from South Africa.

In South Africa where there was no Indian Government,
nor Indian environment, Gandhiji with the help of uneducated,
almost uncultured and hapless Indians, started a powerful
satyagraha campaign and recaped success in it. We had hcard
and read about the activitics of this leader of action, Gandhiji,
and his new cxperiment. As soon as he returned to India,
Gandhiji toured from the Himalayas to Rameshwaram, cxplain-
ing to the people his vision of satyagraha. Thosc to whom
swaraj was a cause were attracted towards him. Soon the heart
beats of Gandhiji had their echo in the pulse of the people and
both werc tuncd to the same wave length. The entire country,
without the least hesitation, was ready to follow him. Gandhiji
beccame a great representative of Indian culture and India’s
aspirations. He spoke the language of sacrifice, restraint and
magnanimity which was ulso the confident language of the
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Indian masses. The nation, seeing his uncommon humility and
extra-ordinary sclf-confidence, became confident that he would
surely achicve something.

Even as all rive:s empty themsclves into the ocean, becom-
ing one with it, so too, all of us who dreamed of swaraj despite
our different mental make-up, different backgrounds and diffe-
rent ways of life, went, and joined him. We gladly accepted his
leadership and fully played our role in the activitics directed
by him.

Among thc chosen few close workers who came in contact
with Gandhiji at that time, the place of Shri Ghanshyamdasji is
a special one.

This everybody knows that Shri Ghanshyamdasji is one of
the few wealthy men of India. His primary field of work has
always been in the industry. This too people know that he earned
well and spent his wealth for good causes with open arms.
Whenever there was need for money, Gandhiji without hesita-
tion conveyed his desire to Shti Ghanshyamdasji who respon-
ded forthwith. Of the manv sayings of Gandhiji, the following
is very important: “The wealthy should not consider them-
selves to be masters of their wealth, but consider themselves as
trustces and use it for the wellare of the society. Having the
feeling that the wecalth of the society is with him and that he
is its trustee, the wealthy person should spend his wecalth.”
Though, in principle, hri Birlaji did not accept this teaching
of Gandhip he had taken this to his heart. The educational
institutions, charitable guest hov.2s and hospitals that are to
be found all over India in the na.ac of the Birias are standing
testimony to this. Apatt {rom his own instilutions, there are
many others in the country that are run mainly from the
charities of the Birlas. Almost all the institutions of Gandhiji
have been benefited from the wealth of Shii Ghanshyamdasi.
Pcrhaps none, apart from late Jun -alalp Bajaj, had contubuated
so much to the Institutions of Gandhiji as Shri Ghanshyamdasji.
There is a famous story.

Gandhiji had come to Delhi. During the same period,
Gurudev Rabindranath Tagore also had reached Delhi to make
collections for his Visva Bharati. Gurudev organised a pro-
gramme of dance and music at different places and at the end
of the programme asked for donations from the people. Gandhiji



[ xvi]

felt unhappy on hearing this. That such a famous person as
Tagore, in his old age, just to seek donations and that too a
mere Rs. 60,000 was forced to go about organising programmes
of dance and music was something which Gandhiji could not
bear. He suddenly remembered Ghanshyamdasji. Gandhiji sent
a message to him through Shri Mahadevbhai Desai that six of
the rich men should each contribute Rs. 10,000 to Gurudev and
save India from a sense of shame. Tt i1s needless to say that Shri
Birlaji contributed the whole amount as a secret donation to
Gurudev and made him carefree.

Not only did Gandhiji receive donations from Birlaji for
his institutions but he made Birlaji contribute to others’ causes
as well. Who these persons were to whom Gandhiji made
Birlaji give donations and to what extent Birlaji offered his
wealth at the feet of Gandhiji will be known from this collection
of his letters.

In a way, really this was a unique revelation of the relation
between Gandhiji and Birla.

But onc should not think that giving donations liberally
was the only relation of Birlaji with the activities of Gandhiji.

There were two streams of work—both impoitant—which
Gandhiji had placed befpre the people, for getting swaraj.
One was the constructive stream and the other political.

Gandhiji found that the high-low strata of society which
was fundamental and the feeling of ‘myself and himself* which
was favoured by the cultural group were the two important
factors on which the entire superstructure of Indian society
rested. The result was that though peace, health and the prin-
ciple of co-existence were to be found in our social life, yet we
have been incapable of preserving national unity and indepen-
dence. The entire history of India is a proof of this weakness
of ours.

It was the chief aim of the constructive activities of Gandhiji
to remove this our national weakness of the present and to
create a new society full of life and all-round development in the
future. Gandhiji placed before the nation 18 to 20 programmes
such as Hindu-Muslim unity, removal of untouchability, develop-
ment of khadi and village industries and the propagation of
the national language, for the achievement of the above two
ideals. He used to say that the fulfilment of the above pro-
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gramme would be indeed complete independence.

The programme chalked out was not one depending on
servitude having its basis in charity and religion. It was a
prophetic effort to unite India of the vast landscape consisting
of many races, many faiths and many languages. Mental
revolution leading to revolution of the life and from that to the
total revolution in society was the precgramme chalked out. In
this revolution Gandhiji gave a new meaning to old values.

Shri Ghanshvamdasji recognising the revolutionary possi-
bilities of this programme accepted it with all his hcart. Many
letters in this collection reveal to us the deep faith of Birlaji in
Hindu-Muslim unity and in the eradication of untouchability,
and the efforts he made to bring them to success. 1f he had any
difference of opinion with Gandhiji, it was perhaps to some
extent about the economics of khaddar. In this he maintains
his own individual opinion. Yel it attracts our attention that
though having an indepcndent opinion, he like a dedicated
soldier, was spinning with the whecl. Not only this, he took the
vow of LKhadi. Gandhiji was impressed with this nature of
Birlaji, which loved disciplinc. To show his joy, Gandhiji
presented Birlaji with a special tvpe of spinning-wheel. He
praiscd the thread spun by Birlaji and asked him not to abandon
the sacred work which he had started.

Gandhiji had a speciality or distinction He quickly recog-
nised the good of men and made full use of them for the
welfarc of the nation. Gandhiji had more confidence in us
than we had in ourselves. Whue moulding us, he made our
weak faith strong. In the end, hc was able to eatract from us
more work than was possible otherwise.

Though a rich man, Ghanshyamdasji was not affected by
the illusion of wealth. Gandhiji had recognised this. He also
hado bserved the skill of Birlaii in managing worldly affairs.
To help him in the development of his personality, Gandhiji
had shown him a path and in this we sce the light thrown by a
prophetic educationalist on many big and small aspects of the
all-round human personality. This is a special characteristic
of Gandhiji’s letters.

More important than this is the fact that a picture of the
modest, spotless life of Ghanshyamdasji can be seen in this

collection, )
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It was no wonder that Ghanshyamdasji was attracted towards
Gandhiji. Observing Gandhiji's dedication to religion, his
forthright straight path and also the intensity of his search for
truth, he became Gandhiji’s best devotee. Birlaji considered it
his duty to take on his shoulders the burden of any responsi-
bility which Gandhiji had laid. And he fulfilled it with a full
heart. .

But he had dedicated himself enthusia<tically and with a full
heart to the political work of Gandhiji. In this collectivn of
letters we are able to sce the inside story of those events that
happened behind the curtain between Gandhiji and the govern-
ment at that time. The days of those times were such that
something or the other was always happening in the camp of
Gandhiji which created history. Ghanshyamdasji had a special
and deep intercst in this aspect of Gandhiji's activitics. Having
given his close attention to cvery small or big thing that occurred,
by degrees he was considered to be onc among the chosen few
who knew well the political mind of Gandhiji. Soon he projected
himself with confidence before the English statesmen as a reliable
intcrpreter of the political mind of Gandhiji. He consideredit
his responsibility to convey to the English statesmen the way
Gandhiji's mind worked and also he conveyed to Gandhiji the
mind of the English statesmen. It was a self-imposcd task which
he accomplished with uncommon dexterity and success.

In this book the picture that presents itself to our mind of
Ghanshyamdasji in a special way is that of a skillcd statesman.
This reminds us of Lord Krishna who went to the darbar hall of
the Kauravas for a peaceful solution (of the demand of the
Pandavas).

Having gone through this correspondence that went on for
nearly 32 years, my first impulse was to advise Birlaji to divide
it into three separate books. In the first one, only the corres-
pondence between him and Gandhiji was to be included. How
Gandhiji dived deeply into the many problems of his day, how
he understood the subtle nature of each problem, how he showed
the path to his personal followers and lastly how he showered
his leve on them, all these could be clearly seen by us from this
part.

In the second book, only the correspondence of Birlaji with
late Mahadevbhai Desai was to be included. This would have
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enabled us to enjoy the fragrance of the personal and intimate
conversation between two close friends.

In the third book, all the rest of the material could be
included which may be important for history.

On reconsideration, 1 felt that this should not be done.
Whatever material is here should be published together in the
order in which it is found. Well, the, size of the book may
increase. If so, it may be bound in two volumes. This is not a
book written for whiling away our leisure hour. This is an ocean
which has a great historical value. When the future generations
want to understand our times, then this source book would
become very useful and intercsting. Much material would be
found packed in this book that would interest the students of
history. This is a bunch of very valuable historical documents,
whose full worth only the future generations will know.

To me, a Gandhi fan, this book has given transcendental joy.

The credit goes to my young friend, Shri Ravindra Kalelhar,
due to whose labour I am able to write this preface at this age
aad in this state of health.

Affectionately yours,

Respecetful Vande Mataram of
KAKA KALEI KAR

Ohton bt ch orand






CONTENTS.

1937

. TO MAHADEV DESAI : MY LETTER

(July 7)

. TO MAHADEV DESAT: MY LETTER

(July 8)

. TO ME : MAHADEYV DESAT’S LETTER

(July 9)

. TO MAHADEV DESAI : MY LETTER

(July 12)

. TO ME : MAHADLYV DESAI'S LETTER

(July 16)

. TO MAHADEYV DESAI : MY LETTER

(July 17)

7. TO ME : BAPU'S LETTER (July 18)

10.

11.

13.

14.
15.

16.

. TO ME : MAHADEYV DFSATS LETTER

(July 19)

. TO ME : MAHADEV DESAI'S LETTER

(July 19)

T0 MAHADLV DESAI. MY LE.TER
(July 20)

TO MAHADEYV DESAI : MY LETTER
(July 22)

. TO BAPU : LINLITHGOW'S LETTER

(July 23)

TO ME : MAHADEV DESAI'S LL! kR
(July 23)

THE IMPLICATIONS

TO VICEROY : BAPU’S LETTER
(July 27)

TO MAHADEYV DESAI : MY LETTER
(July 27)

Original
Original
Original
Origmal
Original

Original
Translation

Original
Otriginal
Original
Original
Original

Original
Original

Uriginal

Original

18]

0

<3

13
14

15

17

23
27

28

29



17.

18.

[ xxii ]

TO MAHADEYV DESAI: MY LETTER
(July 28)
TO BAPU : MY LETTER (July 29)

19. TO MAHADEV DESAI : MY LLTTER

20.

24.

2s.

26,

30.
31.

32

34.

5.

36.

37. TO BAPU : TELEGRAM OF ANDAMAN

38. TO PRISONERS OF ANDAMAN : BAPL"S

39.

(July 30)

TO ME : MAHADEV DESAI'S LETTER
(August 1)

. TO ME : MAHADLV DESAU'S LETTER

(August 3)

. TO ME : MAHADEYV DLSAI’'S LETTER

(August 4)

. TO ME : MAHADEYV DESAI'S LETTER

(August 6)

TO BAPU : MY LETTER (August 8)

TO MAHADEY DESAL: MY LEITER
(August 8)

TO MAHADEV DLSAI: MY LEI1LR
(August 9)

. TO MAHADLV DLSAI: MY LLCTTER

(August 16)

. TO BAPU : G. CUNNINGHAM’'S LETTER

(August 17)

. TO ME : MAHADLV DESAI'S LEITER

(August 18)
TO ME : BAPU'S I LTTER (August 18)
10 ME : MAHADLYV DESAI'S LT TTER
(August 19)

TO MAHADEY DLESAI : MY LETTER
(August 20)

. TO GOVERNOR OF NWFP . BAPU'S LETTER

(August 24)

TO ME : MAHADEV DESAI'S LETTER
(August 26)

TO ME : MAHTIADLY DESAI'S LLTILER
(August 27)

TO ML : MAHADLV DESATI'S LETTER
(August 30)

PRISONERS (Scptember 2)
TELEGRAM (Scptember 3)

PRISONLRS OF ANDAMAN : BAPU'S
TELEGRAM (August 30)

Original
Translation

Original
Original
Original

Original

Ouiginal
Orginal

Ouiginal
O11ginal
Original
Original

Oniginal
Tianslation

Original

3

Original
O1iginal
Ongimal
Tianslation
Orginal
O11ginal

Ouiginal

Original

54

54

58

59
062

63

64

65

06

69

70

72

72

73



40.

41.

43,
44.

45.

46.
47.

48,

49.

50.

51,

53.

54,

55.

56.

57.

58.

59. TO MAHADEV DESAI : SARA T CHANDRA

60.

61.

62,

[ xxiii ]
TO BAPU : MY LETTER (August 31)

TO MAHADEV DESAI : MY LETTER
(Septcmber 4)

. MY MEANING OF OFFICE ACCEPTANCE

(September 4)

APPEAL TO DISCHARGED PRISONERS

TO ME : MAHADEV DESAI'S LETTER
(September 6) .

TO ME : MAHADEV DESAI'S LETTER

* (September 7)

NOT IMPRACTICABLE

TO MAHADEY DESAI : MY LETTER
(Sepiember 8)

TO VICEROY : BAPU'S LETTER
(Sepiember 8)

TO GOVERNOR OF N.W.F.P.: BAPU'S
LETTER (September 8)

TO BHULABHAI DESAI : MY LETTER
(September 14)

TO ME : MAHADEYV DESATI'S LETTER
(September 16)

. TO MAHADEYV DESAI : MY LETTER

(September 22)

TO ML : MAHADEYV DESAI'S LETTER
(September 22)

TO MAHADEV DLESAI : MY LETTER
(September 28)

TO MAHADEV DESAT : MY LETTER
(November 13)

TO BAPU : K. NAZIMUDDIN S LETTER
(November 24)

TO MAHADEV DESAI : NALINI RANJAN
SARKAR’S LFTTLR (Novcmber 27)

TO K. NAZIMUDD IN : BAPU'S LETI7FR
(November 28)

BOSE'S LETTER (November 28)
TO MAHADEY DESAI : MY LETTER
(December 4)
TO MAHADEYV DESAI : MY LETTER
(December 5)

TO ME : MAHADEV DESAI'S LETTER
(December 13)

Translation
Original

Original
Original

Original

Original
Original

Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Otiginal
Origmal
Original
Original
Oziginal
Original
Original
Original
Original

Original

73

76

78
80

82

84
84

86

87

88

89

90

92

93

95

97

98

10¢

102

103

104

107

108



[ xxiv ]

63, TO MAHADEV DESAT: MY LETTER
(December 13)

64. TO MAHADEYV DESAI : MY LETTER
(December 15)

65. TO MAHADEV DESAI : MY LETTER
(December 16)

66. TO MAHADEYV DESAI: MY LETTER
(December 17),

67. TO ME : MAHADEV DESAT'S LETTER
(December 17)

68. TO ME : MAHADEV DESAI'S LETTER
(Dccember 18)

69, TO LOTHIAN : MY LETTER
(December 19)

70. TO MAHADEV DESAL : MY LETTLR
(Deceniber 20)

71 TO ME: MAHADEYV DESAI'S LETTER
(December 21)

72. TO MAHADEV DLSAl: MY LETTER
{December 21)

73. TO ME MAHADLYV DESAI'S LETTER
(December 22)

74. TO MAHADLYV DLSAI: MY LETITEFR
(December 23) ¢

75. TO MAHADEV DLSAI : MY LEITER
(December 25)

76. TO MAHADEYV DESAI : MY LETTER
(December 28)

77. TO MAHADLY DLSAI . MY LETTLR
(December 30)

78. TO MAHADEYV DLSAL. MY LETTER
(December 31)

Letters without Date

79. TO BAPU : VICCLROY’S TELEGRAM

80. EXCHANGE OF TELEGRAMS CONCERNING

DETENUS OF ANDAMANS

1938

1. TO MAHADEV DESAI : MY TELEGRAM
(January 3)

Original
Original
Original
Original
Translation«
Ornigmnal
Original
Original
Ongmnal
Oniginal
Onginal
Original
Ornigmal
Original
Original

Original

Original

Original

Original

109

112

113

117

118

119

125

128

128

129

130

131

134

134

139



[ xxv ]

2. TO ME : MAHADEYV DESA!'S LETTER
(January 9)
3. TO MAHADLYV DESAI : MY LETTER
(January 11)
4. TO MAHADEYV DESAI : MY LETTER
(January 12)
5. TO LORD LOTHIAN AND RESPONSIBLE
STATESMEN ONLY (January 20)
6. TO MAHADEV DESAI : MY LETTER )
. (January 26)
7. TO MAHADEYV DESAI : MY LETTER
(January 28)
8. TO MAHADEV DESAI: MY LEITER
(Fcbruary 7)
9. TO BAPU : MY LETTER
(February 20)
10. TO BAPU: MY LETTER
(February 25)
11. TO ME : MAHADEYV DLSATI'S LETTER
(March 14)
12. TO MAHADEV DESAI : MY LETTLR
(March 17)
13. TO BAPU : MY LETTER (April 20)
14. TO ME : BAPU'S LCTTER (Apiil 25)
15. WAS NOT PROPL R (June 2)

16. TO BAPU : AGATHA HARRISON’S LETTER

(May 5)

17. TO ME : MAHADEYV DESAI'S LETTER
(June ‘})

18. TO MAUHADEYV DLSAI: MY LETTER
(Junc 10)

19. TO ME : MAHADEV DLSAI'S LETTER
(June 17)

20. TO ME . MAHADEYV DESAY'S LFTTER
(June 24)

21. TO BAPU : AGATHA HARRISO \ § LETTER
(July 3)

22. TO ME : MAHADLYV DESAI'S LETTER
(July 11)

23. TO ME : MAHADLYV DESATI'S LETTER
(July 14)

24. TO MAHADEV DESAI : MY LETTER
(July 20)

Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Oyiginal
Original
Original
Origiual
Translation
Otiginal
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original

Ouriginal

Original

13¢

142

145

146

147

158
159
160
16C

162

167

168

169

170

172

173

174

174



26.

27.

28

29.

3L

32

33.

3,

36.
37.
38.

40.
41.

42.
43,

44.

45.

46.

[ xxvi ]

. TO A FRIEND : MAHADEV DESAI'S LETTER

(July 22)

TO MAHADEV DESAI : MY LETTER
(July 24)

TO MAHADEV DESALI : MY LEITER
(July 28)

TO MAHADLY DESAI: MY LETTER
(July 30) .

TO MIRABEN . MY LETTLR ¢
(July 31)

. TO MAHADEYV DESAI : MY LETTER

(July 31

TO MI : MAHADLYV DLSAI'S LLTTER
(August 2)

TO AGATIIA HARRISON : DUTT'SILTITLR
(August 3)

TO BAPU : AGATHA HARRISON'S LITTER
(August 4)

TO MAHADEV DESAI: MY LLTIER
(August 5)

. 10 ML : MAHADEYV DESAI'S LLTTER

(August &)
TO ML . BAPU'S LLTIER (August 12)
TO MI : BAPU'S LETTER (August 26)

TO ME : MAHADFV DESAI'S LETTLR
(August 27)

. TO MAHADEV DESAI - MY LETTER

(August 31)
TO BAPU : MY TLLEGRAM (October 19)
TO ML : PYARFLAL'S LETTER
(October 21)
TO ME : BAPU'S TELEGRAM (October 22)
TO BAPU : AGATHA HARRISON'SLLT1LR
(November 7)
TO ML : PYARLLAL'S LI TILR
(December 22)
TO PYARELAL : MY LLTITLR
(December 25)
TO ME : PYARELAL'S LETTLR
(Deccmber 30)

Original
Original
Original
Oniginal
Ongmal
Original
Onginal
Original
Original
Original

Onginal
Translation
Tianslation

Original

Onginal
Ouginal

Orniginal
Orignal

Otigimal
Onignal
Otiginal

Original

175

176

177

177

178

179

180

181

182

185

185
186
187

187

188
189

189
190

192

193

195

196



[ xxvii ]

Letters without Date

47. THE GREATEST ACT

48. INTERVIEW TO PRESS DRAFTED BY
GANDHUI

49. CO-OPERATIVE PRODUCTION OF
COCOANUT OIL

50. NOTE ON CONVERSATION WITH
NAZIMUDDIN’

1939

1. TO BAPU : MY LETTER (January 1)

2. JAIPUR

3. TO BEAUCHAMP ST. JOHUN : BAPU’S
LETTER (January 18)

4. TO BAPU : BEAUCHAMP ST. JOHN'S
LETTER (January 20)

5. TO BEAUCHAMP ST. JOHN : BAPU’S
LETTER (January 22

6. TO BAPU : BEAUCHAMP ST. JOHN'S
LETTER (January 25)

7. TO BEAUCHHAMP ST. JOHN : BAPU'S
LETTER (January 27)

&, TOJAMNALAL BAJAS : P.L. CHUDGAR’S

LETTLR canuary 28)

9.10 MAl.lADEV DLSAI: MY
LETTER (Januarv 2 )

10. TO ME : MAHADEV DESA. S LLTTER
(January 24)

11. TO MAHADLYV DESAl : MY LLTTER
(January 25)

12. TO MAHADLY DESAL : MY LLTIER
(January 26)

13. TO MAHADEY DFSAI : MY 1 LTTLR
(January 20)

14. TO MAHADLEYV DESAI MY : LETTER
(January 26)

15. TO ME : MAHADNEV DESAI'S LETTER
(January 27)

16. TO ME : PYARELAL'S LETTER
(January 28)

Original
Original
Original

Original

Original
Original

Ouiginal
Original
Original
Onginal
Orniginal
Onginal
Osiginal
Original
Onginal
Original
Original
Qriginal
Original

Original

197

200

200

204



[ xxviii ]

17. TO ME : MAHADEYV DESAI'S LETTER
(January 29)

18. TO ME : MAHADEYV DESAI'S LETTER
(January 30)

19. TO MAHADEV DESAI: MY LETTER
(January 30)

20. TO PYARELAL: MY LETTER
(January 31)

21. TO LORD LINLITHGO : BAPU'S LLTTER
(January 31)

22. TO PYARELAL : MY LETTER
(Febiuary 1)

23. TO PYARELAL : MY TELEGRAM
(February 1)

24, TO ME : MAHADEV DLSAI'S LETTFR
(Fcbruaty 1)

25. TO ME : BAPU'S TELEGRAM
(February 2)

26. TO ME : BAPU'S TELLGRAM
(Fcbruary 3)

27. TO BAPU : MY TELEGRAM (February 3)

28. TO BAPU : MAHADEV DESAI'S TLLLGRAM
(Febiuary 4)

29. TO ME . PYARLLAL'S LETTER
(February 4)

30. TO ME : PYARELAL'S LETTER
(February 6)

31. TOPYARELAL : MY LETTER (kebruury 8)

32. TO SUSHILLABEN : MY LETTER
(February 8)

33. TO BAPU : MY TELLGRAM (Fcbruary 8)

34. TO MAHADEV DESAI : VALLABHBHAI
PATEL'S LETTER (February 8)

35. TO ME : MAHADEY DESAI'S LETTER
(February 9)

36. TO ME : BAPU'S TELEGRAM
(February 9)

37. TOME : SUSHILA'S LETTER
(February 9)

38. TO PYARELAL : MY LETTER
(Fcbruary 10)

39. TO ME : MAHADEYV DESAI'S LETTER
(February 10)

Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
QOuiginal

Onginal
Original

Original
Origmal

Original
Ougi.ual

Oniginal
Original

O1iginal
Original
Original
Original
Original

Original

221

222

222

227

227

228

230

231
231

234
235

235
236

236

237

238

239



41.

42,

43.

43.

46.

47.

48.

49,

50,

51.

54.

55.

56.

57.

58.

59.

61.

xxix ]

. TO ME : PAYARELAL’S LETTER

(February 10)

TO PYAREI AL : MY LETTER
(February 11)

BULLETIN ON BAPU’S HEALTH
(February 11)

TO PYARELAL : MY TELFGRAM
(February 11)

. TO MAHADEV DESAI : MY LETTER

* (February 11)

BULLETIN ON BAPU'S HEALTH
(February 12)

BULLLTIN ON BAPU'S HEAL.TH
(February 13)

TO ME : BAPU’S TELEGRAM
(February 13)

TO PYARELAL : MY LETTECR N
(February 14)

TO ME : MAHADEY DLSAI'S TFTLEGRAM

(February 14)

TO MAHADLYV DESAT - MY LETTER
(February 15)

TO PYAREI AL : MY LLETTER
(Fcbruary 18)

. TO ME : BAPU’S TELEGRAM (February 18)
53,

TO ML : PYARI T AL'S LETTER
(Fcbruary 18)

TO BAPD : 1 G. LAITHWAITE’S LETTER
(February 19)

TO ML : PYARELAL’S LECTER
(Febiuary 20)

TO LORD LINLITHGOW : BAPU'S LLTTER
(t cbruary 21)

TO ML : PYARELAL'S LETTER
(February 22)

TO P.S. TO THE VICEROY oAPU’S
THLEGRAM (February 24)

TO BAPU : MY, MAHADEYV DESAI'S AND
DEVDAS’S TELEGRAM (March 7)

. TO MAHADFV DESAT: J.G. LAITHWAITE'S

LETTLR (March 10)
TO J.G. LAITHWAITE : MAHADEYV DESAI'S
LETTER (March 10)

Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
O1iginal
Original
Original

Original
Original

Translation

Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original

Original

241
241
242
243
243
244

244

245
246
246

247
248

249
249
251
252
252
254
255
255

256



65.

66

67

68

69

70

71

73

74

76

77

78

79

80

81

82

[ xxx ]

TFROM GANDIHII TO LINLITHGOW
(March 16)

. TO REGINALD M MAXWELL BAPU’'S

1 ETTER (March 16)

TO RLGINALD M. MAXWELL BAPU'S
LETTER (March 16)

FROM GANDHIUJI TO LORD LINLITHGOW
(March 17)

TO MAURICI GWYIR, CHIEF JUSTICC
Or INDIA

TO TIHL RLSIDLNT FOR THE STATES OF
WISTERN INDIA VALLABHBHAI
PA1EL’S LETTLR (March 17)

TOJ G LAITHWAITC MY LLTTIR
(March 20)

TO T G LAITHWAITC VALI ABHBHAI
PATLI'S LETTER (March 21)

NOIISOF ACONVERSATION WITH MR
GUY WINT (Apul 1)

TO SUBI1AS CHANDRA BOSL BAPUS
LI TTT R (April 2)

TO LORD I INLITHGOW BAPU'S LLTTIR
(Aprit 7)

TO TG 1 AITHWAITE MAHADIV DESALS
1L ITI R (Apud 7)

TO GIBSON BAPU S LETTLR
(Apnt 19)

TO ME MAHADFV DISAI'S LCITER
(Aptd 20)

TO ME MAHADEV DESAIS LLTTER
(April 21)

TO MAHADEV DESA1 MY LCTTER
(Apuil 22)

TO BAPU MY TFLLGRAM
(April 23)

TO ME BAPU’S TI LEGRAM
(Apnl 24)

TO ML - BAPU'S TELEGRAM
(April 25)

TO ME - MAHADEYV DESAI'S LETTER
(May 2)

TO ME - MAHADEY DESAI'S LETTER
(May 3)

Ongmnal
Oniginal
Onigimal
Original

Original

Orniginal
Oripinal
Ouiginal
Onigmal
Original
Ornginal
Origimal
Ongmnal

Ong;nal

Tanslation
Original
Original
Original
Origmal
Onginal

Original

261

262

263

264

265

270

278

278

280

280

281

281

282



83
84
85

86

87

SR

69

2

91

92

93

08

96

97

93

99

100

101

102

103

104

[ xxxi ]

TO VIRAWAI A BAPU'S TCLEGRAM
TO BAPU VIRAWALA'S TLLEGRAM
TO MAHADFV DLSAT MY LFTTFR
(May 4)
TO MATIADEV DESAI MY LETTER
(May 5)
TO MAHLIADEV DESAI MY TELEGRAM
(May 6) .
TO.M AHADI V DLSAI MY LETTER
(My 6
TO ML MAHADLYV DISAT'S LTTIFR
(May §)
TO MAHADEV DFSAI MYLITTIR
(May 1)
TOME MAHADEVDISATSIITIIR
(May 15)
TO MAHADEV DISA] MY LI'TTLR
(Mny 19)
1OMF MAHADIVDFSAISLITIER
(May 1)
TOMAHADLY DISAT MYILTTIR
(Muay 25)
TOML MAHADIVDISATSITTIIR
(M1y 2y)
TOMI MAHADIVDISAIPSIHITIR
(May 29)
TOME MAHADEV DISAISITIITTIR
(M y 70)
10 MAHADEV DLSAT MYLEL TR
(June 1)
TO MI MAHADLV DESAT'SIETTFR
(une 17)
TOMI MAHADFVDLISATS LFITIR
(Junc 18)
IO MALHIADEY DISAL MYTHI SRAM
(June 1Y)
TO MAHADI VDFESAI MY LITTIR
(lunc 19)
10 MAHADEV DESAI MY LLTTER
(Tunc 20)
TO MAHADLV DLSA1 MY LETTER
(June 20)

Original
Oniginal

Oniginal
Origmal
Onginagl
Ongmal
Ongm 1
Oniginal
Onginal
Onginal
Original
Oripinal
Transhition
Oniginal
Onginal
Original
Original
Original
Oniginal
Orniginal
Original

Original

ng-

-

287

285

285

287

290

297

293

94

295

297

297

208

301



105.

106.

107.

108.

109.

110.

111.

113.

114,

115

116.

117.

118,

119.

[ xxxii ]

TO ME : MAHADEY DESAI'S LETTER
(June 22)

TO LORD LINLITHGOW : BAPU’S LETTER
(July 1)

TO BAPU : LORD LINLITHGOW’S LETTER
July D)

TO AGATHA HARRISON : MAHADEV
DESAI'S LETTER (July 5)

TO ML : MIRABEN'S LETTCR
(July 3)

TO ML : MAHADLYV DESAI'S LETTCR
(July 5)

TO MIRABEN : MY LETTER
July 7)

. TO ME BAPU'S LETTER

(July 9)

TO BAPU : AGATHA HARRISON'S LETTER
(July 14)

TO MAHADLYV DFSAI: MY LETTFR
(July 16)

TO ME : MIRABIN'S LETTER
(July 28)

TO BAPU : LORD LINLITHGOW'STETTfR
(July 28)

SOMI IMPRESSIONS BY AGATHA HARRISON

(July-August 1939)

TO VICLROY . BAPU'S TI LLGRAM
(August 1)

TO BAPU : LORD LINLITHGOW'SIETTFR
(August2)

. TOME . MAHADLYV DESAT'S | LTTLR

(August 2)

. TOMAHADEY DI SAl. MY LLTTFR

(August 4)

. TOME: MAHADLV DESAI'SILTILR

(August 4)

. TOME: MAHADEYV DLSAPS Lt ITER

(August 5)

. TO MAHADEV DISAT: MY LETTIR

(August 7)

. TO MAHADEV DESAI : MY LETTER

(August 9)

Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Orniginal
Thanslation
Original
Original
Onginal
Original
Original
Orniginal
Original
Oniginal
Original
Original
Original
Original

Original

30

302

303

304

305

307

308

309

310

14

315

316

317

321

321

324

325

325

326



[ xxxiii ]

126. TO ME : MAHADEV DESAI'S LETTER

127.

128.

129.

(August 10)

TO MAHADLYV DESAIL: MY LETTER
(August 14)

TO PYARELAL : MY TELEGRAM
(August 24)

TO MAHADLEYV DESAl : MY LETTER.
(August 29) .

130. TO ME . MAHADEY DESAT'S TELEGRAM

131.

132,

133.

134.

135.

136.

117.

138,

139,

140

141.

142,

143.

144,

145,

146,

(August 28)

TO MAHADLYV DESA1. MY 1ELEGRAM
(August 30)

TO ME: MAHADELV DESAI'S LETTFR
(Aug.ist 30)

TO MATIADLYV DESAL: MY LETTER
(August 31)

TO ME : BAPU’S TI LEGRAM
(August 31)

TO MAHADLYV DESA1: MY TELEGRAM
(September 1)

TO ME: MAHADFV DESAI'S LETTER
(September 8)

TO ME : MAHADEV DESAI'S LETTER
(September 10)

TO MAHADEV DLSAL: MY LETTER
(Septembet 1.,

WORKI.NG COMMIT CEE'S RESOLUTION
ON WAR

TO MAHADEY DESAI- MY LLTTER
(September 15)

TO ME : MAHADEV DESAI'S LETTER
(September 15)

TO MAHADEYV DIESAI: MY LETTER
(September 16)

TO ME: MAHADEYV DESAI'S LE | FER
(September 18)

TO ME : SUSHILA’S LETTER
(Octobcer 4)

TO ME : MAHADEFEV DESAI'S LETTER
(October 15)

TO ME: MAHADEV DESAI'S LETTER
(October 15)

Original
Original
Original
Qriginal
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Ornigmal
Original
Original
Original
Original

Original

327

328

329

329

333

333

333

334

335

336

336

338

339

339

341

341

343

344

345

34¢

34¢€



[ xxxiv ]

147. TO MAHADEV DESAI: MY LETTER
{October 17)

148. TO MAHADELYV DESAIL: MY LETTER
(October 18)

149, TO ME : MAHADEYV DESAI'S LETTER
(October 21)

150. TO MAHADEV DESAI_; MY LETTER
(October 23)

151. TO MAHADEV DESAI: MY LETTER
(November 29)

152. TO MAHADEYV DESAI: MY LETTER
(November 30)

153. TO MAHADEV DESAIL: MY LETTER
(December 8)

154. TO ME: MAHADEV DESATI'S LETTER
(December 25)

155. TO MAHADEV DESAI: MY LETTER
(December 28)

156. TO MAHADEY DESAI: MY LETTER
(December 28)

157. TO MAHADEV DESAI: MY LETTER
(December 29)

‘

Letters without Date

158. TO ME: PYARELAL'S LETTER

159. BULLETIN ON BAPU’S HEALTH

160. BULLETIN ON BAPU'S HEALTH

161. TO FIRST MEMBER RAJKOT : BAPU’S
TELEGRAM

162. NOTES OF AN INTERVIEW WITH
GANDHUI OF MR. STEEL

163. TO AGATHA HARRISON : BAPU’S
LETTER

Original
Original
Original
Original
Original
Origmal
Osiginal
Origmal
Origmnal
Original

Onginal

Original
Original
Original
Original

Original

Original

349

350

351

352

352

353

355

356

356

357

358

36C
361
362

362

365

365



1937






GROSVENOR HOUSE.
PARK LANF,
LoNDON, W. 1,
July 7, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVRHAIL,

Reuters just now phoned me that at the instance of Bapu
the Working Committce had decided to accept office in the six
provinces and | was simply overwhelimed with joy to hear this
news. 1 have no doubt in my mind that Bapu has talen the
correct decision and no one but Bapu alone could have done
this. Of course I feel that demands have partially been met, but
an ordinary politician would not have the courage to make any
advance under such circumstances. However our trial begins
now, and here again T have no doubt that with Bapu's guidance,
the Congress will not only be the most successful ministry but
we shall advance towards our goal.

I Anow that Bapu by his instinct perhap- realised the neces-
sity of giving this advice at this stage. But all the same my
vanity tickles me to belicve that perhaps my letters might have
nmiade some contribution ‘n iflueacing Bapu’s mind. In any
casc, if I failed here in getting Bapu’s formula accepted, 1 can
say to myself, cven though it may not be true, that 1 succeeded
with Bapu.

Now tomorrow I am going tc meet Lord Halifax and Sir
Findlater Stewart and in a day or two, [ will again meet Lord
Zetland and Lord Lothian. I am thinking of mecting a few other
statesmen befoic leaving this country. I #m going to impress
upon them that if it was difficult to get the Congress in it would
be still more difficult to retain them 'n and that if they did not
play the game, the Congress would not stay in. 1 am going to
impress upon them the necessity of a few of their statesmen
visiting Irdia while the Congress was in power.

Let me tell you, although Rajaji’s letter shattered my hopes,
that I was not quite unhopeful about the Congress accepting
office. First your complete silence did kill my hopes. You know
you have not written to me a single letter after my arrival here
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and I said to myself that this could not be accidental but was
deliberate under the instructions of Bapu. And this could mean
only one thing that you did not want to say anything about
Bapu’s mind. Perhaps he wanted to wait until the Committee
meeting at Wardha was over.

When I saw Agatha receiving a copy of Bapu’s letter to
Lothian and your own letter, of course, I put my own interpre-
tation on their contents, but at the same time it made quite
clear that the omission to write to me was deliberate, and it
had its meaning. That sustained my hope and when Recuters
today phoned me, I was very happy to know that Congress
had decided to accept office, but T was not surprised.

Now you should write to me what I should tell the people
here. You should keep me fully informed <o that 1 can do what
is pos.ible to do. [ may tell you, as I smid in my last letter, that
although T dul not succeed here, I have ‘impressed’ and I feel
that this personal touch is going to be of great use in future.

Also please tell Bapu that my health is splendid. In the
beginning when I had not sufficient work to de, 1 tried to take
a few lessons in fencing, but then gave them up as the work
increased. But T am taking plenty ot excicise. Fencing 15 not a
new thing to me because in my childhood I was not bad in lathi
playing and wrestling and I just wanted to revive my old practice.
But 1 think it is all useless. 1 am writing all this because I know
it will amuse you.

Yours sincerely,
G. D. Birla

SYT. MAHIADEVBHAL DESAI
WARDH A
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GROsVENOR HOUSF,
PARK LANE,
LonNpoN, W. 1,
July 8, 1937
MY DFAR MAHADLVRHAI,

I had a talk today with Lord Halifax and [ impressed upon
him the great necessity of the Governors and the setvices play-
ing the game I told him that the Congress was not coming in
st to work the Constitution, but to advance towards their
goal. Tucy could do it either through Constitution or through
direct action. For the time being, they have dropped lireet
action and have resorted to constitutionahism. If the Governors
and the Services plaved the game, then constitutionalism will
prevail, otherwise the Congress would be compelled again to
resort to direct action. Statesmonship demanded that Gover-
nors and the Services were made awaie of the intentions of the
Parliament that they had to play the game.

He assured me on this pomnt and said, **1 had told you this
before also and wish to tell you again that on this score you
need not at ali fear. Lnglish character is such that it would
adapt itsclf to the new conditions immediately. Perhaps Indians
in .ervices may take a little longer time, but not the knglishmen.”

Perhaps you know that Bapu once told me at Teethal that
after the acceptance of ministiy, hc would himself ask for an
wnicrview with Lord Linlithgow in c »nnection with his proposed
visit to the Fronticr. When I mentioned this 10 Halifax, he was
very pleased and said that he was sure that Lord Linlithgow
too would be pleased to see Bapu and he hoped that there
would be no difficulty about his plan-s.

I told him that the gnestion of Frontier was not so0 impor-
tant as the question that Lord Linlith ow should now take ad-
vantages of Bapu’s interview with him and establish bonds of
personal friendship.

I warned him that the Congress regime was not going to be
a smooth sailing. There would be difficulties off and on and if
Lord Linlithgow knew Bapu, he could always call on his advice
which would be immensely helpful. He knew this and said that
he had no doubt that Linlithgow would take the advantage of
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establishing personal friendship with Bapu. I think Bapu per-
haps now make his plans ahead.

I was very much intercsted to note the contents of Bapu’s
letter to Lothian in which he invited him to go to India. I too
had spoken to him a few days ago on the same matter and [
understand, that he is giving serious attention to this. 1 men-
tioned this to Halifux and said that not only Lothian but others
also should go so that they could come in greater touch. I
suggested the names of Lansbury and Churchill. He liked the
idea. He said that apart from establishing personal friendship,
they could be a sort of interpreters and could explain the British
intentions to the Congress and vice versa.

This afternoon [ again saw Sir Findlater Stewart. T discussed
the same pomnts with him as I did with Lord Halifux and his
replies to them were more or less the sume as those of Lord
Halhfax. I will also mecet Zetland and press on him the same
things that T have been telling to others, and it I receive some
new matter from you, I will put that also before friends here.

Before 1 leave, I may have the opportunity of sceing the
Prime Minister also. I hope you will keep me well posted and if
anything morce has to be done before 1leave, you should write
to mc.

Last night I was dining with Sir George and Lady Schuster
and had a very interesting talk with Sir George regarding the
Indian Finance.

I told him how we were likely to get difficulties in respect
of finance for advancement of social work. I asked him whether
he could make any usclul suggestion and to my great surprise
he said something on the lines of what Bapu once told me only
in February last at Segaon.

Schuster said that the worst legacy that they had left to
India was a lugh grade service. He said what had been done
could not be undone but that we should now start something
independently and whatever was being done today with ‘money
motive’ should in futurc be based on ‘service motive’. “Why,”
he said, “thc teachers and doctors for social work be paid such
salarics? Why not most of the work be done on co-operative
basis? Why should you worry about capital when there are
seven hundred mitlion hands to toil? If things were donc on a
co-operative basis which n other words would be modified
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socialism, money would not b: necded, at least not in large
quantity.”

He recommended that I should visit Scandinavian countries
to study the conditions there. He also wanted me to sce Daniel
Hamilton’s place. He said he could not do much in India
because everything had to be done with ‘money motive’. He
said, “The Banking Enquiry Commission gcost the Government
of India 29 lakhs of rupees. Even in England it would not cost
more than a few hundred pounds. But in England we have to
play the ‘money game’ but in India while the ‘money game’
v.hich is the practice of today, may not be allowed to expand,
the *service game’ should be expanded, which when fully cx-
panded automaticallv would obscure the ‘money gume’.”

He of course wanted me not to talk 1n theoretical language,
or else 1t would frighten the conservatives in India. But he fully
belicved that with the inspirat.on of Bapu, 1t should be pos-
sible to cxpand the ‘service game’ and thus what we wanted to
achieve could be achieved without increasing our budget. In
other words, he wants to dethrone the *‘meney standard’ and
enthrone the ‘labour standard’.

Why should not now Bapu restart New India? 1 would
not like Harijan being converted nto a pohiticul paper and per-
haps two papers also would not be the proper thing. New India
has a tradition and a name v hich should not be allowed to be
forgotten. Therefore 1t would be more appropriate, if New India
was restarted «and IHurijun wa, stopned. The result would then
be that you could write political as we. as Hatijan articles in the
New India as Bapu used 1o do in old times.

1 hope you will sec in this article from the Times, the
editor’s effo1t to explain the difference between ‘combating’ and
‘wrecking’. So now they have understood the difference.

I was lunching the other day with Mr. Butler. It appears as
if in course of time he will go to tawia as a Governor. The
general impression here has been of entire satisfuction and 1
have no doubt that evervone will be helpful and sympathetic
towards the Congress. I am also mecting Churchill after some
time. Lord Derby has invied me to lunch and Oliver Stanley,
another minister who is now in the Board of Trade, is coming
to lunch with me. Mr. Roger Lumley, the Governor of Bombay,
also is coming to dinc with me. :
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During these personal contacts I am impressing upon them
the point that the Congress has come in not merely to work
the Constitution but to march ahead. They must be helpful and
not obstructive and that obstruction in our march would mean
compulsion on the Congress to resort again to direct action.
But I find everyone here is sympathetic and they assure me
that the British public opinion will fully support the Congress
in advancing forward towards their"gnal, which of course they
interpret to be the Dominion Status. Independence, if it meant
severing conncction with the Empire, then they are totally
against it. But of course severing connection is only a suggestion
of Jawaharlalji and not of Bapu. In Dominion Status we have
the right to secede and that is quite enough.

Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas
SHRI MAHADEVBHAI DEsAT
WARDHA
3
MAGANWADI,
WARDHA (C.P.),
July 9, 1937

MY DLAR GHANSHYAMDASIJI,

I havc all your letters and on the top of them your telegram
which came early morning yesterday. How news travels! You
knew about the W.C. Resolution before millions in India knew
about it. Your jubilation, let me tell you, is shared by numecr-
ous people here. We are a people essentially lacking in stamina
and wc cannot hold out long. If the whole country had been
behind the W.C. Resolution I am quite sure we should have
extorted even the assurance from Government. But Government
know our wcaknesses better than we know. Don’t they know
the frantic telcgrams and letters that we were having from all
parts of the countsy?

But all’s well that ends well. I should have been happier if
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they could have avoided the padding at the top of the resolu-
tion. But that is Jawaharlal through and through. A foreign
critic has actually remarked : “One finds in Jawaharlal a
person, personally, deeply, painfully, and dangerously hurt by
humiliating conditions—his painful state is indicative of the
attitude of Ireland. Alas, Gandhi would have not given the
impression of being bowed down. He is humble and sometimes
makes the questioner understand humiliating for his poor know-
ledge and that too through the latter’s fault. But under all
circumstances, he clearly gives expiession of self-respect and
Jignity.”

The resolution s another personal tiiumph for Bapu.
Jawahar and his fiiends of course behaved splendidly but with-
out Bapu it would have been difficult. Rajaji is in perfect trim
and he will mahe himself felt soon. The people wanted some
respite from a long-drawn agony of suspense and wilderness and
they will have some much-nceded relief, 1 am surc. But I am not
sure that the whole thing can last very long. Let us however
not anticipate difficulties.

Bhulabhai gave Bapu Loid Halifax’s message exactly as he
kad given 1t and Bapu was very grateful.

What 1 the programme? How long are you staying therc?

I wonder if you have ever been to Lourdes in France. I have
read authentic accounts v reputed doctors—and now by Dr.
Carrel, the Nobel Prize Winner—of miraculous cures of cancers,
stubborn tuberculusis, ulcers, and o on by bath and enchanted
spring near Lourdes. Thousands .f people go there cvery year
and there is a regular Medical Mission there appointed to go
into and maintatn an accurate record of these cures. If I were
with you, 1 should have insisted on your taking me to the place.
It is worth a visit, and I should any day trust your testimony
better than that of many whom I have never scen or hnown.

When you return, may I trouble . ¢ for two or three things?
At Hatrods’ or Scfridges’ Stores, they scll fine tool-boxes
(carpenter’s tools) and scicace-boxe, (for boys to make che-
mistry cyperiment,). Could you get them for my boy? You
know I train him at ho-ac. He is very fond of science; but how
can I make experiments. These boxes are very helpful. If you
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have someone who can get these things for you, get them;
otherwisc please don’t trouble yourself.
Kallenbach sailed on the 9th.
Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

Grosvenor Houst,
PARK LANL,
LoNDON, W. 1,
July 12, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADFVBHAI,

It appears that some of these so-called modetotes have
already started talking here 1n 2 manner as to give an idca that
the Congress will not be in office for long. Perhaps this 1s the
case of wish being the father of thought. The, talk something
like this: “*“What will happen, it Jawaharlal begins t¢ pireach
sedition? Will he be arrested? If not, then the Goveinor must
interfere.” All this sort of rotten things are being conveyed to
the politictans and statesmen hete, but I don’t think they cut
much ic:.

I challenged a moderate to tell me what he meant by
Jawaharlal prcaching sedition? He said he would preach inde-
pendence. I retorted, *What 1s wrong about preaching indepen-
dence? Has not every Domunion the right to secede? There arc
members of the South African Union who are preaching seces-
sion from the Empire.”

I am writing all this just to tell you that the so-called mode-
rates don’t seem to be genuinely happy that the Congress has
accepted office, becausce if the Congress rules, then their history
becomes a closed chapter once for all. They are still dreaming
that they will rule.

Yours,
Ghanshyamdsa
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MAGANWADI,
WARDHA,
July 16, 1937
MY DFAR GHANSHYAMDASJI,

I appreciate your surprise at my silence. It was as dcliberate
as it was inevitable. For therc was nothing that I could com-
municate to you. I could sec that the letters Bapu was receiv-
ing every day from various parts of the country were making
him incline more and more towards officc acceptance, but I
must also say that Lord Zetland’s second speech—I mean the
one in which he repudiated the criticism that he had closed the
doors against conciliatioun—Ileft a favowable impiession on
Bapu and it is sincc that moment that he began to veer round
towards acceptance. When Jawahar came to Wardha throe days
bztore the W.C. Bapu’s mind had been made up and I must say
to the credit of Jawahar that he did not prove difficult to per-
suade. Throughout th: Committee mecting, I am told his
attitude was wotthy of his best 1mstincts and that wa, why the
wholc meeting went off well.

Well that’s a bit of history. I must tell yon the spuit in
which Bapu has pproached the whole question. C.R. ashed
for Bapu’s bicssings to be wired to him and his colleague, when
they were all sworn in as ministers. Bapu sent a wire but made
it clear that tt was not for publication. Here i» the text : **DPri-
vate. Deepest prayer has bzen the spring ¢n which 1 have drawn
for guiding the Committee. You know hcv my hope1s centered
in you. May God bless your cffort. Don’t publish this. T have
no right to send message to members. For that you must ask
Jawaharlal. Love.”

In your talks with men like Lord Halifax, you may rcfer to
this telegram and cven show them the teat of it. But morc mdi-
cative of the spirit in which he wants our legislators to go to
the Asscib'ics is Bapu’s latest article in Hartjan of which I send
you a ccpy. 1 wanted 1o scnd a copy to Agatha also, but T have
none now lcft with me, and perhaps she will get a copy from
the Harijan office direct. I should like to hnow thc reaction of
the Britishers to this article. You can ascertain it by showing 1t
to them, as they are not likely to read it otherwise. You may
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perhaps have copies made of it and send them to friends. T also
enclose a cutting of C.R.’s speech two days before he was
invited by the Governor.
Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

Encl. Bapu’s article

Congress Ministers
(By M.K. Gandhi)

Since the Working Committee and other Congressmen have
allowed themsclves to be influenced by my opinion on the office
issue, it is perhaps due to the public for me to explain my con-
ception of office-acceptance and what is possible to do in terms
of the Congress election manifesto. T need offer no apology for
crossing the self-imposed lmit in the conduct of Harijan. The
reason 1s obvious. The Government of India Act is universally
regarded as wholly unsatisfactory for achieving India’s frecdom.
But it is possible to construe 1t as an attempt, however mited,
and fecble, to replace the rule of the sword by the rule of
majority. The creation of the big electorate of three crores of
men and women and the placing of wide powers in their hands
cannot be described by any other name. Underlying it is the
hope that what has been imposed upon us we shall get to hke,
i.c., we shall really regard our exploitation a« a blessing in the
end. The hope may be frustrated if the representatives of the
thirty million voters have a faith of their own and are intelligent
enough to u.c the powers (including the holding of office) placed
in their hands for the purposce of threatening the assumed inten-
tion of the framers of the Act. And this can be casily done by
lawfully using the Act in a manner not expected by them and by
refraining from u»ing it in the way intcnded by them. Thus the
ministrics may ecnforce immediate prohibition by making edu-
cation self-supporting instead of paying for it from the liquor
revenue. This may appear a startling proposition but I hold it
perfectly feasible and eminently rcasonable. The jails may be
turned into reformatorics and workshops. They should be self-
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supporting and educational instcad of being spending and
punitive departments. In accordance with the Irwin-Gandhi pact
of which only the salt clausc remains still alive, salt should be
frec for the poor man but 1t is not. It can be frec in Congress
provinces at least. All purchases of cloth should be in khad:.
The attention should now be devoted more to villages and
pzasantry than to the citics. These are byt illustrations taken at
random. They are perfectly*law ful and not one of them cven has
as yet*been attcmpted.

Then the personal behaviour of ministers. How will Con-
gress ministers discharge themselves? Their chief, the President
of the Congress, travels 3rd class. Will they travel 1st? The
president is satisfied with a coarse khadi dhots, kurta and waist-
coat: will the ministers require the western style and cxpends-
ture on the western scale? Congressmen have for the past
seventeen years disciplined themselves in rigorous sinsplicity.
The nation will expect the ministers to introduce that simpli-
city in the administration of their provinces, they will not be
ashamed of it, they will be proud of it. We arc the poorest
nation on earth, many millions living in semi-starvation. Its
representatives dare not live 1n a style and manner out of all
correspondence with their clectors. The Englishmen coming as
conquerors and rulers set up in a standard of living which took
no account whatsoever of the helpless conquered. If the mims-
ters will sumply refrain from copying the Governors and the
secured civit service, they will have shown the marked contrast
that exists between the Congress meatality and tbeirs. Truly
there can be no partnership between them and us even as there
can be none between a giant and a dwarf.

Lest Congressmen should think that they have a monopoly
of simplicity and that they erred in 1920 1n doing away with the
trouscrs and the chairs, let me cite examples of Aboobaker and
Omar. Rama and Krishna are prehistoric names. I may not use
these names as examples. History tells us of Pratap and Sivaji
living in uttcrmost simplicity. But opinion may be divided
as to what they did when they had power There is no division
of opinion about the Prophet, Aboobaker, and Omar. They
had riches of the world at their fect. It will be difficult to find a
historical parallel to match their rigorous life. Omar would not
brook the idea of his lieutenants in distant provinces using any-
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thing but coarse cloth and coarse flour. The Congress ministers,
if they will retain the simplicity and economy they have inherited
since 1920, they would save thousands of rupees, they will give
hope to the poor and probably change the tone of the services.
It is hardly necessary for me to point out that simplicity does
not mean shoddiness. There is a beauty and an art in simplicity
which he who runs may see. It does not require money to be
neat, clean and dignified. Pomp and pageantry are often
synonymous with vulgarity. This unostentatious work mu.t be
the prelude to demonstrating the utter insufficiency of the Act
to mect the wishes of the pcople and the determination to end it.

The English Press has been at pains to divide India into
Hindus and Muslims. The Congress majority provinces have
been dubbed Hindu and the other Mushm. That this is demon-
strably false has not worried them. My great hope 1s that the
ministers in the si\ provinces will so manage them as to disarm
all suspicion. They will show their Muslim colleague that they
know no distinction between Hindu, Muslim, Christian or Sikh
or Parsi. Nor will they know any distinction between high-caste
and low-cast Hindu. They will demonstrate in every action of
theirs that all of them are the sons of the soil among whom
there is no one low and no one high. Poverty and climatc are
common to all without distinction. The major problems are
identical for all of them. And whilst so far as we can judge from
actions, the goal of the English system is wholly different from
ours, the men and women representing the two goa's belong to
the same human family. They will now be thrown together as they
never have been before. If the human rcading that I have given
to the Act is correct, the two parties meet together each with its
own history, background and goal, to convert cach other. Cor-
porations are wooden and soulless but not those who work them
or use them. If the Englishmen or anglicised Indians can but see
the Indian, which is the Congress, viewpoint, the battle won by
the Congress and Complete Independence will come to us with-
out shedding a drop of blood. This is what 1 call the non-
violent approach. It may seem foolish, visionary, impractical,
nevertheless it is the best course to work the constitution that
Congressmen, other Indians and Englishmen should know. This
office acceptance is not intended to work the Act anyhow. In the
prosecution by the Congress of its goal of Complete Indepen-
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dence, it is a serious attempt on the one hand to avoid a bloody
revolution and on the other to avoid mass civil disobedience on
a scale not hitherto attempted. May God bless it.

GrosvrNor Housr,
PARK LANT,
LoNDON, W. 1,
July 17, 1937
MY DFAR MAHADEVBHAI,

[ have nothing to write by this mail except that Bapu 15 the
most popular petson just now hete They talk of his common-
sensc, judgment and all other virtues, and his stocks have gone
up very lugh. But what pleascs me most is that everyonc says
that, if the Congress could manage the provinces for five years
in good order, independence will come within one tenth of the
time that we have estimated. A fuiend said, “By God, 1if you
fellows can run your administration properly, the neat Viceroy
will have to go with Dominton Status in his pocket.”

1 am glad that this psychology has been created because
even this has its value. While cverybody 1s so cheerful about
the Congress accepting office, I am feeling a bit nervous about
our own position. 1 sincercly believe that our tral has just
begun and 1f we don’t come out successful, we will set back
the hands of the clock. Uncoriupted administration and soli-
darity amongst ourselves 1s the main thing that is needed. I
fear more communal troubles and embarrassment {iom our own
men.

The other day I was lunching with Lord Derby at his house.
It was a select partly consisting of Lord Willingdon, Lord
Hardinge, and two or three other lords. I was sitting beside
Lord Willingdon. The topic that we discussed was India. You
can imaginc what we talked.

1 had no lctter from you even after the Working Committee
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met at Wardha. You seem to have gone to sleep like Rip can
Winkle!
Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SYT. MAHADEVBHAI DESAI
WARDHA

SIrGAON,
July 18, 1937
BHAT GITANSHYAMDAS,

I read all your letters with great care. I did not find time to
write to you nor T desited to writc. And what could T have
written? Every moment the situation was changing and mend-
ing. Under such circumstances to write was inapptopriate. To
write to others was necessary because I wanted to be influenced
as much as those who wrote to me could. How [ar your letters
influenced me, 1 cannot say. But of course I can say this much
that the letters received from overseas influenced me less and
what was happening in India influenced me more. You could
say that my condition was like a woman who was to be con-
fined soon. So many things happen inside the woman, who is
to be cunfined. But the poor woman could not describe. Now
we know what has happened. But will 1 say this? Whatever
Jawahar did or said in the Working Committee was sumply
marvcllous. In any casc he was high in my esteem, but now he
has reasoned much higher and the beauty is that we still
disagree.

Our real trouble begins now. So much is good that our
future depends on our strength, truthfulness, courage, determi-
nation, diligence and discipline. What you have been doing is
good. Let the authorities realise that there is no padding in the
resolution of the Working Committce. Every word has its
meaning and they will bz put into action. In the end, what has
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been done is done in the name of God and with trust in God.
Good you will be Good you remain.
Blessings from
Bapu

MAGANWADI,
WarbHA (C. P.),
Monday, July 19, 1937
MY DIAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

You must have had Bapu’s letter of yesterday. In my own
note I said that I would clear up the matter. But it seems Bapu
had neither misunderstood Dr. Choithram’s telegram nor the
news in the Press. In fact he said he would sooner vote for a
consolidated salary of Rs. 100 to cach of the Legislators than
accept the present “cxtravagant’™ standard in case of the
cabinet ministers and their secretariecs. When [ saw him last
evening, 1 found him very much disturbed over this question. |
asked him 1l he had not made this point clear during the recent
Workime Committee mecting at Wardha. He said he had done
so but that Jawaharlal was inchined to think that any lower
scale would not suit those who would necessarilv have to live
in cities “But”, said Bapu, “whether the thing was fully dis-
cussed. or not, it should be clear to the meancst understanding
that Rs. 500 8 the maximum to be paid to the highest office-
bearer 1n the state. If we start with the maximum, where shall
we end?” After this he took his silence and in the morning he
handed me an article of which 1 enclose a copy. Evidently he
had been up since 2 or 3 o’cloch in the morning and had fini-
shed writing this before the prayer.

I am scnding copics of this article to all ihe other chiefl
ministers with a covering letter like the one uccompanying this.
This should be in your hands on the morning ot Wednesday.
1 shall expect your reply—yes or no—or a detailed objection by
Wednesday evening or Thursday morning. We go to the Press
on Friday.

Yours affectionately,

Mahadev
Encl. Bapu’s article
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Ministerial Pay

A well known educationist worker says in effect, “I hope
you are not elated over the newspaper report that Congress
ministers are going to pay themselves Rs. 500 cach per month
with allowances for house and travelling amounting to Rs. 300
extra. It is not enough that this scale is lower than the former.
But that would be a wholly wrong way to Icok at the thing. The
proper and the only way to look at the thing is what proportion
does the scale bear to the average income of this the poorest
country in the world. What is the difference between the secre-
tary of the Congress and a minister? Your scale for the Vidya-
pith. for the A. 1. S. A. and other institutions is Rs. 75 as the
highest. Why should a Vidyapith Professor getting Rs. 75 get
Rs. 500 per month on becoming a minister as he well might
be? Then look at the Fergussen College. There too the Pro-
fessors used to get no more than Rs. 75 per month. And why
should there be any difference between the pay of a minister
and his sccretary? These are all self-appointed. Have they any
right to make these distinctions? I must confess that I do not
understand this business. | can only hope that the report is
baseless and that the Congress ministers in all the six provinces
will show that they arc the real representatives of the starving
millions in whose namc and for whose sake they are taking
office. And why should they need cars? Why may they not
walk to their work or usc tramcars or buses? I have been to
Japan. The Japanese scale is much lower than the reported
scale. And Japan is an independent country much richer than
ours. If we make of ministcrial officcs comfortable jobs for
ourselves, 1t will be very like wrecking the Constitution at its
very threshold. Now that you have begun to deal with such
things in the columns of Harijan, will you not give your opinion
and arrest the course of the evil, assuming that there is truth in
the report?”

This the gist as I can recollect it of a conversation. The
speaker poured out his heart in sorrow and distress. 1 shared
his sorrow. 1 share the hope that the newspaper report is not a
correct forecast. It should be remembered that thc Congress
resolution fixes Rs, 500 as the maximum. So far as I am aware
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it is inclusive of everything. A clear need for the maximum

should be proved
M. K. Gandhi

WARDHA,
July 19, 1937
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

I cnclose letter from Bapu, {also copies of a letter I am
addressing to C. R. and of a brief article that Bapu is writing
for Harijan. You will follow the way 1n which Bapu’s mind is
working! "

Please share this with Agatha T am writing this in great

haste
Yours,

Mahadev

Encl. Copies of two letters and Bapu’s article

The Fundamental Difference

It is necessary to contemplate for a moment the fundamental
difference between the old and the new order. In order fully to
realisc it we must try to forget for the moment the crushing
limitations ol the Act. Seeing that thc Congress has gone to the
farthest limit and has accepted office, let every Congressman note
the power it has taken. Whereas formerly the ministers were
amenable to the control of the Governors, now they are under the
control of the Congress. They are responsible to the Congress.
They owe their status to the Congress. The Governors and the
Civil Service though irremovable are yet answerable to the
ministers. The ministers however have effective control over
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them, up to a point. That point enables them to consolidate
the power of the Congress, i.e., the people. The ministers have
the whip hand so long as they act within the four corners of the
Act, no matter how distasteful their actions may be to the
Governors. It will be found upon examination, that so long as
the people remain non-violent, the Congress ministers have
enough freedom of action for national growth.

For effective use of this power, the people have to give
hearty co-operation to the Congress and their iinisters. JIf the
latter do wrong or they ncglect their duty it is open to any
person to complain to the secretary of the A. I. C. C. and seek
redrcss. But no one may take the law into his own hands.

Congressmen should also realise that there is no other politi-
cal party in the ficld to question the authority of the Congress.
For the other parties have never penetrated the villages. And
that is not a work that can be done in a day. So far therefore
as I can see vast opportunity is at the disposal of the ministers
in terms of the Congress objective of Complete Independence
if only they are honest, selfless, industrious, vigilant and soli-
citous for the true welfare of the starving millions. No doubt
there is great validity in the argument that the Act has left the
ministers no money to spend for the nation building depart-
ments. But this is largely an illusion. I beliecve with Sir Daniel
Hamilton that labour and not mectal, is rcal money. Labour
backed by paper, is as good as, if not better than, paper bached
by labour. Here are the sentiments of an English financier who
has held high office in India. “The worst legacy we have left to
India is a high-grade service.” What has been done cannot bc
undone. I should now start something independent. Whatever
is being done today with ‘moncy motive’ should in future be
based on ‘service motive’. Why should teachers and doctors be
paid high salarics? Why cannot most of the worh be done on
a co-opcrative basis? Why should you worry about capital
when there arc seven hundred million hands to toil? If things
are done on a co-operative basis, which in other words is modi-
fied socialism, money would not be needed, at least in large
quantity. I find this verified in little Segaon. The four hundred
adults of Segaon can easily put ten thousands rupecs annually
into their pockets if only they would work as I ask them. But
they won’t. They lack co-operation. They do not know the art
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of intelligent labour, they refuse to learn anything new Un-
touchability blocks their way If somcone presented them with
one lac of rupees they would not turn it to account They are
responsible for this state of affuirs. They, 1e, we the muddle
class people What 15 true of Segaon is true of other villages
They will respond by patient efforts as they are responding 1n
Segaon though ever so slowly The State however can do much
in this direction, without having to spend a single ple extra
The State officials cin be utilised for serving the people instead
of harassing them The villagers may not be ordered into doing
anything They can bz educated to do things which benefit them
morlly, mentally, physically and economically

M K Guandh

10

GRrosSViNOR Housr,
ParRK LANg,
Lonbon, W,
July 20, 1937

MY DI AR MAHADLVSH\IL
At long last, T have your lctter of the 9th T did not feel
quite happy after teading 1t because it give me an impies.ion
as 1f you thought thit the Congress decision was not the right
onc, but that it had to be tahen because of the mmpatience of
our own people On reading your letter however to Agatha, 1
have changed my impicssion | hope what has been done 15 not
because, as you say, our people were lacking m tamina but
because 1t was the night decision Pethaps vou ate 1ight that we
nught have got n the end the assurances that we wanted, but
whether that could have been good, 1 have my doubts Perhaps
the history of the Gandhi-Irwin Pact would have repcated it-
self On the outher hand, as it 15, I have no doubt that it has
created a tremendous impression here, and 1if the experiment
fails, I fear 1t will be due to our own difficulties, although I
don’( think 1t will at all fail It 1s going tobe a severe trial, but
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with hard work, commonsense and under the guidance of Bapu,
we will get through.

Please don’t say that you are not sure that the whole thing
can last very long. In fact not only it can last long, but it can
bring us very much nearer to our goal. But it will very much
depend on us rather than on the Governors. In this connection
I would like to tell you that only today I was lunching with
Mr. Roger Lumley, the Governor ‘Designate of Bombay. We
talked for nearly two hours. He tried to get as much as he could
from mc about our people. But he specially wanted to see Bapu
and he is very eager that he should know him as soon as he
goes to India. Could you tell me how this could be possible?
Bapu of course rarely goes to Bombay. but perhaps he will go
to see the Governor.

Another thing of importance which he inquired was whether
the ministers would come to lunch and dine with him whenever
invited. I said I could not say anything on this question. But [
told him that as a matter of fact Bapu was against such enter-
tainments, but whether the ministers would be allowed to lunch
or dine when they were invited was more than what I could say
and that the best person to talk to in this respect also would b2
Bapu.

He reaches Bombay about the middle of September and I
also will land about that time and will perhaps see him again
before going to Wardha.

Now as regards your suggetsion to go to Lousdes in France
I may tell you that nothing interests me just now except going
back to India as soon as possible. But I fear we will be detained
here up to the middle of September.

Yes, 1 will bring your fine tool-boxes and science-boxes.
Pleasc write Lo me, if [ can do anything further.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

WARDHA
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GRosvENOR HOUSE,
PARrk LANE,
Lonpon, W. 1,
July 22, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

I was lunching today with Charchill at his house and 1 again
enjoyed his company for two hours. As usual, he was very
cordial and charming, but very ill informed about India.

Immediately on seeing me, he said, “Well, a big experiment
has begun” and when I said, ““Yes, it has begun but it will re-
quire all your sympathy and good wishes,”” he assured me of
it but all the same said, “It depends entircly on you. You know
I have not spoken a word against the Act after the King’s sig-
nature was put on it and if you can make this experiment a
success, you will reach your goal automatically. You know how
democracy is attacked all over the world. It is only Great
Britain that has preserved democracy and if you can show by
your actions that you can make democracy a success, you will
have no difficulty in advancing further. Play fair and we will
play fair.”

“What do you mean by ‘play fair’?”, I asked. He replied,
“Malke the provinces contented, peaccful and properous. Don’t
aliow violence and don't murder Englishmen.” I said, “I am
sumply shock®d at what you say. Do you seriously believe that
we are going to murder Englishmen?”” H> was rather surprised
at my own complacence but accepted the assurance that India
did not believe in violence. I added, “Even the most extrcmist
Congressman is not anti-Biitish. He is certainly for independence,
but this does not mean that one should become anti-British.”
He asked whether I could say this about Jawahatlal also. I rep-
lied, “I can. Although I am a capitalist ar< he is a socialist and
we have got different views on social matters, but all the same
in fairness to him, I must say that hc is a great man, very
sincere and not at all anti-British. You must go to India to see
the things for,yourself because then you would be able to be of
great help to us.” He said, “Yes, 1 would. Linlithgow has already
invited me to go but if Mr. Gandhi also desires, I would go.
Give your leader my greetings and tell him that I wish him all
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success. Don’t feel shy of fighting socialism. Accumulation of
wealth is a good thing because it creates initiative but of course
capitalists have to be servants and not masters.”

He was very sceptical about the future of the European
political situation. For the next one year he did not expect any
war, but he could not say about the far future. He said, “The
Dictators are getting .mad and they may do anything in order
to preserve their power. Russia is gétting less communistic and
Germany is getting more soialistic. So they are finding cdmmon
ground to some cxient. England is the only country which has
preserved democracy. [ started agitation for rearming England
because 1 believed that nations are ruled either by right or by
force. Right is the better method of ruling, but you cannot esta-
blish right unless you have torce. And now we have got force
with the help of which we can establish right. Italy 1s drcaming
of establishing an Empire ™’

He went on in this mood for a pretty long tume. This time
he himsclf suggested that I should keep him well informed
about the situation 1n India and [ have promised to do so

Will you not writc to me Bapu’s reactions on some of the
news that [ have been sending to you?

IHere are somc cuttings which v ill interest you. The Morming
Post is simply poisoning the people here but it does not matter

so long as we do the right thing.
Yours,

Ghanshyamdas

12

VicEroY's CaMP,
INDIA,

True Copy
July 23, 1937

DLAR MR. GANDHI,
It would give me much pleasure if you could find it possible
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to come and see me in New Delhi when I pass through on my
way back to Simla. If this suggestion is agreeable to you, would
11.30 a.m. on Wednesday August 4th, at Viceroy’s House be
convenient?

I have no particular business of a public nature with which
to trouble. But it will be a real pleasurc to me to meet you,
and I gratefully hope that you may find jt possible to come.

Yours sincerely,
Linlithgow

WARDHA,
July 23, 1937
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

That article of Bapu of which I enclosed advance copy last
week, has been well received. The Times of India called it an
illuminating article and The Statesman commented on it in
detail. 1 enclose The Statesm. 4 cutting. T also enclose copy of
Bapu’s note en the ministerial salarics, which is not going in,
as it was subject to the approval of the chief ministers. All
of them objected to its insertion. But that shows Bapu’s feelings
on the matter and though he has cancelled the note, he is not
going to leave the matter at that. Just as he insistcd on rural-
mindedness informing our lives, as soon as he brought into
being the All-India Village Industrics Association, even so he
now insists on the Indian-mass-mentality heing adopted by the
ministers. The poor ministers have alrcady begun to squirm,
and are crying for mercy. I understand all that Bapu says”,
says C.R., “but let Bapu please bear with us. I would do all
he wants but how can 1 make all my colleagues do it?” Mr.
Munshi writes: “Do have mercy on us and accept what we can
lay at your feet. Pray, don’t expect anything beyond our

capacity.”
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Meanwhile the new responsibility is giving sleepless night to
conscientious people like C.R. who says he has nearly to kill
himself if he must come anywhere near Bapu’s expectations. To
add to their trouble those who had their ¢yes and minds nailed
to offices and who are now disappointed are giving threatening
expression to their grouse and talking of communal riots in
Malabar and Orissa begause some people have not been taken
in. Harniman-—that walking plague—is fanning day in and day
out the flames of communal fecling by yelling from the columns
that the Sardar has stabbed Nariman and with him all law and
justice?

But all this will disappear in course of time, I hope, and we
should be settled down to business. After the new ministers
have begun to function, they will be silent.

Bapu has been rather unwecll these days. The W. C. meetings
left him completely fagged out and he founded that he had been
burning the candle at both ends. He is now taking rest, but he
will again get into his old habit. Could not someone persuade
him to go into silence every day after praycrs? That would
ensure a good night’s rest at any rate. I want you to write to
him. I am asking the Sardar and Jamnalalji to move in the
matter.

You asked me whether it would not be worth while reviving
Young India. 1t would be. But he thinks that before he actually
does so he should wait a while and watch the working of the
present ministries. Who knows the whole thing might break
down like a house of records abruptly! So he will now content
himself with developing Harijun—as he has already begun. I
send you this week’s article. Then after three or four months
when he finds that the ministers are all properly in the saddle
and they can work out the programme, we will have Young
India. Even with this one, or now two articles the circulation has
begun to go up.

Could you bring for me—or my office—Sraresman’s Year
Book (New Edition) and a good large sized Modern Atlus? 1
shall now have to shed my rural habits and begin 1o get a little
urban! Agatha will share this.

With love,

Yours,
Mahadev
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Not a Prize

I have been receiving several letters from different provinces
protesting against the exclusion of their or their friends’ names
from ministerships and asking me to intervene. I do not think
there is a single province from which such complaints have not
been reccived. In some such letters dirg results including com-
munal riots have been threatened, if the excluded person’s
claims*are not considered.

In the first instance let mc say that I have not intervened in
any single case in the selection of ministers. 1 have no right,
having completely withdrawn from the Congress, to intervene
in such matters, even if I had the wish, which I have not. My
participation in Congress afairs is confined to rendering service
on the issues involved in office acceptance and on the policies
to bz pursued in the prosecution of our march to the goal of
completc independence.

But it seems to me that my numerous correspondents who
have been writing voluminously think that ministerships are
prizes for past services and that certain Congressmen can
demand their inclusion. 1 venture to suggest to them that
ministerships are avenues to scrvice which those who arc called
to it should render cheerfully and to the best of their ability.
There can therefore ncver be a scramble for these offices. It
would bs decidedly wrong to cieate ministerships for the sake
of conciliating interests. If I were a chief minister and I was
pestered with such claims, I should tell my electors to choose
another leader. These choices have not to be held lightly. They
are or should be crown of thorns, never of renown. Offices
have bzen taken to see if they enable us to quicken the pace
at which we are moving towards our goal. It would be tragic if
self-seekers or misguided zealots were allowed to impede the
progress by imposing themselves of chief ministers. If it was
necessary to have assurances from those who have ultimately
to clothe ministers with authority, it is doubly nccessary to
have assurances of understanding of loyalty beyond suspicion
and willing obedience to discipline. The grim fight in which the
country is cngaged cannot be won, if Congressmen do not show
in their conduct a sufficient measure of sclflessness, discipline
and faith in the means enunciated by the Congress for the
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attainment of the goal.
Thanks to the Karachi resolution, the ministerships under

the Congress aegis have no pecuniary attraction. ] must say in
parenthesis that considering Rs. 500 as if it was the minimum
instead of thc maximum was a mistake. Rs. 500 was the last
limit, Had we not got used to the cxcessive scale of salaries
imposed upon the country, we would have regarded Rs. 200 to
be excessive. The Congress scale genterally has been for the past
seventeen years at least Rs. 75 per month. In its three great
constructive all-India departments, national education, khadi
and village industries, the authorised scale has been Rs. 75.
These departments contain men who are good cnough, so far as
ability i> concerned, any day to be munisters. They have
distinguished educationists, lawyers, chemists and merchants,
who if they were so minded, could easily command over
Rs. 500 per month. Why should the fact of becoming a
minister make the great difference we sce? But the die is perhaps
cast. My remarks tepresent my personal opinion. I have too
high regard for the chief ministers to question thcir judgment
and wisdom. No doubt they thought that this was the best 1n
the circumstances facing them. The point I wish to make,
answer to my correspondents is that these offices have not been
taken in view of the emoluments thzy offer.

And then they have to be given to those only in the party
who are best able to discharge the duty to which they are called.

And lastly the acid test is that the choice must commend it-
self to the members of the party to whom the ministers owe
their nomination. No chief minister can for one moment
mmpose a4 man or woman of his choice on the paity. He is
chicf because he enjoys the full confidence of his party as to
ability, knowledge of peisons, and the other qualities that

mark out one for Icadership.
M. K. Gandhi
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The Implications
(By M.K. Gandhi)

I have not hesitated to express my opinion that the salaries
that Congress ministers have voted for ,themeelves are much
too high for the standard that should govern us in this, the
poorest country in the world. In the hurricd note that Prof.
K.T. Shah has sent me and which the 1cader will find elsewhere,
India’s annual income will be found to be £4 against £50 of
Great Britain. Unfortunately for us we have to bear yet a while
the burden of the British inhertance and 1n spite of the best
cffort, we fail to achieve the idcal standard. The salaiies and the
allowances airc now a scttled fact. The question now is, well the
ministers, their secretaries and the members work so hard as to
deserve the emoluments they receive. Will the members become
whole-time workers for the nation, and give a faithful account
of the scrvices they may render? Let us not make the mistake
of imagining that the things are what we wish them to be, or
what they should be.

And 1t is not enough for the ministers to live simply and to
work hard. They have to sce to it that the Departments they
control also respond. Thus justice should become cheap and
expeditious. Today it is the 'axury of the rich and the joy of
the gambler. The Police should be [1iends of the people instead
of being their dread. Education should be so revolutionised us
to answer the wants of the poorest villager, instead of answering
those of an impcrial exploiter.

All those who were imprisoned for offences, even of a
violent naturc will shortly find themselves free, if the ministers
can give them the frcedom. This is a phenonicnon not to be
looked at lightly. Does it mean passport to violence? Certainly
not, in terms of the Congress creed «t non-violence. The
Congress abhores individual violence in a far more real sense
than the Government it replaces. It seeks to mcet the violence
of individuals not with thc organised violence called punish-
ment, but with non-violence 1n the shape of friendly approach
to the erring individuals, and through the cultivation of sound
public opinion against any form of violence. Its methods are
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preventive, not punitive. In other words the Congress will not
rule through the police backed by the military, but through its
moral authority based upon the greatest goodwill of the people.
It will rule, not in virtue of authority derived from a superior
armed power, but in virtue of the service of the psople whom it
seems to represent in every one of its actions.

Ban on all prohibited literature is being removed. Now
somc of the books banned, will be found, I suppose, to inculcate
violence and sprcad obscenity or hatred among different *classes
or sccis. The Congress rule does not mean licence to violence
or obscenity, or fomenting of hatred. Again, the Congress will
reply upon the unstinted support of enlightencd public opinion
in dealing with objectionable literature. The ministers, who may
find violence, hatred or obscenity spreading in their provinces
will look to the Congress organisations and ultimately to the
Working Committee for active and efficient help before they
resort on the process of the criminal law and all it means.
Indeed the triumph of the Congress will be measured by the
success it achieves in rendering the police and the military
practically idle. And it will fail utterly if it has to face crisis
that render the use of the policc and the mulitary inevitable. The
best and the only effective way to wreck the existing Constitu-
tion is for the Congress to prove ccnclusively that it can rule
without the aid of the miiitary and with the least possible
assistance of the policc who may well have some new friendly
designation given to them as a correspondent suggests.

15

WARDHA,
July 27, 1937
DEAR FRIEND,
I thank you for your kind letter.
I had for some time intended to ask for an appointment to
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discuss the possibility of lifting the ban on Khan Saheb Abdul
Ghaffar Khan’s entry into the Frontier Province and of my
visiting that Province. Of course there is no bar against me but
I had no intention of going there except with the approval of
the authorities.

Your letter is therefore doubly welcome. I assume that there
would be no objection to my discussing these two points at our
meeting. I shall gladly report myself at Viceroy’s house, New
Delhi,*on 4th August next at 11.30 a.m.

I remain,
Yours sincerely,
M.K. Gandhi
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GROSVENOR HOUSE,
PARK LANE,
Lonpon, W.1,
July 27, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

I have just received your letter and also a copy of your
article. I am glad that you sent me the copy because I had only
today a talk with Lord Zetland and he said that he had not
seen the article but from what appcared in the Press, he felt as
il Mr. Gandhi had written 1t to appcase the ieft wingers to
some extent. 1 asked him which sentence l¢ was referring to
and he could not say anything concrete except giving me his
vague impressions.

I pointed out specially to the two sentences. One in which
Bapu had recognised the attempt of Great Britain to replace
the rule of the sword by the rule of majority. The second in
which he said that office acceptance was an attempt to avoid
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bloody revolution on the one hand and mass civil disobedience
on the other hand. He saild he would like to see the whole
article and I have promised to send him a copy of the same.

But one thing is quite clear. Just as we suffer from distrust,
so do they; although T have no doubt that in course of time this
will vanish. While discussing various other things, 1 got an
impression that he was anxious that the Viceroy and Bapu
should now come in' closer touch, I told him that when I had
left India, Bapu had casually mentioned to me that perhaps he
would see the Viceroy in connection with the Frontier question
but I was not quite sure whether he still intended secing him.
But then 1 suggested, “Why should the Viceroy not write and
invite Gandhiji just to make his acquaintance?”’ The Secretary
of State approved of it and perhaps he would put it to the
Viceroy. But at the same time he remarked that the difficulty
was that Gandhiji had declared it so many times that he had no
Congress status. By this perhaps the Secretary of State meant
that Bapu may not see the Viceroy even 1if invited under the
plea of his having no official status and he was not quite sure
whether a mecting between the Viceroy and Jawahailalji with-
out a first meeting between Bapu and the Viceroy would be of
any great help. Pethaps he would write to the Viceroy.

But 15 1t possible for you to wnite to me what Bapu’s latest
views are in this connection? 1 had raised this point 1n my pre-
vious letters also to which I have reccived no reply so far
from you. [ hope in order to help me. perhaps you will keep
me well informed. I am just now out of date so far as Segaon
is concerned and, if you think I should keep myself up to date,
then please help.

I have sent a copy of Bapu’s telegiam to Rajaji, to Lord
Halifax and I am sure he would like it. 1 have also sent copies
of Bapu's article 1 the /Harijan to Lord Halifax and Lothian
and also Mr. Butler. You know Mr. Butler also 1s very eager to
keep himself well informed about India.

Now as you might have already seen from my letters, I very
strongly feel that we should have next winter some of the
important Enghshmen 1n India to cstablish contact with us. I
am thinking of two years ahead when we may have to negotiate
the next step and I am sure these personal contacts will be of
immense help. And our important men also should pay a short
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visit to this country in the next spring and meet people here.
Now in the first placc please tell me how this strikes Bapu and
secondly as I have already written to you, Churchill told me
that although Linlithgow had invited him to go to India but if
Bapu also felt like that, he would perhaps go. If I know that
Bapu approves of the idea, then T can press this point on the
Carl Baldwin also, who although is no longer in active politics
but yet wields great influence. Everyone to whom 1 talked here
seems o like the idea, but until 1 know Bapu’s mind, I don’t
wish to move further in this matter. I don’t think any of these
big men are likelv to go, but if we put the idea before them, it
may muke them think and perhaps some of them may go.

Lord Halifax writes to me as follows, “I quitc agree with
you that in some ways the Congress may be at the beginning of
its difficulties, but it can feel that it has plenty of goodwill
behind it in taking up the business of administration.”

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SyT. MAHADE VBHAL DESAT
WARDHA

PS. Afler a few days | am going to write a long letter
to Bapu dealing with the subject of a trade pact. What
I mean is that if I felt that an agrecement was feasible, 1
Jhould like to consult bapu before committing myself,
and to acquaint myselt with his advice or the views of
the other political leaders so as n t to give an occasion
for adverse criticism later. Bapu should .end his cate-
gorical ‘Yes” or "No’ ou the matter; Ict him not trv to
evade the issue by saying that this matter did not fall
within the scope of the activity. We are familiar with
the psychology of our traders. Lach one uf them thinks
only if his over benelit is qual’ . to tahe a compre-
hensive view of what was of benefit to the country as a
whole. He may, if he thinks proper, consult Vallabhbhai
or Rajendra Babu on this matter. 1f we do not find
scope for any such agrecment, we ourselves will abstain
from pursuing the matter and will certainly not bother
Bapu about it. But if T felt that something worth having
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was achievable, I should like to consult Bapu before-
hand and to ask for his blessings.
Ghanshyamdas
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GROSVENOR HOUSE,
PARK LANE,
LoNDON, W. 1,
July 28, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

Here is a portion of a brief speech of the Secretary of State
delivered today at a luncheon in which he was invited by
Sarma:

*‘He agreed with Sir R.S. Sarma that there was a great
change for the brighter in the outlook of the political situation
in India—change of very profou 1d significance.” He said, “My
reading of the situation is that India has reached a point in
her advance to self-Government when the road forks in two
dircctions and she had to decide which fork to take. One of the
forks has a signpost reading ‘Revolution’ and the other sign-
post reads ‘Evolution’. I have always had faith in the ability of
India to take the path of Evolution rather than that of Revolu-
tion and, so far, though nobody could be so rash as Lo predict
the future of events—I1 believe that I have been justified in that
optimism.

“What we have to do now is to help all we can to dispel
that atmosphere of distrust and suspicion in the mind of the
Congress. An indication of that suspicion is in the language in
which the Congress decided Lo accept office. But the important
thing is that they did decide to accept office. This atmosphere
of suspicion and distrust exists on both sides and it is natural
also considering the history of the past relations between the
Congress and the Government. 1 believe, however, that as the
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Congress gains experience of the administration that atmos-
phere will be dispelled.

“Meanwhile, the picture that we have always to keep before
us is that of India and Great Britain marching along side by
side, each helping the other, we giving as much to India as we
could. And if we keep that picture in our minds, 1 think that
you will find my faith in India will be justified.”

' Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas
SyT. MAHADEVBHAI DFsat
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GrosveNOoR HOUSE,
PARK LANE,
LonDoN, W, 1,
July 29, 1937
PUIYA RAPU,

Your hand-written letter has arrived. I was not expecting it.
And Mahadeybhai's letters do come once in a while. Lately, of
course, they have been arriving regularlv. But it is your letters
that keep me in high spirits. At times 1 begin to wonder if I
had done somecthing wrong. but by and large it 1 God alone
who shows me the path. The sole objective is the nation’s or
ours well being. 1 am in receipt of your article dealing with the
subject of ministers’ salary, also of a copy of vour letter to
C.R. If the ministers manage to live simplv. it will have a pro-
found affect all around them. It is true .rat people in Japan
lead a simple lifc. T have heard that they do not have salaries
exceeding the cquivalent of Rs. 400 in our coin. But it is also
true that billionaires there live quite as simply as the rest of the
people. In our society the ch maintain a high standard of
living—a very high standard, to be precise. The standard the
rich in our country insist on maintaining will have an adverse
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effect on the unostentatious mode of living expected of our
ministers. On the other hand, their simplicity may serve as a
model for the rich. You are quite correct in remarking that
simple living is something of an art. This is an art of which we
are quite ignorant. So are our employees. This had rendered
our own mode of living inevitable to some extent. It is my be-
lief that if we could manage with less, that would save us from
much criticism and trouble we zre likely to facc in times to
come. This, of course, remains the ideal. I myself do not favour
that way of life, but there are difficulties. This conformity is
like the other conformity—the conformity of communal life,
but 15 in fact an infliction from the outside. On occasion, 1 have
pondercd over the desirability of having something hke a tax
on personal spending. This tax is even more desirable than
Death Duty. I remember having had a talk over this matter
with an cconomist. 1 recall his having told me that while expen-
ses up to Rs. 500 should remain free of tax, any amount exceed-
ing that figure must entail a tax double or cven four times that
expenditure. That would. he said, lcave a lot of money for use
in charities, good works or expansion of trade, rendeting the
ideca of trustecship a worthwhile objective to achicve. I perso-
nally should feel quite happy 1f that were to take place. In
England they once had Widow Tax, the idea probably being to
soak the rich.

Yours affectionately,

Ghanshyamdas
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GROSVENOR HOUSE,
PARK LANE,
LoNDON, W, 1,

July 30, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

Lord Lothian came to see me last evening and 1 had a long
talk with him about the fut re. I pointed out to him, “Although
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the Congress has accepted office, it has not done so just to be
satisfied with the present Constitution but to replace it by some-
thing which they like. And now that they have done what you
wanted, how do you visualise by working this Constitution they
would bz able to replace it by something of their own choice?”
He replicd, “You should not challenge service or communalism
for some time, but on other matters of social programme, you
should brook no interference from the Governors. This will in
coursc of time establish conventions and thus provincial auto-
nomy will become complete. As regards the centre, when the
Federation comes, I hope that the Congress would bhe able to
have its own ministry.”

I pointed out to him that out of 375 seats the Congress
would hardly get 100 seats and thus it could not have a majo-
rity. To this he replicd, “Even without a majority, the Congress
being the largest party, 1t will be able to command a majority.”
1 did not dispute thus. Then he suggested how we should imme-
diately challenge the army budget which will mean discussion
with the Governor General and consequently some say and finally
greater say in the question of army budget. I asked, “How will
this give us control over the Army or Foreign Affairs? You have
claimed that the Constitution contains within itself <eeds of
automatic growth and now you have to prove how we shall
get what some of us call Dominion Status.”

He had to admit that without a new Act it was not possible.
Then 1 told Jum what 1 visuahised. 1 agreed that by tact and
persuasion we should cstablish convention which within the
next two or three years would give u, complete provincial
autonomy. We should sec that law and order was maiatamned
and impartiality in communal matters was observed. Service
perhaps would become real service. This was satsfactory so far
as 1t went but [ had my own doubts whether we could be able
to achicve this position even in transferred subjects in the
centre. I visualised that after working the Counstitution for two
or three years successfully, we should send a small delegation
of our public men to England who would talk informally with
the cabinet ministers here and would telf them that they had
done their best to advance through constitutional lines but then
they had come to a dead stop because no further progress was
possible without a new Act. They should try to persuade the
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Government here to give them something of their own liking
and they should tell them clearly that India would not be
satisfied with her present position. And unless there was a
permanent agreement there was likelihood of direct action.

Then I asked Lord Lothian whether such a move would
persuade the Government here to be reasonable and listen to
us. And in order that the cabinet ministers and the people here
gave us a friendly treatment al the proper time, I suggested
that we should spend the next two or three ysars in making the
Constitution a success from cvery point of view and establish
per-onal contacts. Eminent persons from England should go
to India and vice versa.

He said he liked the idea and he expected that this would
have a tremendous impression on the British mind at the pro-
per time, and that perhaps we would be able to get what we
wanted through such a course. He said he had written to Bapu
and that perhaps in the middle of November he would lecave for
India. Ol course, he said this should be kept private. I asked
him if he had made his programme. “No”, he said. “I have no
desire to make speeches.”” I replied, “T don’t want you to malke
speeches. But what 1 want to know 1s this whether you will go
to India as a guest of the Britsh or as a guest of India.” He
said, “Certainly of India. 1 vill see Gandhiji.”® But I said,
“This is not all. You should sec as many Congressmen as you
can. You should not stay at Government House but you should
stay with Indians.”

[ asked him whether he would care to stay with me in Delhi
and Calcutta. He replied, “For a day perhaps I will have to
stay at Government House but otherwise T would be delighted
to stay with you.” 1 told him that I had spoken similarly to
Churchill but perhaps he would go, if Bapu mvited him. He
was very interestced. He agreed with me that I should make
Earl Baldwin a similar request.

1 pointed out to him that in case there was no advance after
two or threc years, then India would be compelled to direct
action again. But by direct action Lord Lothian understands
nothing else but bloody revolution. He cannot conceive of a
non-violent mass civil disobedience. He thinks that Jawaharlal
is submitting to Bapu because he cannot help it but that at. the
proper time hc will rise, and as he does not believe in non-
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violent civil disobedience, he will lead India to revolution.
Young men will follow him. The result will be that capitalists
still organise on Fascist lines and the peasantry on Communistic
lines.

I again and again tricd to point out to him that he being a
European, he knew of nothing else except Communism and
Fascism but 1n India a third line had been adopted with some
amount of success and that whs a non-violent revolution. I told
him thdt the Congress would not resort to direct action unless
they were sure that they should be able to preserve the non-
violent nature of their action. But he said human nature was
what it was. He could not belicve that such a thing could
happen.

Then he said, “Mr. Gandhi 1s respected because he 1s a
saintly man, but when it comes to fighting, they will all throw
him to the winds. Jawaharlal will never submit to Gaundhi rule.”
But 1n spite of all my arguments he could not be convinced on
this point and said that at Icast to learn what I said, he would
go to India.

By this mail, I have 1eceived Bapu's letter in his own
handwriting and also vours. 1 liked Bapu’s letter so much that
1 have sent copies of the same to Lords Halifax, Lothian and
also to Churchill. I have also sent coptes of his last article on
ministerial salary to all the important men.

Pleasc keep me well informed  Ithough | am going away to
the Continent Because 1n August they don’t work here. We have
to reassemble about the first week of Septc mber. It is mnst dis-
gusting that we will be kept here cool ng our heals But it
could not be helped.

We get some occasional Press telegrams about India in the
Times and the Daily Herald. But 1in a way we are absolutely cut
off and so I have asked Devdas to send me The Hindlustun Times
regularly.

Lours affectionately,
Ghanshyamdas

SyT. MAHADLVBHAT DLSAI
WARDHA
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MAGANWADI,
Warpna (C.P.,
August 1, 1937
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

I have your letters of the 20th and 22nd. So you have had
my letter of the 9th. I have been writing to you regularly ever
since the decision of the Working Committec. As my letters
are exclusively meant for you I write down frankly and freely
all that I feel. [ was perfectly happy about the dccision but
1 was not happy about the circumstances that forced it. There
was quite a scramble for a favourable decision. I wish [ could
show you the heaps of impaticnt letiers and telegrams that
we had. The post Gandhi-Irwin Pact history was repcated.
And I should have been untrue to you, if’ I had not described
to you exactly the working of Bapu’s mind Icading up to the
decision.

Of course I know that it crcated a tremendous impression
there. But when I read out to Bapu one sentence in your letter,
namely, that *Bapu’s stocks had gone up’ he had a very hearty
but incredulous laugh. Stocks in the political market as well
as in the money market go up and down very suddenly, and
it is only a speculator who would build much on them. I wish
Icould share your belief that the whole thing will last very
long. As Bapu said to a minister very recently: “‘If this thing
lasts beyoud a year I shall either infer that the Britishers have
become angels or that our ministers are completely cow-towing
to them! However let us hope and pray that cverything will
go on well, human nature rcmaining what it is. On the very
first day in Madras an interesting situation arose. Rajaji wanted
to issue orders immediately for the relcase of Meher Ali. The
Governor demurred, he had strong reasons, and I dare say
Meher Ali had made most objectionable specches, as he did
make one since his rclease. But Rajaji would not yield. The
Governor said, *“Surcly 1 am not going to break on this.”” And
the man was released the next morning. I could tell you stories
like that from other provinccs, which go to show that both the

Governors and the Ministers have begun well. Pantji in U.P.
harangued to the Depart.aental Secretaries for an hour soon
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after assuming office. I dare say they took it all in good part.
Everywhere they started with Bande Mataram—every one of the
members including Europeans and officials standing. In poor
Orissa the officials thought it below their dignity to stand up.
From the point of view of pure intellectual capacity the Orissa
ministry is anything but strong. But they are a set of good
people, tried and truc and I do not think they will be borne
down by superior intellectual strength, or betrayed into doing
anything foolish. The Madras ministry is in every respect the
strongest in India.

You say Sir Roger Lumley is very anxious to sce Bapu, and
ask how this was to be possible. Perhaps he knew the conditions
better than you. For the ice has already been broken. And be-
fore this gets into your hands the newspapers will have flashed
the news that Bapu has seen the Viceroy. Four days ago we
were agreeably surprised to find a Magistrate of this place, at
Segaon, gone there specially to deliver personally to Bapu
some important official document. It was a personal letter from
Lord Linlithgow inviting Bapu to see him. Evidently he had
sent it on to the Goveinor to be delivered personally. 1 shall
tell you Bapu's instantaneous reaction, for this little thing
shows how non-violent to the core is Bapu. He said, “I am
sure somebody has told the Viceroy that 1 should never go to
him without an invitation from him, and this poor man will be
misinterpreted the moment the world knows that it was he
who invited sae and not | who sought the interview.” The
non-violence in Bapu’s nature instinctively rebelled against a
possible compromise of the dignity or piestige of the Viceroy.
And then he wrote out n his own hand a reply. I enclosed
copies of both. He would have given some expression of his
feeling in his reply, but he refrained from doing so. As he said
to me: “*Doesn't he know his own business? Why should I
presume to advise him?” The Viceroy is just now touring in
Assam and Bihar and I do not know wndher Bapu’'s letter will
be in his hands before he is actually in Delhi. Bapu has raised
the question of the North West Frontier, but we trust it will
creatc no difficulty. If this interview was meant merely to
break the ice how could the Viceroy say more than he has
done? But evidently it cannot be all just for *“‘the pleasure of
meeting Mr. Gandhi”. They can’t separate after just saying,
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“How do you do?”’ However it is not quite likely that the inter-
view will not go on beyond an hour or so. But I must not anti-
cipate. So you have to tell Sir Roger Lumley that he has but to
summon Bapu and he will be only too glad to “report him-
self”’.

What you said to Sir Roger about ministers accepting in-
vitations to dinners and parties shows your instinctive know-
ledge of Bapu. Vallabhbhai was here last week to discuss this
and various other questions of procedure. You will be sarry to
learn that they decided to have nothing to do with entertain-
ments. Accepting an invitation from the Governor presupposes
readiness on the part of thc ministers to return the courtesy.
How can our poor ministers indulge in social amenities of
this kind? But it is not merely a question of poverty. Bapu
feels that at least for some years in the best interests of the
country it would be wisest to maintain strictly official relations.

What you say about Churchill is most interesting. When he
uttered that sentence about violence and Indians murdering
Englishmen why did you not remind him of his article in which
he threatened us with dread consequences, if we refused to
accept offices? The cruel word that he used about Bapu's
statement still smarts 1n my memory. Do you know the word?
He described these statements as Gandhi’s ‘*‘barbed-wire
blandishments™. But it is Churchill all over. At the time of the
Irish settlement it was he who invited Michael Collins to
his place and laughed and joked with him and told him that
whereas the British Government had set a price of £ 1,000 on
his (Collins’) head the Boers had set only a price of £ 10 on
his, i.e., Churchill’s head! But1am quite sure his greetings to
Bapu are perfectly genuine. And you must convey Bapu's
thanks to him. In 1931 he declined to see Bapu, but now if he
comes to India at Bapu’s instance T suppose he will ask for the
interview himself. This letter has already become too long and
I must close. I shall write to you again immediately on our
return from Delhi.

Ido understand your disinclination to visit Lourdes, and
you have certainly not the time for it. But one day when we
have no other preoccupations 1 should really love to visit it in
company with you. I don’t suppose Jugal Kishoreji knows any-
thing about the place. Otherwise with his strangely credulous
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nature he would make a dash for it. I want you to see it
ecause you are his extreme opposite in temperament.
Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

We will all miss you in Dclhi You will show this to
Agatha, Pleasc!

21

MAGANWADI,
WarDHA (C.P.),
August 3, 1937
MY DFAR GHANSHYAMDASJI,

I do hope you have had all my Ictters and that you have
not after all found me to be a Rip van Winkle as you called
me in onc of your Ictters.

Laxminiwas tells me that you are going to 1ake the chauce
of having your operation in Vienna, now that you have to be
detained there.for a month more. I am glad, and [ do hope the
operation will mean an end to the whole troublc.

Bapu is writing away every week in hi» old manner. I enclosc
the latest article. Please pass 1t on to Agatha. Rajagopalachari
is working like a Trojan. Here is a sentence fiom his letter to
me: “No minister who is intelligent and conscientious will be
worth his salt until he puts ina solid work of 1§ hours a day.”
And he does it literally. I do hope he will not kill hiniself with
work. How I wish we had similar ministers .n other provinces.
1 think it was a great mistake for the Sardar and Rajendrababu
to have kept out.

You were good enough to ask me to write to you for any-
thing else I may require. Our bce-keeping experiment is proving
successful and is in charge of a man who has proved his worth.
He is writing a series of very interesting and instructive articles
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on bee-keeping and wants for the Village Industries Associa-
tion Library a numbcr of books, on the core of bece-keeping.
1 append a list. Could you please be so good as to procure as
many of the books in the list as may be available?

And for me, Jennings’ book on Cabinet Government. Do
you get the Harijun there? Even if you do, you can’t have a
moment to look at them! We return from Delhi on the 6th. I
shall write again on the 7th, if there is anything worth writing to
you about the intervicw.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

22

VICEREGAL LODGE,
August 4, 1937
MY DEAR GHaNSHY AMDASII,

A strange place for me to write from. Isn’t it? And you will
sce that | am not yet familiar with the name, for though 1
know that the Delhi Palace is called Viceroy's House, it is the
Simla one that is called the Vicercgal Lodge! Well, whilst Bapu
is busy with the Viceroy, I am making mysclf uscful writing a
few lctters that Bapu asked me to write on our way here. Your
dear old chauffeur (I mean thc young handsome chauffeur
dressed in clothes more spotlessly white than I wear) drove us
here and Bapu was closetted with H.E. at 11.30. The interview
scemed to be more to break the ice, as I told you, than for any
specific purpose, and Bapu himself was determined not to
broach any subject of his own accord —excepting of course the
Frontier question that he himself had mentioned in his reply to
the Viceroy. But T have finished all my letters, it i> closc on onc
o’clock and still Bapu is not out—which mcans that matters of
moment arc¢ being discussecd.
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It seems your latest letter to me is awaiting mc at Wardha
for Devdas had a copy yesterday and the original must have
gone to Wardha also the same time. I suppose Lord Z. knew
when he was talking to you that this thing was coming off!

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

P S. Thas is after the interview. It was quite good, frank
and cordial. It lasted for about an hour and a half. The
Frontier door is open so far as Bapu 1s concerned, but
not yet for the Khan Saheb. who said the Viceroy must
make a representation to the Governor. Bapu told
H.l. at length who the Khan Saheb was, and how he
could not be expected to make the 1epre.entauon. But
he was hopeful that the wav will be cleat. And now the
Fronticr mimstry has 1cwgned. so it may be gxpected
that it will be quitc all right.

H.L. 1aised no objection whatsocver about discussing
the Frontier question, and made no difficulty about
Bapu going there.

The other topics discussed weie rural uphift, cows, hand-
made paper and 1eed-pen and so on.

Mahadev

23

MAGANW ADI,
WaArpiia (C.P.),
August 6, 1937
MY DLAR GLANSHYAMDASII,

The cnclosed summarises the interview. This is exclusively
for you and in 1eply to your lettets ol the 26th and the 28th.
Theugh the ice has been broken he docs not apply any more
importance to it than he would to a friendly interchange of
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views. The old imperialism still subsists and it may be very long
before it yields. Bapu would caution you against setting much
store by those “personal contacts” and he is not all inclined to
extend the invitation he did to Lord Lothian, Churchill or
Lord Baldwin or other friends. If they would come of their own
accord, they are perfectly welcome but Bapu vould not request
them to come. Besides he doe> not want to as'ume the status of
a Congress leader to extend that invitation to taem. With Lord
Lothian it was a different matter. He had played an impbrtant
role as a bridge-builder and hc had directly written to Bapu
more than once. The suggestion, or if you please. the invitation,
came therefore in the natural course of things, and out of an
nstinctive impulse. The Churchills and others may come to talk
all kinds of imperialistic nonsense, and it would be like giving
them a passport to visit India to say all those things. No, Bapu
would have none of thesc personal contact business.

As regaids your postscript in Hindi, Bapu promises to apply
his mind to whatever you may send and will endeavour to give
his opinion in so far as it may be possible for him.

As regards the Fronticr question the Viceroy has promised
to correspond with Bapu after he has had an opportunity of
communicating with the Governor. 1t is likely that the ban may
be raised.

I hope you aie kecping well. Have you had all my letters?
This is @ God forsaken place and often enough letters posted in
time do not catch the air mail. I have not missed a single air mail.

C.F.A. arrives tomorrow—on what errand—1I havc not yet
been able to guess.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

Enclosure
August 6. 1937

I wrote you the other day from the Viceroy’s House, and in
my postscript gave you a huiried impression of the interview,
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as I gathered it from the casual talk with Bapu, that I had
in the car. It had to be casual talk because we did not drive
straight back home, but went to your house to meet Jugalkisho-
reji. And then as Bapu had not much time to give him, he
accompanied us to the Harijan Colony.

I shall now try to give you a full account. Before Mr. Leith-
waite (I’'m not surc of the spelling) took Bapu to the Viceroy
he told him that H.E. had‘no time to reply to Bapu’s letter, but
that Bapu was at liberty to discuss the two questions he had
mentioned in his letter.

The Viceroy also started with the same assurance, and asked
Bapu to discuss whatever matters he liked. Bapu said he would
content himsclf with only the two matters he had mentioned,
unless H.E. wanted to discuss anything else. As regards Bapu’s
visit to the Frontier, H. E. had already becn in communication
with the Governor of the Province and he felt that there could
be no cbjection to his going, only he would request Bapu not
to insist on visiting the trans-border-regions. Bapu made it
absolutely clear that it was not his intention to go beyond the
border—at any rate until he had convinced the Government of
his own ability to deal with the question of the tribes, as also
of his own sincerity of purpose.

Regarding the ban against Khan Saheb, would not the Khan
Saheb make a representation to the Frontier Governor? There
were several charges against h'm, the two principle oncs being,
to inflamec sthe frontier tribes and to make of the Khudai
Khidmatgars a military organisation. Rapu said he had repudi-
ated the charges in toto and it was a puy that he had not been
given an opportunity to prove his bona fides. The Kkan Saheb
was a very much misunderstood man; in spite of his shortcon,-
ing he was cssentially a man of God who would instinctively
shrink from untruth and violence, and who was incapable of
deccit. Bapu implored the Viccroy tc make the Khan Saheb’s
acquaintance, and he was sure H.E. would not regret it. The
Khan Saheb’s making a representation to the Frontict Governor
was out of the question. Had he made any representations to
the Punjab Governor? Even as the Punjab doors had been open
to him, the doors of his own home ought now to be opened.
It was open, said Bapu to the Government to express a hope
that on going back to the Frontier the Khan Saheb may not
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say or do certain things, and Bapu was sure he would never
belie their cxpectations, but the permission should be entirely
unconditional.

The question of His Excellency meeting Jawaharlal was also
mooted. H.E. wanted to know from Bapu what kind of man
Jawaharlal was and you can imagine what Bapu must have said
in reply. There was perhaps a shadow of suspicion in his mind
that Jawaharlal may ‘not accept the invitation to meet him. (I
may tell you by the way that beforec Bapu went to sec FLE. he
had a note from Jawaharlal in which he said, “I am not quite
happy about the way in which you are rushing up to Delhi, but
1 suppose it is inevitable.” Bapu has now written to Jawaharlal
to say that therc was likelihood of his being invited by the
Viceroy, and that he had told the Viceroy that it he was invited
he would not refusc). Bapu assured H.E. that he need not
entertain any such fear. He was a perfect gentleman and he
would never refuse an invitation to mect him.

The personnel of the various ministries was casually discussed.
Bapu said the Congress had tried to send the best available
people. So far as the Mussalmans and Depressed Classes were
concerned, their choice was obviously restricted and it was
possible for them to find any better men than they had sent.
H.E. said he knew Rajagopalachari very well and he was
obviously happy about the way in which things were going on
in Madras.

There was a general talk about it, rural uplift, village indus-
tries including hand-made paper and khadi. The Viceroy had
not failed to notice that Bapu’s letter to him was written on
hand-made papcr. Bapu told him that it was far from being a
sample of the best we had made, and added that it was written
with a recd-pen in hand-made village ink. JLE. said a reed-pen
was any day better than steel nibs and fountain-pens inasmuch

as it meant a much less strain on the hand.
Mahadey
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HoTEL BAUR AU Lac,
ZURICH,

August 8, 1937
MY DEAR BAPU,

This is rough outline of the Ottawa Pgct. We get prelerence
under the Pact in the United Kingdom market on the following
commodities against which is gnen our total exports to the
United Kingdom.

Lakhs of rupees

1. Tea 17.00
2. Hides & skins of a'l kinds 7,00
3. Giroundnuts 1,50
4. Vegetable oils F.50
5. Linseed 3,00
6. Jute manufactures 2.70
7. Oil seed cakes 1.50
8. Carpets and rugs 65
9. Tobacco 60)
0. Cotton manufactures mostly handloom made 20
1. Miscellaneous 1,50

37.15

Against tl;ese we give preflerences in our market to ‘vauous
commodities of the United Kingdom likc clectrical appaiatuses,
motor-cars, constructional nardwaie, the total trade of which
amounts to about 22 crores. It s not necessary to give details
of all these. Over and above this, the United Kingdom enjoys
preferences in cloth and steel which trade amcunted to about
13 crores at the conclusion ot the Ottawa Pact. Now it has gone
down. Thus the United Kingdom enjoys ' efetence in a tiade
of approximately 35 crores 1n the Indian market.

We give on most of the United Kingdom items preicrences
varying from 719 to 109, but in cloth the United Kingdom
enjoys preference of 30%,. On the other hand in the United
Kingdom marlet, we enjoy preference which generally amount
to 10%, although in tea it is much higher. At first glance it looks
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as if the pact was equitable because trades of both the sides that
enjoy preference amount to equal value and the percentages of
preferences also are very nearly equal. So it may be argued that
the pact was based on reciprocity. But it was not so because
while there may have been a reciprocity in quantity, in quality
it was not so.

In the first place our articles that enjoy prefercnce are most-
ly raw materials which the United Kingdom requires in her
own interest and secondly in most of the items on which we
enjoy preference we had as our competitors either the other
empire countries which too enjoy a similar preference or we are
supplying nearly 80% to 90% of the United Kingdom market
and therefore in imposing tariff on foreign imports and allow-
ing our imports free, the United Kingdom is not making any
sacrificc.

For instance in tca, while we get a good preference, Ceylon
also enjoys a similar preference and we two between ourselves
suppy 90% of the United Kingdom market. Thus in giving prc-
ference on tea, we get no advantage except a sort of “insu-
rance value” nor the United Kingdom makes any sacrifice
in giving us such preference. There arc many other instances of
similar nature. ] admit however thateven the “insurance value™
has its value.

On the other hand, in giving preference to the United King-
dom in our market, we make real sacrifice and the United King-
dom gets definite benefit. And some of the commodities of the
United Kingdom compete with our own production and thus
the pact was mequitable on the ground that there was no
reciprocity in quality.

Another factor which should not be ignored is that we are a
debtor country and the United Kingdom being our creditor, in
her own 1nterest, she must buy mainly from us in order that we
may not default. On the other hand, there is another point
which has to be borne in mind. Out of the preference that we
give to the United Kingdom, cloth and steel stand on different
footing. At any rate in theory the United Kingdom gets pre-
ference on steel and cotton not because of Ottawa dut because
of our policy of discriminating protection. The Tariff Board
recommended that India needed higher protection against Japan
than against the United Kingdom and hence this discrimination
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in favour of the United Kingdom.

If therefore the Ottawa Pact is terminated and it is not re-
placed by any other pact, then while we could continue to give
preference to the United Kingdom on steel and cloth, we cease
to get any preference as hitherto enjoyed by us in the United
Kingdom market. This puts us in a rather disadvantageous po-
sition for which there seems to be no remedy at present. In
negotiating for a new pact therefore we pressed on two things.

Offe that all the preferences hitherto enjoyed by us should
continue and that India in return should give nothing to the
United Kingdom except preferences which she already enjoys
in cloth and steel. There are onc or two other points which we
airc pressing. One is the question of raw cotton. Under the
Ottawa Pact the United Kingdom gave us a moral promise that
she would try to increase her consumption of Indian cotton and
she did increase her imports from India from nearly two lakh
bales to about 6% lakh bale.. We now press that instead of
vague promises, the United Kingdom should givc us a definite
undertaking to purchase ten lakh bales of Indian cotton every
year.

Another point that we are pressing is in respect of export
drawback on linseed. It is necessary to explain this export draw-
back at this stage. The United Kingdom imports linseed from
India as also from Argentine. Indian linseed is free from duty
whereas Argentine 15 subject to mmport duty. Now whatever
goods arc nm.ade out of Argentine linseed such as oil, varnish,
elc., when they arc exported, the Governor of thc United King-
dom rcfunds the duty that it originally charged on that portion
of linseed oil which is exported. This is called drawbach.

This drawback system very nearly nullifies the preference
enjoycd by Indian linseed. We press that this diawback should
be abolished. The United Kingdom on the other hand refuses
to withdraw the drawback system and is pressing first of all for
greater preference on cloth—and wants another 99; reduction
in duty—and secondly for restriction on Indian exports of jute
manufactures, carpets and chrome tanned leather to the United
Kingdom. She is also pressing that she would not be satisfied
with prefercnces merely on cloth and steel which she main-
tains were given not for the benefit of the United Kingdom
manufacturer but in the interest of the Indian consumer and
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thercfore she demands preferences on various other items which
we have refused.

It is necessary Lo note at this stage that out of the prefe-
rences enjoyed by Indian commodities. Jute manufactures,
chrome leather and carpets werc the things that got the real
benefit. These three commodities are hitting dircctly the British
manufacturer who is very much alarmed and wants to restrict
our trade in these three items. :

Taking all these things into consideration, I have made a
suggestion to some of my colleagues that in order to conclude a
pact, we should go as far as this:

1. All the preferences enjoyed by India at present which
comprise a trade of nearly 35 crores should continue.

2. The drawback system which we wanted to be abolished
be allowed to remain.

3. There should be no restriction on our trade of jute manu-
factures, carpets and chrome leather.

4. That in exchange for this, we should give a further reduc-
tion of 5%/ on cloth to Lancashire but that we should not
give any further preference on any other atticle to the
United Kingdom unless those articles may be very insig-
nificant and the total trade of all of which in aggregate
does not exceed 14 crorcs.

5. Over and above this, the United Kingdom should
guarantee that she would take increasing quantity of
Indian cotton until its purchases rcach within three years
to 10 lakh bales.

Now it may look as if such a pact strongly weighs in our
favour to the disadvantage of the United Kingdom. But as |
have already cxplained, most of the preferences enjoy ed by us
are only of “insurance value” and therefore its advantageous
effect in comparison to the volume of trade is smaller. On the
other hand, in giving further preference on cloth, we make an
earncst effort to appease Lancashire although on account of
reduced cost of production of the Indian mills even with a
further 5% reduction in tariff, viz., from the existing 20% to a
new level of 159, she is not likely to be benefitcd. Her trade in
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1935 amounted to 450 million yards. In 1936 it dropped to 340
million yards and in 1937 in spite of a reduction of 5% duty, it
is running on the basis of 290 million yards.

Myself and Kasturbhai both think thata 59 further reduc-
tion to Lancashire will not make any difference to the Indian
cotton mills and Lancashire is prepared to guarantee that in case
her trade increases above 500 million yards—now it is about
300—then we should reduce-the preference by 21% and if that
is not effective, we may further reduce it by another 2194 and
continue like this until the trade comes down to 500 million
yards. Similarly she demands that in case her trade goes below
250 million yards, we should give her a further reduction in duty.

This principle is not bad although I would like to fix the
figures of maximum and minimum at 400 and 200 respectivcly.
But 1 personally feel that the time is coming fast when perhaps
the Indian mills would be able to compete Manchester in Indian
market which means that we would hardly require any pro-
tection. Thercfore I fecl that in giving further reduction to
Manchester, we would not be putting the Indian industry at an
disadvantage. On the other hand, I see great potentialities in
jute manufactures, carpet and chrome leather and if we get
a frce market 1n the United Kingdom, then in course of time I
think we will be able to improve trade immensely in these three
commoditics.

The other items on which we enjoy preference are in my
opinion not of such large valuc as at first sight may appear. The
essential items of preference therefoie in our favour woulid be.

Jute 270 lakhs

Carpcts o0 .,

Chrome leather 30 .,
3060 lakhs

Besides this, if the United Kingdom guarantees to take 10
lakhs of bales of Indian cotton, which would be worth about 10
crores, this—while not causing any sacrifice on the part of the
United Kingdom —will be a great advantage to us. Over and
above this, therc would be preferences on various other items,
some of little value and others of fair value, the total trade in
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which there would be about 30 to 32 crores against which I
suggest that we should give a further reduction of 5] to Lanca-
shire in a trade which at present stands at a level of 7 crores
and allow the present preference on steel which trade amounts
to about 21 crores and give preferences on other articles not
exceeding an amount of 1% crores.

This in my opinion will be fair to both sides and will
not at all be injurious to Indian-interests. Kasturbhai is going
to sound Ahmedabad but in my opinion the Congiess® opinion
is the most important since even if such a pact be in the interest
of India, the cotton industry would not takc a wider view and
perhaps may not agree to any reduction in favour of Lancashire.

My own fear is what the pact as envisaged by me may not
be acceptable to the United Kingdom. Perhaps there may be a
breakdown but what 1 feel is this that on our part we should be
preparcd to go to the extent I have suggested. If there will be
a breakdown, then unfortunately we will have to continue to
give preference to the United Kingdom in stecl and cotton
without any corresponding advantage to us. This cannot be
helped. But perhaps the United Kingdom may realise that after
all it is not in her best interest to break. Besides this, political
value of a voluntary pact too cannot be minimised.

It may be argucd why not more preference on other items
and no more on cloth? The reply is that the United Kingdom
attaches the greatest importance to cloth whereas 1 think in the
present circumstances it is only the cloth wheie we may safely
yield.

The result of a breakdown may be serious on the ex-
port of our raw cotton, and as raw cotton is consumed by
Manchester, we must placate her of all. When I made this sug-
gestion to Sir Purshottamdas Thakurdas, he liked the 1dea but
was afraid to touch cloth which in India has assumed some
political importance. 1 told him that we could not take any
serious action without consulting you and if after weighing all
pros and cons, you approve of my suggestion, then we desire
to have your blessings. In case you do not approve, then we
would have no fear of any criticism that being ourselves manu-
facturers we totally ignored the interest of the cotton grower
and the other agriculturists. As the matter is very important,
we cannot do without your consultation, In case you need any
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further information. please inquire. But we must have your final
opinion before the 7th of September, if possible.
With pranams,
Yours affectionately,
Ghanshyamdas

PusyA SHRI MAHATMA GANDHUI
W ARDHA

25

HoTteL BAUR AU Lac,
ZURICH,
August 8, 1937
MY DEAR. MAHADEVBHAI,

As already written in one of my letters, T am now writing
this to seek Bapu’s advicc, of course in confidence, with reference
to the new Trade Pact. I would not take any final step without
knowing the attitude of Bapu or 11 other words of the Congress.
Perhaps Bapu may like to consult Vallabhbhai or someone
clse whom he chooses to do so. But pleas. don’t disappoint me
by saying that this is something beyond the sphere of Bapu
because then it will be very difficult for us to take any action
even if we felt that it were in the best interest of the country.
We do not want to put our signatures on a document which
may be disowned by the country and therefore we want to con-
sult Bapu before taking any conclusive acti>r.. 1 am surc when
Bapu consults someonc elsc, he will make it clear that this is

all in strict confidence. Nothing should leak out.
Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas

SYT. MAHADEVBHAI DESAI
WARDHA
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HoteL BAUR AU LAC,
ZURICH,
August 9, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

Your letters are very interesting and informative. It will be
hard on you if 1 said that I would expect such letters from you
cvery now and then, but whenever you can spare time, I hope
you will keep me well informed.

1 quite understand the difficulties of the ministers and their
having to pass sleeping nights, but I think it will all scttle down
in course of time. I am glad that a meeting with the Viceroy
came about because now Bapu would be able to solve a number
of difficulties, although this will cause gieater on his health.

Did you deliberately keep silent over some of the points
raised in myv previous letters, or arc they still under reply?

Yes, 1 will bring your Statesman’s Year Book and the
Modern Atlas. 1 wonder how you needed atlas. but of course
Mr. Laithwaite must have some of these modest equipments for
his Secretartiat which is now assuming wider importance. It is
only a pity that your Sccretarial is too small.

Yours sincercly,
Ghanshyamdas
SyT. MAHADLVBHAI DESAI
WARDHA

27

ZURICH,
August 16, 1937

MY DI AR MAHADLVBHAL,
It was not at Vienna but at Zurich that I decided to have
my nose operation done. Prof. Nagar is supposed to be an
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international man. He has done the operation and today is the
sixth day of it. I am out of the bed now, but I don’t think I
will be fit to travel before another seven or ten days. When I
am better, I will go to London either or after visiting one or
two places on business. This I am dictating from the hospital.

The operation was done under local anaesthetic. The Pro-
fessor cut through my mouth into the antrum and took out the
mucous membranc and then made another hole in the antrum
by cutting the bone into the nose. I think the work was done
very clevegly. It was not quite pleasant to be conscious and to
know what was being done all the time in your mouth with
hamner and chiscl. Of course it was very intcresting and in a
way also funny, I hope that this will help me but as with every
operation so with this, it is always taking a chance

Your two letters are lying unreplied. Far from being a Rip
van Winkle, now you are giving me the fullest information and
I am very grateful to you for this. The copies of The Hindustan
Times arc not reaching mc and my connection with the Harijan
is scvered since I left London. So the only news that I get
about India is either through private letters or through the
British Press. The Times has been very kind to us so far and
Mr. Inglish always sends complimentary news. The Morning
Post uscd to write in a hostile manner but sincc I took up the
question with Churchill and Lord Halifax, it has become less
unfriendly which again may br a comncidence.

1 am not surprised at the news that I am getting just now.
One day I read some students going on strike, if the Education
Minister failed to do this or that. shen I read some match
workers going on hunger strike, if the Industry Minister did not
settle their demands satisfactonly. The big Cawnpore strike
was settled eventually but 1 read that once the strikers refused
to abide by the decision of Pant. And of cuurs: the Andaman
strikes are still agitating the minds of the people.

It looks as if everybody wants to L.ive his own way under
the Congress regime. I have no doubt that Bapu is doing all
that is necessary to educate the public opinion to keep disci-
pline. I will not be surprised if some day 1 heard of marches led
to the housc of the minister with flags and slogans. Suppression
of the popular feeling in the past is perhaps now having its
reaction and it would not be bad if the steam was allowed to
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blow out. But what is necessary for the people to know is that
even under swaraj they have to be law abiding, reasonable and
disciplined. I have no doubt that in course of time they will
learn. But don’t you think it is desirable that public education
on these lines was undertaken without the least delay?

And look at these specches of Jawaharlalji ! Whatever they
may mean. I know it is not an attack on Bapu, but ignorant
men would think as’if he was abusing Bapu for seeing the
Viceroy. 1t does not create a good impression anywhere. *

I did not quite understand why should Bapu havg had incre-
dulous laugh at my telling you that his stocks had gone up and
come down but as a businessman let me tell you that they don’t
fluctuate so suddenly as you people think they do. In certain
cases where the statistical position is sound, there is always a
period of continued steadiness and so I was quite justified when
1 said that our administration could last very long. Of course it
cannot last if we wanted to break, but as this is not our desirc,
1 don’t think there is going to be any serious trouble. Neither
the Britishers will become angels nor our ministers will know-
tow to them, if our ministries continued with stability. What is
likely to happen is that both sides will make mutual adjust-
ments and perhaps it will be realised that there was a lot of
good on both sides which was not appreciated so far. Biitishers
are very shrewd men, and if they tool a farsighted view, as |
suppose they would, they would certainly help us to realise our
goal. And therc 1s nothing unusual with a shrewd man taking
a far-sightcd vicw. Have not the Englishmen taken up such an
attitude 1n South Africa and Ireland? Why cannot the history
be repeated in India also? 1 have no doubt that it will be. I am
glad to hear from you however that in all the provinces the
Governors and the ministers have begun well.

As regards Bapu’s decision about the ministers not accepit-
ing social invitations from the Governors, I felt he would be
thinking something like this and so I correctly represented his
views to Sir Roger. But perhaps it would be better if the Prime
Ministers were allowed to have social relations. Then there
would be no misunderstanding, otherwise there is bound to be
some. There is justification in making exception in case of the
Prime Ministers.

I note your remarks about Churchill, but you don’t reply to
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my query whether Bapu would like to have him in India. Don’t
go by what he says. He is a politician, pure and simple, and I
think perhaps his philosophy is to have one policy in public
and the other in private. But I tell you that as a man he is full
of warmth. There is no vanity about him and he has got child-
like simplicity. He had the honesty to admit to me that when
he stood up in favour of the ex-King, he did not know that
the public opinion was so much against him. 1 also discussed
with him the general position of monarchy in England and the
fact why he was not in the Cabinet. T felt that he was one of
the half a dozen persons who rule England and 1 was impressed
with his frankness in private talks. He was very straight in
telling me that I should not expect of him to writc articles in
favour of India. He reminded me what politics was.

Your lettcr from Delhi did not give me much news but per-
haps you thought it bctter to be discreet. 1 note that you say
the copy of my lctter to you is with Devdas. I always post one
copy to Decvdas, onc to Rajaji and one to my brother
Rameshwarji who shows it to Sardar.

For the first time I learn from your letter that the Frontier
ministry has resigned. So you are going to have seven minist-
ries now.

I sent you the cable about Bapu’s health because besides
your own letter, I read in the Press that when he got down at
Dclhi, he looked very tried. 7 hope he is fully recovered from
the fatigue now. 1 am not writing to Bapu anything about it
because I know nobody can look after his health better than
Bapu himself. The only thing 1s that son.ctimes he is compelled
to overwork and I will talk to him about it on my return.

I entirely agree with you that 1t was a great mistake fo1 the
Sardar and Rajendrababu to have kept out. Perhaps it would
be rectified after a year’s steady work.,

I will bring the books on bze-keeping ond Cubinct Govern-
ment. I do not find the list of books on bez-heeping which you
say you cnclosed with the letter, but T will try to get some good
books on the subject.

Yours sincercly,
Ghanshyamdas
SYT. MAHADEVBHAI DESAI
WARDHA
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GOVERNOR'S CAMP,
NORTH-WEST FRONTIER PROVINCE,
ABBOTTABAD,
August 17, 1937
DEAR MR. GANDHI,

I have recencd ‘a letter from His Excellency the Viceroy in
which he has given me the gist of his talk witk you on the 4th
of August. His Excellency, 1 understood, told you that he belie-
ved there would be no objection to your paying a visit to the
North-West Frontier Province, should you desire to do so. I
have discussed this with my ministers, and with their authority
I write to inform you that there will be no objection to your
visiting the province. His Excellency, 1 know, told you that he
felt it necessary to ask you to leave all affairs connected with
the tribes severally alone during your visit; I understand that
you accepted His Excellency’s decision in this matter, and I
know that you will scrupulously abide by this assurance.

Should there be an opportunity of our meeting, it will be
a pleasure to me to renew the accqaintance we made when I
was with Lord Halifax.

The question of Khan Abdal Ghaffa1 Khan, about which
you also spoke to His Excellency, is still under consideration
by the munistry; I anticipate that a decision will be reached
within the next day or two.

Yours sincerely,
G. Cunningham

M. K. GANDHI, ESQUIRE
SEGAON
WARDHA
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MAGANWADI,
WaRDHA (C.P.),

August 18, 1937
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

I have your letters of the 30th July and of the 9th August
from Zurich. Rameshwardusji also sent that impoitant com-
munication containing the proposed Tiade Agrcement which |
lost no time in passing on to Bapu. I also got his reply to it
immediately and sent it in to Rameshwardasy by messenger to
be potted to you from there. I do not know how you will like
the reply, but you cannot cxpect anything else fiom Bapu,
constituted as he is. Tlis approach and your approach ate natu-
rally quite different. and whilst you may judge the thung on its
merits the final decision ought to rest with the Conguss which
represents the bulk of the people. And perhaps that is the sccu-
rest position for you to tahe, vi , that no agreement is final
unless it has received the imprimatur of the Congress. I enclose
a copy of Bapu’s letter along with this letter also. As you have
not told me where I should address my letters, [ am seuding a
copy to London and also one to Zurich.

I very much appreciate your letter of the 30th. What you
have told Lord Lothian is quite all right. Not until we have
made a serious attempt to * rk the Constitution and demonst-
rated the wutter inadequacy of the present Act for the purposc
of building up the nation, shall we te'l the woild that the Cons-
titution must be scrapped and a “ew one. formulated by the
nation take its place. 1 du not know whether the delegaiion you
suggest would serve the purpose ot somcthing else. The bulk of
the Congressmen will I am afraid not favour the 1dea of a dcle-
gation. But T suppose it 1s too early yet to cotnt our chichens.

1 eaplained to you Bapu’s attitud- to the proposed ‘“‘perso-
nal contacts” in my past personal le.ter to you. He would not
think of extending the 1nvitation, even in his personal capacity
to anyone else.

I am glad you explained to Lord T othian, how as a Liberal,
he was incapable of understanding our special brand of direct
action, but ultimately it is action that convinces, not arguments.
If Bapu lives in our midst for a few ycars, we might be ablc to
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show what non-violent direct action is capable of.

The ministries are founctioning fairly well. There is sufficient
co-operation on bchalf of the officials. 1 almost suspect they
have orders from London to behave themsclves and I grant that
they are a much more disciplined lot than many of us. Fancy
Garet, the Commissioner of Ahmedabad, who in 1930 threaten-
ed Morarji Desai with dire consequences, if he resigned, now
going to the station to receive mini$ter Morarji and travelling
a fair distance with him 3rd class! You kunow the¢ Bardoli' and
Kaira Auctioned Lands’ Dispute; it looks as though Garet
would make no difficulty now, in having the lands transferred
back to the original owners. A sub-inspector of police who had
been guilty of tyrannical abuse of power in the past committed
suicide by shooting himself on the eve of Minister Morarji's
arrival in Bardoli. But that is by the way. Rajaji is having the
utmost co-operation from the civilians. There may be some
difficulty in poor Orissa. But even that will be temporary.

Our difliculties 1 am afraid will be of our own creation.
We are yct far from being a united house. There are our friends,
who benefiting by the situation, would have strikes everywhere,
and would delight in the ministries being condemned as incapa-
ble of handling the situation. Rajaji has released one and all of
the political piisoners in his province, violent and non-violent.
The last Mopla prisoner was released only the other day, but
with what result. Mecher Ali who had been sentenced to six
month’s imprisonment before Rajaji assumed office, ‘was releas-
cd by him on the very day he assumcd officc. There was some
difficulty about his relcase, as 1 had told you in onc of my
previous letters. But Rajaji succeeded 1n getting him fice on the
very day when his appeal was dismissed. Within two days of his
relcase, this man gocs and makes a speech full of firc and
brimstone, inciting people to violence. What is poor Rajaji to do?
There are half a dozen or more similar prisonets still in Bombay.
There is a difficult problem. The ministers insisted on their
being released, but not with success. But can they break on
this? If we were absolutely agreed on non-violence the ques-
tion should not be difficult, but even as regards the implications
of non-violence, there is a gulf of difference between Jawaharlal
and Bapu. The last meeting of the Working Committee was an
exceptionally difficult one in view of the problems I have men-
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tioned. But everything ultimately ended well.

I wonder if you arc getting your Harijan there, of course, 1
have sent you the most important articles, asIam sending
along with this the one written for the next issue. Bapu is very
keen on prohibition being made an accomplished fact within
three years, and I am glad that he has carried the Working
Committee with him. “The educationa] puzzle need not baffie
us,”” says Bapu, “Education will take care of itself if only we
will fake care to see that prohibition will not be the sacrifice
that we have to make for it. *“We arc passing through great
times. I am afraid we have not the resourcefulness sufficient for
the great task ahead. But God helps those who throw themselves
on his mercy. This may not be the attitude of all. It is certainly
Bapu’s attitude.

On the other difficult questions too, T expect there wiil not
ultimately remain much trouble. The difficulty with Jawaharlal,
after all, is also not insurmountable. He frets and fumes, he
storms, he is often in a rage, but after all h2is a sport, and so
quickly regains his balance, makes rapid amends and sees that
there is no unpleasantness left behind.

This letter is getting long, and the business part still remains
You will remember that in February last you were good cnough
to arrange for frec passage on one of your boats for two
ladics who are working here for us in India. They are now
in touch with vour agents i London, and ttying to find out if
a free passage back to India in one of your cargo boats return-
ing home, is possible. Added to the tw is now a third lady, the
wife-to-be of a German friend who i working here with us. It
seems she was expelled from Germany cvidently for her paci-
fism, and her passage in a Hansa Line boat may not be exactly
tolerable or plcasant. Are therc any other cargo boats—I mcan
not belonging to the Hansa Linc-—on which thesc threc ladics
might have a free passage, either from « * of the English ports
or the Italian ones?

You are silent about your health. Did you have an opera-
tion after all or you arc just spending the rccess in Zurich.
Bapu is very anxious to know. 1 have wiitten to Rameshwardasji
also in this connection, in case you may have written to him in
detail. 1 hope you got my cable about Bapu. There was not
much of a rise in his blood-pressure to spcak of, but he had
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been feeling the strain of overwork. He distinctly saw that
danger was ahead, if he did not take precautions be times. He
did so at once, curtailed part of his routine work and began to
take more rest. He automatically goes into silence after every
evening prayer. That ensures perfect rest until 4 o’clock next
morning. | assure you that there is nothing to be anxious about.

Yours affectionately,

Mahadeyv

30

SIGAON,
August 18,1937
BHAI GHANSHYAMDAS,

I am in receipt of your letter which I have gone through
very carcfully. What I feel is that there is little that 1 or the
Congress could say in this matter. This only meuns that you
should not basc your actions on my approval or its otherwise
inasmuch as my angle of vision is not the same as yours. |
cannot treat an agreement of this nature as something unrelated
to the political issucs. I made a frank admission of it while on
a visit to Lancashire during the Round Table Confercnce. You
and your collcagues are on Pact Committee, which fact forfeits
your right to have a say in political matters. You will, there-
fore, do well to consider the merits and demerits of thc propos-
ed agreement quitc independently of s relevance to the
political issues. If you do that, I will certainly share your
findings. It is also your duty to do that. You can usefully add
that undue importance should not be attached to your judgment
as to the shortcomings of the proposed agreecment. Since the
Congress alone is the sole representative of popular opinion,
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only its imprimatur can make it a valid document. That will
sufficiently demonstrate your wisdom as well as your sense of
proportion By you I mean yowr colleagues as well.
This T am wniting afte1 the morning prayer
I hope you have bencfited from vour stay 1n Zursch.
Blessings from
Bapu

31

WARDIIA,
August 19, 1937
MY DI AR GITANSHYAMDASII,

The main news goes 1 the encloscd Ictter Nothing has
happened since the breaking of the ice at Sim!la Only Bapu now
feels fice to write, and he L. wuitten a letter to the Viceroy
asking him to s<end an cxpert engineer to overtake the terrible
flood havoc in Orissa Khan Saheb | s left for Sind and the
Punjab, 1n the expectation of the hfting ¢ the bar on him to
enter the Irontier, by the Lime he has finished his tour in both
the provinces. I do cxpect something to come from the Viceroy,
for he 15 a man of his wotrd. His 1teply to Mohanlal Saxena, 1n
reply to the latter’s regarding the Andaman priscrers on hunger
strike, 15 a fine document—cdrctully and s tiently reasoned, {'ne
i tone and concilutory in spirit How I wish our people—the
extreme section—listened to Bapu He would then have few
difficulties with the Government At the present moment 1t looks
as though they are more capable of civility than we are Maybe
the civility 1s a portent ot the heavy hand thev would come
down upon us the moment we ran amuck' But why should we
judge? We must try to leain from them,
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You make fun of the Segaon “Laithwaite™. And well you
may. Look at the poorly typed copy of the dictated letter. I
have now a very willing and efficient sister to help me with my
typing, but how am I to help the bad machine, bad stationery,
and so on. You must one day help me in overhauling all these
things. If you have not ordered the atlas, please cancel the
order. 1 have one which serves my purpose. What 1 would need
is a number of reference books. Statesman’s Year Book, 1 have
alrcady mentioned. You may order other reference books as
well. Your Sccretary tells me he has placed an order with
Sefridges for a Chemical instruments and Messano! Messano is
a toy-box. What I had asked for is a carpenter’s tool-box. So
plcase let him ask for a carpenter’s tool-box. Thus my little boy
will get a toy-box extra in the bargain.

Yours,
Mahadev

32

' ZURICH,
August 20, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADLVBHAI,

All the points raised in my previous letters have now been
replied by you and I know Bapu’s desire in respect of personal
contact. I will act accordingly.

You know during the last four years Bapu has encouraged
me to talk so much about personal contact that perhaps now it
has become an obsession with me. But if it is an obsession, I
am not unconscious about it and so it can do no harm. I am
still intellectually concerned about its efficacy, but Bapu must
have strong reasons to cry halt at this stage. Perhaps he is not
ignoring the attitude of Jawaharlalji and maybe some of these
difficultics have influenced his mind to make this modification
in this views,
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I left the hospital day-before-yesterday. But I don’t think I
will be fit to travel before another seven or eight days

Yours affectionately,

Ghanshyamdas
SYyr MAHADFVBAI Drsal
WARDHA
33
SFGAON,
WAPDHA

August 24, 1937
DFAR TRIIND,

I thank you for vour letter of the 17th mst Twvidently, I
did not quitc understand what HE the Viceroy said to me
about trans-Frontier 1 understood him to mean that he could
not think ol permitting me to cross the border And I accepted,
what 1 understood to be the Viceroy’s decision adding that [
did not lose the hope that, when 1 had inspued sufficient confi-
dence as to my integrity and at ity 1 could salely be permutted
to cross the Frontier But that is miclevant to this letter I would
Iike to know the implication of *leaving all affairs connected
with the tribes severely alone™ during n y visit Not thit I have
the shghtest desire to medidle in trans-I 1ontier affairs My 1n-
tention 15, as it was, when I fust broached the subject to I ord
Irwin, as I o1d Halifax then was, to know thc | rontiet Pathan
in lus own home to make the acquaintince of Khudar khid-
matgais, to ascettain for myselt how {ar theu claim to be
uttetly non-violent could be sustained wad how far 1 could
promote the general welfate of the Pathans which 1s dear to the
heart of Khan Saheb Abdul Ghaffar Khan He puts implicit
rellance opon my judgment as I put cn his tiansparency and
trustworthiness But I suppose, it 1s 1nevitable that people will
come to me to talk about trans-Frontier affairs Can I not
listen to their nitratives and even give my opinion, if I were
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asked to express it? Can I not form one on what they might
tell me?

If 1 succeed in visiting the Frontier Province, I should cer-
tainly feel sorry, if I had to leave it without having the plea-
sure of renewing the acquaintance we made during the time
you were at Detlhi.

I await your further letter about the Khan Saheb’s question.

I am yours sincerely,
M.K. Gandhi

PS. 1 just read in the paper the ban has been lifted. I
am grateful.

H.E. Tiir GOVl RNOR
N.W.F.P.

34

MAGANWADI,
WarpnHaA (C.P.),
August 26, 1937
MY DFAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

There is really not very much to write this week. I had the
news of your operation from Ramecshwardasji and now 1 have
itin much greater detail from you. I hope all the trouble that
you have gone through will not be in vain. 1 am sorry 1 cannot
give you a satisfactory report of Bapu’s health. Though the
manomcter reading taken about a wmonth ago apparently
appeared to be reassuring T had a suspicion that everything was
not all right. I could see that he easily got tired, often enough
irritated over things which would not disturb him otherwise.
And then some of the things that happened at the Working
Committee were far from pleasant. Whereas he gets irritated
with his own people and throws off this feeling of irritation by
saying a few hard words, in a place like the Working Committee
he is in a different predicament, Often enough things happen that
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would normally irritate him and yet he controls himself. This
suppression has, if anything, a worse cffect than the expression
of it when he is with us. There have been several other reasons
too, of a sufficiently disturbing domestic character, but I will
not take you into them. The net result is that he is very much
worse than he was when I sent you that cable in reply to yours.

The ministries have naturally added, to his normal work.
Many of the ministers have been here and have had long and
taxing conversations. Two will be coming next week. I wish I
could stop all this, but if I tried to do anything of the kind, it
would irritate all the more. The blood-pressure is somewhere
between (sys.) 180 and 200 plus (diast.) 120. If he had no other
signs T should ignore this high reading, but as there are enough
signs of a disturbing charucter I cannot say that I am free from
anxiety. He is trying to give himself rest by cutting down the
routine work, but even that is not fully possible. Ke was
jockeyed into this ugly Nariman enquiry much against his will,
and there seems to be no getting out of it.

For Harijan he feels he must write cvery week, though I
would very much like to take it off his hands altogether for some
weeks, as I did in 1935. But he feels that he must give the best
of himself whilst yet it is in his power to do so. And so we have
to be passive witnesses of a process that is not only disturbing
but excruciating.

A change from his prese. surrounding might perhaps do
some good. And with the letter from the Frontier Governor
and the lifting of the ban against Khan ! 1heb, an avenue seems
to have been opened. I shall report to ycd what happens. You
will see in the mecan while the copies of the correspondence
between Sir G. Cunningham and Bapu.

He had a good letter from Lord Linlithgow regarding the
flood situation in Orissa and I think even Cunningham’s letter
is good, apart of course from the Sccreta-ic’ tone. How can the
poor man forget that he was Secretary for the best of his life?
What the Viceroy said in a much happier manner, he has put
in the bluntest possible words. But I am sure nothing more is
meant than the prohibition of entry to the trans-border region.
I hope it will be all weli and this visit to the Frontier, if it
comes about, and the new aquaintance with a people whom he
has longed to meet all these years, might act as asort of
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‘Pick-me up’.

The other news is also of a more or less cheering character.
Dr. Gilder who is in charge of the Excise portfolio in Bombay
was here the other day. I asked him how he found the officials
in his department. He had a very good report o give. He report-
ed a talk with his Excise Commissioner which will amuse you.
“Now tell me if you.are at all serious about this prohibition,”
said Mr. Knight frankly. He had to ask this question as he knew
that Government had never been serious so far. “Well, we are
perfectly serious. Up to now you followed the policy of maxi-
mum of revenue and minimum of consumption and damned
the revenue. You have to work this out. Will you do so?” e
said he would. And I am quite sure that if we act on the square,
he and all his sobordinates also will do the likewise.

The trouble, as 1 have before indicated, is with our own
people. You know the Kakori Dacoit prisoners who were
convicted some years ago of the most violent and unpardonable
crimes. Pantji has released them all. It is a feather both in his
cap, and that of laig, who might well have objected to their
release. But the moment their releasc was announced, our
idiotic Congress Committee makes an announcement of taking
those people out in procession. Poor Pantji was absolutely at
sea. He was persuaded to be firm. He made it clear that if they
persisted it would not be possible for him to do any similar in
future. Jawaharlal, too, did not give any encouragement to the
Congress enthusiasts. And so cverything ended well.

In Madras, Rajaji is handling the situation in his remarkably
clever way. But cven he is not quite free from anxiety. He has
to burn the candle at both ends. And there arc disturbing ele-
ments there too. The Mopla M.L.A. whosc ambition was to be
on the Cabinet, was not taken, and he now bombards him with
letters saying that a Mopla tebellion is imminent! A supersti-
tion is rampant in those parts that every twenty years a burst-
up has to come. It is ordained by God! The last burst-up was
in 1921. The time is ripe or nearly ripe for a fresh one. Rajaji
emphatically says, “I will not buy these fellows into silence.”
It is likely that the threats are idle, but they continue to come.

Pantji had a most difficult time of it at Cawnpore, as you
already know. The situation in other parts is not quite happy.
Kher has wisely chosen as his Secretary Gulzarilal and he is a
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tower of strength to him. He is here, there and everywhere. He
has already settled two strikes in a strikingly quick and a
satisfactory manner. But there is a limit to his capacity too.

I have done. I am nut sending a copy of this to Zurich. I
enclose an article for the next week’s Haryan. It will show you
how tremendously keen Bapu is on prohibition and how he
wants a fierce agitation for it. When exactly are you leaving?

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

35

WARDHA,
August 27, 1937
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASJI,

The enclosurc was dictated last evening. Bapu’s health 1s
causing anniety. Pleasc do wnte to him yourself, and please
return early. I did post the hst of broks on bee-keeping, 1t might
have been mislaid at your end.

This T am writing just to tell you that the boy who 1s car1ying
on his studies under my supery  on 1s fond of reciting the fol-
lowing couplets from Udbhat Sagar

He 1s the Lord of the gods,

His father-in-law 1s the lurd of the mountains,

The Lord of wealth 1s his personal {riend,

His own son is the Loid congregations;

But he humself has remained a beggai,

Because he 15 cursed with a burming 1 »  1n hus forchead.

His cinphasis 1s, of course, on Lord Shiva’s personal friend-
ship with Kuber, the Lord of wealth. The boy has a sense of
humour 1indeed! He knows that you aie biinging the tool-box
and other things for him.

I have alieady written to you about the Statesman’s Year
Book. Please also bring the League of Nations’ Year Book, if it
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is available. The report appearing in The Hindustan Times about
the resignation of the Frontier Province ministry was premature.
All the same it is inevitable now that Khan Saheb is on the way.
Yours sincerely,

Mahadev

WARDHA,
August 30, 1937
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDAS,

A great thing has happencd during the week. The enclosed
copy of telegraphic correspondence between the Viceroy and the
Andaman authorities on the one hand and Bapu on the other
will explain everything. [t is significant that even the terrorists
have listened to the one man who they now sec can get their
release. The suspension of the strike, I take it, means that they
are considering Bapu’s offer. They should not have suspended it
if they were not in a mood to consider it. I may also add that
the copies cnclosed do not include an earlier telegram fiom
“Andamans’’ received yesterday to the effect that the strikers
were considering Gandhiji's message and prayed for time (1
could not enclose copy as the original is with Bapu). Then came
the final telegram this morning.

Jawahar and his group were entirely against the idea of an
undertaking—no public undertaking, of course, for Bapu
wanted no such thing—but even an assurance by someonc like
Bapu to the effect that they had eschewed violence as a method
tor the 1edress of grievances. Evidently those who are primarily
concerned are of a different opinion.

If their release comes, as a result of Bapu’s intervention, it
will be a glorious victory of non-violence and further milestone
on our road to freedom.

Bapu is a little better, thanks to the rest he is taking.
Complete rest 1s of course out of question. Ministers come with
difficult problems, and they evidently cannot be turned away,
Munshi came away with a formula from Bapu that surprised
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him as much as it is bound to surprise the Government.
Let us offer our fervent prayers before God that his flame
may burn brightiy for a few more years.
Yours affectionaely,
Mahadev

P S. I have no time to get the copics, Will you share
it along with the enclosure with A'gatha? That will save

« me a little postage too. The autobiography will be sent
this week by the ordinary ocean mail.

Copy of Telegram to the Viceroy

August 27, 1937
IF HUNGER STRIKE ANDAMANS STILL ON COULD YOU PLEASE WIRE
FOLLOWING TO STRIKERS: ‘‘I VENTURE ADD MY ADVICE TO GURUDEV
TAGORE'S AND WORKING COMMITTEE'S TO ABANDON STRIKE.
RELYING UPON US ALL TRYING BEST SECURE RELIEF FOR YOU. IT
WOULD BE CAREFUL ON OUR PART YIELD TO NATIONWIDE REQUEST.
YOU WILL HELP ME PERSONALLY :F I COULD GET ASSURANCE THAT
THOSE WHO BELIEVED IN TERRORIST METHODS NO LONGER BELIEVE
IN THEM AND THAT THEY HAVE COME TO BELIEVE IN NON-VIOLENCE
AS THE BEST METHOD. 1 ASK THIS BECAUSE SOME LEADERS SAY
DETENUS HAVE ABJURED TERRORISM BUT OPINION TO CONTRARY
ALSO HAS BEEN EXPRESSED—G iNDHI.” 1 SHALL ESTEEM YOUR
ASKING FOR REPLY TO BE WIRED.
GANDH1

Copy of Telegram from Andamans

Porr BLAIR,
August 29, 1937
M. K. GANDHI
WARDHA

229/C CONTINUATION MY TELEGRAM 225/C AUGUST. HUNGER
STRIKE SUSPENDED LATE LAST NIGHT BY OVLRWHELMING MAJORITY
WHO BROKE THEIR FAST. ONLY SEVEN REMAINING ON HUNGER

STRIKE,
ANDAMANS
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SIMLA,
September 2, 1937
M. K. GanDIl
WARDHA

No. F 5 jAILS.

THE SEVEN PRISONERS IN THE ANDAMANS WHOG ARE CONTINUING
HUNGER STRIKE SFND YOU FOLLOWING MESSAGE: ‘““THANKS FOR
YOUR TELEGRAM REGARDING TERRORISM. WE DECLARE IT WILL
HARM RATHER THAN HELP THE CAUSE OF COUNTRY. WL TAKE THIS
OPPORTUNITY TO CONVIY THROUGH YOU OUR APPEAL TO ALL
SUFFERCRS IN JAILS AND DETLNTION CAMPS, AND TO ALL ORGANI-
SATIONS IF THERE BE ANY WHO STILL BELIEVE TO ATTAIN IN-
DEPENDENCE OF INDIA THROUGH TERRORISM, TO GIVE IT UP, ONCE
FOR ALL. WE FURTHER REQUIST YOU TO CLARIFY WHAT YOU MEAN
BY °‘RELIEF. WE THINK AFTER GOVERNMENT INAUGURATING PRO-
VINCIAL AUTONOMY, RLLIEF CAN ONLY MLAN RELEASE OF ALL
POLITICAL PRISONERS, DETENUS STATE PRISONERS, REMOVAL
OF BAN ON EXILES AND REPEAL OF ALL RLPRESSIVE LAWS. IF
WE GET ASSURANCE FROM YOU ON THESE QUESTIONS, WE CAN
SUSPEND HUNGLR STRIKL.”” TELEGRAM THERLIN MENTIONED IS YOUR
MESSAGE OF AUGUST 27TiI, YOUR MESSAGE OF AUGUST 30TH, HAD
NOT BY THEN BEEN DELIVERED.

HoME
38
WARDIIA,
September 3, 1937
HoME
SiMLA

THANKS YOUR TELEGRAM WHICH DESPATCHED YESTERDAY TWO-
THIRTY WAS RECEIVED AFTER SEVEN TADAY. PLEASE WIRE SEVEN
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PRISONERS ‘‘DEEPLY APPRECIATE MESSAGE WHICH IS HLLPING ME
GREATLY ACHIEVE COMMON OBJFCT. I PERSONALLY ACCEPT YOUR
INTERPRLTATION OF ‘RELIFF’, AND PROMISE TO WORK FOR FULL
FRUITION WITH ACTIVE CO-UPERATION OF PRISONER FRIENDS. URGE
YOU, THEREFORE, ABANDON FAST AND SEND ME HAPPY NEWS *

GANDHI
39
WARDHA
August 30, 1937
ANDAMANS
Porr BLAIR

THANKS Ti LEGRAM GLAD ALL BUT SEVFN BROKEN FAST DO SEVLN
GIVL RTASONS FOR CONTINUING FAST’ I WITH THT™ NOT PERSIST
ALIOWING COUNTRY CHANCL SEFR RILIEF WILL DITINUS NOT
ANSWER MY OULSTION ABOUT NON-VIGI ENCL?

G ANDHI

40

PARIs,
August 31, 1937
PUJYA BAFPU,

My respectful greetings.

I am 1n receipt of your letter but what you have said 1 it
hardly helps me The Legislative Assembly 1ejected the Ottawa
Pact and requred 1ts rcplacement by a ncw agreement The
Congress was a paily to this command It was i cemphance
with that command that we foimed a consultative committec
The Government will, of course, identify itself with a new deci-
sion, but I hope that the decision will not be at variance with
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our advice.

Should the Government decide to proceed on the lines
suggested by us and acceptable to Great Britain, it will assume
the character of an agreement. But that agreement is bound to
go before the Legislative Assembly for its approval and whether
it will live or die will depend on its verdict. And the Assembly
means firstly the Congress Party, and, secondly, the Jinnah
group. If I were to claim that the Congress imprimatur alone
will render it a valid document, 1 should find myself in a' mino-
rity of one. Those disputing such a claim on my part will have
cold logic on their side. The Congress is without doubt a party
enjoying mass support, but it is essentially a Hindu Party, not
a Muslim Party. Even the Muslims who are co-operating with
us in this task do not accept that the Congress reflects the re-
presentative character of both Muslims as well as Hindus. It
would, therefore, be more logical on our part to cnsure the
approval of not only the Legislative Assembly but also of the
provincial governments. By implication, this will mean the
approval of both Hindus and Muslims. And it is my belief that
the Central Government will then not be found reluctant to act
accordingly.

Beforc the Congress Goveraments in the provinces and the
Congress Party in the Central Legislature record their verdict,
will it not be feasible to secure the reaction of its leaders as to
the quality of the agreement? If we gave expression to our own
view of it which failed to harmonize with the leaders’ view of
it, we should be exposed to public disgrace.

The attitude you took towards Lancashire on the occasion
of the 2nd Round Table Conference was something unique in
itself 1n that it envisaged concession to its expectations. In the
present instance the issues involved are to be judged on their
own merits and dements. The Congress itself is committed in
principle to some sort of an agrecement that would prove bcne-
ficial to the country economically. It certainly is not the Con-
gress stand that no agreement whatever should be arrived at.
Since we are striving for the best in keeping with the Congress
wishes, we should like to know at this stage whether we are
procecding on the right lines. The Congress, to be sure, will give
its verdict after the agreement takes shape, but if it could let us
have its opinion now, we sLould escape adverse criticism later,
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This is our case in a nutshell. In case you feel inclined to
change your mind you can safely write to Rameshwardas who
will then put through a trunk call to apprise me of it. In case
your original view stands, you can write to me direct. If that
be the position I would feel rather insecure in my approach to
the problem but would manage to get along in the light of my
own capacity to judge things. May I remipd you ofa particular
sentence of your letter which had said, in effect, that you would
share of my findings? That assurance was not adequate to serve
as a guide in our present undertaking. [ am sure you are aware
that one of the members of the Consultative Committee,
Mr. Subbaroyan, is currently holding the Finance portfolio in
the Madras ministry. Looking at things from this angle, the
Congress does not strike one as being averse (o an agrecment
in principle at least. Be that as it may. 1 propose to continue
with my efforts ralying on God’s guidance as wcll as’ on my
own sensc of judgment. But I certainly look up to you as my
path-finder. Please do help me out of my predicament.

Now about my nose. Itis rather premature Lo say whether
the hole made in it will bring relicf. As it is, however, just now
I am enjoying the best of health, both bodily as well as ment-
ally. I feel inundated by a new surge of hopes about the future,
but its feel can only be conveyed by word of mouth, not through
the medium of the pen. This 1 will certainiy do when I am
again near you to receive youi blessings which even now you
are unstintingly showering on me.

1 do hope you have fixed your prog. amme for taking com-
plete rest.

Yours humbly,
Ghanshyamdas

PS. 1 am planning to leave for London tomcrrow.
G. D.
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GROSVENOR HoUSE,
PARK LANE,
LoNDoON, W. 1,
September 4, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

Your letters are something more than interesting. I am like
a man in Sahara who is in necd of water. Devdas, although I
asked him, has not yet begun to send me copies of The Hindustan
Times with the result that I am cut off from India in a way. My
son sends me some Press cuttings and 1 keep contact with the
Harijan. But all this would not tcll me what you can tell and so
when I get your letters, I drink them deep. And when Bapu
writes to me, I find myself in the seventh heaven. Sometimes
I send quotations from your letters to Lord Halifax and other
friends, but recently 1 have stopped doing so becausc while
India may be very important to me, it is perhaps not so impor-
tant to them when bombs and bullets are raining in Shanghai
and Franco is torpedoing British ships.

Bapu’s action in getting the hunger strike off the Andaman
prisoners was a master stroke and was very much appreciated
here. I have no doubt that the authorities here and there must
have heaved a sigh of relief when they found Bapu coming to
their rescue. It appears that he is developing friendship fast
with the Viceroy. But what is most important is that he is show-
ing us the way towards co-operation. He has said it so many
times in the past that he was dying to co-operate and that the
non-co-operation was only a step towards co-operation and
now he is proving it by his actions. I am sure if we can develop
strength, thercis no risk in co-operation. It is a pity that
Jawaharlalji does not sce it. Is he a pedantic?

Lakshminiwas has been sending me some cuttings of the
Indian Press from which it appears that indicipline is getting
rampant. I very much disliked the peasants in Bihar marching
to the Assembly House and occupying all the seats of the
Asscmbly and refusing to vacate them in spite of the request of
the Prime Minister. And then the Prime Minister addressed
them and told them all sorts of sweet things without telling
them that they were wrong in occupying the Assembly seats
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and refusing to vacate them. Bapu has rightly written against
the demonstration that was made against Raghavendrarao, but
I fear that in course of time indiscipline will grow more and
more unless strict measures are taken, 1 only hope that the
Congress authorities are fully alive to the situation and they
will take all necessary measures. The rank and file scems to be
confusing freedom with indiscipline.

As regards the passages, I fear new difficulties are now crop-
ping up. We have got influence only over the German steamers
by which we ship most and I find that Hitler, or rather his
Government has issued a fiat to the steamer companies not to
book passages without any consideration. So the liners have
begun to grumble. While they would like to oblige us, they can-
not. Any how, they have offered us three passages for this year
out of which one has alrcady been given to Mr. Raghuyendran,
brother of Mr. G. Ramachandran of Trivendrum and the
remaining two are at our disposal which we can use as we like.
This is the position.

1 am glad to hear that Bapu is now taking more rest. This
is good.

As regards your Sccrctariat, 1am surprised when you tell
me that some day I should help you 1n overhauling all these
things. Am 1 not ready to help? But when have you ashed for
it? 1 have been quarclling with Bapu for the last seven years
about your Secretariat, but in vain. Every bit of letter he must
write himself sometimes with his right hand, sometimes with the
lefl. Your typists are a collection for a muscum. I have argued
with Bapu about efficicncy. He agrees in principle but when he
needed a good stenographer in London and I offered him one,
he called Polak’s sister to work! In any case, I am ready
Mahadevbhai.

1 have not yet ordered the atlas. A< regards ihe reference
books, I am already ordering Statesman s Ycar Book. Pleasc
write to me what other books do you need and I will order
them. [ am also sending a Carpenter’s tools-box for your son.

Have you seen this book? I don’t know this man except by
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his name and I am awfully disgusted that he should write any-
thing about Bapu.
Yours affectionately,
Ghanshyamdas

SYT. MAHADFVBHAI DESAl
WARDHA

42

My Meaning of Office Acceptance
(By M. K. Gandhi)

Shri Shankerrao Deo writes:

“In your note ‘Not Instrument of Instructions’ in the last
Harijan, you say in the second paragraph, ‘For me office accep-
tance has a special meaning even in the terms of the Congress
manifesto and resolutions. It would be wrong, if 1 did not put
before the ministers and the public my meaning of office accep-
tance.” As I have understood you, you are for office acceptance
for serving the masses and consolidating the Congress position
through constructive programme. But I think you should ex-
plain in greater detail y our meaning of office acceptance.”

Rightly or wrongly, since 1920 the Congress-minded millions
have firmly held the view that the British domination of India
has been on the whole a curse. It has been as much sustained by
British arms as it has been through the Legislature, disttibution
of titles, the law-courts, the educational institutions, the financial
policy and the like. The Congress came to the conclusion that
the guns should not be feared, but that the organised violence,
of which the British guns were a naked emblem, should be met
by the organised non-violence of the pcople, and the Legisla-
ture and the rest by non-co-operating with them. There was a
strong and effective side o the foregoing plan of non-co-opera-
tion, which became known as the constructive programme. The
nation succeeded to the exact cxient of its success in the pro-
gramme of action laid down in 1920.

Now this policy has never changed; not even the terms have
been revoked by the Congress. In my opinion all the resolutions
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since passed by the Congress are not a repudiation but a fulfil-
ment of the original so long as the mentality behind all of them
remains the same as in 1920

The corner-stone of the policy of 1920 was organised
national non-violence. The British system was wooden, cven
satanic; not so the men and women behind the system. Our
non-violence, therefore, meant that we wgre out to convert the
administrators of the system; not to destroy them; conversion
may of may not be willing. If, notwithstanding their desire to
the contrary, they saw that their guns and everything they had
created for the consolidation of their authority were useless
because of our non-use of them, they could not do otherwise
than bow to the inevitable and either retire from the scene, or
remain on our terms, i.e., as friends to co-operate with us, not
as rulers to impose their will upon us.

If Congressmen have entercd the Legislatures and have
accepted office with that mentality, ard if the British adminis-
trators tolerate Congress ministries indefinitely, the Congress
will be on a fair way to wreck the Act and to achieve Complete
Independence. For an indefinite prolongation of the ministries
on the terms mentioned by me means an ever-increasing power
of the Congress till 1t bacomes irresistible and 15 able to have
its way all along the line. The first indispensable condition of the
attaininent of such a consumm~ ion means willing exercise of
non-violence by the whole mass of the people. That means per-
tect commun at co-operation and friend<hip, the eradication of
untouchability, willing restraint of the addicts to the drink and
opium habits, the social enfranchisement of the women, the
progressive amelioration of the toiling millions of the \illages,
frec and compulsory primary cducation—not in name as it is
today, but in reality, as 1 have ventured to advmbratc—the
gradual eradication of superstition of proved harmfulness,
through adult mass education, a complete over-hauling of the
system of higher education so as to answer the wants of the
millions instead of the few middle-class people. a radical change
in the legal machinery so as to make justice pure and inexpen-
sive, conversion of jails into reformatories in which detention
would not be a course of punishment but a complete course of
the education of those miscalled convicts but who are in fact
temporarily deranged.
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This is not conceived as a terribly long plan of action. Every
one of the items suggested by me can be put into motion today,
without Ict or hindrance, if we have the will.

I had not studied the Act when I advised office acceptance.
I have since been studying Provincial Autonomy by Prof. K. T.
Shah. It is an energetic but truc indictment of the Act from
the orthodox standpoint. But the three months’ self-denial of
the Congress has changed the atmosphere. 1 see nothing in the
Act to prevent the Congress from undertaking the programme
suggested by me. The special powers and safeguards come into
play only when there is violence in the country, or a clash
between minorities and the so-called majority community, which
is another word for violence.

I detect in the Act a profound distrust of the nation’s capa-
city to rule itsclf, running every section, and an inevitable desire
to perpetuate British rule, but at the same time a bold experi-
ment of wooing the masses to the British side, and, failing that
a resignation to their will to reject British domination has gone
in, to convert these missionaries. And I have not a shadow of
doubt that if the Congress is truc to the spirit of non-violence,
non-co-operation and self-purification, it will succeed in its

mission

Harijan, 4-9-1937

43

Appeal to Discharged Prisoners
(By M. K. Gandhi)

My congratulations to the Congress ministries who are dis-
charging prisoners who had been condemned for proved violence
done from political motives, and also to the discharged pri-
soners. Personally I draw no distinction between violence done
from a private motive or frcm a political motive. The effect on
the sufferers does not vary with the motive of the authors of



BAPU—A Unique Association 81

violence. But as an out and out believer in non-violence, I do
not believe 1n the system of punishment for crimes, whether
private or public. Therefoie, I should welcome an extcnsion of
the principle which guides the ministers in discharging prisoners;
but I am aware that they do not sharc my extreme views on non-
violence. Their reason, therefore, for discharging the prisoners
condemned for violence 1s not the same as.I would apply. They
have been guided, naturally ind rightly, by the purely political
motive, viz., to establish contact with those who have hitherto
believed in the efficacy of a species of violence for the attain-
ment of India’s freedom. They want to wean these men from
violence and harness their energy for the Congress method of
non-violence. If my reading of the Congress method is correct,
the large public demonstration that took place on the dischaige
of Kakori prisoners, was, to say the least, a poltical m.stake.
Did the thousands of demonstrations approve of the acts said
to have bzen committed by these prisoners, let me hope, 1n
mistaken zeal? If they did they have evidently not understood the
Congress method: what 1s more. they have embarrassed the
munistry and made more difficult the difficult task of giving the
fullest liberty to the people 1n their provinces. We ought to learn
to take such munisterial acts as in a natural course and, there-
fore, with calmness. Kakori prisoncrs are no fools. They are
able, intelligent men, with unyicl.'ing love for their country. They
and all such piisoners will have the way for liberty of others,
it they use their libeity to help Con ress ministers by their
exemplary conduct and by proving themse'ves true Congressmen,
taking their full share i strengthcening the Congress orga-
nisation by silent and sclfless service. For they should know that
Congress ministers seem to be having their own way 1n many
matters because they have inspited the respectire Governors
with confidence in theit abihity to hand'e cfficiently all the de-
partments under then charge, especially that of law and order,
without the intervention of the police and military. The moment
they lose therr credit in this respect and are obliged to full back
on these two so-called limbs of the law, the confidence will be
weakened and their authority all but gone. Whilst power, super-
imposed, always needs the help of police and military, power
generated from within should have little or no use for them,

From Harijan
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MAGANWADI,
September 6, 1937

MY DEAR GIIANSIIYAMDASII,
There was absolutely no time on Thursday to write to you.
I had gone to Scgaom and as you know coming and going there
in this weather means 4 hours. I enclose the whole telegraphic
correspondence regarding the Andaman prisoners. And yet 1t is
not the whole. Bapu wired to the Viceroy and the Bengal Prime
Minister asking them to release the prisoners as they had
unequivocally abjured belief in violence. The replies reccived
today (of which [ cannot send you a copy as they are with Bapu)
are in the negative. The Bengal Premier’s is couched in offensive
language—*“We refuse to take the optimistic view you take of
the situation” and cannot see our way to release the prisoners
in the present state of the province—but the Viceroy's own
letter is good. It is a rcasonable plea. It twice or thrice pays a
tribute to Bapu’s noblc motive, but raises a deeper question,
viz., “The prisoners have abjured belicf in methods of terrorism
but have they given up violence? Will they have nothing to do
with any violence in the future?”” About this the Viceroy has
his doubts. 1 cannot predict the developments now. You will
realise that it 1s a serious situation. I shall send you the text of
the Viceroy’s letter by the next airmail, i.e., on Thursday and
you must do all you can to cultivate the opinion therc. Bapu,
you know, has given his word to the prisoners that he would do
his utmost best to get their release, and he has also said to the
Viceroy that his life 1s dedicated to perpctuating methods of
peacefulness. How can Bapu take this refusal calmly? 1 have
not yet had an opportunity of discussing the thing with him, as
he s very weak and exhausted and in bed. But I dare say this
matter 1s now an additional source of worry. What emphasis he
lays on non-violence and what implications he reads in it will
be apparent from the remarkable article in the Harijan 1 enclose
herewith. Would not Agatha have this article copied in M.G.
and other papers? You will also see that he has condemned the
receptions given to Kakori prisoners—Jawahar will resent this,
I am afraid. But that is nothing. He was entirely against the
Andaman prisoners making any declaration of adjuration of
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methods of violence But they have made 1t and both Subhas
and Sarat Bosc have sent telegrams of grateful thanks to Bapu
and entirely appioved Bapus method of approach to this
problem
The N W I Governor has written o non-commuttal letter,
not placing any conditions on Bapu, but trusting that he will
not disturb the peace of the Frontier by publicly meeting
Tribal Firgees and making speeches The way seems to be open
Buf™ thc most important question 15 now one of Bapu’s
health 1 want you, Agatha and other friends theie to send a
cable to Bapu to take complete rest from all mental work and
go on 4 month’s holiday somewhere That alone can <ave him,
and nothing elsc can I know you will do it m your best
manncr
Disturbing domestic things have also happencd —the most
regrett ible one being the suiude of a worker of 1ron will
Chhotclal for whom I had wsked you to bing a number of bee-
keeping books was a worket next only to Miganlal Gandhi
He was an ascetic and a tireless worker 1eady to do any job at
any time of the diy or mieht He had typhoid fover ind one
night he lost contiol of humself, cluded attention of 1 nur<e
sleepmg neat him and threw himselt down the Maganwadr wel!
You can ¢weoe the depth of Bapu’s sorrow from Ins article in
Haryun Bandih of which 1 enclose copy No mure today My
stenographer 15 il and has othcr we kb Hence the handwrnitten
mfliction
Yow s affcctionately,
Mahadev

PS Non Congress nunistty in N W F has been cen ur-
ed & D1 Khan Sahcb has been asked to form the

ministry
MD
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WARDIIA,
September 7, 1937
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASJI,

Just a hurried line today. It is not possible for me to send
you anything more than copies of Bapu’s replies to the Frontier
Governor and to the Viceroy, both of which will speak for
themselves, and which will show how great patience and long
suffering has Bapu undergone. I cannot give you copies of the
letters 1o Bapu, as he says it i1s not worth while. But I have
already given you the gist there.

But the trouble is Bapu’s health. The slightest mental
exertion tells upon him. Within a few minutes’ talk he begins
to press his head and complains of exhau.tion. He gets casily
excited and irritated. But he himsclf says there 15 not much
cause for anxiety. “If 1 cross the limit, there is surc to be a
collapse? He agrees but where exactly is the limit?

Yours,
Mahadev

46

Not Impracticable
(By M.K. Gandhi)

Sardar Sir Jogendra Singh 1s a great social reformer, a man
of lctters and politician. Whatever, therefore, he writes com-
mands attention. He has contributed an article on ‘Total Pro-
hibition’ to the Times of India. Having rcad 1t with the care his
writings demand from me I must confess that I left the article
with a sigh. How could such a reformer accept defeat on
grounds that do not bear examination? His only argument
seems to bz “There is bound to be illicit distillation and secret
drinking, therefore, do not attempt prohibition. In the Punjab
there was local option but nobody applied it.” “Therefore”, he
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says, “my conclusion is that prohibition by compulsion will
fail, and provinces will lose revenue which they need for rural
reconstruction.”” By linking prohibition to revenue the Sardar
has precipitately given up his casc and contradicted himself.
For in the fourth paragraph of his article he says, “I expressly
declared the considerations of revenue would not weigh with
me in carrying out a policy of controlling dsink.” Thank God
Congregs ministries have cut their way through the revenue
share by debarring themselves from the use of liquor revenue.
Once the loophole is left, the temptation to make use of this
immoral gain will be too irresistible, for nobody denies the
difficulty of making the drunkard sober in a moment. Old
ministers with whom I used to plead for prohibition, did not
put forth the plea of impracticability. But they pleaded inability
to forego the rich revenue rcceived from the traffic. They wanted
it for education paid for by a questionable source of revenue
worth having? Has 1t intrinsic merit? Has India got her money’s
worth from those who have received the education of the type
that the schools and colieges of India provide?

Thieving will abide till Doomsday. Must it therefore be
licensed? Is thieving of the mind less criminal than thieving of
matter? Illicit distillation to an extent will no doubt go on. Its
quantity will be thc measure of the Government™s efforts—assi-
sted by a vigilant public in the shape of continuous and
sympathctic treatment of the u .nker and the opium cater.
Moral clevatioh demands a price no less than material or
physical elevation. But my submuission is t at this constructive
effort is doomed to failure, if 1t is not preceded by total pro-
hibition. So long as the Stute not only permuits but provides
facilities for the addict to satisfy his craving, the retormer has
Iittle chance of success. Gipsy Smith was a powciful teperance
preacher. It was a feature of his huge gathering that several
people took the vow of total abstinence 1 ier the spell of his
song and precept. But 1 say from my experience of South
Africa that the majority of the poor addicts could not resist the
temptation to cnter the palatial bars that faced them, no matter
where they wandered in the principal thoroughfares of citics, or
the wayside inns when they strayed away from cities. State
prohibition is not the end of this great temperance rcform, but
it is the indispensable beginning of it.
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Of local option, the less said the better. Was there ever
opposition to the closing of these dens of vice? Option has a
place where a whole population wants to drink.

God willing, prohibition has come to stay. Whatever contri-
bution may or may not be made by the Congress, it will go
down to history in letters of gold that the Congress pledged
itself to prohibition in 1920, and redeemed the pledge at the
very first opportunity without counting the cost. I doubt not
that the other provinces will follow. I invite Sardar Jogendra
Singh not to caution the Congress against the much nceded
reform, but to throw in his full weight in favour of it in his
own province and among the stalwart Sikhs.

47

GROSVENOR HOUSE,
PARK LANE,
Lo~poN, W, 1,
Scplember 8, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVBLIAL,

Your letter of the 27th was rather disturbing as far as
Bapu’s health goes and so I sent you a cable inquiring about
him, but as I have not received your reply so far, 1t has increa-
sed my anxicty. The only relieving factor is that there is no
mention about his health in the Press and therefore 1 am tak-
ing it for granicd that he is better now. In any case the question
of his rest has to be settled and it was only in your last letter
that you had written to me that he had realised the position and
was taking morc rest. 1 wonder why under the circumstances
his health should have deteriorated.

1n your lctter you have written that I should come soon and
I have cabled you saying that proves and I propose to sail on
the 7th of October but in case you want me earlier, you have
simply to cable and I will come leaving everything as it is.

Just now | am not making any use of your letter or articlcs
becausc the country seems to be in a great ferment due to the
political situation in the Mediterranean and the Far East.
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Everybody seems to uve very busy and I myself fear that in
course of time it may develop into something serious. Great
Britain swallowed all insults in 1935 when ltaly attacked Abys-
sinia but now she is in a much stronger position and she will be
stronger still after a year. On account of provocation in the
Medeterraneans and the Far East, she has now begun to take a
stiffer attitude and after a year when she becomes very strong,
perhaps she will not tolerate any provocation. On the other
hand; it seems as if Japan is in a fighting mood and Hitler
wants his colonies back and Italy also 1s rattling sword. I won-
der whether they are all correctly estimating the strength of
Great Britain. If they know that Great Britain will be in a much
stronger poswon after a year, they may perhaps want to see a
flare up now rather than a year henceforward. On the other
hand, therc is a definite brcak between Italy and Russia and
how far 1t will spread, no one can say. So as you wil] sce the
political situation just now 1s most precarious and yet it 1s a
fact that Great Britain is not at all eager to fight. Even if there
is a fight. she would like to keep out as long as possible, but
the fecling between the Fascist States and Bolshevist Russia on
the one hand and Japan and Great Britain on the other are
very bad.

Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas
Sy1. MAHADL VBHAI DisAl
WARDHA
48
SrGAoN,
W ARDHA,

September 8, 1937

DFAR FRILND,
1 thank you for your frank and exhaustive reply to my tele-
graphic solicitation. I will not try to combat the position taken
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up by you which I understand.

The incompletencss you see in the prisoners’ reply to my
request had not escaped me, but I was very much struck by the
frank and unequivocal manner in which they gave me satisfac-
tion so far as terrorist methods are concerned. I shall not des-
pair of enlisting your active co-operation in the pursuit of my
mission of procuring a lasting and honourable understanding
with the class of patriots whom the Andaman friends represent.

Yours sinterely,
M. K. Gandbhi

His EXCELLENCY
THE VICEROY

49

SEGAON,
WARDHA,
September 8, 1937
DEAR FRIEND,

1 thank you for your letter. 1 understand what you expect
of me. I hope not to disappoint you for the simple reason that
1 want to accumulate more credit than I possess with the
powers that be, so that I can trade upon 1t with them for better
terms.

At the ptesent moment I am trying to rest under medical
orders, and I have asked my friend, the Khan Saheb, not to
hurry to call me to the Frontier.

Iam,
Yours sincerely,
M. K. Gandhi

His EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR
N.W.F.P.
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GrosviNOR Housg,
PaARrRk LANE,
LoNDON, W 1,
September 14, 1937
MY DFAR BHULABHAI,

I read in this morming™ paper tha* at the time of the
VlCClO} s address to both the Houses, the Congress Party and
also the Nationalist Party absented themselves Such an attitude
on the part of the Congiess had justification in the past, buc
do you think. Bhulabhay, after a mecting between Gandhiyi and
the Vicetoy and subsequent meetings between the Viceroy and
the various Icaders, and the mmpending mecting between the
Viceroy and Jawaharlalji. this attitude on the part of the Con-
gress could at all be ju,tufied? N

Peisonally I feel that such an attitude on our part could be
interpreted only in one way, viz, that we had no desire to csta-
blish mutual undeistanding even 1if that were possible 1 can
understand Jawahailaly who under no arcumstances 1s pre-
pared to have anything to do with Great Britain But [ am suie
this 1s not your attitude nor that 15 the attitude ot Vallabhbha.
Gandhyr’s attitude 15 certainly not this Therefore I was a bit
disappointed when I read that the Congress Paity <hould have
failed to icciprocate the adv. ces made by the Viceroy 1 do
not think we gain anything by being discourteous.

1 am not quite suic whether I shot Id have wiitten this to
you at all because alter all I have nostat s with th: Congress,
but pethaps as a firend T am entitled to write to you and so
you would not mind this

Yours sincerely,
Ghansbyamdas Birla

SyT. BHULARHAL DEsAl
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MAGANWADI,
WarDHA (C.P.),
September 16, 1937
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDAS,

I enclosc further correspondence about the Andaman pri-
soncrs. These scven would secin to be most obdurate, unless as
it so often happens, there is something there t> provoke them.
Anyway for the moment Bapu’s attempts to reason with them
seem to have failed. 1 have a fecling thal these friends arc being
forcibly fed, otherwise they could not hold on for such a length
of time, and be in a condition to carry on negotiations. 1t is
such a deep tragedy because Bapu wanted to follow up the
assurance given by the two hundred and twenty-six, and get
something more out of them in the light of the point raised by
the Viceroy. You must have noticed from Bapu’s letter to the
Viceroy that he has recognised the force of the Viceroy’s argu-
ment. But is it proper to insist on any of these people giving
up violence as a creed and affirming their faith 1n non-violenct?
What is the position of the whole of the Socialist Party and the
bulk of the exclusively politically minded Congressmen? With
them non-violence is no crecd, but a policy pure and simple.

But where is the use of arguing this in a letter to you? I
know that even the Fellowship of Reconciliation stops at the
demand for the abolition of thc Andamans. Wihen and if you
have time, you should try to sound some of them, such as for
instance, Carl Health, on this point. Is Bapu’s request for their
release after this emphatic declaration of abjuration of terrorst
mcthods extraordinary? The Honour of the whole Congress
and of those who are making the demand is at stake. In fact,
Bapu’s word 1s there, and he would give it as often as it was
wanted, that he would guarantee their proper behaviour once
he could secure their freedom, or at least the frcedom to talk
to them heart to heart. From this last point of view perhaps
their repatriation, which is likcly to take place soon, might be
a good compromisc, and then Bapu may ask for a free and
unfettered interview with them.

} sent to you last week or perhaps the week before, a note
of Bapu in Harijan regarding thc reception to the released
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Kakori prisoners. It was very much resented by some of the
hot-heads in U P. but I am happy to tell you that Jawaharlal
fully appreciated 1t. In fact, he told Bapu, when he was here a
few days ago, that he pcrsonally refrained from taking part in
demonstrations and receptions, that the so called reception at
his own louse reported by the papers was no reception at all,
that he had only asked some of them to see him for a talk, that
somge of the rowdics who dccompanied them gave it the form
of a roception, and that cven then he, that 1s Pandit Jawaharlal,
was notl present there.

The labour situation in U.P. continues to be source of
anxiety. Govind Ballabh Pant has summoned Rajendra Babu to
preside over thc Committce appointed to arbitrate in the
dispute. They want either Shankerlal or Gulzarilal to be avaii-
able to them. But thesc can’t be here, there and everywhere.
Gulzarilal is a tower of strength to Premier Kher. .

Japan has already taken the aggressive attitude, and thou-
+ands of innocent non-conbatants have been already hilled. A
German Jew who came from Shanghai was telling me that the
war on both the Northern and the Shangai front is entirely un-
provoked. There is such a disgusting amount of unscrupulous
lying on the part of Japan. It is in the sume buat as ltaly and
Germany, perhaps with this difference, that the bulk of the
people in Japan are hept deliberately ignorant of wl.mal is
happening or are fed on refinc  lies. If reports_are to be belicved,
the atmospRere is ripe for an internal revolution there

There is one thing distinctly cheerf 1 to report, and that is
about Bapu's health. He has been taki. g plenty of rest, bruching
aside most requests for interviews, and has thus brought down
the blood-pressure to something near normal. But as you know
with him it is always a matter of touch and go. Some things or
happenings can raise his bluod-pnfssurc at once and very often
during these days I have heard him s v that, if he crossed the

i hc would coilapse.

hml\t[’o; are right 1n saying that you are disgusted with Syed
Hossain being in any way associated with Bapu. l havg not seen
the book. 1 suppose he is in want of money and is trying to be-
fool some of his admirers 1 that continent where any fraud or
charlatan may confidently count upen a following, and yet
this man is being described as *‘thc leader for the Gandhi
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Movement for non-violence in the United States and a personal
friend of Mr., Gandhi.” Heaven save us from our friends.
Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

52

GROSVENOR HOUSE,
PARK LANE,
LonpoN, W.1,
September 22, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

1 saw Sir Findlater Stewart today and am going to sce the
Secretary of State shortly. Lord Lothian is not here. Lord
Halifax is here but I would not trouble him unless I felt that
I must encroach upon his time. I am sure he is keeping awfully
busy with the international political situation.

As regards the detenus, [ feel that Bapu’s letter to the
Viceroy is going to bz most helpful. I showed his reply to the
Viceroy and also to Cunningham to Sir Findlatcr Stewart. They
realise his spirits and I have no doubt that it will be recipro-
cated.

During my discussion with Sir Findlater Stewart, I reahsed
the two aspects of thc questions, repatriation and release.
Repatriation technically is in the hands of the Government of
India and I find from the Press reports that it has already begun.
Perhaps it would be desirable to concentrate on repartriation
through the Viceroy. The sccond question is that of rclease.
These technically it 1s the ministers who are res ponsible but de
facto it is the Governor and not theViceroy. [ was thinking of
writing to the Viceroy at one stage but after having talked to
Sir Findlater Stewart, I have decided not to write to him. But it
would be desirable for Bapu to discuss the matter personally at
some stage with Sir John Anderson. Hc is an extremely capable
man and he could take a bold line if he was convinced. But it
should not be forgotten that the detenus are interned because
of future, and those fears have to be allayed. The matter will
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have to be solved not merely through correspondence but
through personal discussion. This could be done only when
Bapu is fit to travel to and {ro. Maybe he will have to talk to
the detenus themsclves. I 1 m the talk that I had; T am not
unhopeful, but of course everything needs patience and Bapu
fully knows it.

But I am very much worried about his health. I had wired
about his taking rest, but frankly speal\mg. 1 have no hope
that it will have any effect, if all that you write is correct. 1
think he should go to some health resort and cut himself off
entirely for a month or so. Perhaps that will mean less loss of
time than a prolonged but unsystematic rest. I will therefore
still request Bapu to go to some health resort and cut himself
off entirely from the busy bodies for some time

Yours affectionately,
Ghanshs amdas

SYT. MAHADFVBIAI DrsAr
WARDHA

Unrevised

WARDHA,
September 12, 1937
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

Sir Daniel Hamilton also sent that cutting about Prohibition
fiom the Scorsman.

Bapu, if the manometer reading is to be trusted and believed
to bc any sure index, is very much «.ter, for the reading
showed that blood-pressute had come down almost to normal.
But Bapu himself is not so sute. He said this morming : “The
lowering of the pressure is mechanical and temporary due to
the effect of the medicine I am taking. It may soon go up, for
I cannot go on taking the medicine indefinitely. I take of it
more in the interests of other folks who may not be suffering
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from similar complaint and whom I could confidently recom-
mend this, having myself given it a trial. So far as I am
concerned, rest is the only cure.”

From this point of view I cannot tell you how timely was
your cable and the one from Agatha, Horace and Heath. I
am sure it has done its work and will continue to do so. The
anxious element this time is due to the fact that whilst Bapu
used to ignore the b p. reading before, this time he does not
ignore it and fecls that temporary rclief is wot a thing to be
built much upon. However even the temporary relief is a relief
so far as we are concerned.

The situation everywhere is satisfactory. The seven recal-
citrant Andaman friends have relented and abandoned the
strike—with this threat however that should relicf not come
soon after their repatriation they would go on hunger strike
again. This is a thing cofidentially conveyced by the Government
of India to Bapu. If Bapu could meet these pcople, a lot could
be done But I am afraid there are difficulties ahead. The Govern-
ment are picking and choosing in the matter of repatriation.
Why should they do so?

T am only nursing a hope that Bapu may still carry on
further telegraphic communication with the prisoners and bring
them round. I am thankful to say that Government of India
fully appreciate Bapu's intervention and are always 1eady to
convey to Andamans whatever message Bapu may transmit lor
them. (By thc by Bhulabhat who interviewed the Viceroy by
invitation says that H.E. made anxious inquuies about Bapu's
health, and added that he was making the inquiry not in a con-
ventional way, but because he (i.e., H.E.) felt that Bapu was an
asset because of his rcadiness to stake for truth.)

The interviews with Bhulabhai and Satyamurti were very
frank and friendly, they say, and covered all topics including
Democracy, Federation, Subvention from the Government of
India for the Provinces and so on. Satyamurti stood up for the
Viceroy meeting Bapu and convincing him before expecting to
convince anyone else.

The Bombay difficulty over the Communists and violent
prisoners has been satisfactorily solved—again thanks to Bapu’s
unerring guidance. Munshi came to consult Bapu very much
puzzled and perplexed. But Bapu gave him a satyagrahi formula
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which has worked wonders Even Gogate made the declaration
that he had abjured violence, and has now written to Bapu, on
release, to say the same thing and asked for Bapu’s blessings
that the belief 1n non-violcs .e may for ever endure. He also
said that he would encourage or receive no receptions or
demonstrations He stayed in Poona as Munshi’s own guest and
has quietly and gratefully gone back home

Onc or two Kakoripriseners now released—are coming to
sce Bapu next week 1n order to be guided by him 1n their future
plans

Jaw ahar made a publiv declatation 1n Ahmedabad that the
receptions to and demonstrations for these prisoners did nobody
any good and that he for one disapproved them entirely

You will thus sce tl it the whole tone of public hite 15 1m-
proving, people ate growing from strength to strength -Bardoh
and K ura people are getting back therr lands—and some,things
of enduring value are happening 1f on the top of this all comes
prohibition, Bapu's hie work would be «chieved

T must now close, as vithin a few minutes | have to catch
tratn to go to Dhulia on a not very pleasant cirand

Plecase tell Purohit 1s that the name of vour Sccrctary’—
that 1 am thank(ul to hun tor his letter, that he nedd not bother,
about the bee-keeping books as the man who would have made
use of them committed suiade a fortnight ago. 1 do hope he will
include Jennings book on Cab  ‘t \Jovernment recentiy  pub-
Iished and Huschinson’s book—udia of the Nobobs

Yours affectionatcly,
Mahadev

54

GRrosveNoR House,
PARL LANL,
LonNDON, W 1,
September 28, 1937

MY DEAR MAHADLVBHAI,
The most cheerful news that your letter brought by this mail
was about Bapu’s health Now as regards detenus, from my
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conversation with various people here, Iam not very unhope-
ful. But it would be better to concentrate on repatriation first
and then oncce the detenus are in India, it would be better for
Bapu to establish personal touch with them. And the chief man
to deal with would be the Governor of Bengal. All this could
only be done when Bapu is better.

Carl Heath is coming to see me tomorrow. He informs me
that he does not stop at the demand for the abolition of the
Andamans. I am going to sce the Secretary of State also shortly
and will talk with him about the matter. The outcome could be
successful but all this will need patience and time.

1 have no doubt that Bapu can take full responsibility about
the behaviour of the detenus for the future, but don’t you think
that Bapu should be more cautious in taking such a responsibi-
lity? His voice against the demonstration in favour of the
Kakori prisoners had little effect if all that I read in Indian
papers is correct. They are being welcomed and feted at cvery
placec. And Brajmohan writes to me a most depressing letter
from India. He says that U. P. is simply rampant with indiscip-
line. He would not be surprised if anything untoward happencd.
Everyone scems to think as if he is the Government and Pant, 1
am told, is pestered every moment by the irresponsible crowd.
He is always surrounded; some demand, dismissal of a certain
official, others somcthing else, the police seems to be very
frightened and all kinds of processions are taken out with
fiery slogans of ‘Bhagatsingh Zindabad’ and ‘Long Live Revo-
lution.” Brajmohan wonders how long this sort of Government
could continue. He asks how Pantji is going to find time to think
of more important schemes when every minute he has to attend
to complaints most of which are exaggerated.

Bapu in one of his articles had pointed out that we could
not mect terrorism with counter terrorism and that we would
make it possible for the policc and military to become super-
fluous. This undoubtedly is the most 1deal state for a nation
for which every country should aspire. To a certain extent it
could be said that England in this respect is much nearer the
goal than any other country. But what arec we doing for the

achievement of this goal and should the police and military be
ignored until that goal is reached? If what Brajmohan writes is
correct, then I fear the situation may become very serious one
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of thesc days. Rajendrababu seems to be quite fed up and
disgusted with atmosphere in Cawnpore. I don’t know who is
to be blamed for this, but I have no doubt that the first concern
of our ministers should be to maintain proper discipline. I hope
Jawaharlalji is doing something to help the U.P. ministers. If
we can maintain better disciplinc, I have no doubt that we would
be able Lo impress the Englishmen better, not only about our
capacnty to rule, but also -about our capacnly to control the
behaviour of the detenus after they are released.

1 am glad that Jawaharlalji did not like the demonstration
in favour of Kakori prisoners, but I hope that steps would be
taken 1o maintain proper discipline before the things deteriorate
further and takes an ugly turn.

With reference to this fellow Karl, he had taken 100 rupees
from my father witha letter purported to have been signed by
Bapu. Itold my father immediately when hc showed me the
letter that he had becn cheated, but he asked me not to mention
this to Bapu because it was a very small thing. Now when I read
your article, T thought I should inform you.

1 am sathing on the 7th and hope to rcach Bombay on the
19th. T can come straight to Wardha in which case 1 would
stay only for three or four days. On the other hand, I can first
go to see my parents and then come to Wardha via Calcutta 1n
which casc 1 would be able to stay much longer. Please inform
me to my Bombay address which programme Bapu would like.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

55

CALCUTTA,
November 18, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADFVBHALI,
This is a specimen of Bengali journalism. The article, as you
will see, is full of poison.
Immediately after Bapu left, I phoned Nalini and he told
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me that he would show me the statement before it was issued
by the Government. This morning he sent me a draft which 1
did not like, but immediately after sending the draft to me, he
is discussing the matter in the Cabinet. After the Cabinet meet-
ing 1s over, 1 will sec the revised draft and only then will put
forward my criticism to it, but I will also ask him to postpone
its publication until it was approved by Bapu. For this pupose,
1 will scek the help of Nalini to get¢ me a line clear telephone
for Wardha so that you can talk to me.

This T am writing at 11.45 a.m. [ will let you know about

the subsequent developments.,
Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas

Encl. 1
M. D. Drsat, Fsqr.
WARDIIA

56

WRITIRS' BUILDING,
CALCUT 14,
November 24, 1937
DEAR MR. GANDHI,

Thanks very much for your letter. I am sorry to learn about
your indisposition. I hope you will scon completely recover
your health.

In our opmion your statement is very far and we thank you
for 1. The wording of the Government communique 15 not per-
haps very happy as far as the four months period 15 concerned.
It certainly brings out the Government's point of view, namely,
that only aiter the end of four months the question of a large
scale release of the remaining detenus will be considered where-
as 1t misleads the public in giving the impression that you will
take up the question at the end of four months. But there is
nothing in the communique to prevent your coming and inter-
viewing these people before the expiry of four months.



BAPU—A Unique Association 99

In your letter you have asked that Mr. Sarat Bose should be
allowed to carry on the conversation with the detenus in your
absence. 1 would like to make it quite clear that my objection
to this suggestion is not based on personal grounds but on the
question of principle. Government treat you differently from all
other political lcaders in India and therefore neither your pur-
pose nor Government's object will be served by anyone else but
your interviewing the detenus. After your visit to Hijli Govern-
ment allowed Dr. B. C. Roy who went there more in the capa-
city of a physician than a political leader and we made an
exception for Mrs. Sarojini Naidu but as far as I am concerned,
1 do not propose to allow any other political leader in future
to interview the state prisoners.

I had presumed that personal touch between you and the
indnvidual detenus or state prisoners was neccssary in order
that you mught bz assured that the individual concerned had
becume a convinced adherent to the principles of non-violence,
tollowing upon a change of heart and as a matter of principle
qu.te independently of personal or pohtical advantage. It was
nece.sary for you of course to explain the principles of non-vio-
fence and persaade the subjeet to their acceptance. But so far
as the prisoner was concerned, it was a matter of simple state-
ment whether he had reached that position or not. This pomnt
of view has a bearing on the quastion of the correspondence as
well as that of interviews with th. prisoners by persons other
than yoursell. *We should not object to correspondence under
sealed cover between you and any state prisoner or detenus
provided that it is understood that sucl letters as you receive
are shown to nobody clse.

As long as [ am Home Minister, you can test assured that
whatever may be the language of the commumique everything
that we agreed upon will—inshallah -be given elfct to, pro-
vided nothing untoward happens in the mean tume.

1 agree with your cxplanation or amplification of the phrase
‘subversive movement’. The only portion 1n the letter on which
we differ is the reference to the convicted political prisoners. As
you are awarc we agreed to take certain steps in connection
with the convicted political prisoners. I have issued instructions
for action being taken on thesc lines but beyond this Govern-
ment arc not prepared to.
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I agree with what you have stated in your PS.
Repatriation will take place according to plan metioned to
you.
Yours sincerely,

K. Nazimuddin
M. K. GanDHI, EsQr.
SEGAON
WARDHA
57
RANIJANI,
237 Lowrr CIRCUL AR ROAD,
Copy CALCUTTA,

November 27, 1937
MY DFAR MAHADFVBHAI,

I have just received your kind letter of the 24th instant on
my return to Calcutta from a short tour, and am extremely con-
cerncd to hecar that Mahatmaji’s health has been reduced to
such low conditions. The latest newspaper reports say that he
is slightly better and 1 pray that he may soon be restored to
health. His Bengal visit and the thought and cfforts he had
put forth in the cause of the detenus must have sriously told
on his health. But, at the same timc, nobody realises more
than I do, that what we have been able to achieve for the
detcnus would have been impossible without his efforts and
magnetic personality. You have been kind enough to thank me
for negotiating the settlement. In fact, in my own way, I have
done, and shall still do, all that I can to bring relief to the
detenus. Withal, all my efforts would have been as naught
without Mahatmaji’s intervention.

1 fully appreciatc what you have said in regard to my state-
ment to the Press. I realise it would have been better, if I could
avoid issuing it. But then you know what politics in Bengal is
like. How Sarat Babu has made and is still making, frantic
efforts—by means fair or foul—to discredit me in my public



BMPU—A Unique Association 101

life is known to everyone in Bengal. And I believe you also
are awarc of it. Further, I honestly believe that, if Sarat Babu
had not tried to embarrass and discredit the present ministry at
any cost largely because I happen to be a member of it, and
had not thereby created such an atmosphere of bitterness as
prevails in Bengal today, a fairly satisfactory solution for many
of our problems could have been arrived gt. I know that many
public men in Bengal, including some Congressmen, share this
belief with me. I frankly admut that I was greatly pained and
cven exasperated by the policy pursued by Sarat Babu, and
when the Press reporters pressed me for a statement 1 said what
1 believed was true, though probably in an aggressive language.
But as I have said, I agree with you it would have bzen better
1if I could have restrained my feelings, even under such serious
provocation. I should however like to assure you that in future
I shall try my best not to give vent to my feelings in this way.

I have also written to you rather frankly, as I do not like to
hide anything from either Mahatmayji or yourself. I did not like
to worry Mahatmaji during his recent stay here about my per-
sonal matters—how I am being persecuted by Sarat Babu and
the Ananda Bazar Group—as he was then addressing himself
whole-heartedly to the solution of a vexed problem. But when
you will again return to Calcutta, and if time will permit, 1
shall place before Mahatmaji and yourself all relevant facts.
The task of restoring peace in Bengal is, as you say, indced
Herculcan. But I feel that in trying for any real peace, it will be
necessary to acquaint oneself with both sides of the picture. 1
would, however, like to assure you again that not only shall I
desist in future from saying anything aggressive, but shall also
try in so far as I am concerned, to create an atmosphere here
as will be conducive to restoration of peace.

1 shall write to you soon in fuller details in regard to certain
matters.

If Mahatmaji would desire me to do anything in any par-
ticular way, please let me know and I shall do my best.

I trust you are well and that Mahatmaji is better now.

With kindest regards,
Iam,
Yours sincerely,
Nalini Ranjan Sarkar
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MAGANWADI,
WARDHA (C.P.),
November 28, 1937
DEAR SIR NAZIMUDDIN,

I must thank you for your exhaustive and kind letter of the
24th inst. '

I am still bed-ridden. But 1 must scribble down in pencil a
reply which Mahadev Desai will copy for me.

Your confidence in me flatters me, but if it is not extended
to thosc through whom alone I can hope to work with success,
the work for which you and 1 are striving comes to a standstill.
I have no power over the dctenus or the Bengal public save
through the accredited lcaders. I can impose nothing on them. 1
have no other method but that of persuation. T am in constant
correspondence with Shri Sarat Bose in this matter. Without the
assistance ol the two brothers, T could have done nothing in
Bengal. Of course you were right in permutting Dr, Bidhan
Chandra Roy and Sarojini Devi to visit the Hijli fricuds. Their
visit will help.

I may make onc thing cleer. Any recommendation 1 may
make will be in so far as the Bengal Government are concerned,
on my sole responsibility. 1 hope, thercfore, that you will
please reconsider your decision and allow Shri Sarat Bose on
my behalf to visit the Hijli prisoners for the time being.

Yours sincerely,
M.K. Gandhi

SIR NAZIMUDDIN
Homr MINISTIR
WRITERS’ BUILDING
CALCUTTA
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1 WOODBURN PARK,
CAI (UTITA,
1 pm, November 28, 1937
MY DLAR MAHADLVBHAI,

In continuation of myv letter to you of yesterday’s date
which 1 posted yesterday ‘in the BN R Bombay Mail letter-
box, T am cnclosing herewith a cutuing fiom the Aminit Bazar
Patitha containing the statement made by M1t Fazliul Haque
shortly atter the Government communiquz A pcrusal of that
statcment wil', I believe, comince Bapu and you that the
opinion | uxpres ¢d 1 yesterday s letter s correct  On turther
consideration 1 fee]l that it 15 newessary 1o have both Mi
Fazlul Haque and Sin Nazimuddin in addition to Nalin1 Babu
at the proposed conference at Wardha It 1s hardly necessary to
remind you that when Sir Nazimuddin, Nalim Babu and Sir
Byoy Prosad came 1o Bapu with their diaft on the 17th instant,
M: Fuaczlul Haque did not accompany them 1t Mr Fazlul
Haque had accompanicd and had given his assent to thar draft,
I believe, the diaft would have found place 1n the Government
communique If the proposed conference takes place at Wardha,
it will not be possible for a minister to go and consult his
colleagues and 1cport agan to Bapu the opmion of his
colleagues [t 1, absolutel necces ary, theretore, to have all three
ot them togéthcr 1f three of them jointl/ assent to somethiag,
one may fanly expect that the, will be al 'e to carry the whole
Cabinet with them

Ihis moining & tnend told mie that a 1vport had cmnated
from ministerial quarters that T had requested Bapu to write to
Government to give me permission to mterview Hult prisoners
As you know, the suggestion came trom Bapu himscll alter he
had 1ntciviewed the Hylht prisoncrs I need hardly say that I
shall be only so too happy to do anv work that Bapu may
entiust to me and which may rclicve him to some eatent But I
1cally cannot understand why or with what object the contents
of Bapu’s confidential letter to Sir Nasimudain are being
circulated i this tashion by the mupistets or by vac o1 more of
them. The same fuend also told me that he had heard [rom the
same source that permission will not be accorded to me.
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I trust Bapu is improving steadily. Please convey my
pronams to him. My love to you all,

Yours affectionately,

Sarat Chandra Bose

PS. T enclose herewith copy of my letter to Sir
Nazimuddin of the 26th inst. I have not had a reply yet.
S.C. Bose

60

Dccember 4, 1937
MY DLAR MAHADEVBHAI,

I met the Viceroy today and had a pretty long talk with him
for nearly 40 minutes. He inquired about Bapu’s health and 1
told him that although therc was nothing alarming, he was not
improving very rapidly. Three months’ rest will undoubtedly
put him again in his normal heaith, but I said I doubted
whether he would be able to take up continuous hard work.
He was sorry to hear all this. I gave him a short history of the
causes in their chronological order that broke him down, and
at the end, I said that we were all very anxious to'save him as
much as we could from the trouble of dealing with the priso-
ners. For this purpose it was thought desirable that Sarat should
see the prisoners and do the preliminary work.

1 rclated how Gandhiji wrote to the minister and what the
latter replied. 1 also said how Bapu had written again and at
the end I said that I myself was going to talk to Nazimuddin
and also to Lord Brabourne but I thought I should acquaint
him with all the facts in case he wanted to help. He took
copious notes of all that I said and thanked me for acquainting
him with all these things. He did not say that he would help
but I have no doubt that he would. Silence is one of his many
habits.

After that, we talked about Federation. There were serious
objections advanced by the Leftists as well as the Rightists.
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There was likelihood of another breakdown unless the situation
was carefully and sympathetically handled. What was he going
to do? He told me that he himself was not satisfied with the
Federauion. He appreciated the objections of the critics. But
even if he wished, the law could not be changed. What he did
not appreciate, however, in our criticism was that no construc-
tive alternative had been suggested to hym so far. I told him
that at the proper timz Bapu® would. But the Viccroy should
cxercise his mind from this very moment as to what solution
he could suggest. There were two things that were objec-
tionable even from my point of view. Representatives of the
princes would come without clection. And secondly, it had yet
to be proved by the authors of the Act that this act contains
in itself the seeds of automatic growth, a claim made off and
on by Englishmen. Without the Army and Foreign Affairs,
under the control of the popular ministers, how were we going
to reach the goal of Dominion Status? It was for the Viceroy
to convince the public in India by some means that what was
said by the authors of the Act was not a mere platitude. He
replied that what was claimed about the Act was not a mere
platitude. He did not want to treat lis Cabinet as irresponsiblw
for Army and Forcign Affairs. True legally they had no power
over these matters. But by usage this power could be establi-
shed. This of coursc was only his personal opinion. But he
wanted me to leave the matter . that so that he may eaercise
his brain for the proper occasion. I peinted out to hum the
necessity of talking before the Federation became a reality and
also added that if he could cultivate acqua atance with Jawahar-
lalji, he could very much relieve Gandhiji of his task. He asked
me when Jawaharlal was coming to Calcutta and when 1 told
him that he would perhaps come on the 8th, he remarked,
“Oh, as carly as that.” Pcrhaps you arc aware thar the Viceroy
will reach Calcutta on the 13th or the 14th

During the course of conversation, he emphasized the need
of maintenance of law and order and he said nothing would bz
more damaging to the provincial ministrics than to prove it to
the world that after all it were the Britishers alone who could
maintain law and order. He is specially anxious about U.P. and
asked me to convey it to the proper quarters that it would be
very bad for the ministers, if the Governor had to use his own
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responsibility for maintenance of law and order. He did not
want that Pant should prosecute people right and left but he said
things were getting very serious in U.P. and he should not
allow anarchy to prevail. I told him that Pant was fully con-
scious of his own responsibility, that the Gandhi Seva Sangh
had recently passed very important resolution against violence
and that all the big, leaders of the Gandhi Seva Sangh were
strenuously working to fight out'violence. He was very happy
to hear this. This is the gist of my talk. I think he will seck an
opportunity to meet Jawaharlalji.

It appears from the Press that the ferment is growing every-
where and perhaps for the next few months the most important
task of the ministers would be to suppress all incitement to vi0-
lence. Partly it will have to be done through prosecution and
partly through redressing the gricvances of people. The exagge-
rated expectations that have raised arc just now at the root of all
these troubles and unless the Congress tells the peasants clearly
that their position could be improved ultimately through theirr
own hard wotk alone and not by any stroke of wand, 1 don't
think this discontent will subside. Today the position 1s that, 1f all
the accumulated wealth is socialised and the zemindari system
abolished, 1t will hardly add muct to the existing income of the
masses. In order to increase their income constructive works have
to be undertaken. Production has to b2 increased, the quality of
production has to be improved and this will require concentrated
work spread over a long pertod. All this enthusiadsm about the
release of prisoners will begin to fade after some tune. People
will demand more bread and the bread 15 not going to come
out of the confiscation of zemindaries. Our minssters will there-
fore have to decide from this very moment as to what they are
gomg to do for amecliorating the condition of the people. If
they think that the amelioration depends on the confiscation of
the propertics, then I think they arc deceiving themselves. The
question of discontent just now is linked up with economics
and unless steps are taken to make the peasants realise what
is possible and what is not, 1 fear the ferment will grow to such
an extent that it will become impossible after a certain stage for
the ministers to maintain discipline. And as Bapu has said so
many times, inviting the help of the Military will be the dcath
knell of the provincial governments. 1 fear the U.P. and Behar
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have not yet fully realised the seriousness of the growing danger
to non-violence.

Yours affectionately,
G. D. Birla

SYT. MAHADEVBHAI DESAI
WARDHA

61

Decewnber 5, 1937
MY DFAR MATIADLVBIAIL, .

[ have 1ead both the letters, that is, hhom Nalim and Sarat
Bapu with ercat pain - The contents valy reflected the dirty
atmosphere that 1s just now prevatling o Bengal and unless we
remove the root cause, I fear it will continue I have no doubt
that Nalint 1~ responcible for spteading the repoit thoat Bapu
has ashed the mumustry to permit Sarat to meet the deterus and
1 have no doubt that many such false reports are bung sprcad
also by the other side about Nalimi So these charges and
counter charges will continue as long as tht atmosphere
prevails. °

1 do not know to which mterview of faque Sarat Bove hds
referred, but 1 will ask you te read there .wo cuttinas and tlat
will give you an 1dza as to what extent the atmospherc 1s sur-
charged with butterness. 1f timely action 15 not taken, then »ome
day we might have many untoward happemngs indluding comn-
munal 110ts,

The legislations tefcired to 1 one i the cuttings ate of a
very far reaching character and specially the bill to amend the
Calcutta Municipal Act 15 of a very 1eactionary naturc I think
Bengal could be saved only if the peaceful citizens combined and
condemued all this mud-flinging tendency. I have been thinking
that after Nalin1 and Saiat make up thenr differences, we should
get a manifesto 1ssued signed by the Poet and other leading
members of the society strongly condemning this mud-flinging
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tendency prevalent specially in the Press and also in certain
political quarters.

Since I wrote to you, I heard from another official that the
situation in U.P. was not at all satisfactory, that there was
danger of an agrarian riot breaking out and after that I heard
that Vallabhbhai has gone to Lucknow. I fear that just now our
ministrics are living entirely at the mercy of the service and the
British element of th: administration. The British element at
present 1s not at all unsympathetic, but if law and order could
nol be maintained, prestige of the ministries would be very
seriously damaged. And the leftist element in the Congress is
very largely to be blamed for this.

Yours affectionately,
Ghanshyamdas

SYT. MAHADFVBHAI DLsAI
WARDHA

62

Junu,
December 13, 1937
MY DFAR GLIANSHYAMDASII,

This 15 just to give you the good ncws that Bapu is really
better. The b.p. came down this morning to 170/100 which is
quite unusual and we can ascribe it to nothing but the fine
equable weather here. I felt like sending you a telegram but
then desisted. Perhaps we must wait for a day or two before we
can shout with joy.

By the byc Agakhan rang me up to find out—if he could
come to inquire after Bapu's health just for a few minutes. He
1s coming tomorrow at 4 p.m.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev
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December 13, 1937
MY DCAR MAHADEVBHAI,

I met Sarat yesterday and had a pretty long talk with him.
He was very frank and nice. I advanced to him all the argu-
ments in favour of making up the past differences and asked
him what his reaction was-*to the suggestion made by me and
entertained by Bapu. He said that while he agreed with me that
peace in Bengal was very essential, he did not think internal
peace could be possible without the change of the present
ministry. The present ministry, he said, was not only a non-
Congress ministry but was an anti-Congress ministry, and this
being so, the duty of the Congress membcis in the Assembly
remained always to oppose the present ministry. This caused
a lot of bitterness and also Press propaganda. How coyld his
making up with Nalini solve this problem? I said that even for
overthrowing the prescnt mimstry, until among the Congress-
minded people and 1 counted even Nalint one of them—was
essential. After all the Congress, as such, had only 55 votes.
In order to overthrow the present minstry, they had to get
much larger support in the Assembly and without Nahni's
help that would be 1mposcble. Sarat replicd that the question
was not merely of overthrowing the present ministiy but of
replacing it by not a non-Congr 'ss ministry but by a coahtion
ministry composed of Congressmen as well as non-Congress-
men. I said if that was the intention, then unity became all the
more cssential.

I then suggested that it was not! nccessary Lo have an
ambitious programme at this stage. Why shoul.l not they begin
with a2 modest ambition? My <uggestion was that Saiat and
Nalini should woik together at least for achics ngthe object
that Gandhiji had in view, that 1, the release of all the priso-
ners. In my opinion in this work they v ould come in touch
with each other and this would help them 1n forgetting the past
differences. After that the bigger picture might be visualised,
if that was at all feasible. Sarat replied that Nalim was very
clever. He (Nalini) would not accept any position unless he
was sure that in the future ministry, he (Nalini) would find a
place. T said, “Why should you close your mind against
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Nalini being in the future ministry?” Sarat replied that it was
not a question of closing his mind but that definite assurances
would be asked by Nalini. He could not by any means trust
Nalini. T reminded him how at one time they worked togcther.
Hc admitted and said that they did work together but only
with distrust. T pointed out to him that even in the ministries in
other countries, there were pcople of oppositc mentality and yet
they worked together. Nalini had «certain gond points, but his
worst point was that he was an ambitious mau. Why should
he not be tackled properly? And if Nalini had some support

chind him why should he be ignored? But I said why begin
with Nalini? Why not begin with Dr. Roy? Dr. Roy had no
ambition politically and he was thc man who could be trusted.
Sarat agrced and said he would first talk to Dr. Roy. He is
meeting him tomorrow at my house.

The interview has not inspired much hope in me about the
results. But when 1 analyse the prevailing atmosphere in Bengal,
I feel that ualess there be a reasonable unity of purpose among
the Hindus and some Mushms, a disaster is sure to come.
Fazlul Haque seems to be running amock, and I am told, no
one including the Europeans like him. But there 1, no minntiy
to replace the existing one.

Alflter my interview with Saral, Nalini at his own accord
came to sce me and we discussed the University Bill and the
Calcutta Corporation Bill. He told me that a split n the
Cabinet had already begun and it seemed inevifable. He was
going to fight against all these reactionary bills. I asked him
what was the remedy to prevent all these catastrophes? He
said the only remcdy was that the Hindu members and reaso-
nable Mushm, and Lnglishmen should combine to overthrow
the present ministry. I ashed him, “Suppose this is not possible
and Haque persists in this attitude towards the n2w reacti-
onary bills, will you resign? Or will you still stick to your
post?’” Nalini definitely told me that he would resign.

Then 1 took up the question of Sarat intcrviewing the
prisoners. To this he was definitely against. The reason seems
to be more personal although he did not say so. His reason
was that it was not necessary. Sarat was not liked by the
detenus. I reminded him how it was necessary to spare Gandhiji
of the troublc of seeing so muny detenus, Why should not
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somcone do the preltmmary work? He said they did not want
to give any trouble (o Gandhir. Gandhi had simply to gne
the formula to the dctenus and get then assurances, and at the
end ol the foruth month, all would be 1eleased “But why not
1clease as many as youcan’ 1asked He said, “Yes, that 1s
possible ”* I asked, “Could you release a number of them with-
out Gandhit iterviewing them’”, He replied that almost all
of them could be 1eleased ,without Ganchip having to inter-
venc I asked him to tell me defimitely so after having seen his
colleagues, and he 1s coming to sce me again His 1impiession
scems to be that they aie holding up the release of these 400
becausc they wanted to show the public that they werc uil
released through the instrumentahty ot Gandhip But 1t Gandhip
wanted that as many as possible sheuld be released without
his intervention, the munisters would be only too pleased to
the up the wotk them cves T was surprised at this impression
and so T have defuntedy asked for 11 answer as to how mdny ot
thent could be tedecsed without G v thy’s inters cntion, and he
would Ikt me know in 1 dy o1 two

Then he cuuidly mentioned how the existiny atmosphere
wts running all con tructive warl - There wis no ledership
and thete wete no wdes Sarat exeept in law was absolutely
an mnocent man Nalim was prepued to forget the pust, but
Satat was man of prejudices. And he went on Iike this for a
long tumc

This morging Bidhw saw me and I have asked him to
come to my house and hve a chat with Sarat. To my urprise
I have found him also scty sceptical Tz said that Sarat was
preaching for the 1+t thiee years that Gandhyi should nave no
place i Bengal politics Has he rueanted now or 15 he decenving
Gandhyi? Sarut fought agunst the Congiess m communal
award and yot Saat was an the hngh command of ne C nziess
Dr Roy saw no honesty of purposc and therefore he could not
«ee how unmity was possible unless the fu «omental differences
were removed 1t Suat had charged his  attitude regaiding
Gandhipi and the Communal Award, why should he not say
so? I pomnted out that by his action, Sarat had alicady made
his position clear But Dr Roy does not behieve that there s
any honesty behind all these pretensions But he 1s prepated to
have a frank talk and he admite at the same time that unless
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unity was restored, Bengal would go to pieces.
Such is Bengal politics. 1 am seeing the Governor day-after-
tomorrow.
Yours sincerely,
Ghamshyamdas
SYT. MAHADEVBHAI Drsal
BomBAy

64

CALCUTTA,
December 15, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADLVBHAI,

The good news that you send me was transmitied to me by
Rameshwarji Jong before I reccived your letter. We talk every
day on phone and Bapu’s health is one of the topic.

Yesterday Sarat and Bidhan met at my house. I don’t think
the meeting was very successful The talk is still to continue and
therefore 1 would not call it a failure. The beginning was quite
unplcasant. Bidhan, it appears, was full of irc for which
perhaps he had plenty of reasons. He began like this, ‘I don't
care about the past. I have forgotten it. Butif,I am 10 work
again with you, I must know about your attitude in future. If
1 joined you without knowing whether there was common
ground or not, 1 would simply be incrcasing the existing [ric-
tion. [ am just now devoted to my practice and am keeping
myself in the background. But if I must come out of the obli-
vion, I should know how we stand. There were four points
which made your political plank. One was the Communal
Award. How do you stand today in respect of your old cry? If
you intend to reform the existing ministry, you must have rea-
sonable support of the Mohammedans. With your previous
views no Mohammedan would agree. Do you now stand by the
Congress, or do you still hold your old views? Two. Your
slogan used to be ‘Gandhism must be driven out of Bengal’,
Have you changed your view? Three. You wanted nationalisa-
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tion of industries and you were inciting the communists. Are
you now changed? Four. You wanted elimination of Nalini-
ranjan Sarkar out of public life. What are your views now?
We separated on these four issues, and if you have changed
your views, then I have no hesitation in joining hands with
you for future. But if you have not changed, then what is the
use of composing the past when future tdo is full of disagree-
merrt?”’

Sarat went all red. I tried to pour oil over troubled water,
but Bidhan asked mc not to explain away Sarat’s position.
It was for Sarat to explain. Sarat, I must say, did not Jlose his
temper altogether and at the end both agreed that they should
meet again.

Yours affectionately,

Ghanshyamdas
SyT. MAHADFVBHAI DFsAl
Junu
65
CAI CUTTA,
d December 16, 1937

MY DLAR MAHADLVBHAI,

1 met the Governor yesterday evemng. The talk lasted
morc than an hour. He enquired of Bapu’s health. I told him
that the blood-pressure of Bapu has come down to normal. Hec
said, “We should not fcel complacent about it. What 15 to be
observed is that it should be normal when he takes up his
normal duties. It is necessary for him to take rest constantly.”
1said, “that is why 1 have come to you. Gandhiji had to
struggle hard here with the result that he had to be bed-ridden
at WardhLa. Even now the Bengal affairs do not let him remain
in peace. He will not be at peace till he comes here to com-
plete the job he had left in the middlc. 1100 detenus have been
relecased. This act of Bengal government has pleased Gandhiji
much. Yet 400 detenus are yet to berelcased. Nothing has
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been done in respect of the detenus of Andamans. All this work
is to be done by him and his state of hcalth is not good at all at
the moment. Can his well-wishers not save him from this diffi-
cult task? Why should the work not be shared by others when
it can easily be accomplished by them? He should be left with
such an amount of work as can conveniently be done by him.
Keeping this in view he has written about Sarat’s meeting the
detenus. Though the final responsibility rests with him, he
thought it good to leave the preliminary work with Sarat Babu.
Nazimuddin has rcfused to accede to this, but Gandhiji has
again written to him. Would you be able to help in this matter
any way?” He replied, ‘I am also of the view that Gandhiji
should be provided ample opportunity to take complete rest.
He should not be allowed to be busy in many things. What is
the hurry, after all? When is Gandhiji coming?” 1 said, “After
perhaps the Haripura Congress that is to take place some time
toward end of February.” He replied, “then what is the harm
in waiting till that time?”” The position that Gandhiji holds is
different from that held by Sarat. Government is in need of
Gandhiji’s hclp. Through him it wants to ascertain detenus’
views on violence. That purpose could not be served by Sarat.
That is the function of Gandhiji alone.” I pointed out that if
Sarat met the prisoners before Gandhiji interviewed them, then
it would very much lighten Gandhiji's work. Besides, if some-
one from Bengal was associated with Gandhiji, it would
strengthen Gandhiji’s hands in improving the atmosphere.
After all, it would be the Bengalese who would have to carry
on in Bengal. Therefore Sarat’s association would be very use-
ful in many ways. “But could the atmosphere be improved in
this manner?”, he asked. Press wrote most virulent articles.
This might lead any day to a communal riot. IDid 1 think Sarat
could help Gandhiji in improving the atmosphere? 1 said, “Yes.
And in asking permission for Sarat, perhaps Gandhiji had this
object too in mind, T fear Sarat is not allowed to intcrview the
detenus due to personal reasons. If there was someone clse, the
Government would not object.”” The Governor said, “Perhaps
you are right. Sarat’s visit introduces a new angle in Bengal
politics. Sarat is not the leader of Bengal. He is one of the
leaders. He is the grea‘est opponent of the existing ministry.
How could the ministers then ¢ntertain any idea of bringing
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sarat into prominence? (Before I saw the Governor, I had a talk
with Nalini and he very franklv admitted that they were actua-
ted by personal prejudices in not allowing Sarat to visit the
prisoners. Nalini said, ““Itis personal. And why not? This man
has abused us in and out of scason. Why should we do any-
thing to give him any credit?) Is it not reasonable?” 1 said I
did not agree, but then I suggested another alternative. “Why
should not”, Tsaid, “thc *Government of their own accord
release as many prisoners as they could without Gandhiji’s
assistance? This would create a feeling of reassurance in the
minds of all concerned. The prisoners would not get restive and
those that are left in for some reasons could be handled in the
end by Gandhiji.” He asked me whether such an action would
imptove the situation at all? Would it not be a dangerous
thing to release many men without improving the atmosphere?
I said that “release™ and a “better atmosphere’ were mutually
complementary. Releasing of the prisoners would improve the
atmosphere and improvement in the atmosphere will help the
1elease But non-release might further spoil the atmosphere. He
«aid, *“Yes, there is something in what you say. But don’t you
thunk that if the releasc was through the instrumentality of
Gandhij, it would strengthen Gandhip’s hands in improving
the atmospherc in Bengal? Why is Gandhiji coming to Bengal?
Not simply for relcase but also for improving the atmosphere.
Now if we relcased all before Gu.udhyi comes, will it help him
at all in creating a better atmosphere? T am talking this as an
individual and not as a Governmental, tut 1 think it will very
much strengthen Gandhiji's hands if relcases were made after
he came.” I said, *I had heard such a proposal fiom Nalini
also (The Governor remathed he had never collaborated with
Nalini) but somchow or other I was never very much impres-
sed with this argument. But 1 will putit to Gundhin and if
Gandhip thought that releasing even w11 out his intervention
would strengthen rather than weaken his hauds, I would vote
with Gandhiji because 1 know no oneis a greater sludenf of
human phychology than Gandhiji.” “Oh yes, I know he is a
first-class diplomat and therefore he cannot be unaware of the
effect of certain actions on the public mind.” 1said I wou_ld
leave the matter at that but that Iwould come to see h:m
again on that very matter after I had heard from Gandhiji.
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Perhaps Gandhiji himself would write to him. He said, ‘“Come
whenever you wish to.

Then, he discussed the prevalent poisonous atmosphere
specially created by the Press. Could not I do something to
help? I said, “My own feeling is that unless the differences
amongst the various sections are composed, there is very little
likelihood of the Press becoming sober.” He said the Hindustan
Standard and others were writing such poisonous articles_ that
there was likelihood of a communal trouble. I said that for the
communal bitterness partly Haque himself was responsible. He
agreed. But he said, ‘“Haque has been sufficiently provoked by
the Press.” Isaid, “The Press has abused the Hindu ministers
also.” But I admitted that Haque had been sufiiciently provo-
ked by the Press of the type of the Ananda Bazar Patriha and
the Hindustan Standard. The best solution would be that decent
men should publicly denounce the existing tendency of the Press.
He hoped that somcthing of the kind would be done.

At the conclusion he repeated that it was not the opinion
of the Government but his own personal opinion that if the
release was affected through the pleadings of Gandhiji, it would
very much strengthen his (Gandhiji’s) hands in improving the
prevailling atmosphere. But of course if Gandhiji disappeared
from the Bengal picture altogether, then the Govenment's duty
was quite clear. They had decided upon a policy of gradual
release and there was no departing from that policy. That
policy would continue, but we nced not be it a hurry for a
decision just now. Let Gandhiji’s programme be known first.

He expressed doubt whether the difference between Nalini
and Bosc could be composed. It was a matter of personal diffe-
rences and thercfore they were all the more difficult to be
healed. 1 differed and pointed out that after all in politics
people made and settled their differences according to exigen-
cies of the times.

Yours affectionately,
Ghanshyamdas

SYT. MAHADI VBHAI DESATL
JanNk1 KuTiR
Junu, BoMBAY
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December 17, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

I hope I was able 1n my yesterday’s letter to convey to you
correctly the feeling in the Government circles with reference to
the release of detenus. As ypou might havé noticed from my
letter, the Governor told me practically what I was already 1n-
formed by Nalini. My efforts were directed to save Bapu of any
undue strain in respect of the release. After talking, I have dis-
covered that Bapu’s presence in Calcutta 1v wanted by the
authorities not so much for the purpose of release as for the
purpose of improving the atmosphere. They scem to want to
make the 1eleases an occasion for umproving the piesent atmos-
phere. In lact, they seem to have made up their mind_ that
releases will have to be madc and 1n making Bapu the cause for
these releases, they are simply eaacting a price fiom him which
would be in the shape of improvement in the atmosphere. So,
to put the whole thing in a nutshell, the strain that may be
caused to Bapu would not be for the releases but for improving
the atmosphere. And if we are to save him trom all this trouble,
we must work to improve the atmospheic in Bengal as much as
possible and leave the final touches for Bapu. I hope I have
becn able to convey to you correctly what I feel.

The question of the Andaman prisoners, of course, stands
on different grounds and as 1t is a question for the exercise of
clemency, Bapu will have to take up this question with the
Governor. 1 was a bit perturbed when I heard that the Anda-
man prisoners were intending to start another hunger stiike,
and as you will see from the enclosed cutting, 1 got Sarat to
issue this statement. Sarat’s in formation 15 that there 1s no lthe-
Ithood of any hunger strike. Bapu therefore should take complete
rest without any an\iety tor the time being, and he should b:
assured that, so far as I could see, the chief work for him 1n
Bengal would be not in connection with the releasc of prisoners
but 1n connection with improving the political atmosphere.

Yours qffectionately,
Ghanshyamdas
SYT. MAHADEVBHAI DESAI
Junt



118 BAPU—A Unique Associatioft
67

Juny,
December 17, 1937
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

Received your long letter. Bapu has insisted on my writing
this in Hindi. Your letter contained matter of such extraordinary
importance that 1 thought it fit and proper to show it to Bapu.
He was greatly pleased at thec manner you have proceeded in
this matter as also by the detailcd description of all that has
taken place. However, Bapu does not accept Dr. Bidhan’s reason-
ing. He maintains that every action of Sarat’s amply shows
that there has becn a change in his thinking process; that he has
been deporting himsclf with marked loyalty towards him (i.c.,
Bapu). If somebody has discarded his black coat and has put on
a white onc, he nced not go about telling people that he has
donc so. The colour of the coat itcelf will be sufficicnt cevidence
of the change in his apparel. But in case Bidhan remains con-
vinced that there has, 1n fact, been no change in Sarat’s outlooh,
it is his religious duty to say so in your presence at your house
without mincing words. Unity must be achieved through com-
plete frankness.

What did you discuss with the Governor? Presumably a
detailed description of your interview with him is already on
the way.

Bapu is certainly recovering, but the tempo is’so slow. And
now that he has begun to feel a shade better he has begun fret-
ting about Segaon and writing to the peoplc there that “We
should be there by the end of this month.” Jamnalalji has
strongly protested. He insists on Bapu prolonging his stay here
by a couple of months. In the morning the bluod-pres.ure
hovered around 176/1006, but last evening it shot up to 180/117,
I can well understand the causc of it. The Andamans, the
situation in U. P. and such like things work on his mind. Lately
the federal scheme seems to have contributed to his mental
restlessness. Only this morning he asked me to get him the
connected material.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev
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JANKI KUTIR,
Juny,
December 18, 1937
MY DFAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

I have your brief letter asking mec to insjst on Bapu prolong-
ing his stay herc. I told you fn my last that it was no use halloo-
ing until we were out of the wood. The last two days have regis-
tered a setback in Bapu’s health. There has been no apparent
cause and the doctors are busy making all kinds of surmises. An
English doctor, who is a member of the European delegation
to the Indian Scicnce Congress, was brought in here by a friend.
He happens to be a blood-pressure specialist. He said that the
blood-pressurc was certainly high but that the heart action was
good. He said that the digestive processes were not going on
properly and that all that he needed was rest and adequate
‘oxygenation’ of his food. He has suggested a process of regu-
larly oxygenating his milk and he is seeing Dr. Gilder in this
connection before he leaves this evening for Calcutta.

Did Bapu speak to you about a loan from some Bank to
the A.LS.A. for khadi production? I wonder, if it can be arra-
nged and if so, on what terms?

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

SyT. GHANSHYAMDAS BIRLA
8 RovyAL EXCHANGE PLACE
CALCUTTA

PS. Since writing the abovc we have had a talk over
the phone. There has been much bungling in dealing
with the situation in U.P. At first they indulged in
empty threats, then they did what can only be described
as licking one’s own spittles. The bureaucracy also has
had a measure of our strength. Pandit Jawaharlal has
not been able to give a clear-cut lead. Persumably he,
too, had realized that an crror has been committed. All
the same he could not suggest a way out of the dilemma.
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You might have seen his ‘statement in the Press. He
appears to have cooled down somewhat.

M. D.

69

December 19, 1937
DEAR LORD LOTHIAN,

I hope you have fixed up your programme for Calcutta. I
have been thinking of inviting a few important men to meet
you at lunch so that you can meet a number of Calcutta citi-
zens at one place. If you approve of the idea, then 1 would
request you to fix up a date for which [ could issuc invitations.

Besides the lunch, you will have to spare some time at your
convenience when we can have a quiet chat. I will be obliged if
you kindly send me a telegram adressed to ‘Lucky’ in reply to
this, so that I can make the necessary arragements.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas Birla

THE RT. HON. THL MARQUESS OF LOTHIAN
C/o SIr TEJ BAHADUR SAPRU, KT.
ALLAHABAD .

70

December 20, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

We had another meeting last evening, and it was in very

good spirit. Bidhan was in an appealing mood and Sarat too
wanted to accommodate.

With reference to the Communal Award, Sarat explained his
position which is this. ‘I admit that I defied the Congress and
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started the Nationalist Party) but at the same time it is I who
am responsible for liquidating it. The Congress Working
Committee accepted my suggestion and modified its previous
attitude and this is now mv attitude too. 1 stand by the
Congress.” Bidhan said, “This is good but since you will have
the need of co-operation of reasonable Mushims, it is necessary
that your attitude should be publicly explained. Not that you
shoulfl go out of your way, but you should *whenever you get
an opportunity, explain your position so as to inspire confidence
among your Muslim friends.” Sarat agreed.

As regards hunting out Gandhism from Bengal, Sarat ad-
mitted that this was his view, but he never said so publicly. It
was drawing room talk. He was very much offended in those
days but now he was entirely changed. Here again Bidhan sug-
gested that he should some time publicly explam his attitude
because even today some of the rank and file Congicssmen
followed the old advice of Sarat. It was therefore necessary 1o
clarify. Sarat agreed, although he did not think 1t necessary.

But the most formidable question was of Nalini. We both
pointed out to him that we recognised his week points. He was
an ambitious man, but were there not many like him in Bengul
who called themselves Congressmen? Sarat may not trust Nalini
beyond a limit, but why should he launch boycott against him?
Was it not possible to co-operate even with non-Congressmen?
Was not Nalini a capable and more active person than many
men? We did npt believe that he was thoroughly unrehable. He
could be trusted and could be made use ot for the good of the
country provided he was properly handled. tcalled him Congress
minded. Sarat felt impressed but said he would not hke to
reply immediately. He asked as to what would be the price that
he would have to pay for Nalini’s co-operation? Was he to be
promised a seat in the future Cabinet? I told him this was not
a rclevant question. What was needed was that Sarac should
not shut his mind against Nalini’s inclusion u the futurc Cabi-
net. Of course, Nalini would cxpzct a place for himself in the
Cabinet, and if he is worth the place, why should he be deued
it? Sarat said he would like to consult Bapu first. I told him
that as far as possible we should leave Bapu alone. It is not
necessary that we should make up our own mind? But Sarat
would not make up his mind until he had talk with Bapu. But
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all the same he wanted to have ahother talk with us before he
left for Bombay. I told him about the setback in Bapu’s health
and he was rather upset. He is very much eager to be on the
side of Bapu and thereforc I have no doubt that he will do
what Bapu wants him to do. This is a good sign. Meanwhile,
perhaps he will consult Subhas also. I am therefore very hope-
ful about the situation.

I have just now rcceived your letter of the 17th written in
Hindi. The reply to this is already covered in the foregoing des-
cription of the conversation between myself and Sarat Bapu.

As regards my conversation with Lord Brabourne, you must
have got the description by this timc and I am expectling your
comments.

Bidhan tells me that Bapu’s sctback perhaps may be due to
excessive walks.

Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas
SYT. MAHADEVBIIAI DESAI
JuHU
71
MAGANWADI,
WAaRDHA (C.P.),

December 21, 1937
MY DELAR GIANSIIYAMDASII,

Your two very long letters, both of which I showed to Bapu.
Hc sces what you say about the mentality of the Government of
Bengal in releasing the prisoners ou Bapu’s assurance and advice,
and he appreciates the mentality. In fact, he would, if it was
humanly possible, go to Bengal and sit down there and devote
all his encrgies to the problem in Bengal, to the cxclusion of all
others. But that is not possible today, unless of coursc he went
in thc teeth of all the doctors’ advice. The fluctuations in the
blood-pressure continucd. As an effect of sarpagandha, it comes
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down to 150/95 and even lofver towards the evening but rises
again in the morning when it 1s 195/110 ! Even the doctors are
puzzled and they have the honesty to say that they are at sca.
It is a tragedy that our doctors treat our Ayurved with con-
tempt and will not study the therapeutic value of potent drugs
like sarpagandha. There is one very satisfactory feature however
about the present reaction of sarpagandha. It is this that as it
is given 1n very small doscs 1t*does not produce the depression
and lassitude 1t used to do mm Wardha and 1t did 1n Calcutta.
So he has decided to go on with it.

Nov about thc Bengal Government’s policy, Bapu would
frankly likc them to release all the detenus and prisonets on
theit own initiative and responsibility—as he made 1t absolutely
clear 1n his message to C.I" A which was given hun i wiiting
and which he must have shown you. 1 have no copy by me as 1
am writing this, but I am swie C.F.A. would have shown it to
you. Thercin he has requested Government to esercise their
clemency. He wants them to do so, 1l only because he does not
know when exactly he can go to Bengal and he does not want
the fate of those untortundate folks to hang oun the ups and
downs 1n his health. I hope 1 have made Bapu’s point of view
clear.

Now about the U.P. 1 do not think anything could be
done at that end. There 15 no doubt that the issue that was
raised was not one on which the > should have been a difference
of opinton or break between the ministry and the Governor.
The task of maintaining an atmosphe ¢ of non-violence 1s
common to both and when the ministry agieed that the men
in question had preached violence, there was not fun n saying
that no action should be taken against them. The Governor
said, “he had madec up his mind on the point.” Fanty said that
the ministers had also made up thetr mind-. And f he did say
so there s no getting out of a resignatior. But they have deci-
ded not to resign for reasons which it is dulicult to understand.
Pt. Jawahailal's view 1s too subtle for me to grasp. He ‘ays the
issue should be brought before the Assembly and after their
vote the question of the Parliament vs the Crown can come
before the country. However this may be, and 1t has nothing to
do with what can or cannot be done there. Pantji has wntten to
Vallabhbhai to the effect that the crisis has been tided over and
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there is no anxiety.

I wonder if this will make you any the wiser. If does not,
please blame my ignorance of the matter or knowledge of it
second or third hand, or my poverty of expression! In a hurry,

Yours,
Mahadev

72

December 21, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

Immediately T heard from the Viceroy in Delhi that some-
thing was wrong in U.P., I wrote to Pantji and also sent Devdas
to Lucknow. Vallabhbhai also was there. Although Devdas has
not yet written to me, but Pantji sent back a very reassuring letter
saying that there was nothing to worry about agrarian trouble
or Cawnpore and that he was keeping his fingers on the pulse.
I conveyed this reassuring news to the Viceroy who was quite
pleased. But all this time I was in the dark about any difference
between the Governor and ministers. Immediately I saw some-
thing in the National Call, I began to suspect that there was some-
thing wrong and your hint on the phone made me more alert.
Since then I have been hearing from various sources that there is
some trouble, but I do not know the correct nature of it. Today
during my conversation with Arthur Moore, he was telling me
that if the Governor and the ministers in U.P. could tide over
their differences, we would be relicved of a lot of anxiety and
he asked me whether 1 know Haig, to which I said ‘yes.” “Don’t
you think he is a good man?”, he said to which I replied, “So is
Pantji.” And then this morning appeared the specch of the
Viceroy. It is evident from the speech that there is some anxiety
on his mind but I am utterly in dark as to what is the nature
of this anxiety. I am writing this to ask you if you could en-
lighten me more on this point. The Viceroy is here and Moore
could always help. If there is any contribution that could be
made by me, Moore or men of his type, we should all like to
make. But as I don’t know the correct nature of this trouble, I
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am not taking any action. If an think you could say something
more, please say so and hand over the letter to my brother.
Similarly, I am sending this letter through my office.

Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas
SYT. MAHADEVBHAT DESAT
BoMmpAy
Encl. 1 cutting
73
Junu,
BoMBay,

December 22, 1937
MY DEAR GHANSIIYAMDASJI,

The dispute over the question of the prosecution of one of
the ex-Kakori men has superseded Cawnpore. This has remaincd
a closely guarded secret. There Kakori people started to em-
barrass the miistry and Congress almost as soon as they were
sct free. Welcome functions and processions became a regular
feature cverywhere and in spite of Bapu’s timely rebuke, Con-
gressmen—Ileading men in their districts—associated themselves
frecly with these demonstrations. In several places prominent
Congressmen presided over meetings at which the Kakori men
made rabid speeches. When this became known to the ministry
they circularised the District Magistrates-- whether under
pressurc from the Governor, I do not know--asking them to
depute reporters to all meetings addressed by the Kakori men.
The specch by Parmanand in Dehradun drew the attention of
the Governor. He at once took the matter up with thc ministry
and insisted that the offender be prosecuted under Scc. 124-A
I.P.C. The ministry took the view and tried to impress it upon
the Governor that since the man had been in jail for 20 years
his speeches were bound to be bitter but that this need not
be taken so tragically. They were therefore in favour of warning
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the offender before taking more &rastic action. But the Governor
held out and the story goes that he acted under strict instruc-
tions from Delhi. Pant had more than one long discussion with
the Governor. All this tusssle took over 7 days during which
the ministry apparently took no steps to consult Pt. Jawaharlal
or anyonc else. Then at a formal cabinet meeting the matter
was again brought up and the Governor made it plain that if
the ministry would’not undertake-the prosecution. then under
his special power he would have to order it himself. The minis-
try replied adhering to its previous decision. The warrant was
issued under the Governor's orders and served on Parmanand
in Delhi where another case was pending against him. At rhis
stage, it is stated that Pantji wired to Pt. Jawaharlal to return
to U.P. immadiately from Assam for consultation, but the latter
suggested that Sardar Vallabhbhai should be called as he him-
self could not interrupt the tour. Surdar was thus called. In the
opinion of the Sardar and Kripalani, the ministzy ought not to
have hesitated to sanction the prosecution because there are
no two opinions as to the extremely violent nature of the spcech.
In fact the speech of Batliwala may be said to be almost loya-
list in tone compared to Parmanand’s (have seen the C.IL.D.
report of the speech and quite agree about the description).
What Pantji, however, wanted to know was what to be done
now. There, Vallabhbhai did not give clear advice but suggesicit
that Pt. Jawaharlal (who was to be in Lucknow in a day or two)
be consulted. But Vallabhbhai did say that haviag allowed the
matter to go so far it was difficult to submit meekly to the
Governor's action. Pantji, however felt that the matter would
be smoothed over by asking the Governor to withdraw the
prosccution in the event of the Delhi case resulting in the convie-
tion. But cven this, it was felt, the Governor would not perhaps
agree to (Having got his chance now) without some conditions.
That condition might very likely be that the ministry should
identify itsellf with the original step. Sardar, however, appeared
inclined to give no definite advice but left it to Pt. Jawaharlal
to deal with the crisis in this province, more particularly
because he (Pt. J.) would in any casc have to be consulted.
Connected with this affair is a curious Cabinect episode.
Some twenty days prior to this crisis the Cabinet had taken a
decision to warn the Kakori men for their utterances. This deci-
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sion, however, was not implen’:ntcd and the version of Pantji
is that the Chief Secretary ought to have implemented it but he
did not. Vallabhbhai on the other hand felt that an important
decision ought not to have been left in charge of the Chicf
Sccretary!

Tais morning, rang up Pantji. Fortunately got him and he
was good enough to talk about the situation. He said that the
position was easier now aml perhaps in”two or three days
the public may hear something about it (Interpret to mean
withdrawal of the prosecution). Asked him defimtely if he
thought the crisis would be tided over to which he said, “Yes,”
a trifle haltingly, 1 thought. Did not wish to press him to say
more, particularly since he said thar there had been some give and
tahe. Thought that much of talk with a Prime Minister ought
to suffice and rang off after telling Pantji that I would see him
at Aligarh on the 30th on the occasion of the Provincial
Conference.

As regards Cawnpore it is true that the Governer took a lot
of 1nitiative in thc matter ol appropriate action to curb mis-
chief-mongers and that tvo cansed some unpleasantness but
there have been no serious differences on that account and
Cawnpore is quicter and more settled for the time being.

The only thing worth reporting about Bihar is that when we
got there the situation had decidedly improved. Rajendrababu
had almost succeeded 1n formui.ting tenancy proposals which
met with the* approval of the samindars and also the sober
szction of Ryol representatives. He was c uite hopeful. Anugrah-
biba was full of se!f-confidence and the Premicr told Vallubh-
bhai that if only the Working Commuttee will support them
through thick and thin instead of censuring them at every step,
they will manage Bihar all right.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

PS. The man involved in Delhi case has been sentenced
today to six weehs.
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December 23, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAIL,

I have received your long letter of the 21st and have noted
the contents. C.F.A. did show me the slip in your handwriting
but it related only to the Andaman prisoners since the word
‘clemency’ was used. I have no doubt that it created the same
impression on the Governor also. 1 am sure—whatever may
have been the purpose—it meant only one thing and that is
that it related to the convicted prisoners and not to the detenus.
I don’t think I need approach the Governor again at this stage
unless Bapu desires me to do so. Perhaps the best course would
be to watch Bapu’s health for some time and then make
another approach to the Governor.

I note all about U.P. I don’t sympathise with Pantji in the
least. I fully understand the position and thcrefore you need
not bc so modest as to blame either your ignorance or poverty

of expression.
Yours affectionately,

Ghanshyamdas

SyT. MAHADEVBHAI DESAL
JANKI KUTIR
Junu
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Decembe.r 25, 1937

MY DFAR MAHADEVBHAI,
1 have succeeded in getting this appeal issued by the Poet.
As promised, you should now follow this up in the Harijan. 1f
Jawaharlalji also could be persuaded to say something, 1 think
it would have a tremendous effect. Could you make this request
to him on my behalf when he is in Bombay? I suppose he knows
what poisonous stuff is being put in the Press of Bengal
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nowadays. Specially the Am}nda Bazar Patrika, Hindustan
Standard and Star of India have no sense of decency. Amrita
Bazar Patrika is not too bad, but there is not onc paper about
which something good could be said. After Tagore’s appeal, if
the matter is followed up by you and Jawaharlalji, 1 think it
would have a tremendous effect. Over and above this, if you
could ask Sarat Babu also to say somethiyg, it will be very
good. I mysclf spoke to Him, but while he liked the idea, he
was a little cautious.

1 forgot to write to you about the loan to the A.I.S.A. I
had a led Bapu to get all the papers and the total assets on
which he wants the loan and the names of the guarantors. I can
then talk to the Directors of the Imperial Bank. But Jamnalalji
is there and 1 think he can himself talk to the Directors of the
Bank or to Sir Purshottamdas Thakurdas. So far as [ understand,
Jamnalalji and Bapu both want to be guarantors in which case
1 don’t sce any difliculty.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

76

December 28, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADF VBHAI,

I am sending you some cuttings. Two of them are from the
Statesman and the Hindustan Standard and both of them comment
on the Poet’s appeal. From the comn.~nts of the Hindustan
Standard you will be able to sec that the cap fits on it very well.
Haque’s speech is rather disturbing. The Muslims are taught
season in and season out that the Hindus are conspiring against
Islam in Bengal. These speeches are likely to create a very
alarming situation at some stage and I personally think that
Jawaharlalji should undertake a tour in Bengal. Ithink this
may improve the position to some extent. It 1s also necessary
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that the Harijan, Jawaharlalji 41d others should take up this
question of Press vilification in Bengal.
Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas
SyT. MAHADEVBHAI DESAI

77

December 30, 1937
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

The appeal of the Poct has not improved matters in the
least and any potential chance of improvement has been marred
by the outbursts of Fazlul Haque. 1 had asked the Governor to
influence Haque to kecp a check on his tongue and the Private
Secrctary sent for me today and explaincd how concerned the
Governor was over the mud-flinging on both sides. The
Governor is very cager to say somcthing publicly but he feels
that if he says anything at this stage, it would be interpreted as
applying only to his Prime Minister. Perhaps hc would say
something at a later stage. Meanwhile I am awaiting your own
comments on the Poet’s appeal and also your advice as to what
should be done in future. I had a talk with Sarat before he
left and he also liked the idea of issuing an appeal signed by
half a dozen prominent persons in Calcutta. What is wanted is
ceasing of the firc on both sides. Unfortunately those who are
opposing the present Government and trying to replace it with
a better one are resorting to communalism rather than criticis-
ing the actions of the Government. No distinction is made
between principles and personalities. The result of all this is
that Haque senses a conspiracy among the Hindus to overthrow
his ministry and now he is appcaling to the masses from the
communal platiform. In this intricate position a good deal of
patient and thoughtful action is necessary. I am not unhopeful
but the difficulty is that everybody is looking at the question
from his own point of view. If Sarat, Bidhan and others
strongly condemned the mentality of the Hindu Press and asked ]
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it to leave alone personalities, J think even Haque will have to
cease lalking nonsense. 1 will dwait your advice.
Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SYT. MAHADEVBHAI DESAI
BomBAY

78

December 31, 1937
MY DI AR MATIADEVBHALI, »
Laithwaite came to see me yesterday and I had a long talk
with him for nearly two hours. The detenus and the convicted
prisoners and the question of Federation were the chief topics.
He would convey the conversation to the Viceroy after which,
if it was necessary, I would be ashed to sce the Viceroy. About
the detenus and the convicted prisoners, 1 told him what
Andrews and 1 had already said to the Governor. Now that [
had your letter indicating Bapu’s views, 1 read the same to
Lathwaite and added that eve. belore Bapu came to Bengal,
releases must bagin and continue. In the absence of this policy
the public and the prisoners would beg - to get restive and if
the prisoners again resorted te hunger-strise, it would be very
embarrassing to all concerned and would also have a very
mjurious cffect on Bapu’s health which was equally a matter of
political importance. He agreed with me that Bapu’s health was
a matter of political importance and asked whether what
wanted was that trickles of release shot ¢ begin immediately
and continue so that the public would feel that the question was
not being ncglected. 1 affirmed. He pointed out to me that as
far as the Andaman prisoners were concerned, they were being
repatriated. He rcferred to Bapu’s telegram to Viceroy which he
received at the time of the reported hunger-strike and he said
that Bapu was informed about repatriation which would be
finished in four to six weeks’ time when the question of release
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would be considered. But I saﬁi that I was talking also about
the detenus who could be released immediately and he is going
to speak to the Viceroy, who, I think, will help. After I have
talked to the Viceroy, 1 would see the Governor again.

As regards Federation, I said that it was very essential that
immediately after Bapu recovered, the Viceroy should begin his
talks with him. If Federation was imposed without agreement,
it would have disastrous effects and I did not like delaying the
matter. On the other hand, 1 am hopeful about Bapu being
able to produce a solution. This will be conveyed to the
Viceroy.

Then we had a talk about the U.P. affairs. I pointed out to
him that when the Congress was doing its best to maintain
peace and non-violence, it was not fair that the Governor
should have interfered. Laithwaite’s point of view was that the
Governors have not been interfering anywherc but 1n this
particular case, Parmanand was preaching violence and it was
having a very bad effect on the soldiers at Dehradun. Pant was
again and again pressed but somechow or other, he neglected
the issue. Would it be advisable to give such a long rope to the
ministers as would in the end deteriorate the position to an
extent that maintcnance of law and order would becomc
impossible without the help of the military? He did not like
Kidwar’s speech in which he said that if the public did not
maintain non-violent atmosphere, they would have to resign.
If that was the attitude of the ministers, ther the Governor
would always be doubtful about the capacity of the ministers to
maintain non-violence. Would it be fair to the Governor, if the
ministers resigned after dcteriorating the position? Would it
not be the duty of the Governor under such circumstances to
always watch and see that thc situation did not unduly
deteriorate? I gave a better interpretation of Kidwai’s speech.
The ministers derived their powers from the electorate and if
the whole population wanted to 1evolt, the ministers would
have but onc alternative and thatis to tell the people, “Sincc
we do not carry your confidence, we resign, but not because of
any grievance against the Governor but because of your unruly
behaviour.” Kidwai’s spcech in my opinion was the correct
description of his own position and a wrong interpretation
should not have been put on it. He saw my point and yet
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argued that if the minsters bgcause of the fear of the electorate
neglected their duty towards maintenance of law and order,
then at some stage the Governor must come in. Laithwarte
although did not agree that the Governor of U P. had crossed
the limut, he entirely agreed that the ministers should be allowed
full frecdom even to makc mistakes. He was curious to find out
how was 1t that out of all the Congress provinces, it was only
U.P ,where there was shilly-shallymng with the violent elements.
He was full of praises about all other Congress provinces

Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas

SYT MAHADLVBHAI DESAI
BoMBAY
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M. K. GANDHI
WARDHA

120—G. MANY THANKS FOR YOUR MESSAGE WHICH 1 AM HAVING
REPEATED TO HUNGFR STRIKERS WITH REQUEST THAT THFY SHOULD
TELEGRAPIH REPLY 10 YOU.

VICEROY

80

Exchange of Telegrams Concevning Detenus of Andamans

MAHADEV DESAI WIRLS:

IT WILL BE REMEMBERED THAT WHEN GANDHUI RICEIVED
TELEGRAM 1ROM HOML SLCRETARY DATED THIRTYFIRSI AUGUST
ANNOUNCING THAT HUNGER STRIKIRS AT ANDAMANS HAD SUSPIN-
DED THEIR HUNGER STRIKE THERL WAS NO REFERENCL IN IT TO
SEVEN WHO ACCORDING TO TELEGRAM FROM ANDAMANS WLRE
CONTINUING THEIR HUNGER STRIKF. GANDHIJI FURTHER PURSUED
MATTER. HE GOT RLPLY FROM HOMF DLPARTMLNT CONVLYING
SEVEN PRISONIRS’ MLSSAGL TO GANDHIL. SINCL THEN THERI AS
BIEN TIURTHtR TLLEGRAPHIC C(OMMUNICATION WITH SLVIN
TRIENDS WHO HAVE FINALLY DECLAREID THEIR RLSOLVE TO GO ON
WITH HUNGER STRIKF THIS DECISION HAS PAINED GANDHUI
DEULPLY. IN GIVING PERMISSION TO RELFASE WHOLE OF THIS COR-
RESPONDENCE HE MADF FOLLOWING STATFMENT TO PRLSS: ‘‘I HELD
BACK THESE TELFGRAMS IN HOPL OF BEING ABLE TO ANNOUNCEL
CHFERIUL NEWS THAT SLVEN PRISONERS HAD BROKLEN IAST ON MY
ACCEPTANCE OF THEIR MEANING OF WORD RELIEF., I AM SORRY
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THAT I HAVE FAILED IN My ATTEMPT. I CAN ONLY HOPE THAT
THOSE WHO MAY BE SPECIAL FRIENDS OF THESE PRISONERS WILL
PERSUADE THEM TO BREAK FAST WHICH ALONE GIVE PUBLIC TIME
TO CONSOLIDATE ITS EFFORT TO SECURE THE VERY RELIEF FOR
WHICH THEY ARE GIVING UP THEIR PRECIOUS LIVES. I WOULD
ALSO APPEAL TO AUTHORITIES WHOEVER THEY MAY BE TO RELENT
AND DISCHARGE PRISONERS IF THEY WILL NOT GIVE UP THEIR -
FAST EVEN AS I WAS DISCHARGED AND LEFT TO MY OWN RESOUR-
CES WHEN I WOULD NOT GIVE UP MY FAST IN 1933.”

HERE 1S TEXT OF TELEGRAPHIC CORRESPONDENCLE—TELEGRAM
FROM HOML SECRETARY SIMLA DATED SECOND SEPTEMBER TO
GANDHIJI: “NO. ¥ 5 JAILS. THE SEVEN PRISONERS IN THE ANDAMANS
WHO ARE ‘““‘CONTINUING HUNGER STRIKE SEND YOU FOLLOWING
MESSAGE: ‘THANKS FOR YOUR TELEGRAM REGARDING TERRORISM.
WE DECLARE IT WILL HARM RATHER THAN HELP THE CAUSE OF
COUNTRY. WL TAKE THIS OPPORTUNITY TO CONVEY THROUGH YOU
QUR APPEAL TO ALL SUFFERERS IN JAILS AND DETENTION CAMPS
AND TO ALL ORGANISATIONS IF THERE BE ANY WHO STILL BELIEVE
TO ATTAIN INDEPENDENCE OF INDIA THROUGH TERRORISM TO GIVE
I'T UP ONCE FOR ALL. WL FURTHER REQUEST YOU TO CLARIFY WHAT
YOU MEAN BY RELICF CAN ONLY MEAN RELEASE OF ALL POLITICAL
PRISONLRS? DETENUS STATE PRISONERS INTERNEES REMOVAL OF
BAN ON LXILES AND REPEAL OF ALL REPRESSIVE LAWS. I¥ WE GET
ASSURANCL FROM YOU ON THESE QUESTIONS WE CAN SUSPEND
HUNGER STRIKE.” TELEGRAM ThL' REIN MENTIONED IS YOUR MESSAGE
OF AUGUST TWENTYSEVENTH. YOUR MESSAGE OF AUGUST THIRTIETH
HAD BY THEN NOT BEEN DLLIVERED—H® {E.”

GANDHUJI’S TELLGRAM TO HOME SECRT TARY SIMLA DATED THIRD
SEPTEMBER: ““THANKS YOUR TELEGRAM WHICH DISPATCHED YESTER~
DAY TWO THIRTY WAS RECEIVED ONLY AFTER SEVEN TODAY. PLEASE
WIRE SEVEN PRISONERS: ‘DEEPLY ARPRECIATE MLSSAGE WHICH IS
HELPING ME GREATLY. ACHIEVE COMMON OBJE/T 1 PERSONALLY
ACCEPT YOUR INTERPRETATION OF RELIEF AND PROMISE TO WORK
FOR FULL FRUITION WITH ACTIVE CO-GOPERATION OF PRISONER
FRIENDS. URGE YOU THEREFORE ABANDON FAST AND SEND ME
HAPPY NEWS’—GANDHL"”’

GANDHII'S TELEGRAM TO ANDAMANS PORT BLAIR DATED
SEPTEMBER EIGHTH: ‘“REFERENCE MY MESSAGE ADDRESSED SEVEN
PRISONERS AWAITING ANXIOUSLY THEIR REPLY. IS HUNGER STRIKE
STILL CONTINUING? IF IT IS PLEASE TELL THEM MY ENDEAVOUR
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BEING FRUSTRATED TILL THEY BREAE FAST—GANDHI.”

REPLY FROM ANDAMANS DATED TENTH SEPTEMBER: “6118. YOUR
TELEGRAM DELIVERED YESTERDAY. HUNGER STRIKERS OF RELIEF
DECLINE TO SUSPEND STRIKE—ANDAMANS.” TELEGRAM FROM
GANDHIJI TO ANDAMANS PORT BLAIR DATED ELEVENTH SEPTEMBIR:
““TITANKS WIRE. PLEASE TELL STRIKERS DEEPLY IIURT AT YOUR
RFFUSAL. SUSPEND STRIKE. YOUR TELEGRAM SLEMED ASSURE ME OF
SUSPENSION IF 1 ACCEPTED YOUR INTERPRETATION NF TERM ‘RLLIEE".
PLEASE LND NATIONAL ANXIETY BY SUSPENDING STRIKL AND GIVE
WORKERS LIKE ME OPPORTUNITY OF SECURING RELIEF—GANDIIL.”’

REPLY TROM ANDAMANS DATED FOURTEENTH SEPTEMBER: ““6214.
YOUR TELEGRAM OF SEPTEMBER ELEVENTH RECLIVED ON TWELFTII
AND DELIVERED ON THIRTEENTH TO HUNGER STRIKERS WHO 1
REGRET DECLINE ACCEPT YOUR ADVICF SESPLND STRIKE.—

ANDAMANS.”



1938






January 3, 1938
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

Talking about Federation, Jawaharlalji'told Lothian that on
this question, there would be a split in the Congress from top
to bottom. He is all for Constituent Assembly and not pre-
pared to make any compromise at present. This is just for
Bapu's information.

Another important thing that I heard 15 that although under
the Government of Irdia Act, military js outside the scope of
the minister some provision only through convention may be
madc under which the minister would get a kind of 1eSponsibi-
nty. The British public, 1t is expected, will agree to such a
position because on account of the international complications
and specially the Japanese aggression in China, it is felt that
the British Commonwcalth is facing a serious crisis and it would
not be thought desirable, if thc minister had no responsibility
about the defence of India. 1 wonder whether Bapu is aware of
the fact that the Instrument of Insiructions with reference to
Federation has not yet been passed by the Parbament and what
is lacking in the Act perhaps .may be made up through the
Instrument of Instructions, if therc was an agreement.

Yours sincerely,
Ghaunshyamdas
SyT. MAUADLVBHAI DESAL
BomBAy

MAGANWADI,
WarpHA (C. P.),
Januaiy 9, 1938

MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,
1 owe several letters to vou but I didn’t want to write to
you without having had a full talk witb Bapuji, which T could
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do only this evening on our arriwal here. The last two days in
Juhu were very strenuous indeed, what with the talks with some
of the members of the Working Committee, and with the conti-
nuous stream of visitors who simply would not be turned away,
because we were leaving unexpectedly. I, therefore, preferred
not to add to the strain in any way.

I shall take up first the question of purifying the atmosphcre
corrupted and poisoned by irresponsible newspapers. When I
endorscd the Poet's appeal to the Press, the ministerial ravings
were not before me, otherwise I should have written an article
dealing with both the Press and the ministers. Bapu likes your
suggestion of issuing a manifesto signed by several leaders,
Hindus as well as Muslims: if you cannot get many Muslims,
only the Maulana’s signaturc should be quitc enough. Perhaps
a much better thing than the manifesto would be for you to ask
the Maulana to sce Fazlul Haque, and get him to withdraw all
that he had said and to express regret for it. Perhaps Bidhan
Babu might also be helpful in this direction.

Of course, Lord Brabourne cannot say anything publicly,
but it should be easy for him, as it is possible for the Govern-
ment to prosecute an offending newspaper, it is not possible to
prosccute an offending minister. He, should also tell him frank-
ly that if a responsiblc minister behaves in such an irresponsible
manner, he as Governor might ultimately be compelled to usc
his special powers, for he is under the Act responsible to pre-
vent anyone from promoting class conflict and fomenting com-
munal trouble.

There is another thing that the Governor may well do. He
may not publicly criticise the Press as hc cannot criticise the
ministers, but he can certainly appeal to the lcaders of public
opinion to help in purifying the atmosphere, especially on the
ground, that as Law and Order were entirely a concern of the
ministers, he as Governor could not criticise the Press. He may
not summon the editors, nor ask them personally to refrain
from their campaign of vilification, but he can certainly ask
public leaders like, for instance, Sarat Bose to help in purifying
the atmosphere. In a general way perhaps he may talk publicly
about the conditions essential for maintaining the growth of a
healthy public opinion.

Bapu has had two fairly long and satisfactory talks with
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Sarat Babu, and T dare say he has told you all about it Tt is
better, says Bapu, that youthave the whole account from him,
as well as his reacuon to what Bapu has said, than that I write
anything about 1t Bapu was very favourably impressed with the
talk with him, and he feels that Sarat Babu will wholc-heartedly
co-operate in bringing about peace lle would urge you very
strongly to develop close contact with him, 1n order to secure
ful] co-operition B.fere he can think f ‘calling Bidhan Roy
ot Nalini Bibu, he sugzsts your comine hoxe The most suit-
able date would be bztweew the 1Sth and ?'nd Iord lothian
15 ¢ beeted on the 15th and Bapu varis to have complete 108t
untd then, 1in osdet to be ble to 1 ve sitisfactory ta'hs wiin
him He 1, not luey toengiye him lor morc (b ntvo dove
Having had a coup'e of days’ 10 pif, olter the talk with Lodnan
he would Iike to hive vou Anyth 1e mote definute than this, 1
cannot sm .

The doctors were vay keen on s contiuung the res at
Tuhu until the end of this my~th but ~ w.i gctine very up-
ey, and he sand that he cou'd nct dunk of mecting Lord
Lothian anywherce ¢veept b s o popatu ' cavirorment To thas
there w s no answer—thet* coul + b noae

You wete nght m st cking up for K1l 2w vour tilk with
T uthy atte But whil ¢ vour mnterpretit 2 of kilwu’ sneech
was cottecy Wittt Lanth sate cad vy also G A 1e ponsible
mm-eter canndet 1un a4 &y lromohis responsil s e has
catuny thee nght t resizn but o muse make o absolutody
clear that he 1cagns now because he s o g any trouble with
the Governot, but bocwuse the Clectorawe whom M2 1s supposed
to lcad 15 tiving to leal hum Under thaw condition it 1s not
possibie for him to sunve tham

What vor suv about the latrument ¢ 1 Iy structior s 15 very
interesting but Bapu fears that thero s at the proser' moment
no chinee of an agrecment thouah he cn spending most
of hts ime m bed his mind has been active ind he knows what
to say to Lotd Lothian I have nuvel troubled him about this,
and do not propose to do so until after [othian has had his
talks with Bapu

Satpagandha has been cvidently domng much good, but
Bapu’s systum has become <o senstne that the shightest strain
makes 1tsell felt, sarpagandha or nosarparindha The Working



142 BAPU—A Unique Association

Committec members spared him this timc as much as possible.
In fact, with the exception of the Maulana, who talked about
the Hindu-Muslim unity, no one engaged him in serious con-
versation. One day they simply sat for about an hour, talking
about nothing serious and joking and laughing. Bapu was not
talking at all, and yet the strain of listening to these people
was enough to scnd the pressure up to something like 30
points. Thinking however intensc do2s not matter, it is only
talking and listening that prove a great strain.

He stood the journey well. The pressure taken a little before
we got our at Wardha was 186 and 1006, In the afternoon, when
I saw him after he had had some four hours sleep, it had come
down to 150 and 90 which was good.

Yours,
Mahadev

January 11, 1938
MY DLAR MAHADEVRBHAI,
Atlast I reccived a letter from you, and I am glad that
you wrotc everything so clearly. N
Things here arc not at all hopeful. The Press is a bit quiet
these days and the munisters too have not spoken, but of course
the credit for thc silence ol the ministers 1s not due to their
own self-restraint but because of pressure fiom above. What
you wanted the Governor to talk to Fazlul Haque has already
been done. My information 1s that the Viceroy and the Gover-
nor both have spoken to him and this has had its effect. This
is not a mere gossip. But with regard to the Press I am not all
hopeful. At one time, I told Bapu that through his personal
intervention party faction as well as the poisonous writings of
the Press could be stopped. But having gone into the things
more deeply, 1 confess that the position is much worse than
what I had thought it to be, Bapu may succeed and yet he may
not. But none else could. When Bapu wrote to Sarat Babu
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about the writings of the Press before the latter went to
Bombay, 1 am told that the p.oprictors of the papers concern-
ed when they heard of this they simply got furious with Bapu.
And then came the appeal of the Poet, and it was talked in the
circles concerned with great resentment that I should have
persuaded the Poet for issuing that appeal. It was even allcged
that I paid the Poet a good sum of getting that appeal issued.
You,can well imagine what is possible 1n such dirty atmos-
phere. You have written in your letter about the desirability
of issuing an appeal signed by Hindus and Muslims alike. |
do not know how far this will appeal to Sarat Babu. [ had
spoken to him beforc he left for Bombay but the idea did not
appeal to him much.

He preferred to talh with the Press people and I under-
stood that he is now inviting a small Press conference on the
next Saturday. T do not know what will be the result; but lct
us hope for the best. No body wants to be in the bad book
of the Press, and so the things are continuing as they are. Yet
I am strongly in favour of such an appeal being issued and I
will try to persuade Sarat Babu to agree to my views.

Sarat Babu is here for the last four or five days. T have
been trying to get him but have failed so tar. He will perhaps
write to me when we could meet, and whenever he wants me
1 will put myself at his disposal. You do not inention what
talk he had with Bapu put perhaps he would tell me all what
took place at «Juhu and then I will what further progress we
can make.

About my comung to Wardha, I note what you say. Pio-
visionally just now I am fixing to reach Wardha between the
23rd and the end of this month. Nalini would be in Declhi busy
with the l'mance Conference unul the 22nd of this month.
After that he too can come. My own suggestion 15 that we nced
not come separately, we can all come . _cther and 1 have a
talk first and then Dr. Roy and Nalini can join. But it would be
wrong on my part if I do not confess at this stage that 1 have
already begunto feel a Dhttle pessimistic about the position.
1 hear some pcople are strongly resenting my dabb'ing into
these affairs which shows that the atmosphere is much more
poisonous than what we had all estimated. In any case, 1
hope you approve of the dates on which Iand others wish
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to go. Please write to me if you wish me to change the pro-
gramme. Y

In one of your paragraphs referring to the question of
Fedcration you say that Bapu fears that there is at the present
moment no change of an agreement.

1 wonder why he says this. The international situation is
changing so rapaidly and is gctting so complicated that if therc
was at any time a chance of an agreement, in my opinion, it is
now. But the chicf difficulty still seems to be the Hindu-Muslim
qucstion, which is getting worse and worse. Jinnah’s reply to
Jawaharlalji’s interview was very bitter in my opinion. Per-
haps the best course would be to keep quiet and do nothing. 1
wonder why it should not bz possible to have two Federations,
onc of Muslims and another of Hindus. The Muslim Federa-
tion may be composed of all the provinces or portion of the
provinces which contain morc than two-thirds Muslim popu-
lation and the Indian states like Kashmir which is composed
of Mussalmans. Another Federation may be of Hindus and
such states as arc composed of Hindus. In this case at Jeast
we will have been spared a civil war, becaunse I fear if anything
is going to check our progress, it is the Hindu-Muslim ques-
tion—not the Englishman, but ou ' own internal quarrels.

T will write to you again after 1 have a talk with Sarat
Babu.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

MAHADLVBHAI Drsar1, Esq.
Junu

CALCUTTA,
January 12, 1938

MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,
Sarat Babu saw me last cvening. I had had a good talk but
I do not think I could find out exactly what Bapu told him. He
said to me that Bapu did not agree with him on the point of
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mposing any condition on Nalini. All the same he thought he
should be porsuaded to come back to the Congress fold, and
if he does not come, then he will put himself in the wrong.
After talking this, he asked my advice whether he should
begin a talk on these lines, to which I said the best course
would be for Bapu himself to talk to Dr. Roy and Nalini
when both of them went to see him. He also approved of this
deasand therefore the matter now is left for Bapu’s personal
discussion

Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas

MAHADEVBHAT Disar, [so.
C/o MAHATMA GANDHI
Jank1 KiTIR

Junv, BoMBAY

5

For Lord Lothian and Responsible Statesmen Only

SFGAON,
WarpHA (C.P.),
January 20 1938

My ambition is to see the Congress recognised as the one
and only party that can successfully resist the Government and
deliver goods. 1t is the only party which, from “ts inception,
has represented all minonties.

If the British Government recognise th.  umque position of
the Congress they will not hesitate to postpone inauguration
of the Federation till they have satisfied the Congress. It should
not be difficult tn do so if, before taking 1n the princes. elemen-
tary nights of the states p. cple arc guranteed ana .th.eir
representation takes place through election. In my opinion
a crisis of the first magnitude may be precipitated, if Federation
is sought to be imposed,



146 BAPU—A Unigue Association

The opposition, to the Act will still remain even if the
present difficulty is got over in the manner suggested. Peace
humanly speaking can only be assured when a constitution
drawn up by a Constituent Assembly supplants the present Act.
Anyhow once the right status of the Congress is fully recognis-
ed the rest becomes easy.

This is my persenal view which I have not discussed with

any of my co-workers,
M.K. Gandhi

January 26, 1938
MY DFAR MAHADEVBHAI,

This is what the Hindustan Standard writes about the visit
of Nalini to Wardha. I am meeting Subhas and Sarat this
afternoon, and will write to you tomorrow again.

There is one thing with regard to the position of the Con-
gress ministers to which I wish to draw the attention of Bapu.
Although the ministers have not said so, but the Congressmen
at various places in their speeches specially with reference to
the release of political prisoners have said that the Congress
ministers have not full power to make such releases. In fact
Dr. Gopi Chand to whom when it was pointed out by the
Punjab Premier that even the Congress minsters have not
released all the political prisoners, replied that the Congress
ministers had admitted that they had no power to do so but
the Punjab Premier, as he had not made such an admission,
should be in a position to release. Apart from the weakness of
this argument it does not enhance our prestige to say that we
are merely puppets of the Governors and as we have no power,
we cannot do much. The question arises if we cannot do much,
why are we in at all? Of course, nothing of the kind has so
far been said by our ministers, but if we repeat again and
again that we are puppets, then we simply establish a con-
vention of puppetism. Nothing could be more damaging, in
my mind than this. Rajaji was really dignified when he said in
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Delhi that there was no interference by the Governor and that
the service was giving him the best co-operation. It is only
with such attitude that we can establish the convention that we

desire to do.
Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas
M ARADE VBHAI Drsa1, Esq.
C/o MAHRATMA GANDHI
SLGAON
WarbHA (C.P.)
7
CALCUTTA,

January 28, 1938
MY DI AR MAIIADI VBHAI,

We had a number of talks. The first talk was in a joint con-
ference with Sarat Babu, Subhas Babu, Nalini, Dr. Roy and
myself. Lot of heat was generated on both sides. *“No co-opera-
tion was possible with Nalini. He had betrayed the Congress. [
can give up the personal grudge but I cannot have any social
relations with Kim until he resigns from the munistty.” This was
the gist of Subhas Babu’s eapression. Nalini too gave some
thrusts. We adjourned the meeting, and 1t was arranged that
first of all Bidhan should have a chat with Subhas, and then
eventually Nalini should have a quiet chat with Subhas alone; in
between | arranged some mutual fiiends to talk to Subhas Babu
alone. The result was that the icc was broken and .t began to
melt, and this morning when 1 had my f« . talk with Subhas, 1
found that the situation had very much changed. “Sincc Nalini
Babu wants to return to the Congress fold at some stage or
other’’ said Subhas, I am prepared to foiget the past and give
him a chance and I will try to cultivate good relations and will
help him as far as I can with lis ministerial work.”” T think you
cannot expect more than this. Everyone will be writing to you
about this question including Nahni, Rey and Subhas Subhas of
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course will simply send a wire. But it has been very satisfactory
and it has caused a flutter in the dovecots of the mischief mon-
gers. There is a party here which wants only internal quarrels,
but I suppose they will not succeed and when Bapu comes here
and once he gives the finishing touch, I think it would be pos-
sible to take up the next step, that is, a conciliation between the
Hindus and Muslims and even therc I am not at all unhopcful.
: Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

MAHADFVBHAI DEsAl, Esq.
C/o Manat™MA GANDHI
SEGAON

WARDHA

February 7. 1938
MY DEAR MAHADEVBIIAI,

1 hope the strain of the Working Committee did not in any
way have any injurious effect on the health of Bapu.

I met the Viceroy this morning. Bapu’s formula about the
Federation was given to the Viceroy by Lord 1'othian; but the
Viceroy does not sce under authority he can persuade the
princes to accept democratic election to the Federation, although
he fully sympathises with the object. The constitution provides
nomination and nothing prevents a prince to adopt election. |
pointed out to him the reported speech of Sir C.P. in which
he lay the whole responsibility on the paramount power with
which the Viceroy did not at all agree. The British authorities
arc not at all against the introduction of democracy 1n the states,
but at the same time the paramount power cannot compel the
States to take any progressive step. Already the Princes are
reluctant to join the Federation. He did not so far discuss the
matter personally with the Princes because it may be interpreted
as bringing unduc influence on them. But if he begins to talk
of their representation through clection the word will go round
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to all'of them that the Viceroy was using undue influence. He is,
therefore, rather puzzled at Bapu’s suggestion. He added that as
1t was the Federation was getting difficult of realisation, but 1if 1t
was desired to have a fedcration of only democratic units then,
he said, one may have to wait as twenty years It 18 no use pin-
ning your eyes on Travancoie, Mysorc and Cochin There are
number of backward states, and would they ever agree to the
mtroduction of democracy”.He feels as if the talk 1s something
beyond him. This seems to the reaction here

Yours sinccrely

Ghanshyamaas

MauADEVBUAI DLsal, EsQ.
S1GAON
W ARDHA

Confrdential
Febiuary 20, 1938
M) DLAR BAPL,

When T met the Viceroy t« Jiscuss the question of Federa-
tion 1 had also discussed the question of the political prisonets.
In tact, on my way to Delhi [ had dror sed at Lucknow and had
discussed the question at length with P.aty and smmediately oa
my arrival here T put forward the views of Pantp before the
Viceroy All the argument, that have been advanced by Panty
now 1n his statement were then put before the Viceroy I told
him that Pantji knew that the interference was v« ming from the
Viceroy. He could argue out with the m 1w on the spot but how
could hc convince the Viceroy who was ~itting at a great dis-
tance from him T added on my own behalf that he should help
Panty rather than interfere on the basts of exaggerated report
that he got through his mulitary C.ILL., about which Panty
has made reference 1n his private conversation with me The
Viceroy took copious notes of all that I had saia although he
discussed at length various other questions including the question
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of the Federation and was very warm and cordial yet in réspect
of the political prisoners he only szid: ““You have given me Pant’s
message very clcary and faithfully. Write to Pant now to leave
the matter to me.” It was obvious that he did not want to dis-
cuss this question further and so I left the matter at that. Bapu
1 was not quite sure whether his reply was helpful or unhclpful.
He was suflering from a bad chill that day. Afier that I left for
Pilani. When 1 heard that the two Governments have resigned
1 immediately returned to Delhi and saw Laithwaite.

I found him in a very depressing mood. There was no doubt
that a gloom was cast over the Viceroy’s housc. He assured me
that there was no desire on the part of the Viceroy to create a
crisis There was no hostility. The Viceroy insisted on individual
cxamination and he did not like the principle of indiscriminate
release. Of course Pantji has alrcady replied to this point in his
statement, but this was the stand that the Viceroy took. I could
sec that it was fully realised that a blunder was made. I could
also sce that the crisis was neither intended nor anticipated by
them. And then we discussed at length now a way could be
found out of the cxisting impassc. The formula that found favour
was this:

(1) Relcase to be made on their own merits after examin-
ing individual cases;

(2) there should be no vindicliveiness; on the other hand
every case should be analysed very sympathetically;

(3) past of the prisoners, however bad it may have been,
should be considered only in relation to the future main-
tenance of law and order;

(4) there should be some arrangement under which the
released prisoners would not crcate difficulties in another
non-Congress province by preaching violence, etc. 1t was
assumed that almost all the prisoners would be relcased
under this formula. But I suggested in case there was a hitch
the final decision should be left to Gandhiji as it was done
in the casc of Bengal detenus. Laithwaite liked this sugges-
tion and he promised to convey the whole thing to the
Viceroy. I sent wirc to Mahadevbhai the same day with
Laithwaite’s consent that the Government was not at all
anxious to force a crisis. I had asked for acknowledgment of
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tHat telegram because I feared that it might fail to reach its
destination in such a Rig crowd and as I have not yet re-
ceived any acknowledgment, 1 do not know whether he got
my telegram at all.

However, the conversation was to be resumed yesterday, but
Laithwaite informed me on the phone that the Viceroy would
like to see the Working Committee’s rosolation before we re-
sumed the conversation. And so the conversation was resumed to-
day after the Working Committee’s resolution was out. Immedia-
telvon my entering his room he said that he was really very
much relieved. The resolution of the Working Commuttce was
extremely favourable and he said that the Viceroyin 2/3 days’
time will make a stateniznt. He will take his stand 1n that state-
ment on the principle of individual examination. He would say
that he had no desire to torpedoe the Congress Govarnments.
There was no animosity. In fact, he wanted to help. He would
admit in that statcment that law und order was the province of
the ministers and he had not the slightest desire to interfere. He
was against not relcases as such, but against indiscriminate
releases. And then he would make some kind of appeal. The
ministers are yet Governors’ ministers and the next step would
be that the ministers and the Governors would talk over the
matter between themselves and begin to release the prisoners.
This is the expectation.

I pointed out to him that personally 1 did not mind by what
process they were released, whether 1t was through a process of
‘indiscriminate release” or through individual examination,
but not a single person should be left inside. He told me that
he could say only this much that there would be no desire to
kecp them in. Then 1 added: **supposing thete was a hitch over
onc or two men, Gandhiji’s help should be eniirted just as it was
done in the case of Bengal. He pro «sionally approved of this
idea and would put the same to H. E. But the impression that
he has left on my mind is distinctly this that through individual
examunation there would not be any further difficulties.

It was rather a painful experience to me, but all the same
I must admit that the Viceroy made a blunder in this matter.
The Viceroy according to my estimate is a very shrewd and cap-
able man, but his one defect is that he lives 1n his own atmos-
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phere, seeks the advice of very few people and takes his own
decision. He did not realise untif the mischief was done that a
blunder was committed. His action was disapproved by Indians,
Europcans and officials alike. The rumour in Delhi is that even
the Secretary of State when he heard of this felt simply astounded
and thercforc there was a genuine unhappiness in the Viceroy's
house which is today cast off on account of your statement and
the Working Committee’s resolution which is again your own
draft. They are again cheerful.

I am leaving tomorrow for Pilani. When the Vicsroy’s state-
ment is out, from what 1 have heard, 1 feel you would like it,
but if there be anything that you do not approve I would sug-
gest that you should take up the question directly with the
Viceroy. 1 can assurc you this much that not only there is no
desire to force a crisis but there is a genuine desire to sce the
constitution works smoothly. Nobody has congratulated the
Viceroy for this blunder and I very much sympathise with him
for having put himself in this stupid position. If Pantji is there
I suppose you would show this letter to him.

Yours affectionately,
Ghanshyamdas

MAHATMA M. K. GANDHUI

10

February 25, 1938
PUJYA BAPU,

When I reccived your telegram at Pilani instructing me to
return to Delhi immediately 1 felt rather upset fearing that
perhaps you had disapproved of some of my actions in con-
nection with these negotiations.

Dcvdas missed the train and so he reached there yesterday
evening instead of day before yesterday. All this time T was in
dark about the contents of your message and so had to take
such action as independently I thought to be the best under the
circumstances and now I will reiate them at some lcngth.
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On" my way to Delhi I purchased a copy of The Hindustan
Times and then for the first time lcarnt that the Viceroy’s
statement was out. I read it twice and 1 felt defimtely disap-
pointed about 1it. I had «xpected something much better. But
knowing as I do the Viceroy, I realised that, if it was lacking
in certain respects, it was not deliberate. I immediately wrote
out my reactions on the statement and sent the same to the
Vicgoy. I am sending you a copy of 1t. 1his was done before 1
got your message or even before 1 saw your interview. From
this you will be able to ~ec that although I have put my views
in my own way, the apprehension entertained by you about my
views on individual examination was due to musunderstanding.

Then yesterday morming § recenved a telephone call from
Pantji. He expressed hi. disappointment over the Viceroy's
statement which T mysclf shared. But I told him that now the
best course for him was to tackle his own Gowverndr. The
statement of the Viceroy whether good or bad had already been
isued and what was lacking m 1t could bc made up by the
Governor. 1 also promised to get a helpful mstruction sent to
the Governor by the Viceroy. Puntyi saw the Governor at about
12 o’clock yesterday and we had a further talk on the phone
at 1.45 p.m. He told me that he did not anticipatc any difficulty
as regards the rclcase of the prisoners. But the most vital
principle was at stake. Who was to examine the individual
cases? Was it the Governor or w.¢ nunster ? 1 advised him to
take his stand gn the Viceroy’s previous statement and also the
statement by the Secretary of State 1>su.  before the acceptance
of office. He said he was thinking o. writing 1 letter to the
Governor putting forward hi, views and asking the Governo:
to reply to hus letter categorically T advised lum that nstead of
writing letters abruptly the better course would be to have full
discusston and then have cachange of letters ou prearranged
lines. He hiked the idea and he said he wo ' Y act upon 1t. Later
I mel Laithwaite, a tesume of which I am sending herewith.

On returning to my housc I phoned to Pantji and gave him
the puzport of my conver.ation with Laithwaite. Pantji asked
me to send the purport of my falk with Laithwaite through a
special messanger. He also told me that Shreehrishna Babu will
not take any action until Pantji had settled the matter. I
accordingly sent a detailed letter to Pantji about my work here
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and this morning he phoned back to me. He had made ‘certain
changes in the draft which now reads as follows:

I had a full discussion with H.E. the Governor about the
present situation and recent development. 1 am in a posi-
tion to announce that we have been able to arrive at an
agreed conclusion and we are accordingly resuming normal
duties. The cases of certain prisoners classified as political
have been individually examined and the Governor will be
issuing orders on the advice tendered to him by his ministers
to remit the unexpected portion of the sentence in cach case
under Section 401 of the Criminal Procedure Code and to
order relcase of such prisoners. The cases of the remaining
prisoners arc being individually examined by the munisters
concerned and appropriate orders will be passed by the
Governor in a short time on the advice of his ministers.

I had a long discussion with the Governor on our mutual
relations also that is the relations between responsible
ministers and the Governor. We discussed the recent state-
ment of His Excellency the Viceroy along with the views of
Mahatma Gandhi on it and also the resolution passed at
Haripura about the resignation of ministers and the previous
statemcnt made by His Excellency the Viceroy last summer.
1 am glad to say that 1 have no reason to fear any usurpa-
tion of the legitimate functions of the responsiblec ministers.
In fact, we both desire to establish healthy conventions and
we both hope that with the goodwill of both the sides we
may succced.

1 transmitted this draft to Laithwaite this morning by
phonc. He approved of it and at my request transmitted the
same to the Governor. He also informed me that the Governor
would be quite sympathetic and that they had talked on phone
the previous night, when the Governor was informed of my
conversation with Laithwaite.

Pantji saw the Governor this morning at 11.30 and he
returncd at 12 o’ clock and phoned me again. He said there was
no difficulty about the prisoners or about the question as to
who was going to examine the individual cases. But Pantji
asked for an assurance that there would be no interference in
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future. To this Haig replied that this will lcad the question
back to the pre-office acccptance days. Pantji wantcd a definite
assurance that special responsibilities would ncver be used.
Pantji told me on the phonc that he personally thought that so
far as the practical issue was conccerned there was no difficulty.
But on constitutional matters, he said, he could not get any
assurance and he sought my opinion. I told Pantji that 1 had
not read Bapu's statement in the way that he was interpreting.
The Congress accepted office knowing fully well that there were
special responsibilities, but they were assured in certain manners
by the Governor-Gencral and the Secretary of State which made
them conclude that there would be no nterference in the day-to-
day admunistration. In my opinion neither the Viceroy nor the
Governor could go back on the statements already made and he
should ask lugh point blank whether he wanted Lo go back on
the previous statements. On the other hand I told Pantji that
If he insisted that definite assurance should be given in respect
of special responsibilities then 1t would not be possible for him
to get such assurances and the blame for the crisis would fall
on us. It would be saird that the Congress did want a crisis—in
fact in certain quarters it is already suggested that the whole
crisis has bzen engineered by the new President—and that the
question of prisoners was a mere pretext. I also pointed out
that on the other hand it Pantji issucd a statement on the Imnes
of the draft that [ had suggested with the full consent of the
Governor and if that statement was followed by release it will
very much strengthen the position of the Congress. The fact
that there was a crisis on the question of release and that the
crisis was hecaled up by the Governors’ agreeing to accept the
advice of their ministers—advice given after individual examina-
tion by the mimsters themselves—will go a long way to csta-
blish a very strong convention in our favour. But of couise we
have always the constitutional right to resign if at any time we
felt that again there was interference in the legitimate functions
of ministers. The fact that a statement is being issued with the
consent of the Governor would become a sort of agreement
against undue interference. Panty said that he himsell agreed
with what [ said, but he was not guite sure how bapu would
like his action. 1 said that personally 1 did not scc how Bapu
could dislike it, but after all 1 said that he must satisfy his own
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mind and if he felt satisficd then he must act accordingly. I
also suggested that he may phong to Mahadevbhai at Wardha
and have a talk with him if he felt any doubt. Pantji said this
would prolong the matter and he was alrcady getting tired of
it. I therefore on my own responsibility advised Pantji to make
my draft the basis of an agreement and issue the same with
the Governor’s consent. I thought that was quite sufficient and
Devdas too agrecd ‘with me. After this I again met Laithwaite.
. . . ‘.
He too had reccived the message of Haig. Haig was surprised
that Pantji started discussing thosc very questions with him
which were discussed before the acceptance of office and were
disposed of. Laithwaite said that the draft that I had given to
Pantji might bc made the basis for discussion and that an
agreed statement on behalf of the Governor and his munisters
may be issucd on these lincs.

On coming back to my house I again phoned to Pantji and
told him to put categorical questions to the Governor as to
whether he would be prepared to make maximum effort to
leave the minister free to act in his own sphere and then put
the draft before him and so he promised to discuss the question
with the Governor on these lines.

I understand after this Pantji talked to Vallabhbhai who
also approved of this plan. The result was that at about 4 p.m.
I got a message from Pantji that hc had finally settled the
matter and was issuing a statement which you have alrcady
seen. 1 think all this will give ycu a correct idea as to how 1
have procceded.

Now with reference to your letter, there arc two points on
which you havc differed from me. One 1s about the cisamina-
tion of individual cases. Hcre I fear you have misunderstood
me because as you will see from my note to the Viceroy and
every subsequent step [ have taken that my stand has been that
it is the minister who will cxamine the cascs. As regards the
sccond point about leaving the matter on you if there was any
hitch the question now 1is not of any importance since all the
prisoners would be released. But when I made the suggestion [
thought that I was creating a very good precedent. If the ques-
tion of convicted prisoners in Bihar and U.P. could bz left to
you I thought the same could also be done in respcct of Bengal
and the Punjab prisoncrs. But now the question is no longer
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relevant. I will write to Mahadevbhai from Pilani in reply to
his letter.

I wish to diaw your attention to the enclosed cutting. If
Subhas Babu will not speak with greater restrain, I fear he will
make your task in Bengal more difficult.

Yours affectionately,
Ghanshyamdas

MasaTMA M, K. GANDHIJI
WARDHA

1

WARDHA,
March 14, 1938
MY DCAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

Your long letter was duly received but as you said thercin
that you were writing in reply to my letter, I was waiting for
that reply beferc writing to you. Yours was a good letter and
eaplained your position clearly. But the previous letter did
justify Bapu's mmpression and #t was his duty to diaw your
attention at once The tclegram was not sent by us, it was your
own messanget’s trick. He asked me what to say to you. I
said : “Say that you are going to Delhi with an important letter
from Bapu.” How he misunderstood this I cannot quite sce.
But you ought not to bz disturbed over the seeming differences
between yourself and Bapu because differences are bound to
happen. (In fact the Viceroy’s statement confirmed Bapu’s -
pression about your attitude') But all’s well that ends well.

I do not know 1l Bapu wants you at Calcutta. It he does, |
shall let you have a wiue tomoriow, as I am not seeing Bapu
today.

I was very much amused to read that telegram from Jamna-
lalji and your letter. I read it out to Bapu who had a hearty
laugh over it. Well, marriage is a festive occasion and you must
thank Jamnalalji for providing you with some delightful fun.
Instead you come down upon the pcor man and doubt his
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worthiness to be on the Congress cabinet! You may be sure
that he will catch you napping ne¢xt year when he becomes the
Congress president and you might have to wait in deputation
on him as president, if such an occasion arises !

Damodar (whom I know propose to call by the name of
“bride’’) explains that Shethji asked him to send the telegram.
The great Secretary, delegated his duty to his assistant Secretary
who certainly did not know the distinction between “bride”
and “bridegroom”. But I am going to keep tue telegram and
your letter and will show Jamnalalji both when 1 meet him at
Delang. As it happened, Damodar was at Segaon with his wife
when I showed your letter to Bapu. Bapu asked me to ascertain
how the thing happened. I said : “Damodar is here with his
bridegroom and we can ascertain it at once!”

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

PS. Your telegram about Vallabhbhai who is not here.
I am sending it therefore on to him to Ahmedabad.

12

March 17, 1938
MY DEAR MAHADLVBHAIL,

The rcport in the Press that Bapu’s blood-pressure went up
on account of the train journey has upset me a bit, but 1 hope
that 1t was only a temporary affair.

There was a lot that I wanted to wiite to you but then |
decided that the matter required personal discussion. If you
kindly let me know what Bapu's programme is, | will sec how I
could mect him. A lot of things have been discusssed in the last
annual meeting of the Harijan Sevak Sangh and Bapu’s sanc-
tion has to be obtained on the decisions.

I hope Bapu’s mission is progressing. I fear, however, that
his visit this time may not be as successful as it was last time.
The atmosphere is not quite good so far as I could see and I
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fear our own men are to 4 great extent to be blamed for this
kind of thing. Nothing has been done to 1mprove the atmos-
pherc in Bengal by the Congress leaders themselves
Yours simccrely,
Ghanshyamdas

Sy1 MAHADEVBHAI DESAT

13

CALCUITA,
Apnl 20, 1938
PUJYA BAPU
Sir Sikandar Hyat Khan saw me here today and perhans he
m1y come some timz to see you so Ifu seems to be very
anvious about the Shalidgany aftur He was also anxious
about communal settlement but 1 don t think he 15 t man who
could deliver the soods
Hec did not like Jmnah's speech My own opinion 1s that
Jinnah his made the speech dehiberately 1n order to cicate
greater impression on his followers And as he knew that he
was going to see you, he wanted to appear a bit hugh and
mighty Peisonally I don’t think your sceing him 1s gong to
help the situation at all Somchow or otier, 1 dont like the
tellow 1Te 1s full ol vamty and believes too much 1n deplomacy
I also feel that his influence henceforward would be on the
decline There 1sno strong combination amnong the Mushms
and that s then as well as our mistortune Hul there been a
strong combimation among the Muslims, then your talking
would have some eftect But now, in my pmion even Jinnah
could not deliver the goods
I have written this because you are going to see him
Yours aff ctionately,
Ghanshyamdas

PooivyA MAHATMATI
SEGAON
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April 25, 1938
BHAT GHANSHYAMDAS,

I understand what you mean. You are right, too. Give
whatever you feel like giving exclusively from the money
point of view. What I had meant was that, if you were looking
forward to the Congress’ endorsement, you would be wasting
your time. Ultimately there should be no conflict between the
monetary and the polilical viewpoints. Neither can survive in
isolation. Our rulers themselves have taught us this rich lesson.

I shall be needing Rs 5,000 for village education and a simi-
lar amount for the Industrial Home. Then there are the day-to-
day expenses for heeping the Harijan Sevak Sangh in a running
condition. A detailed discussion is needed for a decision on
such matters.

1 hope Brijmohan is doing well. I also hope that ncws about
Krishna is good.

Blessings from
Bapu

15
Was Not Proper

June 2, 1938

Since April 7 last, 1 have bLeen feeling out of sorts. Last
night I had a bad dream. T woke up before the drcam was com-
plete. For the rest of the mght I could not sleep a wink and
passed the remaining hours tossing in bed. I subjected to soul-
searching and regained some peace of mind. In the process, 1
felt an urge to call Sushila and Prabhavati and ask them to
sleep by my bed-side, but refraincd from doing so. After the
morning prayers | told them of my experience of the previous
night but when they offered to nursc me I declined. This made
Prabha morose.Nearly twe;ve hours later, 1 changed my mind
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and allowed them to attend on me. This, howevcr, did little to
make me regain my mental b3lance.

Ever since the 12th [ have been obsessed by a feeling of self-
guilt and my anguish has become increasingly more poignant.

I am not myself, still I have got to mect Jinnah as per
appointment. 1 tried to pen down all this, but couldn’t because
of a fecling of shame. My self-confidence.is gone; my vow of
celivacy lies around shattercd into pieces.

I'began the familiar process of self-examination and at last
came to the conclusion that so long as my pre<ent unsetticd
state of mind persists, I would not ailow any mcmber ot the
opposite sex to look afler my personal needs. T decided that I
would not touch any woman cver »o0 lightly and even out of
sheer fun. This change 11 my mode of living 1< of gieat signi-
ficance to me. Tt had been my life-long conviction that physical
touch with member of the opposite sex had no delirious effect
on one’s self-processsion o long as the metive was innocent
after my vo v of celibacy, and cven betore that, I touched wo-
men uite often in a light-hearted fashion and that had caused
no mjury to my psychotogical make-up.

Afier the incident of Apn! 7 Iast, I bogan to be assaled by
doubts, if I wa, really above the normal temptations of the
flesh. And tlus after so many years of scll-imposed rigours!
During the.e years my mnner being and my thinking process had
baen uaderroing a course of cwansing. Can I now truthfully
claun that T ath us free from base passion in my own country as
I was while in South Afiica? Am [ reall, impervious to the all-
uremants that physical contact with mzmoers of the opposite sex
exposes me to? Who will resolve these doubts? God alone can
do that. If God does not come to my aid, there 1s only one
route of escape left to me : so long as my sclf-guestioner does
not crystallize into a resolve, I would continue to avoid such
physical contacts.

But there 15 onc thing that has struck me with the impact
of the sun’s brilliance : is all thesc years™ joint effort with co-
workers gomg to end up in utter frustration? Ior this sclf-
doubt I hold my self-doubt and my ego alonc to blane. If this
was going to be the end-result, my expericnce was so much
illusory. On the other hand, if 1 regarded mysclf quaiified
enough to make this experiment worth the effort, 1 should not
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have fallen prey to this momentary weakness. My own concep-
tion of celibacy is that it is differeat from its traditional defini-
tion. Whether my conception of it harmonises with the life led
by Karna and Shukdev, time alone will tell.

Only a person who has deeply imbibed the philosophy of
non-violence and has put it to practice in his own life should
be considered qualfied to hold forth on celibacy. 1 am the
self-appointed commander-in-chief of the forces of non-violence.
If my type of non-violence is found wanting in its essential
attributes, of what usc would it be? All the same, 1 have accep-
ted celebacy even in its incomplete form to serve as the basis
of my own conduct and so long as this remains my guiding
principle [ shall continue to experiment with non-violence
without, however, letting 1n interrupt my normal activities.
Where the tuturc will take me 1s more than any mortal can
predict. My own desires, howsoever ardent, are a mere thread
in the hands of the Almighty who alone directs my course of
action.

I considered 1t my sacred duty to tell this to my co-workers.
Let somcone from among them step forward to point out the
weak spots i my psychological stance and 1 will readily accept
his diagnosis.

Baupu

16

Copy
May 5, 1938
DLAR MAHATMAJIL,

When 1 opened Amnit’s letter and saw inside your well
known handwriting, you can imagine with what eagerness 1
began to read the contents—for it is some seven months since
I have heard directly from you and I have mussed sorely your
little notes. You will reahse then my dismay (and this is a mild
term) when I rcad the contents. I had just seen from the Times
you had gone to the Fronticr; my latest batch of Indian papers
gave vivid descriptions of your Bengal visit—and of your talk
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with the Viceroy. Following your movements as I do closely,
though at far range, I an? able to glimpse somecthing of the
burden you carry. And then to think that in the midst of all
this you had been troubled about my personal affairs. I am
sick at heart.

T will attempt to answer your lztter. Please bear with its
length as I sece I must write fully. .

The uniqueness of my work has ever been a matter of great
interest to my friends. Most of them are used to what is termed
a “safe job”’. That is to say some contract in black and white:
increase in salary as they get in order to save against a “rainy
day™; some sccurity for the futurc. Up to coming to India
with the Royal Commission on Labour, 1 too was accus-
tomed to such working conditions and thought. Then my path
crossed that of C. F. Andrews, and later your when you came
to London—and my sense of values changed. You will recall
the talks we had prior to your leaving London when yon said
that somecone was needed here to work on the “mutual under-
standing between our two countries”. For over six years I have
been doing this. 1 suppose it would be true to say that no man
or woman has similar task, it fascinates and intrigues people
when 1 tell them how simply it came about. IFrom time to time
1 am asked questions like this: **To what organisation are you
responsible?” | reply, “No organisation—I am responsible to
Mr. Gandhi solely.” Next comes: “But how is this work
financed?” And T tcll them that when you 1equue pieces of
work done you ask your friends to und.rgird it financially and
that this had becen done in my cases. ““‘How do vou know it
will continue—supposing you do something with which India
does not agree—what then?” Or—*“You arc not getting youn-
ger—the work i< taking its toll of your health and strength --
what about the futute?”, etc., etc.

Whenever these things are said to me  2ver these ycars they
have often been said—1 put forward my philosophy that grows
as the years pass. First of all, that though it seems an 1mpossi-
ble situation in reality it has never been so in practice, as any
one who works with you well knows. That your only directions
to me were—*“God will direct your steps” and though I work
with many committees—I am free—accounted only to you. On
finance, I tell them what I receive, and that it would never
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occur to me to take from a country like India, most of whose
people are starving, more than I require to meet living expen-
ses and those connected directly with my work. That Wwith
regard to my future—I have no fear. If at any time you feel
this work is not necessary, you would tell me at onceand I
_should seek other avenues of service.

And 1 point out that my work leaves no time for thinking
of things like this—and that they honestly d¢ not trouble me.

You will seec how fundamentally such an attitude differs
from that of my questioners, 1 surmise, that my friends, find-
ing I take this attitude, have felt they must have me from my-
self 1! I fervently echo that prayer: ¢“Oh Lord, save me from
my friends.” You say I must not “resent” their misguided
action. Write frankly at this moment I do. Also that T must not
“speculate” as to who it was that has written to you. Naturally
I should like to pen this kind of thing down—but will respe:t
what you say.

The wholc thing is very distasteful and wrong—though it
has been done out of love and concern. 1 have always had
direct access to you. If I were in trouble, [ should write quite
frankly. I believe you know this.

* * *

You ask me for a faithful account of my financial position.
With the exception of about £20 a year (this sometimes falls to
£17 or £18 depanding on the rate of interest) that my mother
left me when she died in 1931—I am entircly dependent on
what I earn. In 1931, when you asked me what it would cost
me to live—I said £6 a week. An cxcessive sum this probably
scemed to you—but not perhaps if one has to live in London
and above all in variety of circles of influence. This you said
would be paid regularly into my bank and this has becn done
ever since.

When I talked with you then, I had not the faintest ideas
how the work would develop—not what the expenses would be.
After a year I saw fairly clearly, for I had to take out £100 to
mect expenses. You know what happened in 1932, masses of
material that came to no one else, came to me to be relayed on
to people and organisations. Cables were necessary: the tele-
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phone was active; postage was tremendous; expenses for getting
to and from meeting and integviews were heavy; my weekly bill
for newspapcrs too. 1 had to have a pied a terre, where I could
file material and letters; a place where people could come to
see me; I was sorely in need of secretarial help. I was particu-
larly anxious not to build up any organisation; there is too
much machinery in the world. J decided to work through exist- .
ing organisations and to try to be a channel’of information and
contact; to try to keep myself as free as possible—to be availa-
ble and vigilant. Instead of having a secrctary, I felt the best
plan would be 1o get my sister Ruth to join me. After my
mother's death she was frec and T knew she could do the work
of, and run lhome, more economically than almost anyone I
know—she would be interested in what 1 was doing and give
me secrctarial help. If <he did this, it would mecan she would
take no other work.

You were in prison. About this time Henry Polak was com-
ing to India, and as he knew the situation in which I was placed
he said he would deal with it when he was there if I prepared a
carcful cstimate of what I thought my expenses would be. I
said £10 a month would sufficc. Latcr [ heard that this sum
would be paid into my account each month, and that the £100
I had drawn out, was rcpaid to me. A scrupulou, account of
every penny expended 1s kept, and for my own satisfaction I
ask Henry Polak to go through this account from time to time.

Roughly this is the way this cxpense money is used. £25 a
year goes towards the rent of the room I have for my work. To
my sister I pay £1 a week (if I had a sccretary | should have
to pay three times this amount). Literature, subscriptions
to the many organisations through which I work, postage,
travelling expenscs, telephones, cables, ctc. account for the rest.
Often the expenscs cxceed the amount I have -but I manage.
For example, last year a friend of minc in Australia who
knows how I am placed, sent me some money to take a holiday.
As her idea of holiday and mine differ widely as to cost—I
turncd in the balance for my work. In addition, T am always
trying to get the work that I may initiate in the first instance to
be carried on by one or other of the organisations who should
in the first instance have rcalised their responsibility for the
Indian situation. This goes on the whole time—there is no need
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to get into details.

You know that Iact as the Hon. Secretary of the Indian
Conciliation Group. All the expenses of this work are carried
of course by the Group. Every penny of postage; every tcle-
phone call, etc. that 1incur on its behalf is kept in a separate
account. The money for this work—any printing we do, etc.
comes out of money that Alexander Wilson collects when we
need funds from people who believe in the kind of work we do.
This mostly comes from quakers. 1 therefor» have the benefit
of this body of men and women behind me. But also a great
deal of what | have to do has to be as a person—not as secre-
tary of the Group. From long experience 1 find it quite possi-
ble to act in this dual capacity.

Finally, the Scrvants of India Society, when they ashed me
to contribute a regular London Letter for Hitawada said they
wanted to contribute £10 a year towards the expenses incurred
over this. As this means going to all kinds of things that
reflect the gencral situation here—I keep a separate account for
this too.

This is the cent per cent faithful account you ask for
Mahatmaji. In terms of money the amount may seem to you to
be rauch. I can only say I hold what I get as a trust and ex-
pend it wisely. Only reference to a daily diary 1 keep—listening
to talks I have—to telephone conversations—going through
files of letters—would reveal what is done.

You ask me what my “‘expectations™ are from you. As I am
completely in the dark as to what has been said to you—I find
myself at a loss to know how to answer this. From what 1 have
stumblingly tried to say in this letter, you will know 1 have no
such thing as “expectations”, save that in the ncar future I want
the chance to talk with you. I have felt this need for some months
now. When Mr. Birla was here last summer I told hum I was
very anxious to come to India this year and if I did would he
be good enough to let me have a passage on one of his boats.
He told me to let him know when 1 wanted to come. The situ-
ation has changed vastly in these months. I would likc to
review the whole thing with you: to know what you think about
the continuance of the work; as to whether it should continuc.
With a changing India the freedom you have given me and
trusted me with—might ba challenged. Yet under no other
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conditions do I see this work being carried.

Letters are poor things at best—I would like to talk with
you. Talks tire you, but if I could come to Wardha and
Jamnalalji would let me stay with him as I did before—I could
come in and out to Scgaon and get a few minutes here and
there and so get from you what is on your mind. What I should
like to do is to come out fairly soon and take my chance of
some talks with you. Then go to a few other places to “‘see and”
listen” so that I can know at first hand the changes that are
taking place. And I would like to attend the All-India Women’s
Conference in December and return here after the Conference.

‘This is what is on my mind—not what you speak of in your
letter that my friends have taken on themselves to raise. Have
I made it clear? It only remains for me to repeat my deep
seated feeling of concern that you, of all people, should have
been troubled so unnecessarily like this.

Isend you my love and shall look for an answer eagerly.
In this you will let me know your views about my coming out
for a short visit.

Yours affectionately,
Agatha Harrison

17

MAGANWADI,
WarpHaA (C.P.),
Junc 4, 1938
MY DEAR GIIANSHYAMDASII,

1 have not been able to write to you for sume days now. I
do not regret the breakdown of the “iussed trade talks. It is
only as an independent nation that we can ever negotiate these
trcaties on honourable tcrms. It scems Shivarao had a long
interview with the Chairman of the Lancashire Delegation and
suggested to him that such a Treaty could not be negotiated
excepting through the mediation of one in Bapu’s position, and
that he should be invited by the British Cabinet, I think he has
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told about this to half a dozen people and that is at the root of
the canard about Bapu’s going to England, and poor Agatha
wasted money on a cable asking if there was any likelihood of
Bapu’s visit to England in the near future!

Thank you very much for the cuttings that you have been
scnding to mec regularly. As regards the MSS of Bapu the
Harijan MSS are all kept in the Harijan office and I really
*don’t want to part with them. Bapu nowadays rarcly writes in
ink, excepting of course his personal letters. 1 enclose, however,
a telegram on the 2nd shect of which Bapu has written the
reply in his own handwriting 1n ink; which if you so desire you
may pass on to your friend in London.

Bapu apparently looks well. He is in one of those rare and
prolonged moods of sclf-introspection which amount to tra-
vail. Part of the ultimate up.hot you will see in the enclosed
pencil-written circular-letter that is being sent to various
fricnds. Tt is quite likely that Devdas has already shown it to
you. If not you will see it for yourself and let me have your
reaction to it.

Yours affectivnately,
Mahadev

June 10, 1938
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

Father Elwin has written to me asking for financial help
for his Ashram. 1 havc a faint rccollection that there was
some misunderstanding between him and Bapu on some point.
1 do not know if Bapu still holds a good opinion about him
as he held at one time or he has changed his views. I have not
replied to Elwin and until 1 hear from you, [ am not writing
to lum. Please It me know what i thought of him by Bapu
these days.

I received your letter today in reply (o a number of minc.
You have still to write to me if Bapu had time to go through
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the smdll article that T sent to the Friend Please don't bother
about 1t, if you find Bapu extremcly busy, 1 was asking his
views for my own guwidance dnd I thought it was an mmpor-
tant matter since 1 have to express views on such matters  Al-
though 1 do so i my own cipacity Yet they carry some
amount of weight

With reference to the Gujariti wrenar, Iam wriing a
cgparate letter to Bapu 1a Hind:

With reference to the breakdewn in the Ind Btk Trade
Pact Negotiations I vonder whether Bapu at thr stage v ould
Iike to say something as a warning to those who are busy negn-
tiating 4 pact between the two countries

We did our best and 1 fact Tper,otled my utl o colleae-
ues to go 1o the tarthest extent that we cculd idy go ind
yet we did not get any response In awar o 1 am 1chieved be-
cause had a pact bee1 concluded, the onus of 1t justificition
would have fallen on mec The 1ancashire Delegation did
appreciate my candour and 1easonableness and yet they could
gnc no satisfactory reasons

1 had many talks with Shivarao in Simla and 1 knew that he
was telhing about Bopu s being invited t> Lorden by many
men He wrote to Crozier alse T think his sto ¢ tion va ot
bad but I do not think 1t would be acceptaible Lagh Limen uc
a very conservatine and  low-going peeple a1 d so they cannot
take up even a good suggestion

Yours uffcct onatelh
Ghan hy umd

Syr MAHADEVBLHAL DIsAL
WARDHA

19

MAGANWADI,
WARDHA,
Junc 17, 1938

MY DLAR GIANSITY \MDASII,
Your letter about the loan for Charkha Sangh Tam aftaid
the negotiations with the Impeial Bank have fallen through and



170 BAPU—A Unique Association

you will have to exert yourself to make some arrangtments.
The Imperial Bank insists on conditions which are obviously
unacceptable. They will not allow more than 75 per cent
drawings on the mill valuation of the actual khaddar stock. The
Indian Bank on the other hand has accepted our condition of
50 per cent drawings on the actual cost price of the stock of
khadi in our possession. Ienclose herewith a full statement of
the affuirs of the A.LS.A. in order to enable you to judge the
situation and to negotiate with other banks. Our total require-
ments are 6 lakhs. We have received one lakh and a half from
the Bank of India, and so we now need 4} lakhs.

Prnate

I did not like your letter regarding Bapu’s circular—unless of
course you have misunderstood it. T do hope you realise that
Bapu therein proposes—in fact the prohibition has actually
begun—a ban on alf touch of women, whether for purpose of
nursing or for day-to-day routine. He once went to one eatreme
allowing women to be in the bathiroom when he was on the
commode or in the bath. The new arrangement goes to the
other extreme. I wonder if you accept this other extreme, I
have my strong objection to this and much stronger objection
to Bapu writing in Harijan about these cxtraordinary experie-
nces of his. There is a limit to declaring even truth from the
house-tops. There is a very good French proverb: *‘Kecp your
hells to yourselves.” But perhaps it applies oaly to humble
folks hike us and not to extraordinary folks like Bapu.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

20

MAGANWADI,
WARDHA,
June 24, 1938
MY DFAR GIIANSHYAMDASII,
Thave your kind letters—thc onc with the cuttings and the
other the private one which 1 deeply appreciate.
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About the President of the Bengal Harijan Sevak Sangh,
Bapu is in communication with Satis Babu and as soon as he
has a reply from him he will let you know.

You arc right in pitying me. I suppose you know that my
secretariat means myself. It was Louis XIV’s boast that he
was the state. Someone asked him what was the meaning of
the state. *“The state™, he said, “I am the state.”” T can, neither
with the same pride nor scnse of power indeed without either,
say, “I am my Secrctariat.” But to my usual burden of work is
added the worry of a moral and emotional ctisis through which
I am passing. 1 may not bother you with the details. “Keep
your hells to yourselves™ is a very good rule, though I have
not always been able to keep it.

1 come now to your privatc letter. T agrce in the main with
what you say, i. ., so far as ordinary folks Iike mysclf are
concerned. But I am afraid the emphasis on  untouchability
as between the sexes 1s altogether overdone. We seem to be
none the better than the Westi for the almost morbid restric-
tions and the West none the worse for the lack of them. The
wise thing I think is to strike a mean between the two extremes.
1 think even ordinary mortals like us ought not to fight shy of
ordinary necessary contacts in the open with members of the
opposite sex. T should taboo all clandestine contacts—there
you would find me in entire agreement with you. But we must
not hold the opposite sex to be something alien and untouch-
able. Do you hnow that in old Sparta Lycurzus insisted on grown
up youths of both sexes sceking one another naked on occa-
sions, in order that the feeling of secrecy and unfamuliarity
which morbidly draws people of opposite sexes, nught not be
encouraged. But after all is said and done, Iagrec with yon
that Bapu should be left to be the sole judge of what 1s neces-
sary for realisution of his spiritual goal. 1 should not hesiate
to plump for even his complete retirement and going mto the
jungles for that purpose. Though 1 should personally regret
the decision and feel that such a dicision would detract greatly
from Bapu’s own peculiar virtue and character as Mahatma.
That he can preserve his peace and cquanimity in the crowd
and in the dust and tumult of modern hfe reveals his special
quality and will for ever remain his contribution to the world.
A decision of the kind I havc visualised would considcrably
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detract from the value of that contribution. The same remarks
would seem to apply to the present question. But perhaps here
we shall have to agree to differ.

Bapu's b.p. is again soaring high and I have a lurking
fear that he is not going to be with us for long. Let His
will be done. The prisoners’ question might drag him again to
Bengal.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

21

2 CRANBOURNI COURT,
ALBERT BRIDGL Roab,
S. W. 11,
July 3, 1938
DEAR MAHATMAJL,

Your letter about your talk witli Bhulabhai Desar dated
26th June has just come. (I will deal with what you say about
this 1n a separate letter). I am concerned about the last sen-
tence I still await your reply to a personal latter 1 wrote you.”
I recerved this on May 3rd and rephied at once—marking it
“Personal” as you had yours to me—and have been wondering
ever since why I had had no word from you as to its contents.
Heic is a copy of what [ then said. Though ncarly two months
have clapsed since 1 wrote it—I1 do not want to alter anything
I said then. I will register this to ensure that nothing untoward
happcns.

1 dislikc thinking—especially as news comes you are very
far from well—that you will have to wade through such a long
letter.

Yours qffectionately,
Agatha
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PS.1 am sending a copy at once to Lord Lothian—
shall show 1t to Jawahdilal (who 15 with the Dcan of
Canterbury today) and to Larl Heath I will write
again about all this at once Meanwhile T send this now

Agatha

22

MAGANWADI,
WARDHARC P),
July 11, 1038
MY DIAR GIIANSHYAMDASII,

T hwe your hind letter of 6th in trat Tam erateful to you
for all that you have written and valt do tor Urm 1 Davi’s son
Abhut the others yoa will dojust v hat1 po <ible for peope
simularhy situated and qualified

As regards the date and-fruit dizt 1 shght alteration has had
to b* made Bapu was feeling weaker and he has steadily been
losing weight He has, therefore added Mossambi

That v retched experience 15 still obsessiag him and he will
not have peacc until he has wuitten about 1t in Harijan All our
atguments have helped only to stiflen his ottitude and now 1
have given up talking about it Today 1 the Haryan day and 1t
1s quute hkely that he 1s witing on the sul ject w'ulst I am
dictating this! [ mentioned to Ium the matter of your coming
here some time 1n August Talks with you are not likely to be
disturbing and you may cortamly come whenever you feel
like 1t

Yours affcctionatcly,
Mahadev

SyT. G. D BIRLA
8 RoYAL EXCHANGE PIACF
CALCUTTA
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WARDHA,
July 14, 1938
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

The enclosed letter from Agatha and Bapu’s reply thereto
will speak for themselves. Please assure her of a passage to and
back. She is doing good work and obviously giving all her time
to India.

Bapu is as well as he can be, looking to the mental strain
that he is going through. The article for Harijan is ready and
will go next Monday. Hc has taken silence for an indefinite
period—until at any rate his doubts are resolved and he found
a clue to the wretched experience he had on that dreadful 14th
of April.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

24

CALCUTTA,
July 20, 1938
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

I have received Agatha’s letter and Bapu’s reply to the same.
You have said in your letter that they will speak’for themselves.
1 fear without the background they themsclves cannot tell me
the complete story. But you need not bother it because I can
rcad between the lines. Any elucidation on your part will sim-
ply add to the burden of your Sccretariat.

I am glad Bapu has taken silence for an indefinite period.
This undoubtedly will do good to his health.

1 hope to be in Wardha some time in August but have not
yet fixed the date. I may have to go to Simla also during August
after Zafrulla returns and once 1 know the dates ot Simla, I

will decide on the dates for Wardha.
Yours affectionately,

Ghanshyamdas
MAHADEVBHAI DESAI
WARDHA
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MAGANWADI,
WarpHA (C.P.),
July 22, 1938
DEAR FRITND,

Will you kindly give me your detailed reaction to the enclo-

sed letter received by Bapu from a prominent Congressman?
Yours sincerely,

Mahadev

PS. Your letter enquiring about Bapu's health is just
to hand. Thanks to his silence he 1s already feeling
better and 1t is intended to maintain it.

Mahadev

“I feel that il' the question of the exchange ratio is
brought up before the next meeting of the Working Com-
mittee, 1t should not commit itself to any definite opinion on
the exact ratio or on the immediate necd for changing it
without tfurther investigation. 1 have been discussing the
matter with friecnds here. Their opinion is that, whatever
the merits of the case were when the 18 d. ratio was actu-
ally introduced, a change over to the 16 d. ratio now will
not increase our exports, ..pecially in competitive goods,
and further*that other countries will most probubly adopt
similar devices. There is not mucl of our internal prices
rising, cspecially for paddy or wheat cr oil seed~. The price
of our imported articles will rise, especially in industriai
niachinery which we are largely importing now, and prices
of Indian manufactured goods, especially of piece-goods
will correspondingly tise. This is no setvice .o the poor,
until Ahadi can supply all our sart v sl nceds. A few rich
people will make large profits by the reduction of the ratio.
But on the whole the economic condition of the country
will not improve.

“This docs not mean that the question does not need
full investigation. Indeed [ have put down an adjournment
motion in the Assembly urging an enquiry into the matter.
1 therefore suggest that the Working Committee may either
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call upon the Government to institutc an impartial cxpert
enquiry and publish the resulls thereof for public opinion
to decide which ratio i, the best for our country or itself
appoint an Expert Committee to go into the question and
report. The report may then be published for public criti-
cism and the Working Committec, in the light of that criti-
cism and of the report may decide its course of action.”

26

CALCUTTA,
July 24, 1938
MY DEAR MAHADLVBHAL,

1 take it that you have s2nt the ““cnclozed’ letter about ratio
for my opinion. [ have already given my opinion to Vallabhbhai
and in a very cxhaustive manner. T don’t agree with the writer
of the letter. In fact, hic seems to be a bit biasced, looking from
the language that he has used. But all the some, I have told
Vallabhibhai not to take up a very aggressive attitude at present
for the rcason that 1 am not quite sure whether nature is going
to help the depreciation.

I don’t doubt for a mument that a lower ratio would be
helpful but I fecl that the Congress should not take any hasty
step but should watch the conditions before it embarks on a
definite policy. Besides, until Federation comes in, 1 don’t see
what definitely could the Congress do except agitating. Agita-
tion at this stage may be eaploited 'y interested parties. Taking
all the.c things into consideration, while I would pass a resolu-
tion for a lower ratio in the interest of the country, 1 would
not start any aggressive agitation at this stage.

1 understand from the Imperial Bank that they have pas.cd
a resolution in favour of opening an account with the Charkha
Sangh. But it anything further is needed, pleasc write to me.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas
SyT. MAHADFVBIIAT DEsAI
WARDHA
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CALCUTTA,
July 28, 1938
MY DEAR MAHADEVBIIAI

Khare’s exit has not been well received in Bengal, if the
leaders in Patrika and Hindustan Standard are any indication of
public opmion. I feel they are since the public 1n Bengal does
not think in a more scnsible manner than the editors of these
two papers.

Khare deserved the humiliation that he got and no one can
say anything in his favour. But I wonder whether a Cabinet
consisting of men like Misra is going to look after the country™s
interest in a better manner than the Cabinet ot Khare. But per-
haps there were other considerations too. Since, however. Bapu
took personal interest in the matter, 1 thought there would be
a more stable ministry in C. P.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SYT. MAIIADI VBHAT DISAl
WARDHA

28

CALCUTTA,
July 30, 1938
MY DEAR MAHADLVBIIAI,

The decision of the Worhing Committee in respect of the C.P.
munistry 1s not finding much support cven among fiiends. On
the other hand the hostile critics are emptying their vails of
wrath on the High Command of the Congress which for all
practical purposes, to everyone ignorant of the true position,
means Vallabhbhai.

The decision may have been a hittle harsh but I cannot see
how it could be called ‘inspired by Fascist spirit’ or undemo-
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cratic, which seems to be the criticism of fricnds and foes.
People know it that after all the question was left to be decided
by the Parliament Commitice and it was decided against Khare.
But people would not forget that a lead was given by the
Working Committece.
The Bengal Press and public opinion seem to be most
“hostile against Rajaji and Vallabhbhai. On the slightest pretext,
without any justification. both of them are made targets of
poisonous attacks. But among friecnds the criticism is inspired
by lack of correct appreciation of the position. We are so
accustomed to thinking in terms of British politics that we can-
not even appreciate how anyonc else except Parliamentary
Parties in the assemblics could make or unmake ministries.

In respect of the C.P. tangle it appears that the whole
decision was taken by Bapu himself but because people have
not got the ccurage to atiack Bapu, they pour their anger on
Vallabhbhai. A strong impression 1s gamning  ground that
Vallabhbhai is not a democrat and Rajaji is scheming.

I feel Bapu alone, by his writing in the Harijan can remove
such an impression. The enclosed article from the Leader is full
of attacks against Bapu. But, of course, the Leader has developed
a malice against Bapu and nc thing in the world can remove it.
1 hope you will read this letter to Bapu.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SyT. MAHADEN BHAIL DFSAL
WARDUA

29

CALCUTTA,
July 31, 1938

MY DFAR MIRABFN,
1 had heard that you were going back to Segaon Rajendra-
babu told me that it was because of your health, 1t looks as if
we both are sensible to altitude. 1lost my appetite in Ranchi
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within two hours of my arnval at the place And [ am not quite
sure whethar even after rains thg place will swit you But let us
hope lor the best My zemindari 1s not far from Ranchi und 1
will tell you when you go there next time
I do not agiee with Bapu that the Viceroy 1s t1ying to put
hum off Pethaps the Viceroy knows that he cannot do anything
just now and there may be cogent reasons {or that 1 am not quite
surc whether T am likely to meet huim in the near {utute, but if 1
do <o, I will find out the exact position You might have heard
that recently he mct D1 Syed Mohmud an { spoke very hughly
of Bapt So, there 1, something else abort which we do not
know I stll think that he 15 a friend but w1l help in his own
way
Your s smcercly,
Ghanshyamdas

SMr. MIRA Bry
S1GAON

30

( AT CUTTA.
July 31, 193y

MY DFAR MAHADI VBIIAL
Deliberate mistepresentations are mde abou* the wtion ol
the Woirhing Commattee even after Bapu® v ferview [ fcar such
things will continue 11 futuie Khate s teply to Bapu's mteryview
1s not straightiorward Unless much moic s wiitten about it by
Bapu, this misrepiesentation may continue and do great harm
-0 the reputation of the Working Commutice and speaally of
Sardar On the othet hand, 1 doubt 1f the Shukla ministiy will
be able to continue fo1 long 1 wonder why an altogether new
minustty was not appointed. I don’t think there 1s much to
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choose between the two sets although the decision about Khare
was the right decision.

Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas
SYT. MAHADEVBHAT DESAI
WARDHA
31
MAGANWADI,
WARDHA (C.P.),

August 2, 1938
MY DLAR GHANSHYAMDASJI,

I have your letter of the 20th ultimo. The bulk of our Indian
Press has gone mad over Khare’s affair, and onc docs not
know whom to blamc most. Bapu was wholly responsible for
the resolution and in all conscience he feels that the resolution
might well have been stronger. He is writing a long article in
this week’s Harijan and it will make the Press still angrier.
Never before did [ realise, as I do now, that we are so badly
lacking in political sense. Our wiseacres are talking of Hitlerism
and dictatorship, but they little realise that in Italy and
Germany anyon: would have been shot for the betrayal that
Khare has been guilty of.

About the ncw ministry it is difficult to speak, but there is
this thing to say m favour of it that they will be amcnable to
Bapu.

Yours affectionatcly,
Mahadev
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INDIA Housk,
ALDWYCH,
LoNpoN,
W.C. 2,
August 3, 1938
DEAR MADAM,

With reference to your recent interview with me here and
your telephone conversation of yesterday, I write to inform
you that the Loan Fund Committee considered Mr. Ansari's
application for a loan at its meeting yesterday afternoon and
agreed to sanction in the first instance a loan of £ 6 to cover
his maintenance expenses tor a period of three weeks. A cheque
for this amount has already been forwarded to Mr. Ansari and
he has also been told that his case will be reconsidered by the
Committee at its next meeting on Monday, 22nd instant, and
he will then be informed what further assistance the Committee
will be able to render h.m. 1 would, however, take this oppor-
tunity of stating that the resources at the disposal of the Loan
Fund Committee are very limited, consisting mainly of a sub.
vention of about £ 200 a year from India revenues, small
donations from various subscribers amounting to about £ 60
and repayments made by previous recipients of loans which
from year to year vary from ab. at, say, £150 to £300. On the
other hand, tht Committec is required to assist about tifty to
sty students every year who find thems 'ves in financial diffi-
culties for various reasons. In these circum.tances the Committee
has no other alternative but to render assistance only to those
students whose needs are most urgent and even in these cases
loans for bare maintenance ewpenses aic made for a very
limited period, so as to give the applicant an opportunity of
securing funds from his own people at ! « ne. I think you will
thercfore agree that if the Commuttec had substantial resources
placed at its disposal a considerably larger number of needy
students could be given assistance much morc liberally than is
now possible.

I trust T have made it clear that, in the present instance,
whilst the Loan Fund Committee will be glad to help Mr.
Ansari for a few weeks, he should try his level best to secure
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from his relatives in India such funds as he might require for
his maintenance and training 1% this country.

Ishould also add that, from the reports that have been
received here, it would appear that Mr. Ansari has acquitted
himself very creditably so far, and it would indeed be a great
pity if, owing to lack of resourccs, he were deprived of the
opportunity of concluding his studics and training in this
country. Mr Ansari 1s, however, entitled. according to the re-
gulations, to pursue his clinical training at a recognised Medical
School 1in India and if he does so. and if he complies with the
regulations in other respects he could then make an application
to return to Cambridge to sit for the Medical I inal Fxamina-
tion in due coutse.

I trust I have made myscil sufficiently clear and if there
is anything else, 1should be glad if you would kindly write to
me again

Yoursvery tiul,
Dutt

Miss AGATHA HARRISON
2 CRANBOURNE COURT
LonpoN, S. W. 11

33

2 CRANBOURNE COURT,
ALBERT BrRIDGI RoAD,
S.W. 11,
August 4, 1938
DI AR MAHATMAII,

1 return the correspondence you sent me, together with a
Ietter that has just come from Mr. Dutt. As soon as your letter
came I consu'ted Henry Polak, and he spoke to Mr. Dutt, but
ashed me to deal with the matter as he had his mother ill and
was going out of town.

First of all I went ‘o talk with Mr. Dutt, and found him
very helpful. By ocean mail I have sent two reports. One deal-
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ing with the work of the Tducation Department, and the other
with the Students’ Loan Fund This material will, 1 think,
answer the questions you raise

[ explained young Ans it s case and asked whether financial
aid could be given But this fund only gives maintenance tor a
few weeks Mr Dutt at once gave me 1 [orm of application and
said he was sute that his committec (an unofficial one) would,
help with a loan Aad fiom s lettcr you will see that this “as
donc at once

The next dav T went to Cambridee and saw the lad  and his
mott et Also Mrs Murtay, who has been o tiue fiend to them
both Her husband was the latt Master of Selwyn College
wheie Hurold has been studying We talked very frankly  They
fully undastand the 'ard place in which D Snali s, and s »
couly b finanaal posiion But they steallyv are o nraus
Sinee March, no moncy  has come m So tar all thes rionths
thev hive not known what to d» Ihe stiess wnd anxiety caused
Hatold to break down and it 15 @ muvel how he managed to
get through his examindtion

Biiefly this 1s how the matter stands Unless there 15 a
guatantec that the moncy (o1 the thice years’ further training
15 assured, Harold will find 1t imposable (o get taken into a
hospital 1n October The cost of the will be at the 1ate of £300
a year This 1> the figuie given by the adviser to India students
[ hat means £900 In additior the are 1t tlas moment abHut
1100 1n debt* This 1ncludes a £50 i an sccuted bv Mrs Murray
to he'p with expenses since March {5 for last teims unpaid,
rent rate food bulls, ete , doctor bilf and medrcine

1n the last paragtaph of his lette. 1 see Mt Dutt raises the
point of Harold’s returning to Indi to finsh his studies Though
you will sce he and others do not advi ¢ ths You ashed me to
give you my advice [ want to say with il the conviction 1 ean
that tlus would not be a good plan ¥ hehieve 1t mught add Lo,
not solve the difliculty 1 came to this conclusion on my own,
but when I talked with Mrs  Mutray later, I found lcr as em-
phatis 1n this boliel as I was And she has good judgment

If this 15 agreed on—then the next ‘ung to know 1s whether
the money for the three yudrs can be guaranteed trom India
You asked me 1t the loan could be raised here Ji cunnot be, I
am afiaid but I understand negotiations ate going on for the



-

184 BAPU—A Unique Association

sale of some property in India—will not this securc a large
part of the money needed?

In addition to Harold’s case, there is Mrs. Ansari to con-
sider. I was impressed at the way she was facing all this with
courage and faith. She is far from well herself and I feel she
should be assured of some support each week. She lets one of
her rooms in the small home they have, and this brings 1n £14.
When Harold goes into hospital she will be able to let another
room, and if she had, say, £1 a week, she would be able to
manage. Her one desire is to sce her son qualified so that he
may be able to return and serve India.

So, all this entails a sum of £1,150 to cover their expenses
for the three years.

There is an urgency. They are living on borrowed money at
thc moment. Mr. Dutt, as you will sce, says that the case can
be considered again on the 22nd. But the money 15 a loan
and will have to be paid back. The main thing 1s that no arrange-
ments can be made for Harrold's entry into hospital in October
until it is known that the money for the three years is assured.

I 'hope I have made it clear. I read over what I am saying
to Henry Polak over the phone and he ugrecs with what I have
said.  was asked when in Cambridge by Mrs. Murray, if the
fact that they are both Christians would cieate difliculties. [
told her that I knew with you it most certainly would not, and
that I could not think it would doso among Dr. Ansari’s
friends. The lad is very like his father. Time and ugain as I sat
with them I was reminded of that loved man and thought how
grieved he would be, if he knew of their plight. Harold through
the kind offices of Mrs. Murray is having a holiday with some
friends of hers. This will set him up in health. And if an answer
can come quickly, immediate application for entry into a hos-
pital can be made and this long-drawn-out anxicty put an end
to. 1 think it would be a good plan, if you called as time is
factor. Both Harold and his mother are very touched and
grateful for your interest in the matter.

Yours affectionately,
Agatha Harrison

PS. When 1 come, I want to take up with you the work
that India House does for students. 1 know there is



BAPU—A Unique Association 185

frequent comment—sometimes adverse—on its activities
But there are ways 1n yhich this could be strengthened,
if India would help This can wait till I come

Agatha

CAICUTTA,
August 5, 1938
MY DEAR MAHADLVBIIAI
I am glad that Bapu 1s writing 1n the Haijan This may make
thc Press a bit angrier but eventually, 1 am sure, it will have a
good effect, 1t Bapu pursues the matter In a totahtarian state,
the Press would not be allowed to talk nonscnse And vet they
say there 1s dictatorship 1n the Congresst
You never replied to my letter about the Joan to Charkha
Sangh I have been informed by the Impernial Bank that they
have passed a 1esolution i favour of ginviang the lowm and, !
think this ends the matter
Your s sincerely,
Ghanshhvamdas

SyT. MAHADFVBHAI Drsal
WARDHA (CP)

35

WARDHA,
August 8, 1938
MY DEAP GHANSHYAMDASII,

Thank you for your hind note Yes, the Charkha Sangh has
already begun operation with the impertal Bank and [ am to
convey the A.L.S A’s thanks to you for having negotiated the
credit.
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Yes, thc campaign of vilification of W.C. & Bapu is in full
swing, but Bapu will have to begar the brunt. Never did I curse
Bapu's stay in Maharashtra more than now. As a pcople they
are a most vindictive and quarrelsome lot, and already one of
the scurrilous Marathi paper has been asking youths to finish
Bapu. Well, it was Poona which had the rare honour of throw-
ing a bomb on Bapu and I should not be surprised if something
nasty happened here too. There is no filthier Press in the world,
I think, than Marathi, and they are having their full bout of
swaraj to abuse and vilify.

Bapu is keeping well in spite of the strain, and of coursc he
flourishes on abusc.

Yours gffectionateiy,
Mahadev

SEGAON,
WARDHA,
August 12, 1938
BHAI GHANSHYAMDAS,

Please go through the enclosure and let me know. 1 have no
desire to utilize the monies you give me in activities of this
nature and judging by the amounts [ have been using up it may
not even be possible for me to save enough for this purpose
Please let me have your unminhibited opiion as to how you feel
about the whole thing. Doctor Shaukat has been left with little.
Begum Ansari has a small village of her own, but Doctor
Ansart’s brothers are laying a claim to it. Nobody feels inclined
to come to the aid of Harold —that is. nobody cxcept Shaukat
and Zohra, Dr. Ansari’s daughter. So long as Dr. Ansan was
Irving he invanably extended his helping hand to Harold. I do
not know what would bz the right thing to do morally. He has
pourcd out his heart 1n his letter to me.

Blessings from
Bapu
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SEGAON,
August 26, 1938
BHAI GHANSHYAMDAS,

You aic right. I only wanted 10 k.ow how you would react
toit. As for the boy, the needed amount will be secured f101a
Bhopal. 1 was fecling a gicat weight on my mind. Now 1 teel
telieved.

Just as you sav, anarchical tendencies are striking roots n
the Congicss 1 have been exerting niy utmost to check tlus
development and will, of course continue to do so The result
15 1 the lap of God alonc But, .1 our motnes ar  puie what-
ever we do can only tesult in something wholesome

I am vary glad, indeed, to learn about Viyog1 Huy

The cimate here 1s patticularly bad at this time ot*the year
When 1t s a shade cooler, von can come down and stay at
Segaon J’s coltage is there to accommodate you.

Blessings fiom
Bapu

38

MaGAnwADI,
WarplA (C.P),
August 27, 1936
MY DrAR GHANSHYAMDASJL.

This taking off Hairold Ansar’s burden by the Bhopal
Nawab 1s a great load off Bapu’s mine  ashed hum not to write
to you when he wiote but he said, **Ghanshyam will surelv wiite
frankly aboutit, and 1 will undetrstand his refusal

His complete silence 1s helping him. But Mahat ishira with
1ts most unscrupulous viruleat propaganda of lies ar1 nate and
violence 15 trying to the utmost. I do not know what wul be the
upshot but T have a luthing fear that he mught undertake one
of those terrible fasts and this trme 1t may exceed 21 days! I
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have no basis for my fears but I am simply giving vent to it as
it has been oppressing me for ,some time. Don’t you be un-
necessarily alarmed? My fear may be quite baseless, but how
can I hide it from friends like you? Pyarclal’s illness was most
trying but he is quite out of the wood.

There 1s a fair hikelihood of the A.L.C.C. being held in Delh
and not in Bombay as announced—in which case we shall have
quitec a number of days together. °

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

39

August 31, 1938
MY DEAR MAHADLVBHAI,

It looks from thc papers that the A.I.C.C meeting may be
held in Delhi 1in which case 1 hope Bapu also will come to Delht.
Will he stay at the Harigan colony or with mie? 1 suppose Sardar
and some other Congre.smen would stay with me. But T will
find 1t out from them. | am going tomorrow to Delhi and then
will go back to Calcutta. But in casec Bapu comes to Dell, I
will reach there again about the 21st or 22nd of September.

I hope Bapu has given lus advice to Sardar about what he
is to advise us 1n respect of the Indo-British trade pact. The
final term, are such as not to infuse any enthusiasm tor accep-
tance. But before soying a finul ‘no’, we decided to consult the
trades concerned. It appears the textie industry 1s rather
nervous. It thinks that i1f it does not accept the terms, then the
same may bc imposed on it through other methods, that s,
through recommendation of the Tariff Board.

We have kept an open mind and have decided to act accord-
ing to the desire of the country. The trade has been consulted
which leaves the matter entirely on us. And now the chief
partics to be consulted are the growers and the Congress lcaders.
Bhulabhai was not definitely against acceptance but if Bapu de-
finitely gives his idea and Sardar wires to us as he has promised
to do, then we shall know what to do.
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1 note that Ansari’s son has been helped by Bhopal. Perhaps
Bapu wrote to him. Bapu writes to me in his letter that Bhopal’s
help has taken a great load off his mind. Please tell him that he
need not keep any load on his mind concerning finance. So long
as 1 can pay, he can always depend on me to do anything that
he desires.

More when we meet. -
Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SYT. MAHADEVRBHAI DESAI
WARDIIA

40

& RovyAL FXCHANGE PLACT,
CALCUTTA,
October 19, 1938
MABATMA GANDHINI
Carr PREMIFR
FRONTIER PROVINCL
PLSHAWAR

PLFASL WRITI YOUR APPROXIMATL | 2QOGRAMMI .

GHANSIIYANMDAS BIRI A

41

Camp, KOHAT,
October 21, 1938

DEAR BIRLAIJI,
As directed by Bapu I am enclosing a copy of our pro-
gramme to you. 1 had given a full summary of the same to the
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A.P. [ wonder whcther you saw it.

Things herc as clsewhere are jn a pretty mess so far as the
political standpoint is concerned. Bapu is hardly taking any
interest in il. For we can practically do nothing on this front.
But we can successfully outflank it if the Khudai Khidmatgar
can be made into what their name dignifies. They present
nfinite possibilitics. The harvest 1s plentiful indeed but the
harvestors are few and there lies the rub. Bapu has presented a
programme of training in construction work 1> create a hving
neaus between them and the masses, whose natural protectors
and champions he expecls them to become. Incidentally, he
there though fully hopes to be able to solve the question of the
trans-border tribes too.

His health is excellent and just what it was at Delhi. He has

gained four pounds.
Yours sincerely,

Pyarelal
42
KoHAT,
October 22, 193K
Biri A
RoYAI LXCHANGI PLACI
CATLCUTTA

KOIIAT UP TO MONDAY. POSTING PROGRAMML, FINISH NINTH

NOVEMBLR.
Baru
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Gandbhiji’s Tour Programme in the Frontier

Date Tiumne

21 10 Fuday bam —
9 Jam b
Ipm —
530 pm.—

29 10 Saturdav [
2 10 Sunday L

24/10 Monday

Il pm
opm —
25/10 Tuesd vy (
26 10 Wednesday
27 10 Thums lay

l pm
6pm
277108 19 10

30 10 Sunday [
31710 Monday [

1/11 Tuesday Ipm —
2 11 Wednesday 1 pia —
6pm —

3/11 Thursday

Pluce Miles
Leave Utmanza: for
Peshawar 20
Recach Peshwar
Leave Peshawar for
Kohat. 40
Reach Kohat
S Tehsils of Kohut
Leave Kohat Jor
Bannu 50

Reach Bannu
Progtamin> in the dpsirict

Leave Bannu for

Dera Lyvmail Khan

Rcach Dera Ismail
Khan

90

1 riday & Saturday Stay at D

lsmail Khan

Programme in Dera

Ismail Khan
(Tank & Kulacl)
Le ve Dera Ismail

k han for Mire Khel
Lecave Mire Khel

tor Peshawar
Reach Pcshawar
Pcshawar - Khadi

Txhibition at 4 pmn

85

125

4/11 & 511 I uday & Saturday Stay at Peshawar

¢/11 Sunday 2pm —
6pm —
7/11 Monday 2pm —

Leave Peshawar tos
Harnpur

Reoch Havpur.

Leave Hariput for
Abbotabad

90

30
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Date Time Place Miles

4 pm. — Reach Abbotabad.
8/11 Tuesday 1 pm. — Leave Abbotabad for

Mansera. 20
2p.m. — Reach Mansera.
6 pm. — Return from Mansera to
, Abbotabad. 20
7 pm. — Reach Adbotabad.
9/11 Wednesday 1 p.m. — Leave Abbotabad for
Peshawar. 120
6 p.m. — Reach Peshawar.
43
Bompbay,

November 7, 1938
DFAR MAIIATMAJI,

I am asking Bhulabhai Desai to take this letter as he leaves
for Delhi tonight. Mathuradasbhai met me and gave me your
message about coming straight on. But as the boat was a day
late and your wire came suggesting I come on instead to
Wardha, I am doing this and leave here on Wednesday. It will
be good Lo sce you again. I bring with me all kinds of messages
from your fricnds.

Yours affectionately,
Agatha

’S. By a strange coincidence the steward who looked
after you when you came to London was my steward.
A man called &’ Souza, who has given me many
messages for you.
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SLGAON,
Decembe.r 22, 1938
DCAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

Herewith 1 am enclosing you copy of the letter which Bapu
sent through you to Subhas Babu

Subhas Babu has written a lctter to Bapu saymg that his
notc has “shocked™ him Bapu has replied to lum at length. But
1 may not go with the details here.

Bapu 1s spending like a prodigal the store ot health which
he had laid up 1n the N W F P and 1s now running into debit
account, I am afiard  And before hum hes the grind of one
month’s programme 11 Gujerat Bipu admits that it wil! b~ a
hatd grind but he says, he 1s not gowne thete for rest And then
we shall have the Congress and thea the Gandhi Seva Sangh
meetmg They will all exact a heavy toll

I'really do v 1k that the Guy ot tear oould be chucked out.
I hawe wotten to Sar larjt accordingly. But [ know 16 1 crying
for the moon.

I rankly, I leel wortied.
Yours sincerelv,

Pyarelal
Lnd |
SLGAON,
W ARDHA,
Strictly Confidential Decemb:r 18, 1938

MY DEAR SUBHAS,
I must dictate this as I am wilfully blind. Whilst T am dictat-

ing this Maulana Saheb, Nalim1 Babu and Ghanshyamdasji are
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.
listening. We had an exhaustive discussion over the Bengal
ministry. 1 am more than ever convinced that we should not
aim at ousting the ministry. We shall gain nothing by a
reshuffle. And probably we shall loose much by including
Congressmen in the ministry. T feel, therefore, that the best
way of securing comparative purity of administration and conti-
nuity of a settled programme and policy would be to aim at
having all the reforms that we desire carried out by the present
ministry. Nalini Babu should come out, as he says, he would,
on a real issue being raised and the decision being taken by the
ministry against the interests of the country. His retirement
from the ministry would then be dignified and wholly justified.
T understand that so far as the amendmert of the Municipal
Law is concerned, separate clectorate for the scheduled class is
given up. Therc is still insistencc on separate electorate for
Mussalmans. 1 do not know whether opposition should be taken
to the breaking point. If the Mussalman opinion is solid in
favour of scparation, I think, it would be wisdom to salisfy
them. 1 would not like them to carry the point in the teeth of
the Congress opposition. It would be then a point against the
Congress.

If my opinion is acceptable to you, the release of the pri-
soners becomes a much simpler matter than it is today. And if
this opinion commends itself to you there should be an open
declaration about the new policy. This ought to result in easing
the tension that prevails in Bengal and Bengal will be automati-
cally free from the state of suspended animation. Maulana
Saheb is in entirc agreement with this opinion and so are Nalini
Babu and Ghanshyamdas.

Love.

Bapu
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December 25, 1938
MY DLAR PYRELAL,

Thanks for your letter and the enclosure. I am rather
alarmed to read the contents of your letter because when T left
Bapu, he was just like a picture of hecalth.

I was not surprised to read what you say about Subhas’s
letter. I had heard from fiiends that he gotu very annoyed with
me. He thought that I was responsible for Bapu’s letter to him.
Just imagine people thinking that anybody could influence
Bapu so easily!

You might have scen so many unfounded things appearing
recently in the Prese about my vicit to Wardha and then my
going to Bombay. I feel Bapu should wiite now in the flarijun
about the attitude that the Congress should adopt in provinces
where it 1» notina majority. This will dispel alot of mi-
understanding. I thought Bapu did say when I was in Wardha
that he would write something in the Hurijun.

Please inform Bapu that at the request of Nalini I gave him
also a copy of Bapu's letter to Subhas, OF course, 1 told hum
{o treat it as strictly confidential and he promised to do so. He
told me that he might have to show that copy in confidence 1o
Lord Brabourne smce all sorts of rumows were up in the air
and 1 left the matter to his ‘isciction. But 1 am sure otherwise
he will treat 1as a sacred dncument.

Nalini was fecling extremely hoppy that he get the advice
and guidance of Bapu and [ am surc that he is gradually com-
ing under Bapu's influence. You know Nalint’s carecr 1n the
past has not been very clean but under Bapu’s influence he may
reform himsalf. And if that happens, it will be a great gain.

I hope you will pass on the contents of this letter to Bapu.

Yours sinccrcly,
Ghanshyamdas

SYT. PYARELAL
SEGAON
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SEGAON,
December 30, 1938
DEAR GITANSHYAMDASII,

I have both your letters.

I have handed to Bapu the cuttings which you have en-
closed. .

Subhas had a preliminary talk with Bapu. Then he fell ill
and is at present confined to bed with inflammation of the
sinusitis. He is being competently looked after. I think he will
see the reasonableness of Bapu’s standpoint.

The Sardar has again scored in his usual manner. The victery
however is still too ncbulous and unless it can be consolidated,
it might slip through our hands. But the grass is not being
allowed to grow under the feet. You must have secn the news
about the monster peiition signed by 40,000 persons damanding
the exit of the White Dewan. If he goes and a proper person
takes his place, all will be well.

We leave tomorrow for Bardoli. It is going te be a big
party. Devdas has promised to jom in for a few days on his
way to Bombay in the second week.

We arc having a party of 18, headed by Muriel Lester—
the back wash of the Tambaram flood.

The R.C. Bishop of Nagpur has spread his ramifications in
Segaon. Bapu has set his foot down firmly upoa it which has
of course sent the worthy Bishop into a holy rage. Most pro-
bably the correspondence between him and Bapu will be releascd
to the Press, in case the Bishop raised no objection. In any
case I shall send you a copy.

The doings of the White Dewan of Rajkot who tried to
brow beat and bully the Dewan malkes a fascinating tale. Since
they are recorded in correspondence they too will make 4 most
revealing reading when they are published.

Yours sincetely,
Pyarelal
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The Greatest Act
(By M.K. Gandhi)

Inasmuch as prohibition has been vonc of the chief planks of
the Congress since the inauguration of the non-co-operation
movement in 1920, and thousands of men and women have had
to suffer imprisonment and physical njury in furtherance of
this cause, the Working Commuttee is of opinion that it is in-
cumbent upon the Congress ministries to work for this end.
The Committee cxpects them to bring about a total prohibition
in their respective provinces within three years. The Working
Committec appeals to the ministries in other provinces, and to
the Indian States also, to adopt this programme of moial and
social uplift of the people.

I regard this resolution as the greatest act of the Werking
Commuttee at any time of its chequered carcer. The cry of
prohibition has always been tashionable. In 1920 it became one
of the chicl constructine items of the Congress. The Congress,
thercfore, could not but go in for tota. prohibition immediately
it came into power in any part of Inuia. The ministers had to
have the courage to sacrifice over clesen crores of revenue in
the six provinces. The Working Committec has taken the risk
for the sake of redecming its pledge and conserving the moral
and the matcrial welfare of those who are addictad to intoxi-
cants and narcotics. It is my fervent hope that the five pro-
vinces which have non-Congress majoritics will not hesitate to
follow the example of the six provinces. It 15 less difficult
for them than for the six provinces to achieve prohibition.
Aud is too much to expect the states to fall in with British
India?

I know that many are sceptical about prohibition being
achieved. They think that the finagcial lure will be too strong
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for them to resist. They argue that the addicts will procure their
drinks and drugs anyhow and that when the ministers discover
that prohibition means more loss of revenue without any appre-
ciable diminution in the consumption, though illicit, of drinks
and drugs, they will resort to the tainted revenue and the then
state will b2 worse than the present.

1 do not share any such fear. I believe there is the requisite
moral momentum in the nation to achieve the noble end.
If prohibition is to bc a rcality, we shail begin to sce the
cnd not with the end of the three years, but inside of six
months. And when the reality dawns upon India, thosc pro-
vinces or states that have lagged behind arc bound to bow to
the incvitable.

We have the night, therefore, to expect the sympathy and
support not only of all the parties in India including the Curo-
peans but the best mind of the whole world 1n this, perhaps the
greatest moral movement of the century.

If then, prohibition i> to mean a gicat moral awakening in
India, the closing of liquor shops should merely mean the
indispansable beginning of the movement ending in the complete
weaning from drink and narcotics of those poor people and
some rich people whom the habit has ruinesd, body and soul.
Such a consumption cannot be brought about by merc state
cffort. At the risk of repetition of what is stated by Mahadcy
Desai in his weekly Notes let me summarise wlat should, in
my opion, bz the comprehensive programme: *

l. A drink drag map showing locality of liquor and
opium shops in each province.

2. Closing them as liquor shops on the expiry of the
licences.

3. Immediatc earmarling of liquor revenue, whilst it is
still bzing reccived, exclusively for the purpose of prohibition.

4, Conversion, wherever possible, of the liquor shops
into refrcshment and recreation rooms in the hope that
the original visitors will continuc to use them, liquor con-
tractors being themselves persuaded to conduct them if
they will.

5. Employment of the existing excise staff for detection
of illicit distillation and drinking.
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6. Appeal to the educational institytions to devote a
part of the time of teachers and students to temperance
work.

7. Appeal to thc women to organise visits to the persons
given to the drink and opium habits.

8. Negotiation with the neighbouring states to undertake
simultancous prohibition.

9. Engaging the voluntary or, if necessary, paid assis-
tance of the medical profession for suggesting non-alcoholic
drinks and other substitutes for intoaicants, and methods of
weaning the addicts from their habit.

10. Revival of the activities of the temperance associations
in support of the campaign against drink.

11. Requiring employers of labour to open and main-
tain under first-class management, rcfie.hment, recreation
and educational rooms for the use of their employees.

12. Today tappers to be used for drawing sweet today
for sale, as such, or conversion into gur. I understand that
the process of collecting sweet today for drinking, as such,
or for making gur is different from the one for fermenting
today.

So much for the campaign against drink and drues.

Now as to how to make up for the los, of revenue in some
provinces to the extent ¢ ouc third? I have unhesitatingly
suggested cutting out the cducational budget for which purpose
mainly the excise revenue js used. I -+ill maintain that education
can bz made self-supporting. With *his [ must deal elsewhere.
It cannot be made so in a day, even if the po.sibility of its
being self-supporting is accepted. Existing obligations havce to
b: met. Therefore fresh sources of revenue have to be tapped.
Death dutices, tax on tobacco including **bidis”’, have alrcady
been given as some suggestions. If thesc arc considered 1m-
possible of immediate accomplishment, short-term loaus may
bz devised to tide over the dcficit, and cven if that fails the
Central Government should be approached to curtail the
military budget and give the provinces the proportionate
grant. The demand would be irresistible, especially if it is de-
monstrated by the Provincial Governments that they do not need
the military, at any rate, for their internal peace and tranquillity.
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Interview to Press Drafted by Gandhiji for Us

We had a long and heart to heart discussion with him. He has
made it clear that his fast is wholly against separate electorate in
. any shape or form. If and when it is withdrawnhis fast will ccase.
As to substitute we discussed many formulage but he says we
shall discuss these with our colleagues. It is satisfactory for us to
know clearly the condition of the fast. He has asked us to state
emphatically that his fast must not be used to coerce anybody
to change his opinion against his will. He told us that hc had
sent to the Government four days ago a full statement for
publication expressing his vicws. On enquiring whether he had
any communication from R.B. Raja he suid he had not. But he
was giving whilst we were talking a letter from Mr. Rajbhoj to
which he said he would send a reply as carly as possible.

49

Co-operative Production of Cocoanut Qil as Rehabilitation
and Relief Measure

The expzriment of organising production of cocoanut ol as a
cottage occupation is being tried by us to provide relief to poor
people in riot affected villages round about Bhatialpur centre.
'The enterprise is being carricd out through what is intended to
develop 1nto a multipurpose co-operative socicty. Four rupces
per seer is the price paid to members. Non-mewmbers will get
Rs. 3 per scer only. One of the conditions of membership is
that one should become self-sufficient in the matter of clothing
for himself and his family; for we do not want to put moncy
into leaky pockets to benefit black marketecr in cloth. To this
end each member 15 required to learn spinning and the allied
processes himself and make members of his family do the same
and grow at least four plants of cotton for each delivery of by
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the co-upcrative socicty, and distribute free {o those who spin
for themselves. Till an oil producer qualifies himself for
membership by delivering the’stipulated self-grown cotton, the
additional one rupee per secr will remain with the society as
his share capital deposit.

Cocoanut oil production will thus immediately put some
money into the pocket of the ncedy who are willing to work.
To give them thcir money’s worth, it is proposed to provide
such of them as will put in two hours’ free labour for common
good, one scer of riccat control price. I'rec service at present
consists in helping to repair village communicatiens, build ncw
roads, bridges, etc., clear tanks and above a!l grow more food
in their own and other peopl2™s badis by plunting Jalkachu and
introducing pani phal (<ingoria) 1n tanks wlich are at present
choked with weeds and good for nothing else.

The second part of the scheme would be to utilise bye-
products by manufacturing useful articles out of cocoanut shell,
coir and preserving the choba and maska as astand by in
time of famine. Cocovanut shell can be turned into beautiful
tea-cups, sugar-pots, elc., as experiments conducted by Kazir-
khil camp have shown, coir can be turned into stiing which is
at present selling at Rs. 2-8-0 per seer and is in universal
demand in these parts as an indispensable hut-building material,
cccoanut shell can further be manufactured into butlons.
Choba and masha preserved by the addition ol sugar or gur
or by salting,and dehydration represeats the entire nourishing
content of cocoanut which i nature’s complete food. The only
thing that 1~ reduced is oil content waich is found in excess for
the human requirement in the natural state. To put thic patt of
the scheme into operation will b necded a few machines and
the help of a technical expert to teach the various -manufactur-
ing processes 1o the people.

So far only the first part of the scheme and a very small
part of the sccond has been put into uvperation. Cocoanut oil
production was started on the 17th of April. Production for the
first fortnight was only 4 seers and odd. It was suspended on
12th June, the production for the closing and the pcnultimate
weeks respectively being 16 and 14 tins of 19 scers cach,
equivalent to Rs. 1,216 and Rs. 1,064. The total amount of oil
produced so far is nearly 50 tins worth Rs. 3,800. It gave occupa-
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tion in the closing stage to 130 families, 97 being Hindus and
33 Mussalmans and in fact was the only thing that stood
between them and starvation. 1t tnables a woman to earn about
Rs. 2-2-0 per day, total amount put into the pockets of the
poor during the one month and a half that it was in operation
came to about 1,600 rupces, the amount of share capital deposit
with the co-operative society being nearly Rs. 900. Some women
have accumulated amounts up (o Rs. 20-30 which they had
never done in their life before—all this in oze month.

Under self-help and self-sufficiency part of the scheme 6,581
jail cochus, 420 tun cochus, 650 cotton plants plus 320 cotton
seedlings have becn success(ully grown so far and arc estimated
to yield 350 mds. of tubers for food and 1950 1b> of lint
equivalent to 8700 yards of cloth,

Oil is deliveted by the producers almost throughout the
week but principally on the two market days, viz., Monday and
Friday. Payment is made on the spot, to cnable them to make
their weekly purchases of houschold requirements and to
procurc a supply of cocoanuts for extracting od. Cocoanut
market subsequently went up from 8 and 10 cocoanuts for the
rupce to 5 only thus making cocoanut oil preduction almost
uneconomical. If production is to be resumed, we must not only
have a sufficient cash advance 1n hand to cover the price of the
oil delivered and recened at our centre during the fortnight but
also to enablc us to stock a sufficient supply of cocoanuts to
protcct the producers from the fluctuations of, the biwecekly
local market, and to give them the bencfit of cheap cocoanut
market in Lak<hmipur or eclsewhere whenever tavourable
opportunity may present itself. We must have cash advance to
enable us to purchase a sufficicnt supply of tins or screw cap
barrels and to engage a tinker for sealing them as soon as they
ate filled and to meet the expenses of transporting tins from
Karaikhil to Comilla, Chandpur or clewhere. The following
is a rough estimatc of the minimum cash advance required to
work the scheme on the basis of a formightly delivery of oil
against cash pavment. A more frequent delivery would be
uneconomical.
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Price of oil to be paid to the producers at )he rate
of Rs. 4 per scer on a fortnightly estindte of 40

tins of nearly 19 seers each’.. 3,000-0-0
For stocking cocoanuts ... 500-0-0
For . the purchase of tins, engaging the services of

tinker 200-0-0

Other incidental charges, c.g., stocking fucl for the
preservation of choba and maska during the rainy
weather installing pans and ovens for those who
are too poor to own the necessary implements
themselves 360-0-0

Total: 4,000-0-0

NB. All this will be non-recurring charge as the coct of
tins, transport of oil, sealing of tins, ete. Is to be in
addition to the Re. 4 per seer that is to b poid against
the delivery of oil at Commulla.

Economics of Cocoanut Oil Production
Threce Rupees will fetch from 18 to 34 cocoanut. Turned into

hubble~ in the crude state will fetch from Rs. 11 As. 2 to Rs. 4
As. 8. They will fetch much more, if further processcd at home.
Present sclling price of coir string is Rs. 2-8-0 per scer. Eightcen
cocoanuts will give one secr of coir string and will take two
days for the manufacture.

“Pre.cnt matket pricc of cocoanut oil is Rs. 3-8-0 per seer.
Net income in three days from all the processe, is Ra. 3-2-0.

Production in Percentage on Different Prices

Price per yard Pcrccn\tage
-6/~ 1
-/4/- 2
-/3/6 4
-/3]- 10
-[2/6 15
-]2/6 23
-2/~ 45
Average 1009,

2.37 annas per yard excluding 5%, commission,
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Note on Conversation with Nazimuddin

(1) Message to Mahatma Gandhiji: "

By end of March no man shall be in Jail, either rcleased or
home or village domiciled. But Gandhiji should not mis-
understand that the work was finished before he came.

(2) Atmosphere: If Hindu Press controlied, he can guaran-
tec Mushm Press. Lotus and Shree in University irritating.

(3) Discussion of Hindu-Muslim question. Scparate Organi-
sation necessary. If merged in Congre.s, position bacomes weak.
Will not logical result of aloofness be recrimination from both
sides. He did not agrec.

(4) What 1s the bone of contention? Award is settled. It is
the mentality of Hindus, he says. Example, Dacca University
because Execulive composed half Hindu, half Mahommedan
although among students, professors and everything Hindus
dominate. Primaty education opposed. Calcutta Corporation,
Hindus did nothing. Congress munistry have not taken real
Mussalmans, to which I asked whether Bengal ministry have
taken rcal Hindus. His contenticn was that there was no spint
of concession.

(5) What cou'd be the ba-is of agrcement. He could not
say in detail but education, service most important. Musalmans
are bachward, they must be brought forward. Hindus should
develop conciiatory tendency. They should make concession
Iibzrally.

(6) 1 ashed, “Would not position in Bengal be strong, if
Hindu ministers were real representatives?” But he says coals-
tion not possible unless there 15 understanding betwecn the
Musalmans and the Congress. “Why not begin an agreement
in Bengal?”, 1 said. He thought perhaps that would be the
bast way.
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January 1, 1939
PUJYA BAPU,

Jamnalalji returned from Sawai Madhopur to this place.
Number of friends were also invited frem Jaipur to review the
position. After hearing everything, 1 thought it necessary to sce
Glancey. 1 did not know him before. But at my request he
immediately granted me an interview although he was going
on tour in a day or so. 1 explained the whole position to
Glancey. He asked a number of questions about Jamnalalji, but
to my great surprise I found that he had nothing to say again-t
him, and yet he had got the ban imposed. In fact he asked me
what was against Jamnalalji, and I told him that the,funniest
part of the whole business was this that while neither Jaipur
nor Dezthi had anything against Jamnnalalji vet they have impo-
sed this ban. [ told him that Jamaalalji would not obey the
order indefinitely. He has promised to reconsider the position.
I cannot say what he will do becaus> hie did not give out his
mind at all. He made a remark that Jamnalalji acted very wisely
in obeying the order. This remark added with the fact that he
had nothing against Jamnalalji may lead us to the inference
that he will withdraw the ban. * have alse again written to the
Viccroy and lee us hope for the best.

My advice was sought by Jamnal 'ji and I have given lum
the following advice:

As regards the ban he should address a letter to the
Jaipur authorities and give them suflicient time ¥ withdraw
the ban. If they do not comply with his suggestion, then
after a certain petiod he should defi v'~ly break it.

But I have suggested to him that his breaking the ban
should not be the beginning of a mass satyagraha. I am not
ignorant about the situation in Jaipur and while I know that
hundreds are very eager to starl satyagraha there, 1 do not
think there are even half a dozen persons who have imbibed
the spirit of satyagraha. They are very eager to break the law
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just now because they think that the situation just now is most
favourable for s.arting a campaign of ‘no rent’. There is a
widespread famine in Jaipur, and a gieat discontent prevails
among the pcasants. Even without anybody doing anything,
there may be trouble. But if there was someone to incite them,
trouble becomes a certainty. While they think this is a strong
point, I think it to be a weak point. I therefore advised
Jamnalalji that even if on a certain issue satyagraha had to be
started, it should be confined to only few selected persons. But
you know the technique of satyagraha better and therefoie you
have to decide what thcy have to do. The Jaipur authoritics
still seem to be eager to carry on negotiations with me. Young
phoned to me from Jaipur serving notice on Jamnalalji and was
practically apologising. It was at his suggestion that I sought
an interview from Glancey although 1 have never met him
before. I understand Beauchamp is leaving Jaipur very soon.
He would bs replaced by Lothian or some other Englishman.
Young thinks the neat man would be better man than Beau-
champ. In my opinion Beauchamp is more a fool than a wicked
man. I found Glancey also was hopelessly misinformed. Jaipur
undoubtedly 1s a most backward state from the point of view
of administration. The public opinion, 1 have no doubt, is
wakening up. But 1t is not well organised and no one has done
any constructive work in Jaipur worth the name. Hiralal Shastri
is very sincerc and brave man, but he is a bit rash and self-
opinionated. You will meet all these fiicnds and will give them
such advice as you think fit. Jamnalalji asked me to write to you
my views and so I have done. One thing more. 1 feel you might
wiite something about Jaipur in the farijan, would you touch
the question of my College in case you decide to wiite about
Jaipur? Tiu: too is a long standing injustice.

Yours affectionately,

Ghanshyamdas
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Jai'pur
(By M. K. Gandhi)

The Reader should know the distinction between the Jaipur
struggle and the Rajkot one.

The Rajkot struggle is frankly for responsible Government
within the State and is now for redceming the Ruler’s promise
to his people. Every man and woman of Rajkot, if they have
any stuff in them, will be reduced to dust in resisting the dis-
honourable conduct of the British Resident.

The Jaipur struggle is on a very small and narrow issuc.
The one political association of Jaipur has been virtually decla-
red illegal for the offence of pleading for responsible Govern-
ment and its president, himscll’ a resident of Jaipur, has been
put under a ban. The civil disobedience struggle will cease the
moment the bans are lifted and the right of frce association,
holding public mecting, etc. is conceded. But licre again the
British lion has opened out his big claws., The British Prime
Minister of Japur had a chat with Barrister Chudgar, legal
adviser of Rao Rana of Sikar. He reported to seth Jammnalalji
the following purport of the talk;

I understond it my du ‘ to inform you that during niy
interview with Sir Beauchamp St. John, Prime Minister of
Jaipur, in connection with Sikar aTairs on the 9th inst., at
about 11 a.m. at his bangalow Nataaika Bagh. 1 had some
discussion with him icgarding the Jaipur situation. The
following is the substance of the discussion.

I told Sir Becauchamp that the ban against youY*htry into
Jaipur State territorics came as a painful surprise to milli-
ons of people all over India, particularly because you are
well known to be a man of peace and your mission was to
supervise and direct famine relief activities in the famine-
stricken parts of Jaipur state. To this Sir Beauchamp replied
that he agreed that you are a man of peace but you and
your men’s visit, he thought, would bring you and your
men in contact with masses in the famine stricken areas and
this he did not like for obvious political reasons, I told him
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that you cannot be expected to submit to the order for an
indefinite penod and that it would be better in th® interests
ol the state and the people, in view of the statement you
have published in the Press after you had been served with
the order, if the order were recalled so that onecessary
trouble may be avoided. He was adamant and he said that
he was preparcd to mect any situation that might arise if
you disobeyed the order. He said the Congressmen are out
for a rcvolution by means of a non-violent struggle. But
non-violence he said was a force as powerful or perhaps
morc powerful than violence. He further said Indians were
playing upon the humane instincts in the English race but if
there was Japan or Herr Hitler instead of the English in
India we could not have succceded so well with our non-
violence.

He then said that it was his considercd opinion that non-
violence however strict must be met by violence and his
reply to the non-violent movement in Jaipur would be the
‘machinegun’. I pointed out to him that all L.nglishmen
were not of his way of thinking and even the English racc
as such would not agree with him. He said, *“that may or
may not be so” but perscnally he was of the opinion that
there was no difference between non-violence and violence
and that therc would be nothing wrong in using violence
against non-violence.

if you or Mahatmayji desire to make use of this statement
1 have no objection.

1 considered it to be so startling that 1 referred it to the
Primec Minister in the following letter.

L4

BARDOLI,
January 18, 1939

DEAR FRIEND,
My first thought was to publish the accompanying letter
purporting to describe your attitude with regard to the ban on
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Seth Jainalalji's entry into Jaipur State. ,But on second
thoughts Afelt that my purpose would be better served by send-
ing you a copy of Shri Chudgar’s letter and inviting your
opinion on it. My purpose is to promote harmony between
the pringgse and the pcople who arc obliged in onc way or the
other to come in contact with them to secure justice wherever
possible by friendly negotiation. And now that 1 have felt the
necessity of writing to you. whatever may be your opinion on
Shri Chudgar’s letter, Iwould ike to suggest to you that the
bans upon Seth Jamnalalji and his organisation might he remo-
ved without endangering the peace of Jaipur slate. Indeed 1 feel
that peace is certainly endangered by the bans

Yours sincercdlv,

M K. Gandh

SIR BraucHamp Sr. Joun
PrIME MINISIER
JAIPUR STATL

JAIPUR,
January 20, 1939
DI AR MR. GANDHI,

1 write to achnowlcdge your hind letter of the 18th instant,
enclosing a copy of a letter from Mr. Chudgar to 3=wJamnalal
Bajaj. Your he<itatton i publishing it befor= you had ascer-
taincd of its contents was a wise step, which I personally much
appreciate, as I ain now able to inform , ‘u that its description
of my views is completely erroneous. 1 am unable to under-
stand how Mr. Chudgar so misunderstood me, and I may say
that this incident confirms me in my hesitation to grant any
such interview in future.

Now that you are aware of the facts, 1am sure your reluc-
tance to publish such a letter will be confirmed. Should however,
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you decide otherwise, I shall be glad if you can inforga me as
soon as practicable so that I can take suitable actionf
With renewed thanks for your consideration,
Yours sincerely,
Beauchamp St. John

BARDOLI,
January 22, 1939
DEAR FRIEND,

1 thank you for your prompt reply to my letter of the 18th
instant. I had expected your version of the interview, if you
repudiated Shri Chudgar’s version. The matter is too important
to be dropped by me. 1 shall gladly publish yvour version
together with Shri Chudgar’s, if vou so wish.

Yours sincerely,

M.K. Gandhi
SIR BrAauctiAMP ST. JouiN
PRIME MINISTER
JAIPUR STATF
6
JAIPUR,

January 25, 1939
DEAR MR. GANDHI,

Many thanks for your letter of the 22nd instant. I am sure
you will sympathise with me in natural hesitation to make a
record of an interview which was understood to be private and
personal when the other party to the interview has already
threatened to publish an erroneous version. Such a procedure
can, as I am sure you will agree, only lead to acrimony, and so
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far as I cyn see, serve no useful purpose.

Should, huwever, Mr. Ghudgar sce fit to publish his
erroneous version, I am sure you will give me due warning so
that, as I have already s.iid I may take suitable action.

Yours sincerely,
Beauchamp St. John

BARDOLI,
January 27, 1939
DEAR IRILND,

I thank you for yours of the 25th inst.

1 am afraid I cannot sympathise with you 1in your hesitation.
The rcport Shri Chudgar has sent is oo valuable not to be
published. My concern was to see that 1 did not give currency
to a report whose accuracy could be successfully challenged.

I am in correspondence with Shri Chudgar and if he adheres
to the report he has given to Seth Jamnalalji. I may feel com-
pelled to publish it in the interest of the cause of the people of
Jaipur.

1 have no} understood the meaning of “suitable action’ to
be taken by you in the event of publication of Shri Chudgar’s
version.

Yours sincerely,
M.K. Gaudhi

Sik BrAuc 11AMP ST. JOILIN
PRIME MINISTLR
JAIPUR STA1L
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BARDOLI,
January 28, 1939
MY DEAR JAMNALALJI,

I have read the correspondence between Mahatmap and Sir
W. Beauchamp St. John ending with Mahatmaji’s letter to him
dated the 27th instant. I have tarefully 1~ad my letter to you
dated the 15th inst. again and 1 say that what I have stated in
that letter is a substantially correct reproduction of the con-
versation between me and Sir Beauchamp.

Yours sincerely,
P.L. Chudgar

The Prime Minister’s letter have made stiange reading.
I had asked for bread, he has sent mc stonc. He will
pardon me, if | believe Shri Chudgar™s version unless he
can give his own version. His mere denial accompanied
by a thrcat carries no weight.

The Congress cannot wait and watch whilst it has the
power, and allow the people of Jaipur to die of mental
and moral starvation especially when this denial is
backed by the British might. If the Prime Minister has
no authority to do what he 15 doing let him at lecast be

recalled.
* M.K. Gandhi

BARDOLI,
30-1-1939

January 21, 1939

MY DLAR MAHADEVBHAIL,
Sir Daniel Hamilton writes to me that middle of February
would suit him better. 1 am also thinking of seeing the Viceroy
about thc Jaipur affairs, if it is possible, after he returns here.
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Thus, mi\llc of February will suit myself and Sir Daniel both.
He says h\ will not be at Gosaba! at the end of January.

You remember how Bapu told you that I may not be able
to go to Gosaba at the end of January and that perhaps 1 may
have to sg»the Viceroy. How the prophesy is turning out to be
correct! I wonder whether it was intuition.

I dreamed last night that 1 was with Bapu when he suddenly
fainted for a minute. Then he asked me to bring you immedia-
tely and you were brought. He was all right after that. I did not
like the dream but 1 do not believe in dream superstitions. I
hope Bapu is perfect.

Yours affectionately,
Ghanshyamdas

Syr. MAHADEYBHAI DLSAI

3Gosaba is a place in Sundatban where Su Daniel was woihing.—
G.D.B.

10

BARDOLL,
. January 24, 1939

MY DFAR GHANSHYAMDASIJI,
Your kind letter of the 21st. § a1 glad you have mentioned
Sir Danicl Hamilton’s correspondence with you. 1 have had a
rarely unpleasant correspondence with him regarding what I
thought would be interpreted as proselytising tomdagicies in his
estate, e.g., the prescribing of the Loid’s Prayer in Hindu
schools, a religious manual made up of extract fiom the Bible,
decorating of school walls with B: .¢ pictures and Bible texts
and so on. He 1s perfectly honest man, but he has idiosyncrasics
that hc can not casily outgrow. In fact he 1s too old to doso. T
have a wholesome fear that much of the good work that he has
done and is still doing wiil be ruined by missiona.ies as soon as
he is no more. But 1 shall send you copies of the correspon-
dence as soon as 1 can do so. In view of the correspondence 1
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do not think I.need accompany you, but it would b/ well for
you—so Bapu thirks—to go.

What a dream you had! Wheui we have unpleasant drcams,
we should put on them a contrary interpretation! Bapu is
really well and getting through more work than you«ar I could
expect him to do. 1 was present with Devdas when he talked to
you on the phone last evening. So you have practically all the
news about the happenings here., The question of the Indian
states is absorbing the bulk of Bapu’s and Sardar’s time. He
has given today a very important interview to the Times of India
man, which I expect will be shared by The Hindustan Times. In
that case you will sec it ere this is in your hands. 11 it is not
sharcd, Devdas and I propose to conduct a similar intervicw for
H.T. out of the same matcrial.

How long are you staying thete? 1 propose, assoon as
possible, undertake a dietetic experiment consisting exclusively
of cow’s milk, cow’s ghee, honey and anwlus. 1 am wondering
if I could do it at your place in New Delhi? Of course your
presence is not cssential, but could I stay there and have all my
needs supplied in your absence? It is a 40 day’s experiment.

Yours affectionarely,
Mahadev

11

NEw DELHI,
January 25, 1939
MY DEAR Masi:zaDI VBHAIL

Will you kindly remind Bapu about the date that he has to
fix for opening the Shri Lakshminarayan Templc here. He had
promised to come immediately after the Congress and now the
definite date has to be fixed up.

I have again seen the Secretary of the Political Department
regarding Jaipur. He had nothing to say against Jamnalalji. He
had therefore no argument except that the matter was one
about which final decision had to be taken by the Durbar alone.
I told him that it was useless to put blame on the Durbar since
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the Dur*kr was a mere nominal head. He in the cnd promised
to write Mo the Durbar which may mean 4nything. But I feel
that the way in which Bapu hds taken up this question is bound
to have its effect. 1 um now waiting here only to sce the
Viceroy.. *
Yours affectionately,
Ghanshyamdas

SYT. MAHADLVBHAI DESAI
BARDOLI

12
January 26, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

Nawabzada Liaquat Ali Khan!, Secretary of the Mu lim
League, is a fiiend of mine. I have got very high opinion about
him. So far as I know, he is a straightforward man of Progres-
sive ideas. Whenever we meet, we talk about the communal
question. He told me in Simla and repeated it again during my
recent meeting with him that he strongly felt that the commu-
nal question could very casiy be solved at this stage becausc
so far as he®could see, the only issue was that the Muslim
ministers should be such as com. anded confidence of the
Muslims and the Muslim League. Aluwough the Muslim League
does not officially say so, but he says from his inner know-
Jedge that if there would have been a negotiatigg the only
important point that would have been discusscd would be the
question of a coaliticn ministry wherever tiic Congress is in
power. 1 told him that I was not qui.c e whether it was such
a simple thing and that personally I did not believe that it was
ever possible to have a complete rapprochement. But 1 suggested
at the same time that it might be helpful if he met Bapu quietly
and informally. Hc liked the idea subject to this that the thing
would not go to the Press. That, of course, is possible. He said

1Ljaquat Ali was later P.M. of Pakistan.—G.D.B.
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he would even ‘acquaint Jinnah that he was going to /ee Bapu
during his stay in Delhi.

Plcase lct me know if it wolild be possible for Bapu to see
him. T am sure Bapu would like the man and if he decides to
spare time for him, he should give him at least amNaour fora
full talk.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SyYT. MAHADI VBHAI DESAI
BARDOL1

13

January 26, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

I enclose this most nauseating letter published in the Specta-
tor of December 30. The wiiter is, 1 believe, the same man who
was exposed by Vallabhbhai a few months back. Isn’t he the
same man? [ feel as if I should reply to this letter.

With reference to the men that died in Wardha, Paranjpye
must have known that you had replied to the charges in The
Hindustan Times. But 1 don’t know what are these recently
published letters to an unmarricd young woman devotee. 1 feel
that this should not go unreplied. I wonder what you have to
say about it.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SYT. MAHADLVBHAI DisAl
BARDOLI
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January 26, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADLVBHAI,

Why-d§ you want to embark on a dietetic experiment which
seems to be so irrational? I can understand your remaining on
cow’s milk and honey and even a few anwlas, but for God’s
sake, don’t think of ghee wheh you arc not on solid dict. Even
honey has got some fat and I very much fear the consequence
of such an cxperiment. I am sure you are going to consult Bapu,
if you have not alrecady donc so.

If you do finally decide in spite of my advice to the contrary,
certainly all your necds would be supplicd in my absence and
you are welcome to make this cxperiment at the Birla House,
New Delhi. Pleasc let me know when you are Likely to start this
and [ will make necessary arrangements. But recensider my
suggestion. The best experiment for the sake of heaith could
only be fruit and milk. And 1l you l‘ve only on anwlus and
milk, there may be nothing wrong about it. But adding ghee
and honey, 1 don’t like.

I am staying here till the 31st. Jamnalalji is likely to come
on that day and so 1 am waiting partly for him too. 1 would
have gone earlier but before leaving I wanted to have a talk
with the Viceroy, if possible. The Indian states problem is tak-
ing, in my opinion, a vc.y ugly turn. So far as 1 know, the
policy is not df the Viceroy. He is reported to have said that
his “instruments were not acting rue” which mecans that the
officials are not carrying out his pclicy. In any case, [ will
know morc in a few days and 1 am going to have u very frank
talk. I have no doubt in my own mind that the VICCI'OY s an
honest man. But what he told me to Bapu does ho®Ptally with
the actions of the various officials of the poliical Department.

About my visisit to Danicl H.vlton's place, you have
chilled my enthusiasm. 1 have no desue to make an indepen-
dent enquiry if you have come back disappointed.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas
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SWARAJ ASHRAM,
 BARDOLI,
January27, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

Your note of the 25th. It is difficult to give you the date
today—especially because everything is in the dark about
Tripuri. It all depends on who becomes the President! If Subhas
succeeds Bapu may not even go to Tripuri. If Pattabhi succeeds
he will go. So Ican give you the date only after the result of
the election on the 29th. If you like I will send you a wire. My
brother is all right. Bapu leaves herc on the 1st, but may have
to return to finish the uncompleted programme.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

16

BarpoI 1,
January 28, 1939
DEAR GHANSHYAMDASIJ, :

I am herewith enclosing you a letter from Shrimati Chando-
bibi enclosing a copy of a letter she addressed to you. Bapu
would like you to send him a line, if you feel like sayiug any-
thing.

Bapu '1'§"Bcing made to burn his candle at both ends. The
h.p. daily goes up to 186/108, comes down to 166/100 at noon
and in the evening again attains the morning level. There has
been a slight permanent rise in the dyastolic pressure as you
will note. And according to Dr. Jivaraj Mehta a distinct hyper-
trophy of the heart is noticcable. But these things are inevit-
able in the long end and onc has to accept them philosophically.

With regards,

Yours sincerely,
Pyarelal
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BARDOLI,
January 29, 1939
MY DEARJMANSHYAMDAS)I,

Haribhau left yesterday evening with all the papers. Bapu’s
own comment on summary of the telephone talk I gave him
was this: “If they think that the problem is so urgent and that
the atmosphere should be kept calm, and yet remain so abysm-
ally ignorant of affairs, should they not scck an carly oppor-
tunity of contact with me? Ghanshyamdas should make this
abundantly clear to them.” [ wanted to convey this to you by
phone, but you could not be got on the phone last night.

You are unneces.arily alarmed about my dietetic experi-
ment. It is sufficiently scientific to have received Bapu’s hearticst
approval, and out of the four places where it could have been
gone through—Sabarmati, Nasik (Walchand’s  zamindari),
Segaon and your place—and Bapu has plumped for your house.
For scveral rcasons:

(1) cold climate which is nccessary for the experiment:

(2) good cow’s nulk and ghee;

(3) work which could bz got through, through my stay
there. The last consideration was uppermost in his mind,
but he was doubiful ab., ¢ guod cows. T said 1o him  that
you had good cows and that [T specially liked your milk.
Then, he said, there should be ne difficulty. 1lcave here on
the lst cxpecting to be there “nthe 2nd. 1 hope this will
meet with your approval. My wife and boy will bs with me.
Will you kindly scnd me a telegram of approval?

» Yours,
Mahadev
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MAGANWADI,
WARDHA (C.P.),
January 30, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSIIYAMDASJI,

Things are moving fast and Bapu cannot be expected to
remain silent. Look at the enclosed copy of Bapu’s latest arti-
cle on Jaipur. Tt is being posted to Harijan today. You would
perhaps like to show it to Laithwaite.

Regarding Nawabzada Liaquat Ali Bapu says he will gladly
scc him when he comes to Delhi.

The Congress President election is a most disagreeable sur-
prise. At first though Bapu, as I wrote to you, did say that he
would not go to the Congress, but on sccond thoughts he
thinks it would be churlish not to go. The Schism has got to
be faced and if the Gandhians have to retire they should do so
with proper ceremony. The temple opening therefore may be
fixed for the 16th or 17th whichever date sunits you and your
shastris. Tripuri cannot keep him beyond the 15th.

Yes, that Jenkins is that scamp of Poona. He has no repu-
tation to lose. Everyonein India knows him. It is a great pity
that the Spectator should publish a letter from this disreputable
scamp. The Sardar and Jawahar exposed him well enough and
Bapu says it would be no use demeaning onescll by replying
to him. .

When is Devdas returning to Delhi?

I I begin the milk experiment under yom roof, as I hope
to do, I will have to say until the 7th or 10th of March. My
wife and my boy will accompany mc.

Yours affectionatcly,
Mahadev
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Nrw DirHI,
January 30, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADLVBHAI,

I met Lathwaite last Saturday and after that T asked you to
send me all the papers relating to Jaipur, Rajkot and Bapu’s
correspondence with the Viceioy I met T aithwaite again today
and had a pretty long talk

On Saturday, when I mst him, he had kept a note, perhaps
dictated by the Viceroy himself, for being read to me. It was
mecant for Bapu as well as for m~ Ile had rcceived Bapu’s
last letter to which he had not rephed and the 1eply 1 a way
was meant to be sent through me The note sad something 'the
this

I have 1ecerved a very [niendly letter from Malatma and
find myself in agreement with a lot of what he sa,s  But I
fear he has falded to realise ray own difficuitics I have
«poken to Birla 1n the past frankly expressing niv views
about the position of the Indian ctates and also my sympathy
with the 1dea ol democritisation In fwt, o lot has been
done during the last twelve months of which no account 15
being taken I am collecting materiils to show what advances
have becn made generally 1n the Indian States during this
petiod

Rcsponeible govanment and  personal rule are two
opposite things Gandhijt knows how long it took the Indian
provinces 10 get responsible goy~rnment  In the States the
personal rule still ¢ontmues. It could aot be changed in
a day The time factor 15 of great rportance. Gandhjt
should therefore reahise the deliate task wWhiac® T have fo
petfoom And while my sympathies arc which the ultimate
object, I fear Ihave scrious c~mplaints to mahe aganst
Gandhuy that he 1s not helping my tish. In a way my hands
are being forced

Theie are two aspects of the question of the Indian
States. There 15 the administrative sphere and there 1s the
constitutional sphere. do far as thc administrative sphere is
concerned, the paramount power 15 entitled to interfere
for good government or {for better judiciary and tor such
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other sort of things. And I am ready to interfere for such
things.

As regards constitutiona’ advances it is nol possible
for the paramouni power to do anything. This is a matter
which entirely rests with the ruler himself. The princes
too are frightened. Even those princes who are supposed
to be advanced in domocracy are not free from troubles.
The cascs of Mysore, Travancore and Baroda could be
cited as examples.

As regards the specific cases of Jaipur and Rajkot, I am
not well versed with the facts. 1 know only what 1 have
seen in the Press. But it is my fecling about Rajkot that
what is sought to be done, there is being donce not purely
in the interest of the stute people but to establish supreme
control of the Congress over the state.

As regards Jaipur, I feel that what little has been done
by way of proclamation for establishing some Advisory
Board should have been given a fair trial.

This was the sum and substance of the aide memoire which
was read to me by Laithwaite.

I pointed out to him that as regards Jaipur T was well
acquainted with the facts and therelore could at once say that
1is Excellency was thoroughly misinformed. I related to him
the whole history and the part that I played to get a settlement.
Thereafter, to avert a crisis, | made the following suggestion on
my own behalf which I said I would put to Jamnalalji if it
were acceplable to the Durbar.

There were three points which threatened a crisis: (1) ban
on Jamnalalji, (2) rccognition of the Praja Mandal and (3)
relcase of €ihar prisoners.

The first thing was to remove the ban immediately. Laith-
waite said the time was very short and the matter too advanced
to retrace the steps. On this I made a suggestion that Jamnalalji
after being arrested may be left out of Jaipur territory. 1 would
try to persuade him not to go again soon on the condition that
the ban was removed thereafter and the question of recognition
of the Praja Mandal and the release of the Sikar prisoners
were taken up for negotiation with me. He said he would con-
sult His Exccllency about it but he agreed that Jaipur was
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simpler yproblem. [ told him that once Jaipur was out of the
picture, %e might then concentrate on Rajkot.

Last eYening 1 received all She papers from you which 1 read
very carcfully and this morning [ again had a talk with Laith-
waite for gver an hour. He said he had discussed the question
with His Excecllency and put himself in touch with the Durbar
and he found that the Durbar heid very strong views about
the whole situation. At the time when the thing had not comece
up in the Press, it would have been easier for him (Laithwaite)
to help but now the matter had gone too far. But the Durbar
could readily do one thing. They could arrest Jamna'alji very
puittely and leave him out of the border. And he added, “I can
also inform you m confidence that a new Dewan is going in
place of Beauchamp. 1 will not give you the rame buf I hope
and feel that he would be a more sympathetic and tactful man.
His Pxcellency also is going to Jaipur about the first week of
March. If Jamnalal)i could be persuaded to remain *off Jaipur
until the new man comes, [ feel every hope could be entertained
of the thing beiag made much morc pleasant. 1 admit that the
demand 15 not too big but therc has been a lut of complication
and 1 tind more than this 1 cannot do.”

1 replied, **This will not satinfy Jiunnalalji because the more
important thing is frecedom of specch and freedom of associa-
tion. Unless that i guaranteed, the problem is not solved. The
release of the Sikar prisoners could perhaps wait for some time
more but not the question or freedom  of speech and until that
is assured, Tdo net see how Icould persuade Jamnalalji to
kecp away from Jaipur.”

He said, “But surely the Praja Mandal has not been declared
ilfegal.”” 1 replicd, ‘It has not been declared illegal but the
implication of the Ordinance perhaps is this .thut. it cannot
function as a legal body. Can you assure me that entil the new
Dewan combs, the Praja Mandal would be altowed to function
as a legal budy although it may 1.t be recognised? Because
even then it would mean something.”

He again asked me, ““What are the evil consequences from
which the Praja Mandal suffers just now for not being recognis-
ed?” I said, “If it is allowed to function as a legal body, even
though 1t may not be recognised, then I don’t think in practice
it suffers, On the other hand, if the implication of the last
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Ordinance is tngt although it has not been declared illegal,
still it cannot be allowed to function, then the evil consequences
are obvious."” '

He said he could not say anything as to what would be
the position of the Praja Mandal but that he would let me know
tomorrow.

Then I opened the question of Rajkot. Laithwaite said,
“About Rajkot, it is a more difficult problem. A settlement was
arrived at between Sardar and the Thakur. We don’t know
anything about it. If we interpret the letter by the Thakur to
Sardar literally, then it means only this that while Sardar was
entitled to make recommendations, the nomination ultimately
rested with Thakur. There may have been a differcnt under-
standing but we don’t know what took pliace between the two
men and thereforc we have to put a literal interpretation on
the letter. The demand of the Muslim Leaguc does not seem to
be unreasonable and since we had no hand in the scitlement,
how could we be exvpected to press the Thakur?”

I replied, “The charge 1s that it is Gibson who is respon-
sible for this break.” He said, “But we don’t admut this charge.”
Itold him the cvidence was there which he said he had not
secn. The note of comversation between the Thakur and Gibson
could not be accepted as an authentic document.

About Orissa we had some discussion but nothing important
cmerged.

The net position of the Viceroy 1s covered in the note to
which T have made refercnce above. )

Laithwaite was also complaining that His Excellency felt
sote the way in which Gandhiji had touched the Orissa problem
in today’s Harijan. He said Gandhiji was not helping the
Viceroy at all_ in putting the things in such an unpleasant
language.

He agreed with me that the best way to avoid a crisis
would have bzen to clear the decks of some of the unpleasant
issues like Rajkor and Jaipur. But he feels that they too are help-
ing and their own helplessness is not taken into account fully.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas Birla
SYT. MAHADLVBHAI DISAI
BARDOLI
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January 31, 1939
MY DLAR PYAREI AT,

I have rieenved your letter of the 28+h January but not the
enclosure that vou <ay you are sending I am going today 10
Benares and on recerving the onclo ute, Iwill let yon know
what 1 hnve fot to sy My Be e wdidiess 1+ Buly House,
Lalghat,

Yours,
Ghan,hyamdas
SYT PyARIT AT
BArbOL T
21
Com BARDOLT,

January 11, 1939
DLAR 1 ORD LINI HTHGOW,

Snre KM Munshe, S rTaspottamdas and now Shni G D
Birla tcll me that my writings in Hargan about the Stotes hasve
been causing you cmbarrassment—more especially about Jaipur
I'have thetefore, suspended publicit on of the accompanving
article which 1 had dlreasy sent to the Manager of Haryun at
Poona

I need hutdly say that I'1ave no desire whatevé®i tc®do any-
thing that would ciuse you cmbarrascment, if I could avoud 1t
My purposc 1s to sceure justice for the people concerncd

How 1 wish 1t were possible fur you to take cflective action
in the threc cases mentioned by me 1n my previous letter!

May I expect a line as to what you would have me do about
the article under suspension?

I am,
Yowr s sincerely,

M K, Gandh
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! February 1, 1939
MY DEAR PYARELAL,

I have read the article which has been scnt to*the Harijan
about Chudgar’s interview with Beauchamp. After reading it,
1 don’t find anything scriously irritating. Rccently, after read-
ing Bapu's articles about the Indian Statcs, I have felt as if they
were written in a very rritated mood. Two sentences I distinct-
ly disliked. One was wheic he said that ‘military was making
merry at the expensc of innocent men and wemen’. The other
was about ‘orpanised goondaism’. There may be reasons for
writing in such strong terms, but 1n the first case no concrete
instance was given, and on the whole T felt that it was not the
language that Bapu generally u cs.

I was therefore rather frightened when Mahadevbhai told
me that Bapu was going t» publish Beauchamp’s correspon-
dence. But after reading it, 1 don’t think it 1~ m any way
stronger than the previous articles.

1t 1s very difficult 1o explain the position from here. But 1
don't agree with Bapu, if he thinks that Gibson and Beauchamp
are acting directly under the instructions of the Viceroy. It »
perfect truth when 1 say that Bzauchamp has bexn reprimanded
very strongly by the Viceroy for lus indiscreet behaviour and I
don't know f he has said anydhing to Gibson. But the Viceroy
did not know the part that Gibson was playing until he saw
cverything in the Press.

The Viceroy 1» not unsympathetic about advancement in the
states but he finds himse!f 2 victim of the circumstances. The
princes are umited and the Poltical Department officials have
acted i a® provecatine manner whom the Viceroy can check
only up to an eatent and he discovered all these things when
the mischief was done. And the Viceroy now finds, and com-
plain, for this, that Bapa is not helping him. I have strongly
presscd on him the necessity of establishing contact with Bapu
and he is thinking about it. Herc again he fears what would the
Princes say? He fears a strong resentment among the Princes in
case he takes any action. And he was never reputed to be 4 man
of imaginations though a man of honest habits and sympathetic
and fuir ideas. The value of all these complications must be cor-
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rectly asscssed to find out a solution I feel that if there was
personal cent it Bapu would b. able to find vut some solution
Mahadevbha: will 1c1ch here tomoriow evenmng and if T see
any po»sibility of domng omc constructine work, 1 will stay on
further, otherwise I will leave day afier tomortow for Calcutta
But the chief thing that 1v frightc uny me most 15 Bapu's
health I nevertook your letters very seriously and only a tew days
back Mahadcvbhar wrote to me that Bapu was all night But 1t
appeas after all you were right an I he was wrong This 1s rather
a disturbing factor Please kecp me well informed and press on
Bar the nue ssity of tikime entine 15t But would he Jo this
when there 1 troub'e mm Rykotand Jup 12 About Jaipur, I am
ull hhping some eood rosult Th Dewan t 2yng 1) be chainged
unle  omcthin unfrr cen hippens And the Viccroy himselt 1s
goHrigth re i the b ginning ol March
But 1boat R kot T im mere diflt lkent The Politicn Depart
meat hae tihbos up a vary formil tutude What ¢in we do?
How courd wi interpret the agreement i one way o1 the other?
And vven if the greement 15 broker how could we force the
Thakur to restore it Suppo 11 ¢ Gibson did something stupud
He mught be rcpuminde | ind wEod not to repeat such nir takes
m future But could we « ympel the Thil ur to restore the pact?”’
These things don t help 1ndas we hnow, the political Depart-
ment, when it wants to do omcething it cin But they can always
do som thinz bud and when 1 ¢omes t) doing something good,
the obstruction tomes frvm the princes, from the minor officials
ol the Po itical Depirim nt and the Vieeroy oven though he may
be sympiathetie, ind  him clf ho'ple  oeciuse he can always be
1epremanded from higher above, if he encreed the princes Thus,
1t 1s suggested, the position of the Viecroy 15 very Rreearious 1
am sull hoping that Bapu would be able to manage the affairs
successfully as he his done in the past
Your s,
Ghanshyamdas
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DELHI,
I cbruary 1, 1939
PYARLI AL
CARr MAHATVA GANDHUI
BARDOLI & WARDHA

PITASE WIRE DAII'Y BAPU'S HFALTH RFPORT ' NIII FLILY RECO-
VIRED HOPE WILT NOW TARL COMPLETI RIST AND SILENCL IEEL
ALARMID AM IiERT TU1 FHIRD

GHANSHY AMDAS

24

BARDOLI,
February 1, 1939
GIIANSIIYAMDAS BIRLA
ALBU QULRQUL ROAD
Niw Di1HI

JAIPUR ARIICLL WITHHLID ARRIVING IOMORROW TRONTILK MAIL.
BAPU WLAKR JIVRAJ ADVISID COMPLEII RIST IN BED FORINIGHT
LLEL TIIES MORNING

MAnADLY

25

WARDIAGANJ,
I ebruary 2, 1939
GHANSHYAMD \S BIRLA
Nrw DevLut

QUITE WFLT TARING NEEDLED REST NO ANXILTY,
Baru
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WARDHA,
February 3, 1939
GHANSHYAMDAS BIRLA
BirrA House
AIBUQUERQUt RoAD
New DLrLui

SWILLING MUCH REDUCED. TAKING PRACTICALLY FULL REST.
BLOOD PRESSURY 156/98 1 ASI NIGHT. JAMNAI ALJI M'UIST NOT WAIT
WITHOUT WRITTEN REQULST }ROM AUTHORITILS. HAVE MADI STATF-
MENI ABO' T JAIPUR GOVERNMINT COMMUNIQUI WIHOLLY UNSATIS-
1ACTORY.

Baru

27

Birra Hovse,
Nrw DrrHI,
I'cbiuary 3, 1939
ManaiMa GANDill
SLGAON
WARDHA

JATPUR ATFAIRS TIKETY 1AKE SATISIACTORY TURN AM SUGGLESTING
JAMNALALJL TO GIVI YURTHIR ONI 1ORINIGH, 3HTORE RETURNING
JAIPUR. MIANWINI | WORKING HARD FOR LITTING BAN PITASI AD-
VIS JAMNALALJI ACCORDINGI Y. AISO 1L A GOOD STATEMENT
FROM YOU ABOUT JAIPUR THIS STAGL WOULD HELP
GHANSHYAMDAS
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New DrLHI,
February 4, 1939
MAHATMA GANDHI
CARL JAMNALAL BaAJAJ
WARDUA

INASMUCIH AS POLICE OFFICLR IN CHARGF JAMANALALJI VIRBALLY
RIQULSITD HIM GIVE AUTHORITIFS TIME RECONSIDIR. MAY 1 ASK
JAMNALALIJI ADDRESS LEITIR 10 AUTHORITILS MINTIONING POLICK
OFFIC IR’S REQUI ST ABSURDITY OF COMMUNIQUE AND GIVING THEM
TIMI UNTIL TFIGHTH. AM SLNDING HIM DRAIT SUITABLF [FfTITER IF
YOU AGRI1 ADVISI 1IIM SIND [ LT1LR.

MAHADIV

29

SFGAON,
WARDHA,
I'cbruary 4, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSIIYAMDASII,

I have your letter of lstinst., which I shared with Bapu.
He would have liked to write to you himself but he was too
pre-occupied. You are night in thinking that Bapu must have
got ample reasons for using the language he did in Hartjan and
I shall show you why milder language should not be used.

The first refcrence, viz., “military was making merry at the
expenses O innocent men and women™, 15 to the happening in
the Orissa Statcs, Talcher and Dhenkanal. What are route
marches of troops into the blight-stricken wvilluges of Talcher
but “merry making at the expensc of the innocent men and
women”"? Because unfortunately British officer was killed, is
the whole countryside to be put under terrorism? After all
what had these poor villagers done to warrant the systematic
sending out of troops to overawe them? The troops could and
did go with a merry heart. They ran no danger. 1t was not a
risky march like, say, in Wzzirastan.
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As for *organised goondanism’, reports have been received
from Rajket of men being taken to distant places and stripped
naked and beaten. Whipping A%t has been promulgated. It was
wholly unnceessary. There was no violence by the pecople. What
is all this, ~if not organiscd goondaism? By the way, it is not
a new phrase either, coincd for the prescnt occasion. If you
refer to the files of Young India for the years 1919-22. you will
know how it first came to he used.

To understand Bapu’s present mood, it is necessary to sce
the nature of the challeng: that has been thrown to him. It is
the immorality of an agent of the British Government compeli-
ing an Indian ruler to broak his plighted word to his people
and the unblushing falschood with which 1t ha, teen sought to
bolster up that action that has set him abiaze. You know how
deeply his moral being 1s hurt and how adamantine he become
when a blatant inequity or falchood i, sought (v be forced
down his throat by an insolent power. The 1ecognition ginven to
the unholy Minoritics” Pact bv the British Government at the
second Indian RoundTable Conference is an instance in poine.
Bapu knows only one way of meeting such a challense, viz., ‘1o
resist it with his life’. Aud that is what he is out for in the pre-
sent case too. Let there be no manner of doubt about it.

With regard to the Viceroy, his profession of syvmpathy
would not carry us very far whilc the cntire weight of his qutho-
ity 15 being used to uphc.d the policy of Gibrun, Beauchamp
and Co. You have misjudged Bapu’, pesition when you plead
the Viceroy's incapacity to compel the Ruler to az2rec to any-
thing. It is Gibson who hes compe: :d the Thak<icsaheb to
break his woi1d. The Viceroy can surcl, 1equire Gilson to undo
the wrong donc by him. The Viceroy may not _have dircetly
inspircd Gilson to any coutse of action. But Eow tan he be
absolved tor the actions of his subordinatc agent? Would
Gibson have been toleratcd for a single mowent if he had
donc anything in opposition to the a.t.ority of the Imperial
Government?

1 sharc your anxiety with regard to Bapu's hcalth. My
sister will be daily sending you a bulicin «f his progress
till the normal condition is restored. I am today asking the
Civil Surgeon to make a thorough opthalmoscopic examination
of the condition of his retinal blood vessels. I feel uncasy. 1 do
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not see any prospect of his being able to have the degree of rest
that is nccessary for complete recovery. He has already written
to Jawahar and Bose to exempt 'nim from attendance at Tripuri
mainly on grounds of health. 1 wonder whether it is realized
how impecrative that ground is. And yet if the situafion deterio-
rates in Rajkot you arc sure to find him settle somewhere
within easy reach of Rajkot. I wonder whether the significance
of driving him to that in his present condition is realized.

Yours sincerely,

Pyarelal
SHRI GHANSHYAMDAS BIRI A
BirLA Houst
BALLYGUNJ
CALCUTIA
30
S1GAON,

February 6, 1939
DEFAR GHANSHYAMDASII, :

Your letter. 1 can’t exactly recall the enclosure referred to
by you. Very likely 1t was subsequentiy found to be irrelevant
and was not enclosed. You may, however, if you have still got
it with you, send back the original letter to help my memory.

chtc?duy. 1 sent you an important letter in reply to your
long one, to your Calcutta address. 1 posted a copy to Mahadey-
bhai too, in case you might sull be at Delhi.

Hcrewith today’s bulletin about Bapu. Yesterdays was
posted to Declhi in the cover addressed to Mahadey bhai.

Yours sincerely,
Pyarelal

LS. Would you kindly keep us posted with your pro-
gramme in advance?
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February 8, 1939
MY DEAR PYARELAI,

In your Ictter of the 6th you say that you have an impor-
tant letter 1n reply to nune to my Calcutta address. I will per-
haps read it tomorrow. I am going to Calcutta tomorrow and
will be there for two or thre¢ wecks.

Again the enclosure 1o your letter of the 6th, which you say
is 4 bulletin, has not been recerved by me.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SyT. PYARLLAL
SLGAON

32

Birr A Houst,
B NARTS,
I cbruary 8, 1939
DLAR SUSHILABEN,

Your letter of the 4th was very helpful in making me under-
stand clearly the positon of Bapu's health. I am®very much
reassured to find that it was all due to overw ork and that funda-
mentally there is no cause for alarm. What you say lcads me
to estimate a good prognosis and I hope Bapu will now strictly

adhere to the doctors’ advice so far as rest is concerned.
Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas

SUSHRI SUSHILABEN
SLGAON
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BirLA Housr,
LA1GHAL,
BENARIS,
Februory 8, 1939
MAHATMA GANDHI
CARf JAVINALALJL BAsas
WARDIA

JAMNAT ALIL TATRID PHONE HAVE ADVISED HIM THAT NOW GOING
AND COMP TTING FINM TO [HCL HIM THROUGH 1SL OF FORCE
WILL 100K CHEDISH AND  UNDIGNITTHD  MAHADIVBHAL AL SO
TAIR D ON PHONE WHO INDIP NDINTLY AGPLES WITIE ME 1 FIOT
TAMNALALIT SHOULD NOW AGAIN GIVE JAIPUR AUTHORITIES AMPLT
FIMY INC WRITING GIVING THIM € HHANCT 10 RIIRACT THEIR STEPS
AND WARNING TU D TY AGAIN 1T IHEY DON [ LIET BAN BUT SUCH
LHITIR INOPD R JO BI HILPEUL MUST 1 K PT PRIVATL  TAKING
WIDLR VIEW T Ei T AL THIS SIAGI IMPROVEMINI ATMOSPHLRY
IROM YOUR SID: WILT GO TONG WAY [0 HTIP RAIROT AND
JAIPUR PLIASE WIR' ML ATSO YOUR OPINION ( ARy LU CRY
GHANSITY AMDAS

PULRSHOT1 \M MANSION,
Orr Orrry Housr,
BoMBaAy 4,
F cbruary 8. 1939
MR D AR MAIADI Y,

1 got your letter along with 4 copy of the ,ub.tiwuee of your
comvcr atton with Mr. Laithwaite T am afraid T am not clined
to agree with you about your ¢st mate as to then attitude It
is d plomitic bat I'am afraid, not honest The Stutc sman has
wut.en the last article moie fiankly, but if we write or say
anything about a Gibson or a Beauchamp they will attribute
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motives to us There 1s no racial question involved n this It 15
a defens've attack on their protected citadel and they are
angry. TRey pretend 1gnotape: when 'lhc') arc convinced of
their guilt. Anyway, I see a fietce struggle ahead. I have no
doubt that Mr Gibsr a has organised forces ot goondarsm all
over Katluawar states In Iimd:, we see that the first over-
tact of his policy of which you will teel sorry to hear There
has beer three big dicottie; in which several people in twe
villages have been looted and wounded Armcu daco ts have
been let loose on nocent populauon in the villages in order
to terronse the peop's who ate iessting the tvranny ol the
«tee For the st 23 davs people hase been sitting 1ound
the pdace askingtor an 1aquiry but thete 1s no response from
the st e Bas havine a bad tim~> All this happns not mercly
with the cornivance ¢ Gibson, but o nuie be vwirn us instige.  n

You,s surcerely,

V Jlabhbhai

Surt Manaviy Disat
Biri A Housi
Niw D

Birr A Housr,
Atrtovire 1 RoAD,
e« NIW Dt
Febivaty 9 1939
MY DT AR GHANSHYAMD ASI,
You mwt have seen Jawaharl Vs statemeat on the states
It looks a5 though there 1> going 1) be no settlement and we
ate gomng to break on this issue Look at the pua ] have marked
in Rajkumart’s letter to mz (enclosed herewith) You can judge
the temper of Wardha {rom this And .f Government go on
supportrag cong nital 1diots Itke Sir Beauchamp, 1 do not really
se2 whit clse can happan [ have no telegram yet from Bapu, but
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I am now beginning to fear that there will be no telegram and
Bapu may take no step whatsoever. Look at Pyarelal’s letter
too.
Yours affectionately,
Mborhadev

36

WARDHAGANY,
February 9, 1939

GHANSHYAMDAS Bini A
Lucky
CALCUTTA

1 THINK BIST TTAVE JAMNALALII DO ACCORDING HIS INSTINCT.
1 DO NOT APPRECIATE SINDING NOTICH, LT HIM SUFHIR I} Hi

MUST.
Barv

STGAON,
February 9, 1939
DI AR GHANDSHYAMDASII,

Bapu's condition remains much the same. The swelling had
almost disappeared 2 days ago. It is a little more obvious today.
Cul. Hokodinatrai saw him today. He thought the heart sounds
were much weaker than when he saw him before going to
Bardoli. He insisted that Bapu must take at least a fortnight’s
rest, and that he should not go to the Congress. Bapu said he
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could not 1est after having let the fire 1n so many places He
would rather die in harness than Iive 1n cotton wool There 1s
no hope ot* his getting mental 1est undet the present circum-
stances God wil' look after him We all try to give him as
much rest as‘pomble an ! he too does try 1o be caretul But he
15 helpless 1 will send you further news after Dr Jivray and
Gilder have been here

Yours sincerely

Sushila

PS Kindly ke~p us posted as to your movements

CAIVLUTIA,
I (bruary 10, 1939
MY DI AR PYAREI AL,
I tound yo u letter of the 4th awaiting me here 1 returned
here on the last cvening
TgH Bipus telegram about Tamnalaly’s third visit to
Jaipur I ierce, let hum do what he thinks to be the best al-
though I do not Iike this cat nd mouse pelicy 1 again dis-
agre: with Bapu about the words  orginised goondaism®  and
“birbarous’ uscd 1bout what Young did In the first statement
issued by Jamnalaly he admitted that the police was very polite
to him During lus seconi visit to lapur, from all accounts
recerved 1t 15 agreed that the police behaved polgely with him
and even when they 1emoved him forubly, when he refused to
sit 1n the car, Damodar himself says piblicly that Young had
asked his men to it Jamnilalp ‘very catefully™ The action in
itselt may be wrongz but the police officc  who carnes out the
orders of the supenor to leave Jamnalalj out of the boundary
of the state and which was done with the utmost politeness,
cannot bz callcd enher ‘ barbarous’ or inciting “organised
goondatsn: ° I also wonder how this would change the “heart”
of Young or his superiors,
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I was rather alarmed today to hear from Bidhan that the
report he had received about Bapu’s health was not quite good.
Let him take rest, and let God look after Rajkot and Jaipur. 1
am meeting Dr. Roy tonight. Meanwhile please keep me well
informed about Bapu’s hcalth.

I do not see any task for myself just now, but will continue
to keep myself” in touch with the other side, and if there is
anything which necds Bapu’s attention, I will let you know.
At the same time, please keepme well informed about Bapu’s
mind.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

MR. PYARTI AT
SEGAON

39

DirHi,
February 10, 1939
MY DIAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

Yes, we should now concentrate all our effort on getting
Moore! to undeistand Bapu thoroughly and to put up his
best effort. I have faithin that man’s honesty—though he 15
shightly stolid—and he can, if he is so mindad, do a lot.

Look at the enclosed letter ftom Valabhbhar. And see the
line 1 have marked. It scems our party is hardly likely to go to
Godavari (or Kashi)

Yours affectionarely,
Mahadev

‘rthws Moore was the cditor of the Stutesman —G.D.B.
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SFAGAON,
WARDHA,
February 10, 1939
DFAR BIRLAJI,
T have your letter
Yes, I know, the bulletin did not go with your letter after
all I posted one copy to Mahadev and then was told that there
were no more copies left As 1t was time for the post Lo leave,
nothing could be done then Sushila had 1t appears given 'nstiu-
ctiens to send same bulletins by bookpost to sonic other prople
As [ was going to write to you they did not send you anything
by book post and at the same time exhausted the copies that
bd been made
With regards to the missing enclosure 1n the previous letter
too I hive a funt recollection that when 1 told Bapu that [ was
intending to send you certain enclosuies he depreciated the 1dea
a it was not worth the while
Bipu’s blood-pressure for the last two diys has shown
marhcd improvement Today it stood at 15896 at 1 p m No
bulletin 15 bemnsg 1sucd thrday Dr Gilder and Mehty are coming
on Saturday Ihe present improvement might be due to less
chilly weather and perhaps the CO baths which S 18 giving
Yours sincerely,
Pyarelal

41

CAICUTTA,
February 11, 1939

DEAR SRI PYARFLAI JI,
Shri Ghanshyamdasyt Birla wou'd like to have a copy for
his file of the letter addressed by Mahatmaji to the Viceroy
recently. This was brought by Shri Mahadevbhai Desai to Delhi
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and was handed over to the Private Secretary to the Viceroy by
Birlaji personally. Pleasc send me the copy to the above address.
Thanking you,
Yours,
Secretary to
Shri G. D. Birla

SHRI PYARri1 AL D
WARDIIA

42

Bulletin on Bapu’s Health

SIGAON,
February 11, 1939

Bapu was examined by Dr. Gilder and Dr. Jivaraj Mechta
today. An clectrocardiogram was also taken. The latter showed
a certain amount of weakness of the heart muscle.

The examination confirmed that there was both deficiency
of the kidney and the heart functions. Advice given was the re-
petition of the old formula that he must take morc rest. The
exertion both physical and mental should be cut down to the
minimum and travelling avoided as far as possible.

The swelling has agam increased from yesterday. The cxa-
mination of the urine shows congestion of the kidneys.

The weather has warmed and so the b.p. is tending to come
down. Today the reading at 5 a.m. was 166/100 at 11 a.m.
Dr. Gilder took his B. P. and it registered 170,10..

S. Nayar
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CARL LUCKY,
BirLA Bros. L1D.,
CAICUITA,
I ebruary 11, 1939
PYARIT AL
CARt MAHATMA GANDIIUI
WARDITA

DOCTOR ROY I NAMINID RIPORIS SENT BY SUSIHIABIN NOT SATIS-
FITD WILH CONDITION I SUGGHSILD ROY GO 1O Y ARDIIA. Pl TASS
WIFL BAPL™S  ONSLNL AND DATI

{3IHANSHYAMDAS

44

CATCUTIA,
February 17, 1939
MY D' AR MAHADI A BHAIL

11 1d tue oniginal letter from Pyerclal and as you rightly 1e-
matk, 1t does net 1cad very preasart Perliaps in the atinosphere
ot Delhr I o ould tealis2 all that 15 happenmng in Rajhot But how
does the Rajhumari think that my cea  1g to be conciiatory will
at all help’

1 am writing to Laithwaite again But 1if I bave hnown ihe
habit of the Vicetoy, whatover he desires to do, Lie®will &o at Ins
own aceord and cven it he hkes my suggeestion, he wi'l not give
me any inkling of his mind Lct us hope for the bes!

I distinctly don’t ike Bapu calling © ng’s tactics s o1ga-
nised goondatism”, 1 have alicady wuitten to him about it

Yowrs sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SyT. MAHADEVBHAI DESAT
NEW DeiHI
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Bulletin on Bupu’s Health

SEGAON,

WARDHA,

February 12, 1939

Bapu slept on the Verandah last night according to Dr.

Gilder and Dr. Jivraj Mehta's advice. He did not like it so that

he lay awake in bed till 11 p. m. and not get any sleep after

prayers cither.

For the rest there is no change in his general condition.

Swelling remains the same. B.P. this morning was 170/100.
After mid-day slecp, it is 162/100.

S. Nayar
46
Bulletin on Bapu’s Health
SEGAON,
WARDHA,

February 13, 1939

Bapu slept outside last night and so had good sleep.
Yesterdiy anu today have been busy days on account of Harijan
work and visitors.

The diet contiuues to be low, but the weight is not going
down. It is thought to be due to certain amount of fluid reten-
tion in the system.

Swelling has not gone down.

The b.p. today in the morning and after noon was 176/106.

S. Nayar
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47
WARDHA,
February 13, 1939
GHANSHYAMDASJI
Lucky
CALCUTTA

GILDER JIVRAT EXAMINID YESTCRDAY B.T DR. ROY HAS RIGHI
(OML WHEN HF 1 IKES

Bapu

48

CALCUTTA,
February 14, 1939
MY DFAR PYAREI AL,

Doctor Roy will be leaving this place about the 22nd for
Wardha. I hope before he 1eaches, Bapu’s blood-pressure will
have come down and he will be much better Doctor Roy 1
rather upset about the weakness of his heart He says once the
weakness has begun 1t may disappear only to come agamn
He does not.ike also alb.min mn urine, but 1n any casc he 1s
cemung Please read this portion of the letter to your sister.

Arthur Mooic had a longchat wi 1 me They are all puzzled
at bapu’s article Not tha! anybody suys that he <hould drop
the fight, but what they do not undeistand is the use of stiong
language. He told me that lus own information fidIn the Govern-
ment of [ndia was that they Jhnk 1t 1s the Thal ur who 1s taking
shelter b.hund the Resident and 15 setting up the Congiess and
the patamount power against each ' er I would not be sur-
prised 1f it 1s true. Ol course, I am not competent to say any-
thing except thus that I am fully convinced that the Viceroy tells
me what he belicves to be correct and 1t he 1s not found to be
doing anythung, 1t 15 beciuce of his own difficulty. Gibson and
Beauchamp weie both invited to Delhi, but I do not know what
1s the result I was given a distinct impression, however, during
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the course of my conversation with Laithwaite that the repress-
jon that was continuing in Rajkot and about which he said he
had no information would be stopped if it was found to be a
fact. Moore thinks personal contact will be of great help, and
he is gomng to Delhi to sec the Viceroy. If necessarg, he may go
to Wardha. Please inform Bapu about this.

Please tell Subhila that I am thankful to her for secnding me
the bulletins. 1 hope she will continue to send these so long as
Bapu's health is causing anaiety.

Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas
MR. PYARLI AL
SEGAON
WARDHA
49
Niw Dioniy,
1 chruary 14, 1939
GIIANSHYAMDAS
Luckhy
CALCULIA

PLLASL TALK 10 ME TODAY URGENT.
MAHADEV

S0

CALCUTTA,
February 15, 1939

MY DEAR MALIADLVBLAIL,
Moore again came to sce me this morning and he told
me that he had written to the Viceroy about the necessity
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of establishing personal contact. I, on further consideration,
decided not to talk on phone but 1 havg today sent a tclegram
saying that 1 hoped that thg opportunity offered by the new
communication from Wardha will be fully utilised.

Moorc oold me th.t hec would press the necessity of the
intervention of the paramount power at this stage. He said it
wis absurd to say that there should be no intervention. There
were preccdents for that. Ngbha and Indore were instances t&
the point.

I will lix up my plans as soon as 1 hear of any further deve-
lopment.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SyT. MAHADEVBIIAT Lersal
Niw Dirui

51

CALCUTTA,
February 18, 1939
MY DI AR PYARILAL,

It appeare Bapu's health s gradualiy improving. You know
he humselt is generally very caretul about it and 1t at times he
looks a hittle careless, 1t 15 because < the call of people on him.
The way 1n which hLe 15 thinking of curt: Jing pravritt and
depending moie on sankalp shows how he 1s (rying to conserve
every ounce of his energy for the good of the*world. 1 should
like to sugeest to him the necessity of curtailing teiviews and
correspondence drastically I dare say he mu.t lumsell be think-
ing about it and it he does, plcase te.! ' ow strongly I feel that
he should take an immediate decision.

1 am expecting to hear from you the outcome of Sublas’s
interview with Bapu. From what I have heard about it—and the
source of information s reported to be Subhas Babu himself—
1t appears that Bapu has insisted on his choosing his own
Cabmet and carrying out his own programme of giving six
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months’ ultimatum and then starting a fight. I am not quite
sure what would be thg consequence of all this. It is clear that
he alone cannot catry on the fight. And I dare say Bapu can-
not help him in such a fight so long as he remains unconvinced
about the nccessity of the same. But would it shen mean
leaving the ficld free to him. I am surc Bapu has a planin his
mind.

*  Arthur Moore saw me twice.and 1 understand from him
that he has already written to the Viceroy about the necessity
of establishing personal contact. 1 hope it will be done.

1 am likely to lcave Calcutta shortly. There was a time
when I had decided to go to Delhi via Wardha. But in vicw of
Bapu’s health, I don’t fecl inclined to go to Waidha. Plcase let
me know how would Bapu wish.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SHRI PYARELAL
SEGAON

52

WARDHA,
February 18, 1939
GHANSHYAMDAS BIRLA
Lucky
CALCUTTA

TILL BIDHAN BARDOLI CANCLLLED. NO ANXIFTY.
Baru
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SEGAON,
WARDHA,
trebruary 18, 1939
DEAR BIRLAIJI,

Bapuji received your letter today. You might have reccived
his telegram in reply. .

As 1equested, I am enclosing copy of the Viceroy’s letter to
Bupu and also of his own Ictter to him,

There has not been much change in the gencral condition of
Bapu's health. The swelling of the feet has subsided. The urine
1s free from albumin. He has also not been experiencing spasms.
The excietion of urca is also satisfactory. Lven though the
quantity of urine 15 not much, the kidneys are functioning no.-
mally. All this goes to show that there is an all round impro-
vement. The defect in the urine was due to the congestion of
the kidneys.

Yours sincerely,
Pyarelal

54

THE VICEROY'S HOUSE,
New DELHI,
February 19, 1939
DFAR MR. GANDHI,

Thank you very much for your letter of 12th tebruary. I do
not in the least musunderstand your decision to publish the
article which you were kind cnough to let me sce. You will
have secn that Sir Beauchamp St. John has now 1n terms stated
his version of the interview which took place.

1 greatly appreciate your kind suggestion, at a time when
1 am sorry to hear that you have been enjoined by your doctors
to take things quietly, that you should come and have a talk
with me about the position generally. You know I think, that [
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am always very ready to see you and 1 am glad to think that
we should have had the opportunity in the past to make
personal contact with each other. I am very ready, if you
wish me to do so, to consider our having a talk now. But 1 am
inclined myself to think that we should do better 4o postpone
our meeting for a littlc while. 1 will tell you quite frankly why
I think so. On previous occasions when we have met we have
been able to arrange the meeting.as to avoid any special ante-
cedent publicity over it, and we have met, too, at a time when
the general atmosphere has bzen calm and when there has been
an absence of strain and of urgent public 1ssue on which public
altention was immediately and prominently focussed. You and
I may be surc that our own conversations would proceed in an
atmosphere of caim and understanding. But as you know 1 and
I realise you too have to give consideration to many other
interests, and my general {eeling 15 that, much as I always wel-
come sceing you, our meetings serve the most useful purpose
when they can take place in the same circumstances as they
have before, and that the present moment, when the reconcilia-
tion of various opposing views and interests presents a problem
of some delicacy, 1s onc at which the avoidance of misconstruc-
tion, or the raising of hopes which might not admit of fulfil-
ment, 1n any quarter, is of great public importance. You know
me, I think well enough to realise that in saying what I have
it 1» from no lack of appreciation of an offer which, particularly
at this time, 1 value. But you and 1, as public men, have to take
account in our decisions of their reactions outside; and we have
both of us to avoid raising hopes or disappointing expectations,
for which we have no responsibility. If, however, having read
what I have said above, you still think we might meet, it would
be a greia pleasure Lo ine Lo see you again as there are now very
few days before 1leave here on the 24th for Iratnagar, I would
frankly prefer that it should, if possible, be after T return from
my Rajputana tour.

Yours sincerely,

Laithwaite
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SEGAON,
WAaARDH\ (C P),
I'ebruary 20, 1939
DI AR GHANSHYAMDASII,

After such a long time T am toda able to sit down to v utg
to you at peace ‘

You are ught about Bapu I am hcping that he will not fail
to do necdful 1 regata to hus health winch aftor all he looks
after as asputual bar s Ony he does nut Do weve in ‘health
at « v prce ot {or the matter of that on “hfe ac all cost™ |1
can nevet foreet a line which a frend sent 1o him as a Christ-
mds souvenit two vears azo It was C The cand ¢ an giving
forth hght consumetl, nsell 1t 18 the fate of all God’sm -
erger to con ume themselves to fill dark would with His
tadiance

Subhas was hure, closctted with Bapu tor threc hours. The
rcpott that hias appeated n the Piess 18 substantially correct.
As1 svrote 1o ,ou betore, Bapu’s outspoken adviee fell absolu-
ly flat cpon Ium He 1s oat for a pet~onar adventure { wondat
whote tne cew on whose shoulder, he has mounted to this
I restdential chan will Jand him 1t s @ dangetovs crev  But
Bapu hopes that 1f he can ightly put ito operation the whole
techmque of non-violence, 1t will be well with the Congiess and
the couw try *

In the mean ume an miozuing 15 like y to arise 11 the newt
A1 C C mectmg which 1t 1s learnt 1 by majortey hihe v tovote
tor samty Conlabulations here are suli procceding  You will
know cverything in a day or two bapu will most fikely 1ssue o
statement Lo the Press.

As 1n the case ot Jaipur, 1n Rajhot too there are Likdly to be
some 1ntcie ung and uncapected entiants 1ito the tests soon
But 1 must name no names 1t will be for Ba to have more dis-
tinguished company

Yours sincerely,
Pyairelal
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SEGAON,
WARDHA,
February 21, 1939
DEAR LORD LINLITHGOW,
1 am much obliged to you for your cordial and frank letter.
In the circumstances I shall await the time tha* you may consi-
der appropriate for our meeting.
I am,
Yours sincerely,
M. K. Gandhi
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SEGAON,
WARDHA,
February 22, 1939
DLAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

I find that an assiduous attempt is being made n a certain
section of the Press to create an impression that there was
some sort of “understanding’™ or “compromise™ arrived at
between Bapu and Subhas Bose as to the future programme of
thc Congress. If this implics uny manner of acquicscence or
agreement on the part of Bapu as to the policies ihat Bose 1s
professing to advocate, it is altogether erroneous and mislead-
ing. Bapu madu it absolately clear to Bose that he could not
expect any kind of co-operation n his new policies from the
members of the old cabinet. But Bapu may not i>suc a state-
ment to counteract this propaganda at the present juncture, as
it is likely to be misunderstood and exploited by intercsted
partics.

In response to a wirc from Bose and Dr. Sunil, Bapu has
decided to postponc the final taking of a decision on the main
issuc in the present meeting of the W.C. Members may, how-
ever, address him a letter to say that they are ready with their
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resignation as soon as he is ready to accept them. In the mean
time Bapu,’s mind is more and more being exercised over the
situation 1n Limbdi and Ragkot. In the latter place torture of
satyagrahis under arrest has led to a big hunger strike on the
part of a lange number of satyagrahi prisoners, including several
trusted old workers and colleagues. This is serious matter from
Bapu’s point of view—knowing as we do how such experience
on the part of those whom he has tried through and in whose®
integrity and alimsa he has perfect faith pains him. le has
already wired to the fir-t member to stay his hand and to tell
him with what difficulty hec is restraining himself from plung-
ing in.

Today at noon, after his sleep, his b.p. unaccountably gave
an abnormal reading 186/114-16. It suspects some latent causc
for temporary excitement which we do not know.

1 expect the distutbance to be temporarsy and for the present
am not wornied over it.

Yours sincerely,
Pyarelal

PS. With regard to your coming to Wardha, Bapu
through an oversight failed to say anything. 1 shall ask
him again on the first opportunity, but [ may tell you
this much straight away that, so far as Bapu’s state of
health is concerned, it need not deter you at all. If you
do not come in hurry with the intention of returning in
still greater hurry, your visit instcad of adding to the

tension may have a relaxing effcct.
P.L.
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WARDHA,
February 24, 1939
PRIVATE SLCRITARY
10 H E Tir VICFROY
Nrw Ditni
HAVE WIRI D TO FIRST ML MBTR RAJKOT AS FOI LOWS ‘IF Al L REPORTS
RFCIIVED I APRICATION I IS SERIOUS fOR MI AND CO-WORKFRS IF
THERL 1S SUBSTANCI IN THLM 11 IS SLRIOUS REEITCTION ON SEAIL
AUTHORITH'S MEANWHII T HUNGIRSIRINI CONTINULS MY ANMIETY
UNBIARABIYV  [HIRIFORI | PROPOSI SIART Ol RAJROI  IOMORROW
NIGHT TASING WIITH ME MIDICAL  AITENDANT SECREIARY AND
TYPIST I COMI IN S*ARCH Ol TRUIH AND AS PIACIMAKRIR  HAVE
NO DISIRI COURT ARRIST I WANT 10 ST THINGS FOR MYST1 T AND
SHAIL MAKI AMPLI AMINDS IF MY CO-WOPKIRS TIAVI 1 IN
GUILTY OF FABRIC ATTION 1SHALL AISO PITAD WIITT THAKORI S\ P
10 RIPAIR BRUIACH OI FAITH WILH HIS PIOPIT 1 SHALL ASK
PLOPLL TO AVOID DEMONSIRATIONS AND AM  ASKRING S\RDAR
PONDING MY THFORT IN RAJROI IO SUSPIND SAIYAGRAMA 4y
PIRSONS IN RAJANOT OR IROM  OUISIDI  IF BY ANY CHANCE
THAKRORESAIE B AND COUNCIL € AN R SIORF PACT INIACT SUBJLC1
IO ADJUSIMENT O MIMBERS AND PRISONIRS ARI IMMIDIATIT Y St |
TRIL AND FINIS RISTORID [ NATURALLY CANCIT MY PROPOS D
DIPARILRI YOU C AN SEND OFFICIAL WITH FULL  AUTHORILY 10
NEGOTIATL ADJUSIMINL AS 10 PIRSONNIL MAJORIMY OF SARDAR
NOMINTES WIH L Bl A CONDITION MAY GOD GUIDI THARORISALL B
AND HIS COUNCIITORS  MAY I INPECL IXPRESS WIRT »—GANDHITY
PLEASI PLACE THIS BITORE HIS EXCHILINC Y
GANDITT
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Birr A Housr,
New Drru,
March 7, 1939
MAHATMA GANDHI
RAIKO1

IN SPIRIT WITH YOU GOD KFTP 1ONG TO LIGHT OUR PATIH TOVI
PRANAMS,
G1TaANHSY AMDAS
MAHADLY
Dy yvpas

60

ViLiroy’s Camp,
InDIA,
Moeich 10, 1939
MY DI AR MR DISAT
I have ounlv just eot this back from H T who as! s me to
th.nk you very mich for your couttesy in sending 1t to him,
and to say that he has 1ead it with grea* iterest As vou know,
we now ypeet the Mahatma on Wednesday at 11, and with
his permission I have just so informed the Press I hope he 18
beginning to get over the recalts of his fast, thoagh 1 ace he 1,
again hard at woik,
I hope you too are feching a httle better and mote re ted
We may mect on Wednesday
Youwrs simccrcly,
J.G Laithwaite

Manaprv Drsal, LsqQ.
BirLA Houst
NEw DrLHI
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. Mar-h 10, 1939
MY DEAR MR. LAITHWAITF,

1 am grateful to you for your kind note of the 10th and
more grateful than I can say for His Excellency’s kind message
that he found time to go through my article.

If I pursue the matter I do so only to leave no doubt, as
far as it may be humanly, in His £xcellencv’s mind on the very
vital question that he put to me. My anxiety grows by reason
of the fact that I hear that assiduous propaganda is still being
carried on in Rajkot to make out that Gandhiji went to Rajkot
with the intention of fasting and thereby stirring up a country-
wide agitation.

How I wish I was composed enough, on the day I had the
privilege of that interview with His Excellency, to explain to
him at length the processes leading up to his various fasts. 1
would not think of seeking another opportunity to do so, but |
would implore His Excellency to begin his heart to heart talk
with Gandhiji by asking him to clear up the matter. Lord
Irwin, 1 know, when he had those long talks with him which
led to the “Irwin—Gandhi Truce”, asked him many such ques-
tions of a personal nature, and this resulted in an intimate
personal bond between them.

1 pester you with this, with only onc object, and no other.
1 am praying for an atmosphere of understanding and friend-
liness not only here but in Rajkot, and let no circumstance mar
the possibility of great results to come.

An article I wrote for the Annual Number of The FHindustan
Times on the 18th February when I did not know that Gandhiji
had any intertion of going to Rajkot provides a study in the
workings of Gandhiji’s mind. 1 enclose a copy for you, and
perhaps even for His Excellency to while away a half an hour
with—if indeed you have that time to spare. I flatter myself
that it may provide a good diversion from the cares of office
whilst, it may perhaps add to His Excellency’s understanding

of Gandhi the man.
Yours sincerely,

Mahadev Desai
J.G. LAITHWAITE, ESQR.
Viceroy's HoUSE
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62
From Gandhift to Linlithgow

BirLA House,
Nirw DELHI,
. March 16, 1939

I had hoped to send you this letter in the afternoon. But
from the Viceroy’s House I went directly to the prisoners in
the Delhi Juil who were hungerstriking. Contrary to my cxpec-
tations 1 had to be with them for full two hours. 1 am happy to
be ablc to say that they listencd to me and broke (heir fast in
my persence. They were being forcibly fed. 1 am now writing
to Sir Reginald Maxwell about their discharge.

1 now reduce to writing what 1 tried to explain in thes course
of our conversations. As 1 read your telegram, the Chicf Justice
is Lo nterpret the lelter given to Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel on
the 26th December last by the Thakore Saheb. Assuming that
it accords with our contention, the Committee has then to be
sct up with scven nominces of the Sardar and three officials
nominated by the Thakore Saheb, the Thakore Sahcb selecting
the persident of the Committee out of the ten.

The next thing contemplated in your telegram 1s that if there
is a difference of opinion between the Sardar’s nonmunees on the
onc hand and the officials on the other as to the meining of
the Notification of 26th December, the Chief Justice is to be the
referee whose decision will be final. Thi. as I recad your telegram
is its technical mecaning, so far as the framing of thc constitu-
tion is concerned, the majority decision should prevail.

This letter need not go further <o far as mmy pfomise Lo writc
to you on the two points raised by me is concerned. But per-
haps it is fair to you for me to draw attention to the fact that
the adviscrs of the Thakore Saheb have committed him to
certain nominations from which commitment 1t might be em-
barrassing even for the paramount power to recede. I refer to
the nominations of two Mussalman members and onc Bhayat.
Perhaps you are aware of this difficulty and also of the several
way-outs that I have suggested. If you are not, I shall be glad
to explain them to you. As [ reflect upon our conversation, it
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secms to me that it was inconclusive in more ways than one.
Consideration for your time was wecighing heavily upon me,
and as everything else, as 1 thopght, appeared to You to be
smooth sailing, I did not wish to take you any further. You
will agree that there should be no misunderstanding about the
several steps that have to be taken for implementing the condi-
tions in terms of which I broke the fast. It would be terrible, if
it becomes my duty to object to any step after it is announced.
I therefore suggest that I should be made aware beforehand of
the announcement or announcements that may have to be made
in connection with the Rajkot affair.

And then there are, as I mentioned to you, several other
matters brought out by me i what has been termed my ult-
matum to the Thakore Saheb and about which assurance has
heen given to me in your two telegrams. Another conversation
between us <ecms to me to be neceswary for a proper and final
clucidation of the various points atising out of the inter-
change of the telegrams between us. As I think over the hurried
talk that you gave me about the states in general and the
policy you contemplate to adopt in the immediate future, a feel-
ing of disturbance creeps over me. | do not want to reduce to
writing, unless you desire otherwise, the vague fear that is
scizing hold of me on the assumption that 1 have understood
you correctly. 1 would theretore like to have the interview for
this purpose also.

Could you please send me a time?

63

BircA Housr,
New DiLHI,
March 16, 1939

DI AR SIR RLGINALD,
Mahadev Desai has given me a list of his talk with you when
he delivered my ictter to you. I thank you for giving him the
time you did. He told me of the suggestion you made, As |
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wanted to take no step without knowing the prisoners’ wishes
I'sent him to them. And I am able to gay that Iam satisfied
that they have no beliet in violence as a method tor achieving
India’s ficedom and they Lave no intention of joining any orga-
nisation whooe activity 1s violent. T hope that on the strength
of this letter, you will be good cnough to announce the 1elease
of the prisoners unconditionally 1 hope now that the condition
about movem:znt from provinee to province will be entirely
waived

Yours sinecrely

M K Gandin

N1~ Hox. SIR RiGINAL D M, MAXWITT

CS1,C0T
Howvt Miviir
GOVIRNAD NI OF INDIA
NTw Dirnt
64

Nrw D, tnr,
Marc 16 1939
DI AR SIR RIGINAI D,

Owing Lo factities hindly goven to sac I was able 1o <ee the
three prisoners on hungerstrihe m the Dellu Jul and I am glad
to be able to say that they aceepted my advice and gave
1t up perhaps it s more corredt to say caspendel it 1Otried to
persuade tham to give the assurance required by the Govern-
ment But they said they did not want o purchase then fice-
dom by giving any undertaking Tney were prisonars without
any tral and so they should be discharged without any
condit.on a, so many others have been discharged I {clt the
force ot their objection. But I told them that in order to cnable
me to woik for theu release, they should give me satisfaction
that thzy believe 1in the Congress policy of non-violence and
that they would work under the Congress This they readily
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agreed to do, and they gave me too a letter reducing their
assurance to writing. But they wanted to make it plam to me
that I was not to use that letter (for securing their freedom, nor
to ask the Government to discharge them on the strength of
that letter. I wish you could see your way to discharge these
prisoners unconditionally. If you do so, it will strengthen my
hands in the prosecution of my mission of non-violence on the
political field. .

I sec in the letter that was sent to me by Mr. Puckle another
condition that they should not enter this or that province.
Surely it is a superfluous condition. If the Governments of the
provinces concerned do not want them to remain within their
jurisdiction they would issue orders of prohibition. Why should
the Government of India attach thosc conditions?

I am sending this letter with Mahadev Desai so that he can
give you, if you require it, a graphic description of the conver-
sation that took piace between the three prisoners and mysell.

Yours sincerely,

M.K. Gandhi

Tuc HoN. SIR RiGINALD M. MAXWILL

CS. 1., ITC,
HoMe MFMBIR
GOVIRNMINT OF INDIA
New DEersi
65

From Gandhiji to Lord Linlithgow

BirLA Housr,

Nr.w DELHI,

March 17, 1939

1 now return the draft reference to the Chief Justice of India

which you kindly gave me yesterday. I showed it to Sardar

Patel and neither he nor I wish to add anything to it. I have
taken a copy of the document,
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I tender my apology again for having taken so much of your
time yesterday. I hope however that you think as I do that it
was well dpent, if only for avoiding, as far as it is humanly
possible, any futurc misunderstanding on the Rajkot matter.

I thank ,you once more for introducing me to Lady
Linlithgow.

66

To the Hon’ble Sir Maurice Gwyer, KCB, KcsI, Chief Justice
of India

1 have the honour to enclose copies of the following docu-
ments:

(a) Rajkot Darbar Notification No. 50 dated December
26, 1938.

(b) Note sent by the Thakore Saheb of Rajkot to Mr.
Patel on the same date.

Doubts have arisen as to the meaning which should be
attached to these documents, and 1 am to request the favour of
your advice as to the way in which the should be interpreted.

The immediate point on which yur advice is required
relates to the manner in which the Committee which the
Thakore has undertaken to set up should be composed. In
regard to this point the Thakore contends that, whule he invited
Mr. Patel to submit his recommendations as to the names of
the non-official members to be appointed to serve on the
Committee, he retained full liberty to make the final appoint-
ments of these mcmbers himself, that is to say, that he left
himse'f free to accept or reject the recommendations put
forward. Mr. Patel on the other hand contends that the
Thakore Sahcb by his note of the 26th December 1938 bound
himself to accept all the recommendations put forward by Mr,
Patel,
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The Thakore Saheb and Mr. Patcl have been asked to
submit in writing any representations which they may wish to
make in support 0f their respective views. These representations
will be forwarded to you when they have been received. Should
you consider it necessary or desirable afier rpceiving these
written representations that the parties concerned should be
given a hearing, arrangements will be made accordingly.

1 am to request that you will be goo.! enough to communi-
cate your decision a» to the way in which the Committec should
be composed as soon as you are ina position to do so. The
Committec will then be sel up accordingly. Thereafter should
any difference of opinion arise between the members of the
Committec as to the meaning of any other portion of the docu-
ments mentioned above, a further reference will be made toyou
for favour of your advice as to the interpretation which should
be attached thereto.

67

BirLA Houst,
N1w Diru,
Murch 17, 1939
DLAR SIR,

I thank you for your letter of the 16th inst. and, as de.ired
therein, am sending herewrth the original note signed by the
Thakore Saheb of Rajkot, dated the 26th December, 1933,

I alsp enclose a representation explaimng my  views regard-
ing the muerpretation of the note referred to above and the
relevant portion of the State Notification of the same date,

Yours 1ruly,
Vallabhbhai Patcl

Encl. My representation

THr HON'BLI THE RCSIDENT
FOR THE STATES OF WESTERN INDIA
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My Representation

1. it 1, submutted that thc Thakorr Saheb’s note of
even date with the Notihcation of 26th December last 15
an unambiguou~ document admitting ot only onc mterpre-
tation, And 15 supplementary to the said Nouhcation Fx-
traneous evidence 15 theretore madmissible tor interpreting
1ts meaning

2. The contention pit forth on behall of the Thakore
Saheb 15 agamst the letter and the spinit of the said Noti-
fication.

3 If howcver, the Hon the Chief Tustice requires an
cxplanation on any pomnt, 1 shall be prepared to gne u

4 1 1cerve the night to reply, 1t nucessary, to any
reptsentadon that may be made on benalt of the Thakore
Saheb

68

Muarch 20, 1939
MY DI AR LATTHWALTLIL,

I am dc«.,pl\ gratcful to you for vour note of this morning
and for vour assurance that you arc alicady moving in the
matter

But 1 have anothet tale ol wou to 1evedl to you This morn-
g as Sardar Vallabhbha: was casmillv showing to a fuiend a
copy ol his representation to the Hon. the Chiel luxluc we
discovered by acuident that 1 the 1y ped cop) ent () *the Chet
Tustice an madvertent omussion (not of vital imporance) of three
words had crept in  Ihe Satdar thoazht it bost to advise the
Chiet Tustice aboul it and to 1cguest him, 1if he thought 1t
appropriate, to restore the omission 1n the repiesentation He
also requesced the Chiet Justiee to 'et lim know, if possible,
how long heshould stay on tnDelhy, for he had exjiesshy stayved
1n case his persence may be requircd We weie all amazed to be
told by the Secretary to the Chief Justice that all that he had
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received was the terms of reference, that the Sardar’s Repre-
sentation had not yet been received, but that the Chief Justice
would soon get #n touch with the Political Department, and
that as regards the Sardar’s stay ne could not guide him until
he had the papers before him. ,
You should know this, as I had mentioned the matter to
you yesterday.
«  Why all this cruel and needless delay? Whose fault?
Yours sincerely,
G.D. Birla

J.G. LAITHWAITE, EsqQ.
P.S.V.’s OFFICE
New DELHI

69

March 21, 1939
MY DEAR MR. LAITHWAITE,
Here is another telegram from Rajhot:

SALE OF LANDS OF ANOTHER CULTIVATOR ORDERED. SALE DATE
TOMORROW. SURETY BOND TAKEN FROM SOML CULTIVATORS FOR
FINE. DHEBAR

All this seems to be to fill the cup to the brim. Evidently
in spite of instructions being sent from here the authoritics at
Rajkot are carrying on oblivious of these instructions, and
even in the tecth of them. The sale of lands referred to in the
telegram is in breach of promise given to Gandhiji by the First
Member to the effect that notices for sale were not going to
take cffect. The surcty bond for fine is in flagrant breach of His
Exccllency’s instructions, presumably to the Political Depart-
ment, given in my presence when I waited on His Excellency on
the 7th inst. to the effect that instructions were to be issued
immediately for release of all prisoners and remission of all
fines.
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When I read the wire to Gandhiji, he said, ‘“This is the last
straw.”” Is not this a case for prompt and decisive action?
Yours sincerely,
Vallabhbhai Patel

J.G. LATHWAITE, EsQ.
P.S.V.’s Houst
New DELHI . .

70

Notes of a Conversation with Mr. Guy Wint

April 1, 1939

Mr. Wint had submitted in advance a list of questions on
which he invited Gandhiji’s views. The first referred to the
danger that thrcatened the growth of a democratic system in
India, c.g.. the Hindu-Muslim tension, “the younger intelli-
gentsia’s revolt against liberalism™, ‘‘the agrarian tendency to
direct action, the labour unrest and the revival of sectionalism.”
Gandhiji's reply was: “It reminds me of the niedical language
describing the course of discases leading to *symptoms which
might prove futal’ but which rarely are. Thercfore I do not
attach to then the same weight that y n1n cold print seem to
do. I am sure that the conditions in North India are worse than
clsewlicre, but they are far different from those 1n Palestine. The
differences have not permeated the masscs. As Pandit Jawaharlal
Nehru said in a statement isucd this morming, the qquarrel is
more political and economic than rehgiou . If the Congress
were to work with the same aim and v ith a single mind, and
satisfied the legitimate aspirations of Muslims, the quarrel
would settle down, in spite of a few riots that we may have
here and there. The essential thing is that we should stick to
our sheet anchor—non-violence. Happily the differences loom
large in towns rather than in villages, and India lives in her
villages. That the political ferment in the towns is more visible
is true. But that is due to the influence of the British rule. How-
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ever, f the Congress satisfied their political aspirations, as I
have said, there should be no quarrel.”

““As for the allegalions of atrocities by the Muskim league,
the various provincial governments had carefully studied them,
and shown that there was no substance behmnd the allegations ™

M: Wint had mentioned the language controversy “‘Let
me tell you”, sard Gandhij, *‘that therc 1. no bottom to the
complaint The Congress has never, and ‘o1 that matter no one
has cver attached Urdu You may not hnow that I am the
author ol the idea that instead of Lnghsh which was sought to
be made the languige of India for pontical purpoesc~ 1t should
be Hindu tam [ have not yet suc  2ded n the attempt but we
ate tivmnz 1t s onhy Hindustam thot can be the Linguaee of all-
In i pohineal commeree noath v Hindr nor Urda And that
Hudustans s the lanavaee spoken by Hindos and Mushims ind
wutten m Devanaganr of Persian sanpt and free from highly
difficult o1 technical Sanshit and Porsian or Arabie words 1 am
a faitly careful student ol Utdu but 1 should not te able to
undeistand Urdu philosophical works, as they are tull of
Perstan and Atrabic words with thar plutals in Pets an and
Arib ¢ That Urdu has it definite ond mmportant place 15 not
disputed  Indeed i the Pupyib it 15 the langu ..~ generally of
both Hindus aad Mushms Nor 1, there the shgbtest raterfe-
rence with Mushm cultute n so far as it may be differeat from
the Hindu culture ™

Mr Wit ashed ty what estent the poliacal demnd, of the
Muslims coald be me.t., for cven those demands he fult were
extravazant

“In so far asthey are real and teasonable the Congress 1o
alwavs wilhing”, sard Gandhip He doseribed the Gircunistances
un ler which th e unholy Mmorities Pact was signed in I ngland
and how m spite of what he had said abeut it the Coagress
had submitted to it - I clam that so far as pclitical demands
are concerned, the Congress has met them all along the line.
Shri Subhas Bose and Mr hnnah had long talks as 1 had but
1t centted round the language and the I lag and Bande Mataram.
In all these the utmost has been done by the Congress But you
may ask, “What would you do with unteasonable demands?”
Time 15 the best healer, and I can only say that it our policy
of non-violence parsists, 1t contains a remady cven (or unrcaso-
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nable demands ,

About the revolt of younger intelligentsia against liberalism,
Gandhipt? said 1t was a passing phase,’ and conhined to Colle-
giates, with whom 1t was notlfmg mote than a temporary indi-
gestion T bcy pass mto domestic life and become caining
machines when they leave colleges

“Ihe agraran unrest”, smid Gandhiy, “is « much greater
daager, but 1f the Congiess retains non-violence 1 15 bound
be disuphned  We who believe in aon-violenee are trying to
cope with o, but we may fail And vet we are not going the
woy of Chima In Chia peasants cin bz soldiers at will, not
here mn India In India we cinnot make soldiers quite so casily
But L agrec that vou have spotted the real danxa Howevar it
will ceasc f the Congies can produce thorail type of wor ¢
fo the vdhges The villagers ar by mtuie paahic and they
< be casthy Iod strtay 4 m the nght diectiop

As regards the Labour unrest, Gandhijt sad that he did not
dread 1t much, for fictory labourcrs weie not more than 20
lakhs. Mr Wint thought the mmportance was chiefly psychologi-
cal Gandhiy said, * Not v-ry much, fo. labour hives only 1n
artiticnal caties, and those bent on muschiet cannot ~pread 1ed
rumn m the villages. I would like you to hook your mind to the
villages, and not the towns ™

The danger of tevival of particularisms was there but not
great It cannot mtaltere v th the grcwih of India o5 a nation
1t has not got any teal bottom. It 1s largay confined to Bengal
and Mdahatashtia, and though lingur ¢ divisions will last, there
15 that 1ooted desire cven in Bengal ¢ 1d Mahar 1shtid a» among
all othuts that India shair temain a pohtical entity 1 am prepa-
red to confess that political unity 1s an offshoot, even o gift of
the Buitish Ray bt not an mtended gift That ueuty wall remam ™

Speakime on Tederation, Gandhip said he was treading on
dangerous ground, speahig only for 1 msell He had not dis-
cussed his view with lus olleagues, and 1 the cfhiaal world
only with Lotd Lothian and the Vicetoy  With that re ervation
he would give his own views on the matter He said, “If
virtual contiol 1s guaranteed 1n the matter of delence, finance,
and toreign relations, and the states are ashed to send not the
representatives ot princes but of the punces and the people I
for one would not worry Lo insist on a change 1 the Federal
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structure, for we do not want a mere change. The real people’s
constitution will come as the natural result of the virtual con-
trol I have spoken of. 1 agree that the Act is the creafion of the
best British brains, and that there were honourable motives
behind it. But all this was in so far as it was consistgnt with the
satisfaction of British ambitions. Therein lies the poison. But as
I have said if the conditions I have mentioned are satisfied, I
‘would work it, with this additional conditirn on our side that
the Congress retains potent non-violence, not the cffete non-
violence of today.”

“What do you visualise by virtual control?”, asked Mr.
Wint.

Gandhiji said, “The Viceroy would not act as he acts today.
Today he certifies the measures that the Assembly throws out,
and the docile Assembly swallows it. The Indo-British Pact was
thrown out by 10 votes and if you disregard the official and
nominated 40 votes, therc were not more than 9 votes for it.
But it is reimposed. It is staggering. When the idea is to let
India govern herself, why should the Secretary of Statc decide
these things for us? The Viceroy is powerful and may say no-
thing even though he may hold a contrary view. There is the
one man rule of the Secretary of State wanting to speak for the
350 millions of Indians. All this speaks volumes for British
discipline, but it fills 2 man like me who wants a real friendship
with Britain with awe. Wherc there is this defiance of public
opinion, one feels that one must rise in rebellien against the
India Act.

“Regarding defence, therc js a terrible waste of money. I
wish you studied the Fronticr Province in my company. The
Government have never consulted the men that count. There is
for instance Khkan Saheb Abdul Ghaflfar Khan who is true as
steel and has no ill will towards the British, but he is suspected
and the Government have no use for him.”

“Would not an Assembly Military Committee on the lines
of the onc suggested by Mr. P. N. Sapru working in close con-
sultation with the Executive answer your purpose?”’, wondered
Mr. Wiat.

“It would not satisfy me”, said Gandhiji. “For mc there are
the acid tests, If there is the desire to transfer the whole power,
there must be always growing trust, divesting of responsibility,
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and allowing us to make mistakes and putting the advice of
your experts at our disposal, if and when wanted. But this
advice today is imposed. That is no way to bring about co-
operation.”

“But”, waid Mr. Wint, “Haven’t we on our side given an
earnest of our intention of granting gireater and greater power?
The suspicion about our intention is a little exaggerated.
Would not Mr. Sapru’s suggestion do in the transition stage? If
there were reasons for transfer say in 10 years this transitional
arrangement would be to India’s advantage.”

**The British connection has now lasted for so many years.
If at the cnd of all these years you cannot part with power with
confidence, it is a sad commentary on the connection. When
you mention the transition stage I begin suspecting you. Why
should there be a transition stage, I ask? 1f you really want to
part with power, then the moral and virtual control sHould pass
tous at once. The trust placed in our ministers has not been
misplaced. And if you say the Governors never exercised special
powers, we may also take the credit for it, for we never gave
them cause for the exercise of special powers. 1 want the British
Government to so act as if the whole Act were scrapped. The
trust must be continual and full, not as it is today. There should
be a real partnership at will, In technical matters your experts
will be our teachers but never masters.

“You mention Hindu-Muslim tension. In spite of the ten-
sion Governots have not found the ministers guilty of advanc-
ing onc interest at the expense of another. In eight provinces
we have given a good account of ourselves. Let us therefore
grow to like each other more and more. The trust has to come
on your side.”

Speaking on Indo-British relations Gandhiji agfin said he
was speaking only for himself. “l would”, he said, “put it as
high as this. 1 want a frec and cqual partnership between
British and India. British has exploited us, and yet Thavea
sneaking regard for Britishers. We cannot become an utterly
independent nation—frogs in the well—and so 1 want the
warmth of the friendship of the world. Andso if we could
become partners on equal terms 1 want the Indo-British partner-
ship to be permanent. But it should be a living partnership.
There must be the robust faith on tire part of the British people



2'70 BAPU—A Unique ZXssociation

that we arc not going to desert them, nor should therc be any
fear on our part that if danger faces us, you may not com? to
our aid. You must have faith JAn us 350 millions %s human
beings, not as helpless crawling creaturcs. Logically then the
centre of influcnce will be transferred from Londpn to Delhi.
After this transfer we shall cease to be a drag on the British
Commonwealth that we may b2 today, and we shall be power-
ul partners. It is a dream I have long cherished. It may not be
realised in my lifetime or at all. But it will be, if India retains
its faith in non-violence. If there is no question of partnership
for a long while to comz, we must then fight heaven knows
with what consequences. I we win freelom through non-
vivlence, we would bave made a gift to British and humanity
in general.”

71

Niw Drim,
April 2, 1939
MY DCAR SUBIAS,

I have yours of 31st ay also the previous one. You arc quite
frank and 1 like your letters for the clear cnunciation of your
views. '

The views you cxpress scem to me to be <o diametrically
opposed to those of the others and my own, that 1 do not see
any possibility of bridging them. I think that cach school of
thought sh‘ould be able to put forth its views before the country
without any mistrust And if this is honestly done, T do not sce
why there should be any bitterness ending in civil war.

What 1s wrong is not the differences between us but loss of
mutual respect and trust. This will be remedied by time which
is the best healer. If there is real non-violence in us there can
be no civil war, much less bitterness.

Taking all things into consideration, 1 am of opinion that
you should at once form your own cabinet, formulate your pro-
gramme definitely and put it before the forthcoming A. I. C. C.
If the committee accepts the programme, all will be plain sailing
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and you should be enabled to prosecute it unhampered by the
minority. If on the other hand your programme is not acce-
pted, you $hould resign and let,the Committee choose its presi-
dent. And you will be free 1o cducate the country along your
own lines. ) tender this advice irrespective of Pundit Pant’s
resolution.

Now for your questions. When Pundit Pant’s rcsolution was
produced 1 was on my bed. Pyarelal used to send telcphone.
messages about my health to Tripuri. Onc morning he brought
me the message that there was to be a resolution expressing con-
fidence in the old horses. 1 had not the text betfore me. 1 said it
wou'd be good so far as it went for [ had been told at Segaon
that your clection was not so much confidence inyou as ensure
of the old horses especially the Sardar. After this | saw the
actual text only in Allahabad when | went to see the Maulana
Saheb. >

My prestige does not count. It has no independent value of
its own. When my motive is suspected or my policy or pro-
gramme rejected by the country the prestise must go. India will
rise or f{all by the quality of the sum-total of'the acts of her
many millions. Individuals however high they may be are of no
account except 1 so far as thzy represent the many millions.
Therefore let us rule it out of consideration.

I wholly dissent from your view that the country has been
never 5o non-violent as now. [ smell vioience in the air T breath.
But the violence has put on a subtle form. Our mutual dis-
trust is a bad form of violence. The widening gull between
Hindus and Mussalmans pomnts Lo same thing. 1 can give further
illustrations.

We seem to differ as to the amount of corruption in the
Congress. My impresston is that it is on the intrease® 1 have
been pleading for the past many months for a thorotgh scrutiny.
In these circumstances L sce no aumosphere for non-vielent
mass action. And ultimatum without an cffective sanction is
worsc than useless.

But as I have told you, I am an old man perhaps growing
timid and over-cautious and you have youth before you and
reckless optimism born of youth. 1 hope you are right and 1 am
wrong. I have the firm belicl’ that the Congress as it is today
cannot deliver the goods, cannot offer civil disobedience worth
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the name. Therefore if your prognosis is right, I am a back
number and played out as the generalissimo of satyagraha.

1 am glad you have mentjoned the little Rajkot affair. It
brings into prominent relief the differcnt angles from which we
look at things. I have nothing to repent of in the steps I have
taken in connection with it. I feel that it has great national impor-
tance. I have not stopped C. D. in the other states for the sake

“of Rajkot. But Rajkot opened my eyes, it showed me the way.
1 am not in Delhi for my health. [ am reluctantly in Delhi await-
ing the Chief Justice’s decision. I hold it to be my duty to be in
Delhi till the steps to be taken in due fulfilment of the Viceroy's
declaration in his last wire to me are finally taken. 1 may not
run any risk. If [ invited the paramount power to do its duty,
1 was bound to be in Delhi to see that the duty was fully per-
formed. I saw nothing wrong in the Chief Justice being ap-
pointed the interpreter of the document whose meaning was
put in doubt by the Thakore Sahcb. By the way Sir Maurice
examines the document not in his capacity as Chiel Justice but
as a trained jurist trusted by the Viceroy. By accepting the
Viceroy’s nomince as judge 1 fancy I have shown both wisdom
and gracc and what is morc important 1 have increased the
Viceregal responsibility in the matter.

Though we have discussed sharp differences of opinion
between us, 1 am quite sure that our private relations will not
suffer 1n the least. If they are from the heart, as I believe they
will bear the strain of the differences.

Love.

Yours,
Bapu

PS. I ¢o not think that after the clear expression of our
views a mceting between us is nccessary. But if’ you still
think otherwise, please wire.
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NEW DELHI,
April 7, 1939
DEAR LORD KINLITHGOW,

1 must thank you for your letter just received and the full
and unequivocal assurance containced therein. Armed with it, I
leave tonight in the confidence that there will be no hitch in the"
duc fulfilment of the terms of the Thakore Saheb’s Notification
of 26th December last.

My reply will be incomplete, if I did not express my regert
that it was not possible for you to accept my suggestion that
the question whether your wire to me of 6th March last can-
celled that of the 5th, or whether it merely explained and amp-
lified the latter, should be referred to the Chief Justice of India.

Tam,
Yours sincerely,
M. K. Gandhi

73

NEw DELHI,
April 7, 1939
MY DFAR MR. LAITHWAITE,

I enclose Mr. Gandhi’s note for H. E. He is leaving tonight
for Rajkot. But I am staying on to pester you cvery now and
then. You have been so good that 1 have nev¥r heditated to
bother you at all hours of the day and night. 1 was telling Mr.
Gandhi one day how good you had been to me. He said your
unfailing courtesy and readiness to help reminded him of Mr.
Lane, the Secretary of General Smuts in South Africa in 1910-14
when Gandhiji gave General Smuts many a hard battle—which
resulted ultimately in lifelong friendship between the two!

I wish you a very happy Easter.

Yours sincerely,
Mahadev
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ANANDKUNJ,
RaAkoOT,
April 19, 1939
DEAR MR. GIBSON,

1 am laying on my back with severe headache and slight
‘temperature which has up to now been diagnosed as gastric flu
which secms to be raging about in Rajkot and especially in the

house in which I am accommodated.

I came here on the 9th instant. It is the 19th today. A matter
which need not have taken more than a day has taken ten days.
Unfortunatcly, we hold different views about the cause. I
become confirmed in my opinion that Darbar Virawala is at the
back of all this delay. I have proof enough which may not hold
water in a court of law but it is enough for all practical pur-
poses and certainly enough for me. I have no grudge against
Darbar Virawala. I would love to convert him. It would be a
triumph of non-violence, if I could do so. And I cculd, if I had
your active co-operation. But I know you cannot give it so long
as you hold the very opinion you do of his ability, efficiency
and straight forwardness.

I sent you herewith copy of the latest letter from the Thakore
Saheb. It speaks for itself. If the proposition laid down in the
letter werc to be acted upon, there would never be a Committee
formed in terms of the Award of the Chief Justice of India.
The whole plan laid out in Delhi bids fair to be completely
frustrated if you, as the local representative of the paramount
power, do not actively intervenc. I invite your attention to the
fact that in the Thakore Saheb’s letter to the Sardar dated the
12th Jarfuary. Four out of the seven names were accepted. In an
appendix to the voluminous papers attached to the Thakore
Saheb’s case, signed by Darbar Virawalla as his political adviser,
occurs the analysis of all the seven names recommended by the
Sardar. Only two have been objected to because of their resi-
dential disqualification. How is it that now suddenly the
qualifications of all but one have been challenged? And if I am
to bear the burden that is sought to be placed upon me, there
will be no end to the preliminaries and there will be no enquiry.

1 do not like the idea of troubling you or secking the inter-
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vention of the paramount power. But I sec there is no way out
of the difficulty.

The Blrayats and Girassia’s Association has also taken up
what I consider to be a most unreasonable attitude. As soon as
I read in the papers that they wanted my so-called promise to
be submitted to impartial scrutiny, I wrote at once accepting
the proposal. But as I sensed danger of interminable delay I
said the proccedings ought not, to interfere with the Committee’s
work and that if their contention was upheld, the Bhayat’s
nominee would immediately be accepted and one name with-
drawn. The Association however would not listen to my pro-
posal. They would hold up the formation of the Committee till
the Judge was sclected and his award was available. Acceptance
of my proposal would not have resulted in the Committee fun-
ctioning before the award but it would certainly have resulted
in the case being decided expeditiously enough. I have given the
opinion that the Chicf Justice of India ought not to be troubled
over the issue though I should have no objection to Sir Maurice
adjudicating if the Government of India could be induced to
invite him to do so and if he accepted the invitation. 1 have
suggested instcad a judge of the Bombay High Court. 1 huve no
doubt that you could manage this thing easily. I suppose the
judge could fly here tomorrow or the day alter. I have not much
to submit to him nor can the Bhayats have much either. The
Judge need not take long to give his judgment. What 1 fear and
suspect is that there is no desirc anywhere to play the game. You
do not mind my thinking aloud before you. I would be less than
just to you if I suppressed my innenaost thoughts whilst 1
looked up to you as the local Crown Representative to see that
the Committee was properly set up and its work proceeded with
smoothly and without delay. . o

I must lcave Rajkot on the 24th instant by the 1.10 after-
noon train and hasten to Calcutta, thence to Brindaban. [
would rcturn here at the carliest possible moment which cannot
be before the 7th proximo. Meanwhile Shri Dhebarbhai will be
acting on my behalf. But 1 hope that during the five days that
I am here much work will have been done.

May I remind you that my fast was only suspended and if
all my efforts fail and no headway is made I must resume it?
It won’t be without serious reflection. 1 do not want to do so.
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I. have not the physical energy for it. But a peremtory call of
duty knows no mundane difficulty. The matter is so serious that
I would like you <o convey at least the substance of this letter
to His Excellency. I am loath fo interfere with his much needed
rest. If you think that there is substance in my complaint and
that you have the will and the powers to deal with it I would
much rather that His Excellency were kept undisturbed.

Of course I am at your disposal, if you think that a personal
talk is neccssary, in that case you need not mind my fever. I
will come. I have an appointment with Dr. Ambedkar for half
past eleven.

For the moment I am not replying to the Thakore Saheb’s
letter.

Yours,
M. K. Gandhi

75

Ncw DrLHI,
April 20, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSIITYAMDASII,

The enclosed came in an open envelope, and so as your
quondam secretary 1 read and of course appreciated the
contents.

The news from Rajkot is very disquieting indeed. A letter
has gone to Gibson in which Bapu has again delivercd a kind
of ultimatum. Bapu has invited his attention to the Thakore’s
dilatory tactics and to the systematic way in which obstacles
are being placed to prevent the committee from coming into
being, and he has asked him to intervene as a representative of
the paramount power. Bapu has assumed that it is within his
power to intervene, if he had the will to do so. If he refused to
do so, he will resume the fast which he had not broken but
only suspended. He has been asked to convey the substance of
the letter to the Viceroy—in case he cannot intervene himself,
otherwise “I would not like to disturb H.E.’s holiday.” Bapu,
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if he is well, will interview Gibson today at 3 o’clock and will
have his reply from his lips. Much depends on this interview,
and, if theré is anything worth gonveying to you on the phone,
I shall give you a ring.

Sushila arrjved this morning from Rajkot en route to Kunjah
(Gujarat) where she is going to attend her brother’s wedding.
She said there was a rather remarkable altercation between
Bapu and Vallabhbhai one day. He had written three lctters
surrendering everything to the Mussalmans and the Bhayats.
Vallabhbhai was exasperated. Bapu said, “I know that you have
to suffer the consequence of my many stupid acts.” To this
Vallabhbhai replied: ‘“No. There has been no stupid act up to
now, but these three letters that you propose to send are stupid!
Bapu laughed but later on seriously said : ““‘Should I not then
retire from all active leadership and live a life of contempla-
tion?” I do not know how the talk went on further"but the
upshot was that the letters were torn up. Sushila also said that
Bapu had discovered that Vallabhbhai had a better knowledge—
and more instinctive knowledge—of the workings of vicious
human nature than he himself had and he once exclaimed : ‘The
step would have been suicidal.” (The reference was to the step
of going on fast, if the Massalmans did not keep their word).
So our long telegram of that morning was more than justified.

But the whole business has set me furiously thinking. You
will remember the long talk we had the other morning on the
possibilities and implications of ahimsa and what I have heard
from Sushila leaves me wondering whether ahimsa is any good
for the vindication of earthly rights—a proposition which moo-
ted by Mr. Arthur Moore in that famous controversy. When
we next meet Bapu and can get a little time with him we should
discuss this aspect of the matter threadbare wit!? him.*For the
moment I do not know what the future has 1n store for us. We
seem to be driven headlong to some indescribable, inscrutable
Destiny.

And now about the cows. I have not yet gone to purchase
them. I do not know if it is worthwhile having the cows with-
out making proper provision of gwalas who can correctly handle
them. It would be like my getting in posscssion of one of your
mansion without the wherewithal to keep it in a proper trim. I
am therefore inclined to think that it may be wise to wait until
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October when we meet again. In the mean time I shall meet
Sayer again and ask him if he can have our gwala or gwalas for
training for two ' or ‘three months. Is that right? Please let me
know. The house looks desolate without you. It was left nearly
desolate by Bapu. And yet when I leave it on the 24th or 25th
1 will not do so. Without a pang that springs from having to
leave a thing for which you have developed a certain amount
of attachment.

Yours affectionately,

Mahadev

76

Niw DrLui,
April 21, 1939
MY DEAR GHAN SHYAMDASII,

Bhat has arrived. He is fully acquainted with Sayer and
had once worked under him. He will cartainly do what is fit
and proper. Today he has gone to renew his old acquaintance
with him.

Herewith copy of Bapu’s letter to Gibson.

Yours sincerely,
Mahadev

77

BIrLA Housr,
Bi.NARLS,
April 22, 1939
MY DIAR MAHADLVBHAI,

I have received today your letter of the 20th. I will perhaps
talk to you tonight or tomorrow morning again on phone to
find out from you the latest position. Yesterday I fclt very
strongly that Ishould write to Laithwaite and tell him that it
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was my personal opinion that the paramount power must inter-
vene to fulfil the conditions of the Notification of the 26th
December, that the constitution should he fitamed by them on
the basis of that notificationsand that in not helping Gandhiji
they were exposing themselves to greatest misunderstanding and
criticism and that I should like to know what the objection could
be to their taking over the question of constitution making in
their own hands. But then I thought that [ should wait until I haq
a little more information ahd besides you may be talking and
also writing to one of these men and while duplication may not
matlter, it was better to be slow rather than over-hasty in such
delicate negotiations. So perhaps I will decide tomorrow.

But frankly speaking I not only agree with you that ahimsa
for securing wordly achievements is a doubtful proposition but
1 have also got my grave doubts whether what has happened at
Rajkot from beginning to cnd could be called ahimsa_at all! In
fact, as I told you the other day and 1 am not convinced that
this fasting business is not in itself an act ot coercion. I don’t
sce how you are going to change the heart of your adversary
through these ultimatums. Sardar’s position could be under-
stood because he never pretended to represent any high philoso-
phy and his fight in Rajkot was more or less an unarmed
rebellion, but not necessarily non-violent. And as such we can-
not complain if we countenanced resistance from Virawala and
the Thakur in our own coin. * don’t see how Gibson could help
because we never spared Gibson. But, of course, the Viceroy’s
responsibility is there. But he may have his own difficulties which
we do not know. We have been impatient which helps none.
Testing the things on Bapu’s philosophy, I do not feel thatit
could be said that we have been free from blame. I strongly feel
that there should be no more of this fasting and hope we would
be able to prevail upon Bapu when we all meet thim i Calcutta.
If therc is to be a quict chat, I suggest that yourself, myself and
Bapu should talk alone. In the prescnce of Sardar, I have not
got the nérves to launch an attack.

I rather enjoyed what you wrote about the conversation
between Bapu and Sardar. Sardar talks less and talks irrelevant
but his instinct is sound. The only thing is that even he did not
find himself a good match for Virawala!

Now about the cows. Bhat must have seen you and I dare



230 BAPU—A Unique Association

say you have decided what you thought to be the best under the
circumstances.

I note that you are leaving on the 24th or the 25th. I will be
leaving this place on the 25th. Go if you are still there, and 1
hope you will be there on the 25th, then before leaving, I will
have a talk with you again.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SyT. MAHADEVBHAI DisAl
NEw DELHI

78

April 23, 1939
MAHATMA GANDHUI
RAJKOT

(1) BIDHAN WILL FEEL UNHAPPY OVER YOUR CHANGED DECISION
HE HAD ALREADY ADVERTISED IN PRESS.
(2) REMIND YOU OF YOUR INTENTION TO MEET MALAVIYAJI ON
WAY TO OR FROM CALCUTTA. THIS MAY BE TIIL LAST MLCLTING IN
VIEW HIS DECLINING HEALTH.

GHANSHYAMDAS

79

RAIKOT,
April 24, 1939
GHANSITYAMDAS BIRLA
CARE LUcKy
BLENARES

DR. BIDHAN SUBHAS CONSENTED MY STAY SODEPUR. MOST ANXIOUS
MLET MALAVIYAJI. IMPOSSIBLE BREAK JOURNEY GOING CALCUTTA.
WILL BREAK ON RLTURN.

Baru
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BoMBAY,
April 25, 1939
GHANSHYAMDAS BIRLA
Lucky
CALCUTTA

AFTER FULL DISCUSSION SARDAR AND I HAVE DECIDLD THAT HE
SHOULD NOT ATTEND CALCUTTA MILTING.
BAru

81

ON WAY TO BIHAR,
May 2, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

I showed the two Rajkot telegrams to Bapu last night. He
studied them carefully and said: *‘Viraw=la’s telegram has, to my
mind the stamp of sincerity and truth, and he means to do what
he has promised.” He was to have issued a statement on Rajkot,
but he said “No statement now. Let him do as much as he has
promised and we will wait for a few days.” 1§is quite likely
that he may send a persuasive telegram to Virawala today.
However it is very good that his mind is casy about Rajkot.

The train is so wretched that I dare not inflict any more of
this handwriting on you.

Bapu scems to be very happy over the Calcutta happenings
also—particularly about Jawahar’s staying out. He came to the
station and again assured Bapu of fullest co-operation.

Yuurs affectionately,
Mahadev
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oo BRINDABAN,
. Viu BETTIAH (BIHAR),
May 3, 1939
MY DLAR GHANSHYAMDASII, !

The enclosed from Virawala and Bapu’s reply to it will
e'nterest you. You will remember how we said Virawala’s tele-
phone message to me indirectly suggested that Bapu should not
go back to Rajkot, and then Bapu added the words in the
tclegram: “Piobably reaching Rajkot 10th.” This telegram has
reference to that. You will also remember how the Viceroy was
also averse to Bapu’s second visit to Rajhot. Vallabhbhai had
a long argument with Bapu regarding Rajkot and told him how
he had sprung a disagrecable surprise on all by this statement.
When Bapu saw that Vallabhbhai could not appreciate his
viewpoint, he simply said: “Vallabhbhai, [ am developing a new
technique. You may not understand it now but you will some
day. And the Rajkot folks have no reason to have a grouse
against the statement for 1 had told them all that I had said in
the statement. It was wrong of me to have tolerated all the
abuse you and others poured oa Virawala. We failed therefore
to draw the best out of him. All my efforts are now addressed
to this purpose. But all this does not matter. All I want to do
now is to forget Rajkot and cast the whole burden of it on me.”
And when I offered Bapu's reply to Virawala to Vallabhbhai to
see, Bapu said: “Mahadev, spare Vallabhbhai the trouble. Why
should you worry him with this?”

It is very warm here, but the heat is moie bearable than at
Calcutta. The nights however were much cooler there than
here. There arceno breezes here from the bay of Bengal.

Yours affcctionately,
Mahadev



BAPU—4 Unique Association 233
83

DURBAR $HRI VIRAWALA
RAJKoOT

YOUR WIRE., MY WIRES MUST BE READ TOGETHER. AM MYSELF
DEVELOPING NEW TECHNIQUE. MY DESIRE NOT INTERFERE DOES NOT
MEAN MY REFUSAL GUIDE THQSE WHO SEEK GUIDANCE BUT I WANT
DHEBARBHAI OTHER PARISHAD PEOPLE RELY ON THEIR OWN RE-
SOURCES AND ACT INDEPENDENTLY OF Mk OR SARDAR. IT WILL BE
OUR TRIUMPH AND YOUR WHEN THLEY DO SO BUT THEY WILL NOT
DO SO IF YOU TREAT PARISHAD PEOPLE WITH CONTEMPT AND
REGARD THEM AS LOAFERS. DHEBARBHAI MAY NOT BL STATE SUBJLCT
IN TERMS NOTIFICATION BUT IS NO OUTSIDER. MOREOVER ME KE-
PRESENTS ML AND 1S ONLY PERSON I KNOW WELL ENOUGH FOR
PURPOSL I ASK YOU TRUST HIM. HE IIAS ONE DETLCT. HE LEANS TOO
MUCH ON SARDAR OR ME. SARDAR TIAS TOLD HIM 1IF MUST REFER
ONLY TO ME If HE MUST. I AM TRYING MAKE HIM SELE-RELIANT.
DON'T WANT COME 10 RAJKOT BUT NOT COMING DEPENDS UPON
YOUR BEING JUST AND GENLROUS AND CARRYING OUT YOUR
PROMISE TO SEE THROUGH SETTLEMENT NOT BY SLIGHTING HONO-
URABLE PLOPLE BUT MY TRLATING THEM AS SUCIH.

GANDHI

84

MAHATMA GANDHI
BRINDABAN (CHAMPARAN)

HIS HIGHNESS AND MYSELF GREATLY APPRECIATED YOUR RIGIT
DECISION TO LEAVE SETTLEMENT TO HIS HIGHNESS AND HIS SUBJECTS
DIRECT WITHOUT ANY OUTSIDE INTERVENTION INCLUDING YOUR
OWN AND THAT OF VALLABHBHAI. THIS ATTITUDE OF YOUR HAD
CRLATED HOPLS OF SATISFACTORY SETTLEMENT. IT HAS BEEN A
PAINFUL SURPRISE TO HIS HIGHNESS AND MYSELF TO READ THE
PUBLICATION OF YOUR TELEGRAM TO, DHEBAR STATING THAT HE
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SHOULD RESOLUTELY FOLLOW OUT HIS OWN PLAN TILL YOUR
RETURN. THIS TELEGRAM IS CONTRADICTORY TO YOUR PREVIOUS
INSTRUCTIONS FOR DIRECT SETTLCMENTS BLTWEEN HIGHNESS AND
HIS PLOPLE AND GIVLS LIBERTY 10 DEHBAR AN OUTSIDER TO
FOLLOW HIS OWN PLAN WHICH IS TO PREVENT SUBJECTS OF HIS
HIGHNESS REACHING DIRCCT SLTTLIMENT WITH HIGHNESS AND
VIRTUALLY ANNOUNCE YOUR DIFINING DECISION TO RAJKOT TO
IPTERVINC IN THL MAT1IR AND THERLBY ENCOURAGES PFOPLE TO
DELAY RFACHING A SETTLEMENT WITH HIS 1IIGHNLSS. 10 ACHILVE
YOUR ORIGINAL AMBITION OF SAID D.RICT SLITLLMENT HIS HIGH-
NISS AND MYSLLF CONSIDER DISIRABLE I1HAT YOU SHOULD NOT
RETURN HERE AND ANNOUNCE YOUR DECISION ACCORDINGLY AND
ADVISE STATL PEOPLL TO RLACH DIRLCT SLTTLEMENT WIIH HIGH-
NESS AND ASK DHEBAR AND OUTSIDIRS NOTI TO INTLRELRE.
VIRAWALA
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CALCUTTA,
May 4, 1939
MY DLAR MAHADEVBHAL

As 1egards Talcher and Rajhot, the news 1n the Press 15 not
quite satisfactory but I hope Bapu’s patience would bring about
desired result.

1 hope you told Bapu that he made a nustake about the
facts 1n his statement on Jaipur. I read in today’s papers that
25 satyagrahis hase bzen released. I think they have begun to
take action and perhaps, beforc long all of them may be
releascd.

1 hope Bapu is issuing a statement on the Congress affairs.
There seems to be genumne misunderstanding among the
Bengalis that Bengal has been wronged. Bidhan was going to
issue a statement which 1 did not like and so it has been given
to Devdas for being revised. But what is needed is a statement
from Bapu. Had Bapu been four years younger, I would ask
him to undertake a tour of Bengal. But now?
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Some interesting developments are likely to take place. It
appears M.N. Roy is trying to contest Subhas for leadership of
Bengal. Subhas held a meetmg yesterday but his programme does
not, at least in theory, differ from the Congress programme.
His party wxll have all respect for Bapu but not necessarily
full confidence in him. On the other hand, M.N. Roy has
neithcr respect nor confidence in Bapu.

Yours affectionate®,
Ghanshyamdas

SHRI MAHADEVBIIAT DisAl
BRINDABAN
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May §, 1939
MY DI'AR MAHADEVBHAI,

Here is Bidhan’s interview to the Press. You may find many
hands in it but this has not made it incoherent. As a matter of
fact Bidhan liked it and he has got congratulations from many
pcople. We would have made it somewhat different but we had
to accommodate ourselves to his views. The language is of
Devdas and Parasnathji.

1t looks as if Bengal is in a pitiavle condition. You have
heard of the two groups here, that is, Jugantar and Anusheelan.
I understand the Anusheelan group has decided to keep
itself aloof. The other group is divided between M.WN. Roy and
Subhas.

If one were a mcre politician, he would welcome such a
rift between one’s opponents. But as Bapu’s group is nota
party of politicians, 1 am sure they will fecl sorry for what
is happening in Bengal. Bengal stands in need of help but I
don’t think anybody could give much help in the present
circumstances.

The Makhan Sen group is going to help M.N. Roy. It is
whispered that they deliberately supported Subhas to put him in
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the wrong and then crush him for the benefit of M.N. Roy.
One should not believe all that is being rumoured, but all the
same it is a fact that Makhan Sen group supported Shyam-
sunder Chakravarty against C.R. Das, then J.M. Sengupta
against Subhas, and then Subhas against Bidhan and now
perhaps they are going to support M.N. Roy agamnst Subhas.
How one wishes Bapu should undertake a tour of two months in
Eengal.

1 received the copies of telegrams exchanged between Virwala
and Bapu. I did not appreciate one sentence in Bapu’s telegram
where he says that heis ‘‘devcloping a new technique.” You
remember the 67th Shloka of Adhyaya-18 in Geeta: ““Utter
this never to him who knows no austerity, has no devotion,
nor any desire to listen, nor yet to him who scofls at Me.”
To talk of ‘new technique’ to Virawala is like putting pearls
before swine. But prehaps Bapu knows better.

Plcasc acquaint Bapu with such contents of my letter as
you think necessary:.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SHRI MATIADLVBHAI DisAl
BRINDABAN (CHAMPARAN)
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BirLA Bros. LTD.,
CALCUTTA,
May 6, 1939
MAHADEVBHALI
CARE MAHATMA GANDHUI
BRINDABAN (CHAMPARAN)

““CHRONICAL”’ RIPORTS SARDAR NOT INCLUDED IN PARLIAMCNTARY
BOARD INSTFAD JAWAHARLAL INCLUDLD. COMMERCIAL FRIFNDS
IN BOMBAY ITLL PCRTURBED, HAVE ASKED ML TO INQUIRE. I IN-
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FORMED THEM I DID NOT BELILVE REPORT. ADVISABLE CON-
TRADICT SAME, PLEASE WIRE. MALAVIYAJI WIRES ARRANGEM! NTS
MADE FOR WHOLE PARTY AT SEVAUPWAN. WIREHIM TIME ARRIVAL.

GHANSITYAMDAS
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CAI CUTTA,
May 6, 1939
MY Dt AR MATIADEVBHAL,

Pleasc send me a copy of the letter which Bapu may have
written to the Viceroy in connection with Jaipur, Rajkot and
Talcher. .

Vallabhbhai taday wires to me that Bapu expects me at
Benares. I am sure he has cut a joke at niy expense. 1 don't
see why should Bapu want me at Benares while he is staving
there only for a few hours. In case I am really wanted, please
send me a wire. But perhaps what has happened is this that
when [ wired to him that I was expecting him at Calcutta, he
has retorted by wiring that Bapu expccts me at Benares.

Yours affectionately,
Ghanshyamdas

SHRT MAHADIVRHAI DESAI
BRINDABAN (CHAMPARAN)
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BRINDABAN,
May 5, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASJI,
I have all your letters. My thanks for them.
That wire from Vallabhbhai was not in jest. In fact I drafted
the wire for him, Bapu asked him to accompany him to Benares
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and Bapu himself said that you would be there. Of course he
told me that you wanted him there for medical examination.
He might have some treatment on going to Bombay:

Virwala sent another telegram asking Bapu not to go to
Rajkot. Bapu said in reply that he could not leave his. workers
in the lurch. He should give him an opportunity to try his new
technique with the co-workers. I agree that much of Bapu’s

“language is like pearls before swire for Virawala. But sometimes
Bapu loves to confuse and confound his opponents.

What you say about Bengal is all very said. I should not be
surprised, if no one outside Bengal took notice of 1t.

We arrive, for working in Rajkot on the 12th. I shall write
to you from there.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev
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CALCUTTA,
May 10, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

I am wondering whether Bapu wanted me at Benares for
anything special because then I would have come. I thought it
might be his mere impression that T would be coming and
therefore I did not come.

Yours affectionately,
Ghanshyamdas

SHrI MAHADLVBHAI DESAI
RAXKoOT
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ANANDBHAVAN,
RaIkor,

May 15, 1939
MY DEAR GHUANSHYAMDASII,

I enclose herewith copies of Bapu’s letters to Lord Lin-
lithgow and Arthur Moore. | .
Bapu’s impaticnce exasperated some of us two months ago.
His patience is likely to exasperate them now! He 1s prepared
to wiit indefinitely—to the extent of establishing an ashram
and scttling down here. He went the length of accepting
the loyalists’ proposals for reforms. These would seem to have
been inspired by Virawala, and do not amount too much. More
was offered by Cadell. But Bapu would accept even these pro-
vided they are given willingly and with good grace.” Though
they are 25)( he would prefer them to 100°; wrested out of
unwilling hands. 1 had a long talk with Virawala yesterday. Onc
moment he scems to be desperately anxious for a scttlement.
The next moment he behaves to the contrary, and there 1s no
knowing how he will view this new move of Bapu's. It he
accepts Bapu's offer and announces these wholly madequate
reforms, the trouble would end. If he does not, I do not know
how long we shall have to wander here. If this settlement breaks
down-—we will have Virawala > reply tomght —then of course
we have to go on with Gwyer’s Award and all the excruciating
delay it means. [he reference regarding Bhayat Mushim trou-
ble—it took mc a whole day fixmg up the terms—is being
referred to Sir Maurice. He might give his decision before he
leaves for England, but after that? For the moment, therefore,
the settlement, howeser unvatisfactory, does bypld ont a ray of
hope. But who knows even that may prove tllusury. The world
here is so full of suspicion and tortuou s and hidden moves
and motives that one can never be sure ot onesell.
Bapu is as well as he can be.
Yours affectionately,
Mahadev
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CALCUTTA,
May 18, 1939
MY DFAR MAHADFVBHAIL,

I received your letter enclosing copies of Bapu’s letters to
Lord Linlithgow and Arthur Moore. How tantalizing it was to
descover that the copy of the letter. to the Viceroy contained
only the first page and the remaining ones were missing. It was
compensated by a duplicate of the letter to Moore, but that, of
course, is no compensation. 1 have wired to you today to send
mc the remaining pages of the letter to the Viceroy.

I have read today Bapu’s statement renouncing the Gwyer
Award. I have no doubt that this was the right step. We never
thought Bapu’s fast to be non-violent. I think Bapu’s present
policv will have far better effect than lus previous policy. T
wonder if 1t was not a disappointment to Sardar, but in the
long run I have no doubt that the present policy has much
greater chances of success.

Yours uffectionately,

Ghanshyamdas
SHRT MAHADI VBHAT DESAT
RAIKOT
93
ANANDBHAVAN,
Raxor,

May 19, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

1 have your telegram. ] am sorry that you should have had
to send it. It was my secretary’s mistake. (You know
Narayanrao—my secretary). I enclose a full copy along with a
copy of the reply received today. Bapu’s comment on the reply
was® “It is quite nice, but as incffective and useless as the
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Gwyer Award.” I wonder what you will say regarding the
latest statement of Bapu. It is our great pisfortunc that Bapu
often resents our reaction tozhis steps, but later comes to the
same conclusion as we and then cxpresses it with a vehemence
that embarrasses us all. Very often we remarked on his impa-
tience. He said he was not impaticnt and if he was he had a
right to bz so. Now he says his impatience was a sign of himsa
and his running to the paraniount powers, his characterisation
of the Thakore as a fraud and Virawala as “shifty> and a curse
to the state was impaticnt and therefore violent. I had a long
argutuent about the statement. I said. “Don’t you think your
approaching the P.P. and accepting their offer of the C.I.8.
arbitration was better morally and technically than would have
been your confining yourself only to the Thakore Saheb. For
satyagraha against a slave—for that is what cvery ruler. is and
nothing more —is unjustifiable.” To this he said: “You are
talking from the result, and your statement that the Thakore is
a slave of the P.P. is only half truc. And even if he was no
batter than slave, my satyagraha if it was, of the highest quality
would help him to throw off his slavery. Any way my decision
to throw away the Award is the result of self-intruspection, the
anxiety to be rid of an oppression, an incubus that was press-
ing upon my breast all my waking hours.”

Virawala is looking to me f~- advice and guidance almost to
an embarrassing extent. 1 have to be with him for several hours
each day. The only result accruing from *his contact is that I am
getting to know him morc and more. The Hyde in him we knew or
we thought we kncw. 1 am getting to see the Dr.gJckyll in him,
but it is quite likely that too is what I think I am getting to know.
Often enough he defies analysis, and often enough he secms to
repose a trust in me that I am not prepared for. When we meet
some day we shall have lots and lots to talk about.

I had about 90 minutes with Mr. Gib:on. He was very nice,
quitc frank, and cven deferential. He has not yet forgotten the
old sores—goondaism and the publication of what he maintains
was an utterly inaccurate report of his ta’k, and so on. But 1
must say I liked him and 1 am glad I met him. About Agatha
you know what he said? “She is a very good woman, but lacks
the sense of humour.” Our talks ranged over possible topics
and I think I did get to know the man.
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The more I meet these people the more I am convinced that
the whole of our agitation was a picture of our impatience and
much might have’ beén achieved with a little more patience.
However no lesson is learnt too late.

We should not be staying here beyond the 2nd of June, and
some kind of announcement will be made today. I have had
much to do with the drafting but in no other sense than this
that 1 have allowed myself to be used as Virawala’s Secretary
(he calls me that half a dozen times during the day—what u
doubtful compliment!) without our committing ourselves to any-
thing in any way. The settlement so far as the Constitutional
Reforms are concerned will be of little value; all the value it
may have would be derived from its being an carnest of their
good faith (it so it proves to be).

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

94

CALCUTTA,
May 25, 1939
MY DEAR MAMADEVBHALI,

After Bapu's latest statement, I should like to suggest what
I have becn feeling all along about some of Bapu’s articles in
Harijan. One was the publication of “The Kick and Kisses
Speech.” It was never confirmed to be correct. Bapu can
publish sluch document only il he is perfectly certain that the
Jdocument was auchentic. I doubt very much whether 1t was.
In fact I believe that such a speech was delivered not by His
Highness but by Col. Haksar. If that be true, then we have to
make amends for the same.

Gibson will have justification to be still sore. My Gwalior
Mill manager and secretary were always full of praises for him
as a man. He was reported to be very frank and nice to every-
one and spccially to children. He would come and play with
them n the mull, He could not have been very good in personal
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behaviour and very bad in political behaviour, and he had

received enough of abuses from Bapu. Does he deserve any

revised apinion of Bapu? I of course balievg that he was partly

responsible for the breach. But he got much more than he

deserved. My men would not admit that he could be a goonda.
Lothian*writes as follows:

It looks as if the Mahatma 1s gradually swinging Congress
round the policy he outlined to me when I went to stay with
him at Segaon. I think however it will be necessary to limit
the pace at which full government is developed in the states.
The people have yet had no expericnce of representative
institution, and if Congress pushes them too far it may push
the Mohammedans out of India altogether. 1 am more
convinced than ever that the basic principles of the Federa-
tion are the only ones upon which India can move forward
and avoid calamity. If you sce the Mahatma, please gine my
kindest regards.
Will you please place my letter before Bapu?

Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas

MAHADEVBHAI DLsAI, EsQk.
RAJKOT

. .
RalkoT,
May 25, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASIJI,

1 am 1n receipt of your letter of the 22nd. Its perusal gave
me much pleasure. 1 will certainly read it out to Bapuji and that
will obviate the necessity of remembering you to hun.

What you say about Virawala is quite correct but we are
not Simon Pure ourselves. Before aspiring to effect a change of
heart in others we should undergo similar metamcrphosis a
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hundred fold ourselves. Virawala was certainly playing a game
of chess but we were by no means lagging behind. He succeeded
in outwitting us, ,or .at least Vallabhbhai. Bapu,.out of his
attachment for Vallabhbhai ard weakness for Rajkot com-
mitted a blunder. But it is given to Bapu alone to retrage a false
step promptly enough. We cannot manage to do that and some
of our failings cling to us for the rest of our lives like a nose or
«the eyes. If we could learn the technique from Bapu we should
feel sufficiently educated.

Please go through my article titled “A Momcntous Decision”
in Harijan. 1t was the result of much deep thinking.

Work 1n conjuction with Virawala is gaining pace quite
satisfactonly. Poor man, he too is victim of his own psychosis.
But can he reform himself 11 a day? But his mental attitude has
been undergoing a subtle change and our rclations with him are
becoming increasingly cordial. Besides, T am now getting full
measure of his powers. There is one thing, however, that stands
crystal clear: Gibson leads him by the nose. He would not
dream of doing anything, ever so small, without Gibson giving
the green signal.

We are here till the Ist, reaching Bombay the following day.
It has been decided to put up with Rajeshwaryji.

I hope you are kecping quite fit.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev
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RAJROT,
May 29, 1939
MY DFAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

Your lctter of the 25th. Yes, Gibson is still sore, as he
actnally mentioned to me his grievances. Bapu has already
written to Mr. Gibson apologising to him for the trouble he
gave him during the fast, and 1 am carefully investigating the
other grievances. On closer contact with Virawala I found that
even he had a genuine grievance in certain matters. The whole



BAPU—A Unique Assogiation 295

matter was mishandled—Heaven knows how and why. Perhaps
the fates were against us.

Thatsthe states do nothing without gefegence to the Resident
I have found with my owm eyes, and there is absolutely no
doubt that Virawala was supported in all he did by Gibson. But
the chhrge*is not Mr. Gibson's grievance; it is that that interview
—or rather an inaccurate account of it—was published in
Hurijun and words were pul into his mouth that he never used.
Also that Bapu used the word *““goondaism™ with reference to
some of his acts here.

Wec arc having another interview on the Ist and 1 hope
everything will be cleared up and that he will have no more
grievance to nurse. Virawala is a difficult proposition, but as 1
have told you, he confides in me and I have for the time being
found him amenable. He has an inordinate love of power and
he can brook nothing calculated to curtail it. .

We leave here on the Ist arriving in Bombay on the 2nd and
leaving for the Frontier on the 6th.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev
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ANANDBHAVAN,
RAJKOT,
May 30, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASJI,

The enclosed will, I am sure, interest youal am got publish-
ing it in Llarijan as 1 did not publish Wint's interview. Of course
this man did not get as much out . Bapu as Wint did, but he
struck me to be a very honest and inliucntial man,

Mr. Gibson arrives tomorrow evening and both Bapu and I
wiil have an interview with him, Perhaps you do not know how
I started my interview with him when I saw him about a week
ago. 1 told him that all I knew about him was w'hat 1 had
heard from the Gwalior Mill manager about his friendliness
with children and rcadiness to come and play with them
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occasionally. I think that was enough to touch the right cord
in his heart and we talked merrily as you know for 90 minutes.

I have not yet passed on your message to Bapu-regarding
the speech attributed to Gwalior but I agree with you that some
kind of amends has got to be made. ,

You do not tell me what you make of Lothian’s letter.
“Limiting the pace at which full Government is developed in
the states” is one thing and crushing the people down as is
being done in Limbi, Talcher and other places is a different
thing altogether, but thank God the swing of the pendulum is at
the present moment in the opposite direction and Bapu is
cultivating the virtue of patience.

I shall write to you again from Bombay.

I forgot to tell you that Mr. Gibson has a delightful but
dry sense of humour. I enclose copy of his latest letter to Bapu
in reply to the one written by Bapu to him cxpressing his regret
for having been a constant source of worry during the days of
the fast which after all had to be infructuous.

Yours affectionatcly,
Mahadev

Encl. Gibosn’s letter

THL RISIDENCY,
Ralkor,
BALACHADI,
May 27, 1939
DFAR MR. GANDHI,

It is vgry nige of you to have written as you have. Thank
you very much. More work there was in those days which you
recall, but I don’t mind work if it is worth doing. So much that
one ha, to do nowadays is not. The peoplc who are really over-
worked 1 think, were the telegraph and telephone operators.
Residents (if I may let you into a secret) are always overworked.

I expect to be back in Rajhot on the night of May 31st and
I have written to Mr. Mahadev Desai and suggested having a
talk on the following morning. And of course 1 should like to
have another talk with you before you leave but I expect you
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will be very busy that morning, so 1 don’t suggest it; but if ypu
can spare a few minutes, plecase come at whatever time suits you.

Yours sincerely,
E.C. Gibson

98

CALCUTTA,
June 1, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADLVBHAL,

Thanks for your lctter. I understand Radhakrishan has ai-
ready seen Bapu and you about Jaipur affairs. 1 too received
from him a summary of the conversation that took place 1n
various interviews bctween Jamnalaiji and the state officials.
It is difficult for me to make out wiry Todd should have been
so nice in the beginning and curt in the end. 1 would not be-
lieve that there has been a sudden change in the policy; on the
other hand, 1 would not be surpiised if during the coarse of
conversation they gol some wrong impression aund thus changed
their attitude. May be like Rajkot there has been mishandling
somewhere. | am wiriting this 1 order that we may not get
impatient withcut knowing b. .h inc sides of the picture.

- Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas
MAHADEVBHAI DESAIL Esqr.
Rasxor
99
SEGAON,
WARDHA,

Junc 17, 1939

MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASSI,
You will rcmember that report of Steel’s interview with
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Bapu that I sent you from Rajkot. Have you made any use of
it? I hope not. The situation is this. Bapu was wondering if it
should not be puplisked in Harijan. When I sent ¥ to you I
had no doubt that it should not be published. Now Pyarclal
who is in Bombay just now has sent some matter for Ilarijan in
which he has included his account of this intervidw. (i't is sub-
stantially the samc), and Bapu asked me why it should not go.
Isaid I did not think it could go, as it would raise plenty of
dust and unnecessary controversy and conjecture. Instead I said
Thad a good mind to send a copy to Laithwaite who might
show it to the Viccroy—especially as it contains a most compli-
mentary reference to him. “Do you think,”” Bapu ashed,” it
would be better than publishing it?” 1 said I had no doubt.
Then 1T said : “But 1 have a fear that Birlaji may have done so
already, though it he did it he would certainly tell us. Bapu
said : “l hope he has not donc it. For it would not bc proper
for him to send things like that to the Viceroy. It would com-
promise his position, and so on.” That is why T am asking you.
1 am almost sure that you could not have used it. Will you
kindly let me have a telcgram 1n reply? Bapu is fairly well,
though week. His vitality 1s very low—perhaps because of the
heat which too is not much to speak of now. We meet in
Bombay—don’t we?
Yours,
Mahadev

100

SEGAON,
Via WARDHA,
June 18, 1939

MY DI AR GHANSHY AMDASII,

We leave here on the 20th.

Why don’t you write on hand made note-paper which you
have now got in plenty? Are you coming to Bombay? If so, why
not on the same train? But I forgot if you have left on the 19th,
this would not reach you.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadey
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,BIRLA BRroS. L1D.,
CALCUTTA,
June 19, 1939

MAHADF VBHAL Disal

MAGANWADI
WaRDHA (C.P.)
HAVE NOT MADE ANY USL STELL’S INTIRVICW.
GHANSHYAMDAS
102
CALCUTTA,

June 19, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

Thanks for your letter.

I have not made any usc of Steel’s interview. But I don’t
quite follow Bapu when he s. 5 ¢ it would not be proper for him
to send things like that to the Viceroy. It would compromise
his position.” 1 hope you will kindly «\plain it to me a little
more clearly. As a matter of fact, whe1ever I feel that acquaint-
ing the Viceroy with something would be helpsal to the cause,
I have always done so. In this case, when I read the interview,
1 found somcthing ncw in it and I did ask syself whether it
would not be of some use sending a few quotations from it to
the Viccroy. It was the complimentary icference that prompted
me to think like this. But then immediately 1 replied to myselt
that sending thc complimentary quotation would look like
flattery and thercfore 1 restrained myscll and dropped the idea.
In fact, had it not contained any complimecntary about the
Viceroy, 1 might have used it and then 1 would have felt very
unhappy on receiving your letter.

Please rcad this letter to Bapu and ask him to guide me



300 B.4PU—A Unique Association

for future. Pleasc also keep me fully informed about his health.
I am sorry I am not coming to Bombay. Partly it is work and
partly laziness thot ar» keeping me here.
Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SHR1 MAHADLVBHAI DiSsAl
BomBAYy
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CALCUTTA,
June 20, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

You remember I told you that I would like to have your
opinion on the brochure of the Pilani College. And with some
hesitation [ asked Bapu also to read it. When I asked Bapu, 1
meant business because 1 want his advice and guidance for the
work that I am doing. I have been receiving \ery embarrassing
congratulations from friends but from you 1 want friendly
criticism and also from Bapu.

I am sending you two copies of the brochure by separate
post. On your way to the Frontier please see if you can find
time to go through it. Bapu also perhaps will find time to read
it in the “Library”.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SHRI MAHADEVBHAT Disal
BoMBay
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CALCUTTA,
June 20, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADEVRHALI,

After reading your letter of the 18th 1 am feeling sorry that
1 did not go to Bombay. But as T wrote in my previous letter,
partly it was work. 1 had beerr absent from Calcutta for such a*
long time that I do not want to leave the place in the midst of
work. Lakshminiwas is not here and T have to put up very hard
worl. these days. 1 suppose Bapu wul now go to the Frontier
and I hope to see him on his return.

About using hand-made paper, I have already introduced it
in Birla House, New Delhi. But about Birla Brothers, I will
give your suggestion to Brajmohan who is himself manufactur—
ing paper in a big factory.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SHRI MAITAD!I VBHAT D1 SAT
BoMmBay
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Biri A Housr,
Mounr PLIASAI\T Roap,
BOMBAY
June 22, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHY AMDASII,

Thank you for your three letters—iwo received today and
one yesterday. 1 enclose copy of a very important letter Bapu
has addressed to the Viceroy. Rameshwarji must have told you
about it on the phone this niorning.

The brochure has not yet been received. 1 shall go through
it as soon as I can and so will be on my way to the Frontier
or to Rajkot, God alone knows. The situation at Rajkot has
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suddenly, for reasons that I do not know, deteriorated and
Bapu had a slcepless night over it. At prayer time he said:
“You will have tc go to Rajkot. What we shall have to do on
your return we shall consider.”

The Frontier visit may not come off. It all depends nn how
keen is Khan Saheb on it. If he is not very keen, it will be
dropped. But Bapu may, instead, go to Travancore, i.e., if
C.P. raises no objection. He has actually wired to C.P. to this
effect:

TRAVANCORI CONGRISS FAGTR TO HAVE ML OPEN THIIR CON-
FIRENCE. DO YOU FAVOUR MY VISIT?

I shall tell you what reply we get from him.
Yours affectionately,
Mahadev

PS. In great haste.
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BirLA Housr,
MALABAR HiLL,
BowMmsay,
June 22, 1939
DEAR LORD LINE1fHGOW,

1 thank you for your letter of 16th instant.

Thougt it is a pity that prisoncr Prithvisingh cannot be
discharged 1 have no difliculty in understanding your dccision.
1 must await another opportunity.

The case of Jaipur is hanging fire. T wonder if a solution
may be expected. As far as I know the Maharaja himself was
quite willing to set free Sheth Jamnalalji and the other priso-
ners, to recognise the people’s association and to respect Full
Civil Liberty so long as it did not cross the bounds of non-
violence.

There is onc other matter which I had better mention in



BAPU—A Unique Association 303

this letter. I understand there are princes who are desirous of
seeing me but they have hesitation in doing so for fear of the
disapproval *of the political Department. As J, had said during
our talks in New Delhi, I ain of bpinion that they should be
free to meet any person so long as they do so openly. It would
be a good thing, if a declaration of your policy on this subject
were made either openly or privately as may be thought advis-
able. I feel that it would not be enough if the permission is
given in individual cases like mine. Secing that the pcople of the
states have intimate conncction, political and social, with Con-
gressmen and others all over India, is it not wisc and proper
to encourage the practice of princes cstablishing triendly rela-
tion with those who have influence over their people? To treat
Congressmen and others as outsiders seems to be so unnaturai
that the barrier cannot last long. It would be a pitv if it is
broken after a clash and creation of bad blood. I wonder 1f you
have noticed that some states have invited or welcomed visits
of anti-Congress personalities, I do not complain of this but
it is in striking contrast to the opposition fostered often by the
Political Department to the visits of Congressmen?

Yours sincerely,

M.K. Gandhi

H. E. Tur ViCirOY
SimLA
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VICLRIGAL LODGE,
SimMrLA,
July 1, 1939
DEAR MR. GANDHI,

Thank you very much for your letter of 22nd June. It
raises one or two points on which I should like to touch in my
reply. .

2. As rcgards Jaipur, thc Duibar have, [ am quite sure, no
desire to detain Seth Jamnalal Bajaj any longer than is neces-
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sary. Indeed, as you will remember, they were at considerable
pains to avoid detaining him in the first instance. Seth Jamnalal
has been made fully .aware of the conditions on which the
Durbar are ready to take the desired action now in regard to
him and the other prisoners, and to the best of my knowledge
the position has not altered since the departure of H. H. the
Maharaja.

» 3.1 have rcad with close attention what you say in the last
paragraph of your letter, and I am very grateful to you for
letting me know your views. I think it is fair to say that the
Political Department have given no moie cncouragement to
“anti-Congress personalities”, to use, if [ may, your own
phrase, than to pro-Congress personalitics to establish con-
tacts with Ruler. and their subjects.

I hope you kecp well.
Yours sincerclv,
Linlithgow

M. K. Ganpin
BOMBAY
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Birt A Housr,
Mount Pr1asaNT Roab,
BoMmBAy,
July 5, 1939
MY DI AR AGATHA,

{ have written some four letters to you during the last five
or six weeks, but there 1s no acknowledgment, and I am there-
fore getting worricd as to whether you got them.

1 wrote the last from Rajkot. We arc now getting ready to
go to the Frontier. In Rajkot Gibson and Virawala are fast
consolidating their position and thc gencral demoralisation of
the people offers them a favourable field. Both of them I found
frank, but in mood of malicious triumph. 1 asked Gibson
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whether the “new technique’ was having any effect on peaqple
in Rajkot. He said: “The only man who has truly imbibed the
spirit is Dhebar. He has been in the past,such a nuisance to us,
but I must say this frankly abeut him.” T said: 1 am so happy
to hear this. But I meant to ask about Virawala and others.”
He said:"“Y8u assume that they belicve in it?”’ I said: “On the
contrary, I have heard that they pooh pooh it.” He said,
“Not so, but they may not believe in the philosophy.” And
that really is the truth.

Nor do the Government. You remember the talk Bapu had
with the Viceroy about contact with the princes, and how he
said that he was frankly against it. With the new technique the
poor princes —some of them—felt that the conditions were
changed, and as I wrote to you in my last, they approached
Bapu with a request that he should request the Viceroy to
make the way smooth for a frce discussion with Congressmen
(including Bapu). The enclosed correspondence will show how
the wind blows. I do not think we have had a worse letter from
the Viceroy than this. He scems now to close all doors against
Bapu, and it almost looks as though in future he may not ecven
reply to his letters. That at lcast is Bapu's view. He i terribly
disappointed and is much exercised as to what to do. 1f possi-
ble I shall try tosend along with this a copy of his article for
the next Harijan. If 1 have no spare copy Chandiashankar will
send you one from Poona iu the natural course.

Yours sincerely,
Mahadev
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BIrRLA HoOUSE,
MOUNT PLLASANT ROAD,
BowmBay,
July 5, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,
Thank you for your long letter which has come today. After
all I am not to go to Travancore. Ramachandran has wired to
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say .that the field for khadi is not yet ripe enough to make it
worthwhile for Bapu to send me there. It has been a painful
surprise for Bapu to see that they are so bchind-Fand with
constructive work. But it is good 40 know the truth. You are
right in thinking that Bapu had some diplomatic work in view
for me as well. In fact he was going to write to C. F. about me
as soon as he heard from Ramachandran. But now, of course,
if is all off; for the present at any rate. Instead of Travancore
Bapu is now going to send me to Bihar and I have written
today to Rajendrababu. The climate in the North of Bihar
would be very bad during the rains and much khadi work is
developed there, so it is probable that 1 shall go to the south
of the province. There is little doubt that Rajendra Babu will
ask me to come, as he had himself suggested my coming to
Bihar when he heard I was not to return to the Frontier.

As to the things 1 have left in Delhi, I had no i1dea where 1
should be sent or what work I should settle down to, so 1 did
not like to cart them about with me. Many of the things are
house-hold articles and the like that 1 should not need unless 1
settle down somewhere. In the Frontier I had to have all these
things because I had to have all my arrangements separatc and
independent. So 1 think, if it 1s not inconvenient, I had better
leave them in Delhi for the present, until [ know how things
are going to be in Bihar.

Bapu is leaving by the Frontier Mail tonight. The party 1s
in a very uncertain condition. Mahadev has tooth-ache and has
gone to the dentist to see if anything can be done in time to
enable him to lcave with Bapu. Pyarelal is suffering from a
swollen gland i~ the throat and has not yet made up his mind
whether to accompany Bapu or not. If he docs not go, then
Sushila will also, stay behind, and if Sushila does not go, then
Ba will not 'be able to go, as there will be nobody to give her
the medical attention she necds after her illness. So that brings
it down to Bapu, Kanu and Mahadev’s Narayan (if he will
leave his father). At the same time I am hoping that they may
all end in going.

Bapu is well. The sea air has certainly done him good. As
he is to go straight to Hazra, and not to Peshawar. 1 hope he
will have quite a good time in the mountains. Bapu does not
mind the attitude, and I have asked the Doctors here and they
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all say that up to 6,000 ft. will be perfectly ali right for him.
You and I evidently have the same difficulty. So I have found
one persop to sympathize with me in this matter.

1 am to stay on herc till T get Rajendra Babu's reply which
should come in 4 or 5 days as we have asked him to wire. I
will let you know where I finally scttle down to work.

Yours affectionately,
Mira

PS. Have there been any feelers about that Frontier
cotton machinery?
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Birr A Housg,
MOUNT PL1ASANT ROAD,
Bomsay,
July 5, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

1 am nursing a bad tooth which is so painful that I have
not the patience to write to you a scparate letter after having
written the &nclosed. But it will give you all the news and 1
need not repeat it.

We are booked to leave tonight 10r the Frogtier, but much
depends on the dentist who may hold me up. ‘T‘ﬁe unfortunate
thing is that Pyarelal also has a bad tooth and might need an
operation. If he also cannot go Bapu will be in'the unfque plight
of having to go with Kanu and my boy. And he is determined
to go.

Yours,

Mahadev
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(CALCUTTA,
July 7, 1939
MY DEAR MIRABEN,

It was a great disappointment to me to know that ‘after all
you did not go to Travancore. As usual, man proposes and
God disposes. Let God propose next time and perhaps we will
have greater success then.

Things look pretty dark just now. Bapu’s new technique
may be appreciated after his death. But those who want to
judge things by the results find that the new technique has put
Rajkot, Talcher and others in a most comfortable position. T
wonder how the Viceroy’s mind is working. I should like to see
him, but it looks there is no chance of my meeting him before
next winter. Has his new technique at all been appreciated by
the authorities in Simla? I doubt very much. Moore is writing
good articles occasionally, but perhaps the official world may
be under the impression that Bapu is getting a spent force or
that the old age is having effect on him, otherwise why should
the man come out openly to confess his mistakes? But Bapu
has been misunderstood thioughout his life. However, God
will help him.

I am glad that you are going to Bihar. If Bihar means also
districts like Ranchi and Hazaribagh, then why not go to my
zemindary and settle down there and work as much as you like.
It is a picturesque place. I spent nearly eight lakhs on the
zemindary and my income just now is zero. So, even if you
start an anti-z*=indary campaign, I would not be disturbed.
The people are really poor and full of superstition. Yet, a lot
of social work conld be done among them. To my gieat shame,
T must confess that I have not visited my zemindaty at all after
it was purchased. In fact, I never took much intercst in it. But
you will like the climate and also the people and perhaps you
may be able to render them some service. But I suppose you
will be under the command of Rajendrababu and he will per-
haps decide where you are going to work.

We will preserve your possessions in Delhi very carefully.
So, you can feel assured as if you had put something in the
safc vaults of the Imperial Bank. It looks as if you will never
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need them. But who knows, you might go to the Frontier
again.

I have received a letter foday from Mahadev in which he
has enclosed a copy ot his letter to Agatha. A copy of Viceroy’s
reply to Bgpu is also there. It is all very depressing. And all
this is happening when the international situations are so bad.
Great Britain is wooing Russia for a trcaty. Why not a treat
with India? But John Bull i§ a hopeless person. He moves very
slowly and acts stupidly. Of course, he muddles through. But is
that a virtue, I ask myself ?

I hope you are quite well.

Yours affectionately,

Ghanshyamdas
SMT. MIRABEN
BOMBAY
112
ABBOTTABAD,
July 9, 1939

BHAI GHANSHYAMDAS,

A copy of Kishorelalji’s judgme - in the matter of the dairy
farm has already been posted to you. Please do‘wy.lxat is 1equired
of you in the light of that judgment I havealso written to
Lakshminarayanji and Parmeshwari Das to the same effect.

What has been emerging from my pen just %0ow i8, 1n fact,
the pen-portrait of my intensive heart-seaicning. But with the
clouds of violence so thick as they % = at present, can a puny
effort to effect their dissolution have any chance of success? At
times I feel so profoundly discouraged that all energies directed
towards that end seem like so much wasted effort. Then the
opposite pulls prove overpowering. 1 have poured out my
heart’s anguish to you.

Could Nalini Babu do anything to secure release of the

detenus?
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‘My tour of this area will keep me here for a ncarly month,
but certainly not more than that. It is quite possible T may go to
Kashmir as well.

Blessings from
Rapu

-
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2 CRANBOURNE COURT,
ALBERT BRIDGE RoAD,
Personal S. W. 11,
July 14, 1939
MY DEAR GANDHUI,

Mahadev rightly says I have let much time go by without
writing. I have done so purposely, in order that I might get a
sense of things here after my absence and <o give you a consi-
dered opinion after meetings and interviews. You may havce
been surprised at my cable. I did undcrstand, but wanted fuller
interpretation and from Harijun 1 see that others wanted the
samc—even in India.

Briefly this is what has happened here. Immediately 1 arrived
I wrote asking Lord Zctland to see me, for I wanted to say to
him first the thm,gs 1 should say in public later. I have had four
talks in all with the India Office as well as with other important
pecople. And | want to say straight away that I have found a
readiness tv listeh that [ have not experienced before on return-
ing from India. This is largely due to the fact that Carl Heath
kept the S.0.S. closcly informed through the regular letters I

sent back and so the way was prcpared. When you realise the
situation here and how all attention is ccntred on “war” or
“no-war”’—what I say above is significant. For the tension has
to be experienced to be believed. Frankly, 1 did not expect to
get much hearing. | have concentrated on getting my informa-
tion into strategic quarters and relaying the great concern I have
brought back about the Indian situation. Little is known about
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the states question; here I am placed in a good positiqn by
reason of all I saw and heard. Those weeks at Wardha gave me
a valuable background as also the tipne in Delhi. To say no-
thing of the Orissa, and above all, the Rajkot experience. I first
of all pooled my information with the members of the Concilia-
tion Gi'ouﬁ; later a meeting chaired by Lothian was held at
Chatham House. Each meeting produces another set of requests.
After the onc which Sankey, chaired, in particular, 1 have begn
kept busy.

You will know the linc we are pursuing—of the seriousness
of the situation and the imperative need for consultation. I
enclose a copy of an article [ wrote for the F. O. India Bulletin
that will serve to know some of the things ] am stressing.

The States

From India I wrote to Carl Heath of the need for the pre-
paration of a pamphlet that would in as an objective way as
possible, put some facts before people here. A copy is being
sent to you under separate cover. Horace Alexandar and Mr.
Pratt chicfly were responsible for its contents, and I was asked
to write a preface in view of my experience. This is bcing circu-
lated to a selected list of M.P.’s—probably with a covering
letter from three of them who called a meeting in the House the
other day to listen to Muriel and me. And it will go to the
Press and individuals. In view of the expected reply of the
Princes shostly, we hope this material will come at an oppor-
tune time.

And into all this have come Mahadev’s letters with copies
of the correspondence between you and the ®Veceroy. Directly
1 got Mahadev’s first letter, I went to see Sir Findlater Stewart
as Lord Zetland was away. And had a long talk witp him. 1 had
to be careful, in view of the fact you were in touch with the
Viceroy, not to let it appear that 1 was trying to go over the
head of the man on the spot. But I think 1 made this plain. 1
conveyed to him the concern we felt to hear that any stumbling
block could be put 1n the way of Rulers seeking your, or others’
aid, in reforming their states. Of course 1 found there was no
established policy on this—but I was able to tell him what I
heard while in India on this matter.

This second letter is disturbing with the Viceroy’s reply.
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Mahadev says you are “much exercised”’—and I don’t wonder.
But on reading the V’s reply several times; I am not so sure
that it is so hopeless. Knowing the cautious man he ‘'is—could
you not read more into his words ““close attention”? Above all
it seems to me that this is a clear case for your sceing the
Viceroy as soon as possible. You are on the Frontier, would it
not be possible for you to stop off en route? You have not seen
bim since your action in setting aside the Award. That you
wrote, I know. But if your “‘new technique’ has to be explained
to people who are in close contact with you—can you imagine
the great need for explaining it to this man, surrounded as he is
with all and sundry? Carl Heath has written to Mahadev on
reading thesc letters that have passed between you and the
Viceroy. In this Carl Heath says that your ‘*‘new technique”
calls for a ““great stride in spiritual vision and action™ and that
he is not at all surprised it has not met with immediate response.
I am convinced you should have an opportunity of tulking again
with the Viceroy, particularly in view of all that transpired
between you at Delhi. Must it always be a crisis that brings you
together? Could you not call in to see him an route from the
Frontier and take up the unanswered question in your letter. I
should not be at all surprised if you found his state of mind to
be puzzled. He sees you so infrequently; to follow what is in
your mind required the closest and most persistent of contacts.
But perhaps you have already thought of doing this.
With Regard to Federation

1 find that the idea still persists here that Federation will be
accepted. This id€a is based on what happened in regard to
Provincial Autonomy; coupled to this is information reaching
here from India tkat strengthens this attitude. Then many hold
Lothian’s view; hc admits the defccts—thinks thesc will be able
to be altered after the scheme is in work that it will prove more
flexible in practice than on paper—and that it is the only scheme
thought out in detail that is available. Jawaharlal’s attitude is
known and also Subhas Bose’s belief in the need for an ulti-
matum. And running through this thought 1 sense a belief that
you, with certain modifications, will agree to the scheme.

In answer 1 repeat what you said to me, when in India, that
you refused to believe the British Government would impose
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this in face of the opposition to it, etc. ete. ; I quote your recent
article to the Amecrican Press maa. But all this does not have
much effeet on this entrenched idea.

You said in one of your letters that Federation had receded
into the background But with the reply of thc Princes in a
few days this question will once again come to the foreground.
Now 1do not want to force your hand nor that of the Working
Committee. But 1 would ask you to consider the situation ate
this end. I think this harassed country shovld have before it more
clearly what to envisage if the scheme is “proceeded with” no
consultation. I can hear you saying “Haven’t they secn the
statement of Rajéndrababu; and my article in //arijan recently?”’
A few have; but only a very few. Last year, I recall, Carl Heath
wrote to you after some of us had talked with Jawaharlal. In
this, if 1 remembered rightly he, Carl Heath, urged that some-
thing should be addressed to the British people. In this perhaps
not the time? Somcthing that gathers up the statements made
by the Premicrs of the various goveinments, plus the Working
Committee, with you and Jawaharlal added? I repeat, 1 do not
want to force anything that is not timely; but in view of the
confused state of thought and lack of direct knowledge of what
is really the common denominator to which you will all agree,
the situation goes by default.

Is there some way out of the impasse that could be suggested
from your end? What a ma:vellous thing it would be if some
approach coukd be made and a breath of {resh air Jet into our
tired thinking and high state of tensi>n. Your mind is working
furiously, I can sec; my fervent hope is that you will find a way
out. For this, consultation is neccssary. At 1l4s cnd as you
know, we have pressed for this in season and out of season.
But there seems to be a stalemate. Will yow pondgr over the
idea of something being addressed to the Biitish people.

* * *

Thank Mahadev for his letters and ask him to keep me as
fully informed as possible. I hear that Ba has been ill again—
please give her my love and my hope that she is now better. If
Miraben is with you, will you tell her 1 had tea with her Uncle
Professor Carr-Saunders the other day. He was delighted to get
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first-hand news of her and some picture of her in her Pathan
dress.

Sir Maurice Gwyer, is here and we are keeping in4ouch with
him. In one letter I got from India, the remark was made that
after your Rajkot decision, Sir Maurice was said to have been
sarcastic. I just want you to know that this is not his attitude
of mind, but what is in his mind is an anxiety to get to know

~you. When he gets back, 1 am surg you will help to facilitate a
meeting between you in some moral way.

1 send you my love.

Agatha Harrison

PS. 1 get no direct news of Talcher. What is happening
to that tragic situation? Bhulabhai Desai is here though
he leaves on Sunday. I have had some talks with him
and told him fully of the situation here.

114
CALCUTTA,
July 16, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADFVBHAI,

I had a talk with Nalini Babu about the release of political
prisoners. He told me just what I had anticipated that it was
possible to case the situation if the question was handled pro-
perly. So I swggested to Bidhan that he should put himself
immediately in touch with the prisoners to persuadc them to
give up hunger-srikc and then negotiate with the Government.
Nalini has promised to help. Bidhan has already scen
Nazimuddin and perhaps tomorrow he will sce the prisoners.
Lct us see what happens.

Please inform Bapu.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SyT. MAHADLVBHAI DESsal
ABBOTTABAD
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CoNGRLSs CAMP,
RAMGARH,
. July 28, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASIJI,

I received your two letters in Ranchi and waited till I had
something definite to tell you before answering.

As usual, I was of course perfectly comfortable in Birla
House! When [ got there Rajendrababu was not well, but he
was much improved when I left, and 1 hope he is now able to
stand the strain of so much travelling. You will be seeing him’
no doubt 1n Calcutta now, if you are there.

I have looked at 8 villages round here, accompanied by two
A.LS.A. workers. It has been difficult, owing to the heavy rains
but we have got a good idea of local conditions. We have
decided that it is not possible to start wotk properly till the
rains are over. To start living 1n a village is out of the question,
as no building is available in the 1ains and one cannot build
for oneself. The climate also is very trying just now, and I
cannot cxpect to keep my health under the present circumstances,
so we have dccided that 1 go away for the time being and
return as soon as it is possible to begin work in rcal earnest. 1
am therefoie leaving for Segaon tonight and expect to return
by the end of September «.r beginning of Octobcer. Spring has
completely dicd out here, but we believe it can be successfully
revived. The women express willingr »ss to learn and somc of the
older oncs still cemember the art. They wear and like thick clothes
and some ol the old men rccall how their® cavn home-spun
clothes used to last them S to 8 years!! The Congress coniing
in December gives us very little time, but weemust go our best.
Wec arc hoping to get the Congress to supply us with some
fund, as it is dificult for the A.LLS.A <uddenly to finance a new
centre. After all it is for the good namc of the Congress
that we propose starting work in this particular place. There
may be many other more suitable places that mught be found
in Bihar otherwise.

Where exactly is your zemindary? I should be very interested
to sec it some day. Something seems to be “wrong in the states
of Denmark’. If after spending nearly 8 lakhs on it, your income
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is zero, perhaps among other things, God was not pleased with
your lack of personal contact? Let us go together some day
and have a good Inok it the country and the people.’

I know things look a bit ‘depressing—that answer of the
Viceroy's to Bapu’s letter about contact with the princes was
shocking! I did not think H.E. was capable of such a produc-
tion! When Bapu read it, he was in his Monday silence. T said
to Bapu, “I supposc the Viceroy feels helpless.”” 1 was trying to
make the best of it. But Bapu wrote down on a scrap of paper:
“He is not helpless, he is tired of a man like me and he is try-
ing to get rid of me.” There was a rumour in thc papers yester-
day that Bapu is to have an imnterview with H.E., but I suppose
that is all nonsense. Whether he is tired of Bapu or not, the
Viceroy will have to face Bapu one of these days. After all this
“pew technique” makes the English people feel very uncom-
fortable, if they dor’t want to have direct contact. Our stand off
attitude and cxacting manner gave them very convenient excuses
before.

In spite of all the outward excuses for depression—some-
how, where Bapu is concerned, I cannot be depressed. Such a
man is bound to be misuderstood in his own day. The marvel is
rather that Bapu has been appreciated to the extent he has. God
sends such a man in a black age, how then can they understand
him! Don’t you think that is the real position, and that the
present developments are quite natural.

But 1 must stop, for it is time to pack, and this letter is
already unduly long.

Yours affectionately,
Mira
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Viceroy's Camp,
INDIA,
July 28, 1939

DLAR MR. GANDHI,
I had been mecaning to suggest to you that we might have a
short talk on my way back from Orissa next month, but I did
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not do so as I gathered from the Press that you were propos-
ing to visit Kashmir. But now that you are returning to
Wardha, 4 write to say that it would giye me very great
pleasure to see you again, if itewas by any chance convenient
for you to be in Delhi on the Saturday the 5th August. I expect
to arrive in Delhi on the evening of Friday and shall be spend-
ing the whole of the 6th away inspecting famine work, etc.,
at Hissar, but Ishall be delighted to see you at 11 a.m., or®
Saturday if that would suit you.

2. There is no special subject which 1 want to raise with you
but it is now some months since we have met and I would
welcome an opportunity of seeing you again.

Yours sincerely,
Linlithgow

M.K. GaNDHI, ESQRr. »

117
India Bullctin
Some Impressions by Agatha Harrison

July-August, 1939

I have recently come back from India-—my foerth visit. Just
before 1 left London, in October, someone remarked 1o me:
“Thank goodness, therc is one spotin the eworld that seems
quiet—India.” What is meant by “quiet”” I wonder, as 1 think
over the impressions gained during my six months in this
friendly hospitable land? Can the recent agitations going on in-
tensively for the past year in the Indian states be called ‘“‘quiet”?
And can the hostility and resentment that the proposed Federal
scheme arouses, produce ‘“quiet”? The opposition differs, of
course. The princes have their reasons for objection (the report
of an informal conference held recently in Bombay serves to
show what is in their minds); the Muslims do not favour the
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scheme, and readers of this Bulletin are well aware how National
India views the scheme.

I have come bagk profoundly concerned with what T saw and
learnt. I went to India with no terms of reference save to attend,
as a deligate from a group of British women's organisations
here, the All-India Women's Conference in Delhi. This was a
great expzrience, and I wish I had space to tell you about it.
But I honestly believe that the Indion women would rather I told
you something of the general situation into which their move-
ments fit. Though my plans were fluid, 1 particularly wanted to
see what [ could of the provincial government at work; when
I was in India in 1936-37, elections for these were taking place.
1 also wanted to go to the Frontier and to talk with people of
all shades of opinion, both Indian and British. In fact to learn
all 1 could. As 1 look back on this crowded experience, |
am more and more convinced of the value of people going into
the midst of conflici—going freely as persons with no axe to
grind and no face to save, and inthe firm belief that by con-
sultation and negotiation, rather than by force, great issues
must be solved.

My four visits to Delhi (the last being at the time when the
Viceroy and Mr. Gandhi had their talks after the Rajkot tast)
stand out in my mind. I had the chance of talking with high
officials and others connected with the diflicult task of ad-
ministering the Central Government of India. For here, in the
spacious buildings of the Secretariat, you learn.something of
the ramifications and problems of administering a vast country.
But to get a complete all-India picture, you must go elsewhere.
There are others who have their finger on Inda’s pulse—
Indian lcaders. For example, Mahatma Gandhi, Jawaharlal
Nehru, Subhas Buose, who all live and work under very different
circumstances. Unfortunately Mr. Bose was ill for the greater
part of my stay in India, but I had scveral talks with him, the
last being just after the A.I.C.C. meeting in Calcutta in May,
when he explained to me the background of the formation of
the “Forward Block”. [ think, too, of thesix days spent in
Jawaharlal Nehru’s home in Allahabad. From early morning
till late at night a surge of people could be seen on his verandah
waiting to consult him. Hindu-Muslim tension in the U.P.
was rife and leaders from both communities sought his help,
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as also did industrial leaders who were dealing with industrial
unrest.

I marvélled at the way he coped withjt a]l. His daily mail
is enormous; comes not only frem all over India but the rest of
the world; telegrams and cables and a telephone constantly
ringing. On tfe top of all this Jawaharlal Nehru has a new task,
for the State People’s Conference, which I attended at Ludhiana,
he was made President. I went to some of his meetings—the
ones held in villages interested me enormously. From my
vantage point of the platform, provided with a good inter-
preter, I watched the faces of thousands of men and wonen,
some of whom had walked miles in the heat to meet this loved
leader. He said very simple things to them about their pressing
problems, but he never failed to link them to a world situation.
The experiences Jawaharlal Nehru went through last year in
Spain and Europe have left a deep scar on this man, -and with
amazement [ would watch him pass on these experiences to
simple villagers till they, too, felt part of a world’s agony. They
never took their eyes off his face—and sometimes he spoke for
nearly two hours! !!

How can I describe the visits to Wardha—four in all—in
order to be able to go in and out to Segaon where Mr. Gandhi
lives? If you sit there long cnough you not only meet leaders
from all parts of India, but a cross section of the world too.
People came from China ana Japan, Palestine, Germany, etc.
to talk with him about the application of non-violence to their
situations. In addition come letters from all parts of the world
asking the same question.

The ncarest telephone is some miles away-~though a post
office has been set up of miles away to facilitate work, and
happily the C.P. Government has made a graet for g road to
be made from Wardha to Scgaon. Anyone wh» has walked the
five miles to segaon along the bullock track, reading this news,
will be relieved. There is also an air service to Nagpur—>50 miles
away of which Premiers and Ministers availed themselves scek-
ing his aid on their prodigious tasks. A constant stream of men
and women arrived daily. But the question most exercising Mr.
Gandhi’s mind, was the situation in the States. Rajkot in
particular. People and reports came from states all over the
country—all with the same dreary tale of oppression,
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Though I had previously studied the state question at this
end—now I was plunged into the heart of the turmoil for I was
allowed to be present when talks took place, and to read the
evidence these men had brought. So 1 went straight from
Wardha to Delhi to learn what I could from the Political Depart-
ment, and met responsible officials. The gulf that yawned bet-
ween good men on both sides to be deplored, for this states
question is complicated in the extreme. and only by the com-
bined effort of all parries concerned can the condition of the
states people be sct right. Then I went to Orissa. Here again 1
met with all shades of opinion; the murder of the Political
Agent Major Bazalgette had just occourred and tension was
high. I visited the refugee camps in and around Angul, where
thousands of men, women and children had come for sanctuary
from the state of Talcher and Dhenkanal. 1 talked with some
of the refugees, and what I heard filled me with dismay. From
home, I was getting letters telling of the streams of refugees who
had sought a haven in England and of what was being
done to help. There in Orissa T was involved in a similar pro-
blem that seemed to me should have a prior—or at least
equal—claim on people here.

Yet, I imagine that few even knew there was this situation.
Let along any details. Happily members of the Political Dcpart-
ment and Congress leaders came into contact in an effort to
find a solution. Up to thc moment of writing some of the
people are still in those camps. It is an intolerable situation.

We are abyssmally ignorant here on the Indian states pro-
blem. We know something of the larger states; of rulers, some
of whom ycaes ago set their houses in order; we also know that
others have rccently followed suit —forced by an awakened
people. Rut th.re are 562 of thesc some very small 1 know.
Yet their peoples want the same thing that men and women
the world over are striving for : civil liberty, the right of
association and free speech, proper administration of justice
and participation in democratic Government. As the “para-
mount power” we are responsible for seeing that such condi-
tions maintain in each of the 562 states. But until we pay
attention to this question and learn more about it, we can be
of little use.

I have come back to London to find attention revetted on
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every other part of the world save India. Are we going on‘in
this estritch-like way, till a major crisis occur and then, with no
background of events leading up to the erisis, to do the wrong
things? A new approach is sorely needed. Instead of ‘“proceed-
ing with Eedgration" why not take into consultation the Indian
people who are so opposed—not to Federation itself but to
the present scheme? Knowing that wisdom and statesman-
ship cxist, both in British and Indian circles, I refused toe
believe that some just and honourable way out could not be
found if the parties concerncd were called into for a new con-
sideration ol the present position. For this, every man and
women here should press.
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WARDIA,
August 1, 1939
His ExcirrrNcy VICTROY
Vicrroy's Canp

IXC1IDINGT Y SORRY. CANNOT RIACH DILTI YITH INSTANT FSPL-
CTALLY AS THIRE IS NO PARTI  TLAR PURPOSE TNR MFI1ING. URGINT
WORK DI MANRS T XHAUSTING JOURNLY FROM IRONTILR PROVINCF.
ANY DATIT AFTER TWINTICTH INSTANT VILL SUIT.

GANDHI
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VIcErOY's Camp,
INDIA,
(Puri),
August 2, 1939
DEAR MR, GANDHI,
Many thanks for your telegram which I have just received,
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I quite realise your difficulty in getting away at this moment,
and I had indeed been a little afraid that it might, as has hap-
pened, bc impossible for you to do so. I should be most reluc-
tant to impose the least strain on you, and 1 hope that you will
never hesitate to let me know if you feel that any suggestion
of mine for a meeting is likely to have that effect; and I shall
not in the least misunderstand your doing so.

2. It is very kind of you to suggest that we might meet later
this month. I have in fact, as I said, nothing very special to talk
about, and my invitation to you to meet me at Delhi was merely
in pursuance of my desire to keep in touch with you and main-
tain contact from time to time. Nor do I want to give you the
trouble of the tiring journey to Simla. I think therefore that we
might leave matters as they are for the moment, and T will look
forward to seeing you a little later in the ycar when I am again
back from the hills.

With all good wishes,

Yours sincerely,
Linlithgow

M. K. Ganpui, FsQr.
SEGAON
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SEGAON,
August 2, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASI],

1 cannot, at the moment, lay my hands on Agatha’s letter,
but the enclosed is much more interesting. I think 1t 15 the result
of Agatha’s talks with the S. O.S. who may have suggested
to the Viceroy to do something. It was not possible for Bapu to
undertake the journey so soon after the return from the Fron-
tier. The return journey even from Declhi to Wardha was exceed-
ingly troublesome. When will our people learn the elements of
politeness! ! ! And until they learn them, can’t we provide Bapu
with some extra comforts on the journey. Or cannot the Rly.
Board provide a special train for Bapu?
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No time for more today. Bapu, was deeply pained to hear
my accoung of the talks with the prisoners. You must have seen
his message to them. It will be a very hafd pitl for the brothers
to swallow !

Yours,
Mahadev
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CALCUTTA,
August 4, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADI VBHAIL,

I had feared that 5th would not suit Bapu. This mcans that
if he meets the Viceroy after the 20th, he will have to go to
Simla.

As T had predicted when you were here, the fast is broken.
Or rather the milk diet is stopped and solid food is taken. And
on what assurance? I don’t think Snbhas 1s serious about start-
ing any movement after two months, It 1s terrible how
dishonestly is working in this province.

1 am hkely to go to Jaipur now as soou as I can. Devdas
phoned to me yesterday and said that he should like to take
strong attitude in The Hindustan Times about the faipur affairs,
I told him to wait until Bapu had an interview with the Viceroy
and also asked him to consult Bapu when he tame 1o Delhi.
But cvidently this is not to be for some time to come.

I also want to mcet Bapu but I am iut sure whether I should
go to Wardha first or should go to Jaipur before going to
Wardha. Have you got any suggestion to make?

Yours affectionately,
Ghanshyamdas

SyYT. MAHADEVBHAI DESAL
WARDHA
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SEGAON,
Via WARDHA,
August 4, 1939
MY DFAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

I enclose herewith Agatha’s letter.

Someone from Nagpur has brought the news that the pri-
soners have been all released! Evidently Khwaja Nazimuddin
had something up his sleeve, or the Brothers had, and they did
not want to disclose it to Rajendrababu and me. Suren Ghose
was saying that if the Congress members in the Assembly pro-
miscd to support the ministry in all other matters the prisoners
could be easily released. Either this thing has happened or some-
thing else of a similar nature—but the Brothers will now go
about with feathers in their caps, and will swear at Bapu with
greater vehemence.

When Bapu issued that statement about the prisoners, I
asked him not to do it. It would, I said, incense both the pri-
soners and the Brothers. Instead a reply could be sent to the
prisoners. But Bapu was very firm and has thus invited that
angry statcment from Subhas. We are in for troubles at times
and it seems we will be sceing anarchy and chaos in our lifetime.

Sikandar Hayat sent a telegram of apology for the hostile
demonstration at the Lahore Station by Muslims and Jinnah
sent a telegram to inquire who were the demonstrators and what
their motives were.

The Vicerny has sent no reply to Bapu’s telegram asking
for some date after the 20th.

Jamnalalji is in a bad state of health and Bapu has written a
very angry article for IHarijan.

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev



BAPU—A Unique Association 325,
123

SEGAON,
Via WARDHA,
August 5, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASIJI,

Here is the Viceroy’s reply to Bapu’s telegram. What is your
reaction to it? I think Bapu did well in not giving on the 5th. I
have seen Subhas’s statement. You have proved a true prophet.
These fellows did not want the credit to be given to Bapu and
the Congress. I suppose everyone will sce through the game.
Subhas has given the prisoners no better assurance than we gave
them.

However all well that ends well.

No time today for more.

Yours,
Mahadev
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CALCUTTA,
August 7, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAL,

The Viceroy’s letter is quite good. That is my reaction. Not
only he wrote to Bapu but Laithwait= also wrote to me imme-
diately the Viceroy heard from Bapu that he could not come.
Laithwaite also expressed regrét that he coudd pot fix up an
interview for me because he thought Bapu might go to Delhi.

I don’t think your conjecture is corrcct thaj the Viceroy’s
letter had anything to do with some hint that he might have
received from the Secretary of State. Nor do 1 dctect Agatha’s
hand in it. From c¢very sourcc I have been hearing that the
Viceroy speaks very highly and I think it is a genuine desire on
his part to maintain the contact.

But I do not accept what he says that therc was nothing
special to talk about. I think after some time he will begin to
talk about Federation which, undoubtedly, is coming nearer
and nearer. His apparent hclplessness in the matter of the
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princes may be due to his desire not to upset the princes until
they have joined the Federation.

With reference to the break of huger-strike by the prisoners,
it was all a pre-arranged plan. My information goes that except
for 20 or 30, all of them will be released within two months.

Bapu was perfectly right in issuing that statement and al-
though it was criticised by Subhas, the Bengal Press generally
took it in good spirit. It is high time that Bapu spoke out his
mind as he has been doing of late.

I am not quite sure what would be the result of disciplinary
action if the Working Committee so acts. I have been receiving
contradictory opinion on this point but I personally believe
that you cannot allow the things to continue as they are doing
at present.

I have received Agatha’s lctter and 1 suppose I can keep it
in my file because so far as [ know you do not keep regular files
and it is better that all important papers were preserved.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SHR1 MAHADEVBHAI DESAI
WARDHA
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CALCUTTA,
August 9, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAL,

My programme for Jaipur is for the time being cancelled
bzcause Press reports that Todd has suddenly left for England
and that he is not likely to come back. I have written to the
Viceroy very strongly urging the necessity of appointing an
Indian as Prime Minister.

I will come to Wardha now but as I have to go to Bombay
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also for the affairs of Scindia, I will fix up my programme im-
mediately I hear from Bombay as to when I am needed.
Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SRI MAHADEYBHAI DESAI
WARDHA
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SEGAON,
August 10, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

I was to have left this week with Dr. Bharucha to see
Jamnalalji at Jaipur, and as we were arranging the programme
Bapu said: It is quite likely that you may not need to go. He
may be released before you get there.” And within two hours of
this talk telegram of his release was released. So Jaipur is settled.
Who knows, the Viceroy wanted to tell Bapu that this thing was
going to be done? I likc his letter but 1 do not like his repeating
the old formula of “no special business”. Rajkumari who came
yesterday was telling me that they were going to discuss the
Federation (she heard it from Glancey). She also said that Tod
(is it Tod or Todd?) was abovt to Jeave or had left Jaipur, as the
Maharajah and he did not hot it off with each other.

Now if Bapu gocs to Delhi in October—as he will certainly
have to go—you must get him to go to Pilani. And ask him to
set apart a week. It will give him some rest toog

I have heard from Dr. Bidhan all kinds of stories about the
sordid dcal, about the hunger striking prisoners. Bidhan said
Subhas was playing very high stakes. 1 shoufd think he was
digging his grave.

Every member of the W. C. wants unciplinary action against
Subhas, but I think Jawahar will stand on the way. All that he
might agrce to issuc a warning. But 1 do not know. The
subject will be discussed this afternoon.

Bapu is very well indeed.

Yours affcctionately,
Mahadev
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PS. Would Bajrangji try to get for me from some book-
shop in Calcutta Brunton’s Secret Path? By the by,
Hume's 12 Upanishads I found in Laxmini»as’s room
(the roomrin which Rajendrababu was staying) and the
two great plays of Maeterlinek I spoke to you about in
Delhi —Mary Magdalene and Mona Vanna—ace both in
your big library in the Central Hall.

M. D.
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CAIC(UTIA,
August 14. 1939
MY DLAR MAHADEVBHAI,

1 note that you do not like the Viceroy repeating the old
formula but 1 have discovered that the Viceroy alwavs to do
more than what he promises and 1 guess that in the release of
Jamnalalji, he must have had to fight against some difficulties. 1
am not prepared to believe that the Maharajah gets any credit
because I know the Maharajah and he is not a man of any
courage.

Please remind Bapu about his promise to go to Pilani, and
so if he goes to see the Viceroy in October, he must set apart a
week's time. He can go to Pilani any time at his convenience
cither in October or in November. December perhaps will be
too cold for him. But let Bapu decide something provisionally
just now.

The Statesman has been writing some very good article
about the Subhas episode. 1 have sent you the cuttings. I hope
you will tind them very interesting. I admire the Englishman
because it always takes trouble to study the things, whereas the
Hindustan Standard is full of irrelevant criticism without ad-
vancing a bit of logic.

Bidhan reached here this morning and he was disappointed
if he had expected that he would meet at the station a proces-
sion of black flags. On the contrary, about 2,000 men from
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Burrabazar went to receive him. It could be said that on the
whole Bengal has taken the things rather tamely.
1 haxe spoken to Bajrang about the books.
*Yours affectionatcly,

Ghanshyamdas
SHRI MAUADFVBHAI DESAI
WARDHA
128
BIRI A PARK,
August 24, 1939
PYARELAL

Care MAHATMA GANDHUI
SEGAON WARDHA

COULD YOU SEND MF RAPU'S DRAIT RFSOTUTION OGN WAR FOR
WORKING € OMMITIIL NOT PASSED?
GIIANSILYAMDA S
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CAtcl1ra,
August 29, 1939

MY DI AR MAHADLVBHAL
1 am enclosing herewith a manmifesto which may be issued
under the signature of vatious representative businessmen in case
warbieaks out. T should like to kn w immediately, 1f necessary
by wire, if Bapu has got any comments to make on the same.
The contents of thc manifesto cxpress our own independent
views and our own fecling is that it is not incompatible with the
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attitude taken up by the Congress. However, we would not like
to do anything in case Bapu thinks otherwise and therefore
please let me have Bapu’s reaction on the same ag-soon as
possible.
Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SHRI MAHADEVBHAI DESAI
WARDHA

Draft Prepared for Fedcration of Indian Chambers
of Commerce

We are faced with an extremely critical international situ-
ation in which a great part of humanity might at any moment
be involved in a gigantic war involving death and suffering to
innumerable men and women of different nations. Although, we
in India are not geographically or directly concerned in this
European conflict, 1t 1s obvious that we cannot remain unaffected.
The consequence of a war in which Britain along the whole
Commonwealth is involved would make a vital difference to
us in more than one way. We have undoubtedly to judge this
question primarily in the interests of India, but tne vital and
more fundamental interest of India cannot in this issue be
divorced from the struggle between Britain and France on the
one hand and tke to.alitarian states on the other. Indian public
opinion has clearly perccived in reccent year that the powers
who are thegnemies of the Britain are also enemies of those
ideals of democracy and national freedom for whose realisation
Indians are striving, and that these Powers are also impelled
by a crude and fanatical reacialism which in every way 1s
abhorrent to the tolerant people of India. India has felt grieved
and indignant at the failure of Britain and France to make a
stand on behalf of the smaller and weaker peoples of the world
like those of Abyssinia, Czecho-Slovakia and China who lost
their freedom owing to the aggressive greed of the totalitarian
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powers and who have been sacrified at the altar of appeasement
by those who were their friends. It is reassuring, however; that
even afthis late stage Britain and France have recognised that
their own self-interest is intimately bound up with an interna-
tional order based on law arfd have decided to help the weaker
nations to,defend themselves against force.

In this struggle, India with its national freedom still un-
achieved and its national aspirations unrealised, cannot remain
uninterested because the cdnsequences of a victory of the toth-
litarian powers must have serious repercussions on India’s
future. To contend that England should fight in defence of
weaker nations or in the cause of democracy and to argue at
the same time that India should not support England in her
task is not only illogical but is also impossibic. But to impose a
war on India which is quite feasible under the present Consti-
tution and to obtain Indian’s willing co-operation are entirely
different propositions. Unless the democratic principles for
whose vindication British claims that she is to fight are cffective-
ly translated into practice in India through a satisfactory solu-
tion of the internal constitutional problem India’s willing co-
operation would not be possible. It is not a question of England’s
difficulty being regarded as India’s opportunity. If this spirit
of bargaining is morally wrong, equally wrong it would be
on the part of Britain to appeal to India in the name of a noble
cause and take advantage rither of her dominant position or of
the finer instincts of the Indian people and yet refuse to practice
the democratic principles which she professes. If the freedom
of Poland or Rumania or Turke; caninvolve England into a
war, it would be recasonably expected of her go have still greater
regard for the freedom of India which is within® the Common-
wealth. Even the Dominions are not prepared to help Britain
unconditionally in the event of a war. Befoe theysdo so, they
have insisted upon their being consulted regarding the forcign
policy of British and the precise mouves of such a war. India
is also entitled to demand the rights and powers of an autono-
mous unit of the British Commonwealth when its burdens and
responsibilities have to be undertaken by its population. As the
British Prime Minister referring to the differences between
Germany and Poland observed, there is nothing in these ques-
tions which “could not and should not be solved without the
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use of force if only a situation of confidence could be restored.”
Although there is no question of use of any force so far as the
existing differences bzatween India and England are copeerned,
we belicve that those diferences particularly after the success-
ful function of provincial autonomy during the last two
years and a half are capable of satisfactory solution and
amicable settlement through friendly negotiations provided there
is a sincere approach and mutual trust and goodwill. We cannot
hélp stating that it is a feeling of distrust which has vitiated this
relationship and if even now a proper atmosphere is created, it
is not difficult to evolve immediately a scheme of national
defence as an integral part of the defence of the British Com-
monwealth. Without introducing any spirit of bargaining, we
therefore appeal to Britain that the policy of appeasement which
was perhaps wrongly tried with dectatorships, is far morc
essential in the British Commonwealth itscll and should be
applied to India. No one can dispute that India’s march to full
frecdom can any longer be postponed. It is high time that the
question of complete and full responsible government at the
Centre, including control of foreign policy and defence, be taken
up whithout delay. Britain should understand enough psycho-
logy to realise that when it asks for help from India, it should
at least create adequate enthusiasm in India, to offer such aid.
That assistance can be extended if Britain is preparcd to con-
sider India’s rights and demands. If India is to make voluntary
sacrifices in this war, let her at lcast feel that in her home, she
is enjoying the very liberty which she desires every other country
should enjoy and in defence of which she is herself asked to
fight.

The issucs are too grave and imminent to suffer any delay.
We suggest that HIS Exellency the Viceroy must immediately
establish personal Contact with the accredited leaders of India
and take them into his fullest confidence in order to India
arrive at a permanent and satisfactory settlement of the out-
standing Indian political question. We have no doubt that res-
ponsible Indian public opinion would respond to an appeal to
sink internal differences and suspend the domestic conflict
provided Britain gave proof of her earnest desire to co-operate
with India as an equal partner in the British Commonwealth.
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130
WARDHAGANJ
August 28, 1939
GHANSHYAMDAS
CARE
Lucky
CALCUTTA

CONGRISS APART BAPU DISLIKFS. STAT™MINT RIQUIRFS VITAL
CIHLANGLS, NO IMMEDIATE NI CISSITY TOR IT.

Man\niv
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BIRLA Bros., LTD.,
CALCUTTA,
August 30, 1939
MAHADFVBHAI Drsal
MAGANWADI
Warpiia (C.P.)

PI1ASF POSI IMMIDIAIILY BAP'T'S ADVICL IOR US IROM ( OMMER-
CIAL COMMUNITY’S POINT OT VILW. IF I GO WARDIIA [ WILL HAVI
T LEAVL Bl HIND SOMLTHING FOR GUiDANCE,

GHANSHYAMDAS
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SEVAGRAM,
WARDHA,
August 30, 1939

MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASJI,
I had to waste hours to get you on the phone, but it was a
delight to hear your voice on the phone. I think a telephone
in Maganwadi is a desperate need; and also a small Austin car
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for me. But who can persuade Bapu? You have to tackle him
some day. I stayed the night at Maganwadi and rang you up
in the morning again—stccessfully.

I told Bapu that you wanted to me to prepare a tentative
draft of the manifesto. He said ‘no’, it would be best fog you to
come. There is no hurry for the manifesto. And the war does
not seem to be coming. I think if it does not come, it would be
Best for us. Otherwise we would stand thoroughly exposed!

Rajenbabu is so ill that he cannot move about. Why then
should we have the W.C. meeting at Ranchi? We should
really not bother him and have the W.C. without him. But we
are really not war-minded! Even when we meet after the war,
we will talk as though nothing has happened!

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev
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CALCUTTA,
August 31, 1939
MY DFAR MAHADEVBHAI,

The international situation is still tense. Intuition tells me
that there should be no war, but reason sees no justification for
such optimism. If there is a war, I will immediately leave for
Wardha or Delhi wherever 1 can catch Bapu. If there is no war,
even then aftcr some days I wish to mcet Bapu. But we shall
settle the programme in course of time.

The gentral desire, and this also is my own, is that England
should win. It is felt that England 1s on the side of right.
Secondly, the decfeat of England may have wider consequences
of India which no one desires. Has Bapu by sending his blessings
to Poland made any spiritual commitment?

But if the sympathy is on the side of England, people also
desire to see the political problem settled at once. Even Moore
has written two very good articles and he suggests that imme-
diately a responsible cabinet at the centre should be formed
with the portfolios of defence and external affairs in the hands
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of resposible Indian ministers. He tells me that the Viceroy’s
reaction{xas been favourable which means that if the crisis came,
there should not be much difficulty aboat the settlement. So the
position is that while we want England to win, we also want that
our po].iticz.ﬂ differences should be settled without delay. I am
not actuated by any bargaining spirit. I think our demand of
settlement is not incompatible with our sympathy for Gt. Britain.
Describing my own posifion, while Bapu’s attitude is to8
spiritual and noble for me to practice, I am not much enamour-
ed of the resolution of the Working Committee. Perhaps it
would have been more honest to say that our sympathies were
with England but we would not fight unless there was a settle-
ment. In any case, the Indian Mercantile community here will
have to issue 2 manifesto immediately war breaks out. 1 may be
perhaps in Wardha at that time and thercfore some rough
guidance for the people here is necessary. I have therefore sent
you a wire yesterday to send us Bapu’s guidance which T would

leave here behind me in case 1 have to go to Wardha.
Yours affectionately,

Ghanshyamdas
SYT. MAHADEVBHAI Drsal
WARDHA
134
WARDHAGANJ,

August 31, 1939
GHANSHYAMDAS
Lucky
CALCUTTA

MY FIRM ADVICE IS COMMERCIAL COMMUNITY SHOULD REMAIN
SILENT TILL aCTUAL RESULT IS KNOWN.
BAruU
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BIRLA BRos. LTD.,
CALCUTTA,
September 1, 1939
MAHADEVBHAI DrsAl
MAGANWADI
‘WarDHA (C. P.)

TRIFD YOU ON PHONF. PLEASE TAIK TOMORROW PHONE SEVIN
0’ CLOCK PK1196, WHIRI SHOULD I MI LT BAPU DI LHI OR WARDHA?
GHANSHYAMDAS
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GowmoH,
10.5 a. m., September &, 1939
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

So here we are with Rajenbabu. Mine was a difficult mission,
but it proved so easy, thanks to Rajenbabu. The {riends around
him would have made it impossible, but we had a quite chat
all to oursclves and the rest came after the decision to go was
made. He is very much better and will stand the journey well.
He said the road to Chakradharpur was a dagerous one in the
night, and it was"no usc taking the risk. In fact he had agreed
even to go to Chakradharpur, but the rest of them raised a hue
and cry abput it, and having had experience that evening of the
Bihari chauffeur T did not press Chakradharpur. So we arc
taking thc Bombay Mail here at 0.29 and having a few minutes
free T am just trying to improve shining hour!

The Biharis cheated me of a good simple lunch on the
morning train. Having, 1 thought, heaps of time I had ordered
lunch at 12 o’clock at Gaya. In fact I had suggested 11 o’clock
but the waiter said cither 10 or 12. I plumped for 12 and
behold as the lunch was coming in there were the Gaya friends
waiting to detrain me there. ‘Rajenbabu had telephoned to us
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that we should arrange for you food and car here and you must
get out here.’ 1 said, “Let me finish my lunch at any rate. And
are you ‘sure no car will come at Kodarma?”’ They assured me
that the Kodarma arrangemenj had been cancelled and I must
not think of finishing the lunch at the station but must have
the meal’ that was waiting at home ! ! ! So I had to yield.

I questioned and cross questioned them and proved to them
that they were going to save.no time but on the contrary wast-,
ing my first-class ticket and wasting a gallon of petrol in the bar-
gain. But they insisted that nearly an hour would be saved. The
chauffeur, however, proved my case to the hilt. He did not know
the way and he was inquiring everywhere where to turn ! I knew
I was in for it and began to be afraid that 1 may not even get
to Ramgzarh bezfore night. Actually we did 150 miles instead of
110 and would have perhaps done more had not a Hazaribagh
car with a Bihari kisan prisoner (whom 1 knew ycars.ago) over-
taken us. The inspector in charge came out of the car and said:
“Hoozur ! You did wrong in getting out at Gaya; I knew you
had a ticket for Kodarma. We were on the same train and we
detrained at Hazaribagh Road I* [ said: **Now show us the way.”

But | must finish this. Otherwise it would not be posted

ere and the Bombay Mail has arrived.

I found when the train had lett Moghulsarai that your bedd-
ing had bzen left behind! Did you get my telegram from Gaya?
I do hope they will delivet .i to you.

Plcase don’t be angry with Mani, at any rate don’t sack him.
Having bcen rebuked for leaving so many things at home I
think he was too nervous to rememuer things with the result
that he left the bedding also !

Love.

Yours,
Mahadev
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SEGAON,
Private Via WARDHA,
September 10, 1939

MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

I could not tell you much on that telephone in Jamnalalji’s
sffice surrounded by all kinds of people. Bapu suggested
yesterday a practical proposition to the W.C. assuming that the
members are not pacifists nor the ministers. He said there should
be no obstruction nor non-co-operation, and that ministers
should carry on to the cxtent it was possible and offer co-opera-
tion in all respects in which they could do so conscicntiously.
The country, he explained, was not ready for any kind of resis-
tance, that the repression would be of the fiercest type, that
though, as Jayaprakash said, we may find a hundred Jaya-
prakashes ready to be shot down, that sacrifice was hardly worth
making: that no forcigner would be better to deal with than the
British, that Imperialism would destroy itsclf in the war not to
rear its head again, and that all things considered the best policy
would be to help and not to hinder. This he said in reply to
Subhas and Jayaprakash. Subhas said he felt that the masses
were ready everywhere for a non-violent resistance and Jaya-
prakash said that he would far rather die an inglorious death
than offer any kind of help to the British. The battle is still
raging, and I cannot quite predict the upshot. But of course it
is going to lead to an open rupture with the Leftists. The W. C,
too have not yet made up their minds. I myself do not quite
sec how the ministers can offer the discriminate co-operation
that Bapu suggests. It would not be accepted I am afraid.

1 menticned to'Vailabhbhai your suggestion about making
Bapu the sole pleni-potentiary. V. Said there would be no diffi-
culty but everything would depend on Jawahar who is cxpected
here this afternoon. His friends here are not prepared to believe
that Jawahar made any statement of the kind attributed to him!
However, we shall see. Bapu is still imploring the W.C. to for-
get him and to do what it likes.

I left your bedding with Shri Mathuraprasad, Advocate,
Chairman of the Municipality, Gaya, asking him to deliver it to
you the ncxt day, or to send it on to you by Ry. parcel. I have
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given him your address Did you get my letter from Gormoh
Station
Any chance of your coming this sida?
Youwrs gqffectionately,
Mahadev
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CATCUTIA,
Spetember 11, 1939
MY DEAR MAITADI VBHAL
A car was sent to Kodarma by mv manager, but’<ince you
d d not get down there 1t had 1o 1etuin empty
1 do not know with whom vou have left the bedding, but
perhaps the friend will send 1t 1o me 1n course of time
1 tricd to get on phone tht morning but you were not avail-
able I hope the Working Commuttec will give tull powers to

Bapu and pass a tesolution to that effect
Yowr s sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas

SHRI MAHAD VBIIAI DiSAL
WARDHA

139
Working Committee’s Resolution Regarding War

The National Congie,s has since 1920 deliberately adopted
the policy of non-violence for the attainment of India’s delive-
rance from foreign dommnation In spitc of ups and downs 1n
the pursuit of the policy, the Congress 15 ab'c to show that 1t
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has never made such progress towards its goal as it has under
the policy of non-violence. Nor has the Congress exp.rienced
such phenomenal mass awakening as during the non-violent
regime. It has nevertheless to ‘oe admitted that the spirit of
non-violence has not permeated the masses as well as it, should
have done. It is also to be regretted that the Congress minis-
ters have been obliged in order to preserve peace to resort to
Police and military assistance and even to lathi charges and
firing. It is in such circumstances that the Working Committee
is called upon to interpret the Congress resolutions and the
Congréss mind over the situation created by the threatening
war clouds. The Congress can only wish a reign of peace
throughout the world. If unfortunately a world war breaks out,
it can bring no good to India or any country in the world. The
end of it will be no victory even for the socalled victors. It will
mean almost if not utter extinction of what is known as civili-
zation. The Congress therefore can take no sides. As a matter
of fact too so long as India remains under foreign domination
it can have no effective voice in the counsels of the warring
nations. The Congress is itself at war though cntirely peaceful,
with British Imperialism. All things considered, therefore, the
Congress must dissociate itself from all war preparations going
on in the country. It cannot view with unconcern the dispatch
of Indian troops to Singapore, Egypt or other countries as part
of war preparations. The Working Committee asks Congress
ministers not to associate themselves with or diréctly or indi-
rectly support any war measures that may be adopted by the
British Govcrnment. The Working Committee also calls upon
the public not fo be disturbed by war rumours snd advises
them in no way to support war measures by feeling the confi-
dence that 4ndia Which has no desire to participate in the
threatcned war can be least harmed by Congress non-parti-
cipation.

The Working Committee commends the method of non-
violence to the nations of the earth and appeals to them by
concerted action to avoid war and adjust their differences by
the peaceful method of arbitration. It is unthinkable that
enough upright men are not to be found in the world who
would apply their minds with impartiality to the adjudication
of disputes between nations.
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CALCUTTA,
*September 15, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

I am rather disappointed about the statement issued by the
Working Committee. There are so many repetitions that it
reads a rambling document, What is said in it could have becn
said in a shorter document. It is clear that Bapu had very littfe
to do with it. The language sounds more like that of Jawaharlal.
But is that all? Or any further step is going to be taken? I don’t
think the British Government will reply to this statement. But
if any assurance is needed, Bapu is the best person to get such
an assurance. I hope Bapu will again see the Viceroy and the
Working Committee will not talk through statements. Personal
touch is necessary for both sides. And after the Yiceroy has
announced the burial of Federation, which again is duc to an
agreement between the Viccroy and Bapu, I should think that
the next step would be comparatively easiecr. Bapu alonc can
handle the situation.

I tried my best to get you on phone almost every day dunng
the last four days without any result. What i> happening of the
tclephone that has been put at Maganwadi?

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SHR1I MAHADEVBHAI DLsAl
WARDHA
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SEGAON,
Via WARDHA,
September 15, 1939 .
MY DEAR GHANSHYAMDASII,
Two days I came in response to your telephone call, but
the call had been cancelled. It is no use depending on someone
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here to send me a car in time, for by the time I got here the
call is cancelled. You should have alternatively asked for
Vallabhbhai. o

You now know‘whaf has happened. It was inevitable. Bapu's
proposition did not find favour with the W. (. Vallabhbhai and
others did not, I fear, have the courage to go to theccountry
with Bapu's proposition. Then Bapu said they should listen to
Jawahar’s proposition. He came jn with a statement covering
fourteen shcets which he placed for the acceptance of the W.C.
The W.C. debated upon it for three days and, with a few
modifications, adopted the statement. Maulana and Vallabhbhai
pressed Bapu hard to retain the same position as he had occu-
pied up to now. In other words they said the ncgotiations, if
any, should be initiated with Bapu, or rather Bapu should be
the sole authority to conduct the negotiations. Bapu said he
could not agree to do this, because with the background of
the statement he could not go to government to negotiate any
terms. His way of negotiation was different from Jawahar’s
and it was for him to shoulder the whole burden. He also has
a fundamental difference regarding what was to be done in the
event of absence of response from government. In spite of this
Maulana and Vallabhbhai and others continued to press Bapu.
Then Bapu said to Jawahar: Give me your detached view. He
had no hesitation in declaring that Bapu was always a bad
negotiator, that his opponents always took an undue advan-
tage of his generosity, and he would not trust him to negotiate
with the Government. Bapu said that was quite right, though
he was sure that his generosity had never done any harm to
the nation. But Bapu was adamant that Jawahar whosc resolu-
tion the W. é willy nilly had adopted should be asked to
assume command and to shoulder the burden both of negotia-
tion, if any%hould take place, or of a fight if any should have
to be offered. How the fight is to take place no one knows and
Jawahar himself has no clear notion about it. But we have
taken a dccision of a most momentous character—more mo-
mentous than the decision taken at Lahore in 1929. For in
1930 the burden of carrying on satyagraha fell on Bapu, now
the burden on Jawahar and Bapu does not know how to help
in case the country should decide to fight—for he is convinced
that there is no atmosphere for a fight. It is a dreadful situation
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but therz was no other alternative. For the W. C. had not, the
gumplign to take the line suggested by Bapu, and Jawahar had
the cou?age of his conviction. The future is dark and gloomy
and we may have to wander jn wildefness’ now for three or
more years. But we deserve it. We have neither assimilated
Bapu’s hort-violence nor have we evolved our own policy.

This is a most superficial account of all that has happened.
To give a full and accusate account 1 should have to fill a
book. The days have been full of trial and travail for Bapu..
But he could not think of a better coursc than advising the
W C. to entrust the reigns to Jawahar.

What Government’s reaction will be, T do not dare to pre-
dict. Perhaps thcre may be no response, or an unsatisfaciory
response (which is most likely). Then we have to decide. What
to do. Let us hope and pray thal even at that grim hour Bapu's
advice may prevail . N

Yours affectionately,
Mahadev
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CALCUTTA,
September 16, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADLVBHAI,

Bapu's statement today has acted like the mr-amrw-m": of the
Working Committee’s statement and 1n fact thc commcntary is
far better than the orginal itsclf. But as I said yesterday, what
is needed is personal contact. Talking tfroughe statements
would hardly be helpful. I hope therrfore that Bapu is alrcady
taking action in this behalf.

I was talking to Sardar last night. He told me that you had
finally settled down at Scgaon. What about the phonc? Sardar
was rather in a bellicose mood which 12minded me of the Rajkot
days. Bapu’s statement on the other hand is very soothing. The
situation requires most delicate handling and I have no doubt

that Bapu is doing the needful.
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I will be going to Delhi shortly. I am wondering when
should I go to Wardha. Or is Bapu going to Dethi in the first
week of October? ’

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SHRI MAHADLVBIAI DEsAT
.SEGAON
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ON WAY To WARDHA,
September 18, 1939
MY DCAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

I have told you the circumstances in which the W. C. reso-
lution came to be passed. Since then Bapu’s statement has
appcared in the Press and 1 think it saves the situation admira-
bly well. There could not be a more luminous exposition of the
W. C.’s resolution, and if you have not already sent this state-
ment to our three friends in London you shou!d now do so.
The Statesman’s article is astonishingly good. You should send
a copy of that article too. I think Russia’s entry in the war
makes our way casier—and also Britain’s way easier to make a
wholc hearted responsc to the Congress gesturc. Otherwise
they would be done for. And if Japan joins Russia, we might
be called upon to bear a fair amount of the brunt of the war.
Heaven alohe knows what 1s 1n store for us. But the principle
of non-violence by which we have been swearing these 20 years
scems to be under a heavy eclipse. My heart sinks within me
as I think of the implications of the principle which are quite
clear to me, but which it seem, so impossible for us to live up
to. Bapu himself is going through a terrible mental struggle—
if not anguish, and I think he even prays that God may take
him away without putting an unbearable strain on him.

1 am going to Madras on one year’s Ambassadorial mis-
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sions, to acquaint C. R. with the whole situation and to Jgell
him how much hz can do at this juncture. I know you will be
able to put two and two together.
Yours,
Mabhadev
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SEGAON,
October 4, 1939
DEAR GHANSHYAMDASIJI,

My brother (Pyarelal) has asked me to write a few lines to
you about Bapu’s health, as he himself is too busy and may not
find any time to write to you today.

Mahadevbhai must have explained to you what the swelling
on Bapu’'s feet was an indication of. At Bardoli he was working
under a tremendous pressurc throughout his stay there. That
kept his b.p. up and naturally the heart had to work under a
strain. This coupled with deficient sleep proved too much for
the heart. So the response of the heart muscle to the demands
on it became difficult. Swelling on the feet which is the first
sign of a failing heart appeaied. He was made to take complete
rest after that and I must say he is trying to make it as complete
as possiblc. Mental work has be:. reduced to a minimum
though yesterday he again had a strcuuous day writing out that
statement in answer to the Viceroy’s comnfunjque and then
addressing those 70 delegates who have come to stay the
Wardha scheme of cducation. He is not taking any walks and
sleeps as much as he can. The day beforc yestorday fic slept for
10 hours durine the night and for i v, during malish and for
1hr. during the afternoon. That made the total of sleep during
24 hrs., 12 hours. Yesterday he slept for 9 hrs. Sleep is sound.
The swelling on the feet is subsiding. But even when the
swelling has completely gone he will need to take prolonged
rest. The swelling is only an indication that the horse has been
overwhipped beyond its capacity. His b.p. yesterday was 186/
106 throughout the day. Today after the mid-day sleep it is
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172/100. With proper care the swelling will subside within less
than a week. His urine is free from albumen and although the
hcart sounds show a tired heart muscle, there i> no «ﬁa‘lalion of
the heart. All this ‘indicates a gpod prognosis provided Bapu
and the rest are careful.
Yolurs ‘sincerely,
Sushila
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S1GAON,
Via WARDHA,
October 15, 1939
MY DIAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

Will you kindly let me know, as soon as possible, if there 1s
any passport needed for going to Burma? I do not think there
is any nced, but 1 should like to make sure as Prithwisingh
wants to go to Burma to see his brother.. Perhaps Gaganvihari
Mehta may be able to give you precise information.

What do you make of Laithwaite's talk with Devdas. The
outlook is gloomy, but it is quite likely that he may have
discussed the details of the formula with Rajaji.

Yours affectionatcly,
Mahadev
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SEGAON ASHRAM,
Via WARDHA,
October 15, 1939

MY DIAR GHANSHYAMDASJI,
I must acquaint you with the latest developments. Rajaji
who was here for the A.I.C.C. was invited by the Viceroy, or
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rather was askcd b, his Governor to see the Viceroy in Delhi.
He was rather hesitant, as> he feared that people might begin to
make all kinds of speculations and he also had a suspicion that
Jawaharlal and others might nqt like it but Bapu was absolutcly
clear that he should go and so the rest also agreed with him.
1 now helr that he has had two intcrviews with the Viceroy
and it could not be all for nothing. At all events we should be
able to know something as seon as h2 returns here this evening.,
In the mean while I pass on to you the following conversation
between Devdas and Laithwaite when he saw him on the
eleventh to hand him my letter. This letter 1 had written to him,
at Bapu’s insiance, giving him an account of the A.1.C.C. and
the part that Jawaharlal had played in it. On reading thc letter
L. said, *““Yes, I was giad mysclf to see that Nehiu had spoken
as he had. It 1s so difficult to say unpopular thing.”

DrvDAS: The great thing about him is his honesty. He shuns
duplicity and that is why he spoke as he did.

LOTHIAN® [ will of course show this to H.E In fact I show
him all that Mahadev sends me.

pivpas: In fact my father wanted to write to H.E. himself
but this is as good as his letter. He had no time and he
wds s0 tred. Well, we are hoping that something good
is coming out of all this.

LOTHIAN: Well, you know that therc are difficulties and it is
an understatement to say that there arc difficulties. You
cannot get away from the faict that the minorities arc
upset and suspicious. The Congress says we have been
going too slow and we have not gone fgr enough, but
the minorities say, we have gone too far and too fast.
I don’t attach much value to the.e various sects but the
Muslims and the Congress are vital. Alo you? can’t just
brush aside the Hindu Mahaszbha or Ambedkar.

DLADAS: It is impossible to deny that therc is discontent
among certain classcs. But what is felt is that something
probably could be donc without sacrificing or making
any commitment affecting the interests of the minorities.
That 1s cssential and there 1s really no bargaining
becausc in a sensec you have already got the Congress
support and help incoming in various ways.
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. LOTHIAN: That is true and I know something can be done
in a general way and the whole issue shelved in a cloud
of words. But that would not be honest. It would only
bs hoodwiking'the whole world.

DEVDAS: There can be no question of anyone wanting the
Government to do anything that is not absolutely honest.
But what we fecl is that the minority question is not the
only issue. After making due allowance for the minority
problems and its importance there is a big residue which
concerns Englishmen themselves. There is something
about which they have to make up their minds. They
must face that issue some day. That issue can be faced
today and it need not be anything of which they might
repent when the war 1s over and as is cxpected the
democracies have won.

LOTHIAN: Yes, but let me now take you back to my first
point. The Mussalmans and the others—they don’t
agree with the Congress.

DEVDAS: [ think it 1s fairly plainthat the Congress in this
matter has no ulterior motive against the Mussalmans.
If anything the Congress is anious to do ecverything to
satisfy them. If H.E. is convinced of this his way should
be clear. The Congress has no hostile designs against
anybody.

LOTHIAN: You may be sure that so far as H.E. is concerned
he has no suspicions of any kind. He understands the
position very well. But the fact that Congressmen’s
intentions are honest does not take us any further as
regardg the actual fact of the minorities’ suspicion but
H.E. has the whole position before him now and he has
rcceived the greatest possible assistancce from Mr.
Gandhi. The undcrstanding between them is perfect.

pevDAS: I know my father has felt absolutely at home with
the Viceroy and 1 am sure it is H.E. who has got to
solve the question. I don’t think London can do any-
thing of its own accord.

LOTHIAN: Yes, that is another matter. London has to be
taken into account but whatever happens nothing can
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alter the great mutuval understanding between H.E. an
ybur father.
Yours sincerel)
Mahadev

};S. § dictated this letter to Bawla and started typing

directly. Bapu wants me to go to Calcutta on a Fool

Errand. In case I have to go, I shall send you a wire.
M.LC
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CALCUTTA,
October 17, 1939
MY DEAR MAIIAD VBIIAIL,

1 did not write to you about my own cenversation with Sir
Maurice Gwyer. I had tea with him at his hou<c and we talked
for a hour and a half. I realised that the Hindu-Muslim ques-
tion and other petty questicns were likely to causc difficultics.
And yet I got an impression that something was possible to be
done and perhaps might be done But the whole question is
whether that ‘something’ will be able to satisfy Jawaharlalji.
T am very hopeful that if Bapu knows the whole formula and
the position of the Government, then he would be able to make
changes as may make the offer acceptable Yo the Rightists in
the Congress. And eventually perhaps this is what is going to
happen.

Rajaji was very pessimistic. But if he is 1009; pessimistic,
you have to make allowance and assess tis value for not more
than 75%. I think by nature he is pessimistic. And yet there is
no doubt there are difficultics.

This morning Mr. H.M. Bose phoned and asked me if you
were coming. 1 said I did not know, il you were coming and I
did not see why you were coming. But it looks now from your
letter that you may come, although it may be on fool’s errand
or wise men’s errand, whichever term might suit you!
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°I am staying here for a week but am ready to leave for
Delhi any time if Bapu gocs there.
I had a letter fyom Laithwaite which Birla House"™ got after
1 left Delhi. He said perhapsthe would fix some time for me
with the Vicerey during the next week (thatis this week). I
wrote back from Benares saying that I was on my way to
Calcutta and as His Excellency was having so many interviews,
eI Joathed to add to thesc interViews but that if he thought I
could be of some use, he might send me a wire. But | don’t
think I will be needed.
Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SyT. MAHADEVBHAI DESAI
SrGAON
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CALCUTTA,
October 18, 1939
MY DFAR MAHADI VBIAIL

At last the statement has comec out and it is rather dis-
appointing. But I fecl we descrved it. We are a hous: divided
against ourselves and in such a mess the Viceroy could not
have given us tny"other reply than what he has given.

It is possible to interpret the statement as a dishonest as
well as an honest document. Devdas who talked to mc on
phone remarked that somchow or other he did not dislike it.
But it all depends on how a man 1eads it. If we look at our own
disunity, then, one cannot help fecling that we could not have
got anything better. If, on the other hand, we bank only on
the generosity of the Britisher and ignore our own shorlcom-
ings, then we come to a different conclusion. But I am still
wondering whether it is not possible for Bapu to build some-
thing constructive on the foundation of this very statement.
Bapu is evidently to be invited again and let us hope for the
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best. I suppose the Congress Governments will now resign.

I haye just received your letter of the 15th. No passport is
needed fos going to Burma.

Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas
SHR1 MAHADEVBHAI DESAI
SLGAON
149
SrGaon,

Via WARDHA,
October 21, 1939
MY DFAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

Your letter of the 18th. The visit on fool's errand is quash-
ed—thank God. Bapu wanted me to sce the Metropolitan in
order to let him to approach the Furopean to bring pressure on
the Viceroy. On second thoughts he decided that it might be of
no use.

You must have rcad Bapu's strongly worded statement
with a certaian amount of surprise—if I am to_judge from your
own reaction to it. But there was nothing for it ‘but for Bapu to
speak his mind out. He feels that the Viceroy did nothing at
all to convert the dichard at Home, and he alfo éccls that all
his labours in explaining his viewpoint to him were wasted.
Yesterday the Times of India man came witle proofs of ‘An
Appeal to Mr. Gandhi’ that was going to appear in the paper
as an editorial. [t was written, said Gopal Swani, in consulta-
tion with the Governor of Bombay. Bapu has given him a long
interview which I dare say will be wired everywhere by the
NPI and which you will have seen before this is in your hands.
It is up to the Government to respond to the suggestion made
therein. It is one of the most constructive efforts of Bapu and
might have the importance that the Teecthal interview had. But
Munshi who phoned yesterday from 2078 Delhi said to me
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that to Jagdish’s suggestion that the V. should see Bapu again
the latter said: “It is no use. Why should I drag him here, when
I know that I can give him nothing more?”’
That is all T can say today.
Yours affectionately,
Mahadev
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CALCUTTA,
Octobar 23, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

In my opinion the resolution of the Working Committee
was extremely dignified. I do not know what the Viceroy is
going to do but I cannot conceive that all that has been done
during the last two years will now be undone suddenly. It will
all depend on how we tachle the question, but so far I think we
have played our cards well and I hope eventually we will
succeed. But that i only a hope. On the surface of it the things
look very gloomy.

1 hope Bapu is keeping quite well.
Yours sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas

SHRI MAHADLCVBYAI DESAIL
S1GAON
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November 29, 1939

MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,
This enclosed cutting referring to the speech of Jawaharlalji

has caused some irritation here, His reference to the Viczroy’s
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offer of giving some big posts and getting ready for the crisis is,
in my opinion, not very helpful.

1 had.a long talk today with Laithwaite and he will convey
the whole thing to the Viceroy. After that pcrhaps I will see His
excellency if he so dcesires. If there is anything important, I will
write to you again.

“ours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdag

SyYT. MAHADFVBHAI DrSAl
WARDHA

152

.

Novembher 30, 1939
MY DLAR MAHADIVBHAI,
I have not yet met any big boss but from the atmosphere
here I gather that the position is something like this

1. The Viccroy is cxtremely anvious to resolve the diffe-
rences and get the Congress back in office but he would not
be allowed to makce any declaration which would in any way
offend the Mushms. It is unposssible for them to do so at
this stage. After we have resigned, the Punjab and Bengal
ministers have bheen taking a v ry defiant attitude. Rama-
swamy Mudaliar, the Commerce Member,em i recently went
to Calcutta, was waited upon by a deputation consisting of
Ewopean jute nill-owners. They very bjjterly complained
against the mimsters saving that on account ol constant
speculation by the ministers the business had become very
unstable in Calcutta. The Commerce Member, of course,
could not give them any consolation. The Punjab and
Bengal ministrics are reported to have told the Government
of India that under the instructions of the Muslim League
they were carrying their resignations in their pcckets. And
since the Congress ministries have resigned, people here dare
not offend them.
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_ 2. The Home Cabinet seems to feel that the Viceroy has

already offended the princes and they would not like him
to take any risk as far as the Muslims are concerr)ed unless
they could be sure of placating the Congress in reasonable
way. And even they will not take any big risk with the
Muslims. They cannot forget that in the ncar East all the
powers are Muslim Powers and just now they are involved
in war. )

3. The Muslims will not settle with us under any cir-
cumstances unless we are prepared to give them vetoing
power in constitutional matters. Jinnah and others arc
bitterly complaining that Jawaharlal never tried to nego-
tiate with them and now they have taken up the attitude
that when Jawaharlal sees Jinnah next time, Jinnah will tell
him that they could both talk as individuals but that if we
really wanted to negotiate, the Congress must write officially
to the Muslim League recognising the latter as the represen-
tative of the Muslim community of India. And 50-50 will
be the basis.

There is thus no chance of a settlement. Men like Jagdish
and Ramaswamy Mudaliar and some other feel that had we
been in officc the Muslims would have been in a better mood to
settlc with us. Now there will be no settlement so far as they are
concerned. They are all still hoping that Gandhiji will do some-
thing to resolve the differences and get the Congress ministries
back in the provinces. Every high placed Hindu hcre seems to
feel that unless we are in power the Muslims will never settle. Sir
Jagdish, of coursg, feels that if by any chance we get in the Exc-
cutive Council of the Viceroy, eight provinces and the Centre
will become more or less Congress governments. I think there is
much in what tney say. I am just letting you know how the
wind blows.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

SHR!I MAHADLVBHAI DESAL
WARDHEA
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December 8, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADFVBHAL,

Thcre is a feeling here, and although the Viceroy does not
associate hitnself with it, I feel his mind also is prejudiced, that
the Rightists and the Leftists are jointly playing a game. The
Rightist comes and asks fot a certain gesture and when some-
thing is conceded, it is not accepted. It is not realised that the
fault 1s of H. M. G. themselves who made declarations after
declarations without finding out whether their declaration would
be accepted by the Congress or not. Yet the fact remains that
the Viceroy’s stocks with H. M. G. have gonc down. He has
had a defeat twice and now he is somewhat chary of making
any dcclaration. Bapu’s article about the definition of Dominion
Status also was misunderstood here although they should not
have done so. And Jawaharlalji’s attack on the U.P. civilians
too has caused a lot of irtitation among the civilians. The
Viceroy therefore in a way has resigned to the defeat and per-
haps the reactionary clement is getting more powerful.

The Viceroy complained about Bapu’s article and he said his
hands were being weakened. He was rather gloomy and fclt as if
nothing more could be donc since anything that he said would
be rejected by the Congress. The defeat, according to him, was
accepted not because he did not want to do anything but because
it was imposgible to placate thc Congress. And the difficulty
about the Mussalmans, of course, is a real difficulty. I therefore
again saw Laithwaite today and had a long talk with him. The
result of this talk has been that he has begufl t® sce the thing
in a different light. I told him that he was sceing things which
did not exist and he is prepared to accept my assugance. The
net result of the talk is that in consultation with Rajaji, if Rajaji
helps me, I will put forward a formu'a to Laithwaitc on bchalf
of myself and he has promised to help me by giving me cons-
tructive criticism and also help me in revising the draft, but
only on behalf of himsell. If we both can find a common
ground, then the next step would be that 1 will have to show it
to Bapu. In case it is necessary, you may have to come to
Calcutta because coming and going to and fromm Wardha would
waste a lot of time, at any rate in the preliminary stage.
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I have spoken to you all these things on phone. Luckily,
Rajaji comes tomorrow and it will be a great help.

Your. sincerely,

Ghanshyamdas

SHRU MAHADFVBHAI Drsal
SEGAON
Via WARDHA

154

ON WAY BACK To WARDHA,
December 25, 1939
MY DIAR GHANSHYAMDASSI,

1 have been practically on the move for the last two wecks
and quite out of touch with things at home. Everyone that I
met in Madras said that the Viceroy would see Bapu in Bombay.
I do not hknow how far this is true, but if there is some truth in
this, you must know. Is Devdas still there?

Jamnadas Gandhi who was working in Bachharaj Co. and
was getting Rs. 400 has applied for the post of Asst. Sales
Manager advertised by the Sugar Syndicate. He is Maganlal
Gandhi’s brother, quite competent and incorruptible. If you
have any voice in the selection, I would ask you to consider his
application favourably. Devdas might tell you more about him.

Yours,
Mahadev

PS. Any chance of our meeting now?

155

December 28, 1939

MY DFAR MAHADEVBHAI,
I forgot to tell you on phone that Mr. Southby met me at the
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Viceroy’s House here and asked me to remember him to you.
You seem to have struck very fast friendship with him. He ex-
pressed a*desire that next time when yqu are in Delhi. I should
make arrangement for him toiave a quite mcetmg with you. 1
told h1m that I was hoping that Bapu would go to Delhi and so
you would be there about the middle of January.

Yours affectionately,

Ghanshyamdas

SHR1 MAHADEVBHAI DisAl
SKrGAON
WARDHA

156

Deccember 28, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHAI,

With reference to Jamnadas Gandhi, T will speak to
Brajmohan who has got some voice in the matter. But I under-
stand, if I am not mistaken, that a Mohammedan gentleman
has already been rccommended very strongly by Maulana Abul
Kalam Azad for the post. 1d 1 am not sure whether Brajmohan
has not alréady taken action.

You ask meif there is any chan < of our mccung in the near
future. I am hoping that we will me=t in Delzu, but how far this
hope will materialise, time alone will show. I notbnly met South-
by but I have been keeping in touch with the other family mem-
bers of the Viceroy. The Viceroy, I am told ¥rom ceery quarter,
is depressed because he is disappointed. Lady Linlithgow told
me that the Viceroy was drcaming thtt during his term of office
a ncw India will be born and the hepe had not materialised so
far. This time, if Bapu is invited, he should sit down in Delhi
and not leave the things incomplete. Either there should be a
complete settlement or a final ‘No’. 1 am sure in my own mind’
that with the desire to settle on both sides, which [ think is al-
ready there, there is no reason why a scttlement should not be
arrived at.
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Woula 1t be correct to say that so far we have simply talked
and not come to brass tacks?

Dr. Profulla Ghosh met me the other day and told me that
Bapu said that he would ask m¢ to relieve him of his promlse
to visit Pilani because he wanted to have leisure to “cook up”’
the things. I told him that I would never think of" drawmg on
his time, when he was busy with such an important task.

Yours sincerely,
Ghanshyamdas

PS. Since writing the above, I have talked to Brajmohan
about Jamnadas Gandhi and he tells me that there is at
present no desire to fill up the vacancy. All the sam:,
he promised to recommend the name of Jamnadas
Gandhi.

G. D.

SHRI MAHADEVBHAI DLSAI
SEGAON
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December 29, 1939
MY DEAR MAHADEVBHALI,

I have been Inceting a number of people just now, as
Calcutta is humming with all the big guns. I am not writing to
you in detail what talk 1 had with whom. But I have formed
a definite impression on the following points:

1. Dominion Status of th> Westminster Statute type is
assured and could be achieved immcdiately afier the termi-
nation of War.

2. During the War period maximum application of this
Status could be arranged through the Consultative Com-
mittce and by enlargement of the Viceroy’s Cabinet and
eventually by establishment of Federation with such modi-
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fications as we demand.

#. The Communal tension is the greatest stumbling block
in our way, but it could be solved on the basis of Coalition
Government in U.P., Bihag, the Pur:jab Bengal and Assam.
The ba51s of Coalition would be agreement on the election
manifesto of the majority party and then inclusion of com-
munal representatives in the cabinet duly clected by their
co-religionists. Where the minority is below 109, coalition,
would not be necessary. Since we can get coalition on subs-
tantially our own programme in the Punjab and Bengal, I
don’t sec why we should fear to reciprocate in Bihar and
U. P. There is no danger, if such coalition is arrived at after
thorough discussion about the principles.

4. The question of Defence and princes will have to be
settled during the War pcriod. But once we are in the
Viceroy's cabinet, the question could be easily settled since
the atmospherc would become quite different once we come
back. And il these two things arc settled between ourselves
and H.M.G., then even before the termination of War, we
will have freedom in practice.

Don’t you think that in the picture that 1 have drawn we
get all that we need and that we can digest? And don’t you
think that independence is more or less assured of realisation
through this process? And 'f that be so, then why should we
create an atmosphere of light?

Bapu perhaps would be invited to Delhi alter somc time
and 1 should think that on these lines it would be possible to
arrive at a settlement. There seems to be a de8iresto create coali-
tion even in Bengal before it is done clscwhere by way of ges-
ture so that we may have to reciprocate in other provinces. But
since it is known that the Congress is not out to acv.cpt office,
there is hesitation in making such an offer. It serves the pur-
pose of everyone here by beginning coalition in Bengal first of
all becausc the present Government is such as is disliked by
all except the Muslim League.

Yours sincerely s
Ghanshyamdas
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MAGANWADI,
WarpHA (C. P,
DLCAR GHANSHYAMDASII,

I hope you arc getting regular news about Bapu’s health. I
had your wire, to which Bapu sent a reply to the effect that
Dr. Gilder and Dr. Jivraj Mehta had alrcady cxamined him,
but Bidhan had the right to come whenever he hked. 1 hope,
you had that wire. Since then Dr. Clement C. Chesterman,
M. D., M.R.C.P., has examuned him yesterday. 1le could tell
the condition to be more stisfactory than the Bombay doctors
report indicated. Today’s bulletin is enclosed herewith. But the
fact is that temporary allcviation of symptoms is little conso-
lation. Because, if the symptoms continue to disappear and
reappear off and on, it would mean that the trouble has only
for the time being gone underground, but continues to brew
all the same. Bapu himsclf regards 1t as the beginning of a new
phase which necessitates a corresponding change in his mode
of lifc. He must curtail his **pravritti” and depend morc and
more upon “sankalp™ and thc power ofsilence. Whether he
will be ablc to do so and extend the span of his life to the
desired limit as he put it, will depend on the co-operation of
all concerned. Pméntion this to you so that you might be able
to apply your organising mind to it and help to give it a con-
crete shape,

I shall send you a copy of the letter you have asked for as
soon as the Rajkumari can supply me with one.

The letter from the V. to which Laithwaite referred in the
course of your talk with you was received the other day. Bapu
has replied to it saying that if his (B’s) ignorance could be dis-

* pelled through personal contact, he would be willing to run up
to Delhi even at the risk of a collapse.

Bapu is getting more and more convinced that there can be
no surrender on a moral issue such as the Rajkot involved.
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The Thakore is therc by virtue of the British Government.
His plighted word is therefore binding upon the government.
If we cannot check goondaism within the Indian states, or a
palpable and manifest breach of faith by'an Indian prince,
under compulsxon from above, we shall have to be ready to
witness helblessly the scrapping of the Government of India
Act intoto in the near futurc.

Yesterday I had gone to meet the President at the Railway,
station. On our rcturn, we just dropped at Jamnalalji’s bung-
alow. Just at that time there was a trunk call from Rajkot, Ba
and Maniben spcaking. The Thakorc had sent them word that
as Bapu was reported to be seriously ill, Ba could be sent to
Wardha. They must have insisted on ascerteining the facts for
themselves first. So they had been brought to Rajhot for that
purpose. 1 gave them the exact details of Bapu's condition and
warned them against being tahen n by any such ruse. They
seemed happy and cheerful. Ba did not want anybods to worry
about her.

Yuurs sincerely,
Pyarelal

159

Bulictin on Bapu's Health

From yesterday the swelling on Bapu's feet has again in-
crcased a little. The b, p. is also tending to Ly up. lor the last
three days he has given up observing silence and hat been busy
with visitors. Physical rest and low diet s being continued.
His b. p. last evening was 190/110.  « day after mid-day slcep
is 176/104.

Sushila Nayar
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Bulletin on Bapnu’s Health

SEGAON,
' WARDHA,

Bapu is steadily improving. There is hardly any swelling on
the feet today. His weight today was 107 Ibs, 1.e., a loss of 2}
Ibs from last Sunday.

Diet consists of 8 oz milk, 6-7 oranges, 40 oz glucose, 60 0z
green vegetables.

Physical rest will be continued for about a week more and
if all gocs well he will be able to begin taking walks from next
week.

The heart sounds are much better. B. P. today at 5 a.m.
was 180/104.

Sushila Nayar

161 .

SLGAON,
WARDHA,
FIRsT MEMBLR
RAJKOT

THANKS WIRF. YOU ARI SILINT ABOUT HUNGIR STRIKI. HAVE
AGAIN LONG WIRE, ABOUT ATROCITILS. DIFFICULT DISBELILVE. LVERY
DAY URGE GROWING THAT 1 SHOULD MYSILF LUNGE. AGONY OF
RULLCR’S BREACH OF FAITH COUPLLS WITH GROWING TALIS OF
«TERRORISM BECOMING UNBIARABLE. HAVE NO DESIRE EMBARRASS
THAKORE SAHEB OR COUNCIL WOULD LIKE YOU LISTEN TO VOICE
OF OLD MEN CLAIMING TO BE RAJKOT'S FRIENDS,

GANDHI
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Utlpublished Notes of an Interviey with Gandhiji of
Mr. Steel, Correspondent of “The New York Times”

QuISTION: What is your idea of independence?

ANSWER: By independence I mean complete withdrawal of
British power from India. It may be partnership at wil»
between two nations enjoying independent status to be
terminated by cither at will. It need not be dilferent from
Dominion Status. It won't be perhaps a happy term for
India which is ethnologically and politically so different.
But perhaps this term is as clastic a> the English Con-
stitution, and if it could be found to cover a cax like
India, and if India can come 1o an honourable agree-
ment with England, I would not quarrel abowl words. If
British statesmen feel it convenient to use the word
‘Dominion Status’ about India rather than any other in
order to describe that honourable agreement, I will not
quarrel.

QUESTION: There are elements in the Congress like Mr. Bose
and his party, who want Ab.olute Independence outside
the Empire?

ANSWER: Tt is only question of terminology. We may speak
different language ' at we mean the same thing. ‘If
partiership i» feasible,” 1 say to Subhas Babu, ‘How
would you call it?" He would say that the British will not
yield so easily as I would imegine. He would prefer to
cultivate the idea that India can exist’as®n independent
entity. 1 would say it would suit my temperament better
to usc the language that I use, and itwould,show that [
believed in the essential identity ot human nature.

QULSTION: Are there any negetiations going on at present
between you and the authoritics about the Fedcration?

ANSWLR: None whatsocver. The present Viceroy is uot built
that way.

QursTioN: How do you mean?

ANSWER: He does not belicve in doing things privately or
secrctly. He would lay all his cards on the table. At any
rate that is my opinion. I think he does believe that no

L]
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« cause will be damaged by open negotiation.

But the Federation will not come becausc it is aceeptable
neither to the 'Congrcss nor to the Mussaltnans and
princes. 1 am inclined to think that the British statesmzn
will not impose the Fedecration upon India. They will
try to placate all parties. That at any rate'is my hope.
It would be a first class tragedy if it i» imposed on
India. The federal structure cannot be brought into
bzing in the opposition and sullemness. If it is not
wanted by any of the parties, it would be the height of
imprudence to force it.

QUESTION: What 15 the alternative?

ANSWER: It may be to offer something acceptable to all or
cither of the three parties.

QuisTION: But you do not believe with Mr. Bosc that it
would be uselul to issue an ultimatuin?

ANsWIR: That is the fundamental difference betwecn Mr.
Bose and me. Not that the ultimatum t in itself wrong,
but it has to bec backed by an effective sanction and
there is no non-violent sanction today. If all parties
could come to an honourable understanding a non-
violent sanction can be easily forged.

QUESTION: Is the situation with regard to the Hindu-Muslim
question worse?

ANSWER: Jt is apparently getting worse. But I have a hope
that ultimately we are bound to come toygether. The
intcrests that bind us are so tremendous that Jeaders of
both scctions must come to terms. That we appear to be
farthestapdrt today is a natural outcome of the awaken-
ing that has taken place. It has cmphasised points of
diffegence, grejudices, jealousies and new dcmands arc
going into being every day making confusion worse
confoundcd. But 1 hope out of chaos order 15 going to
rise.

QuisrioN: Can the differences between the Muslim Leaguc
and the Congress be bridged?

ANSWER: The differences are insubstantial.

QuUESTION: You think the time is not yet ripe for an
ultimatum? What then do you think should be the next
move?
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ANSWIR: The next move is to {)ut our house in order.
Jmmediately we have done it, and brought together
various elements we should be ready.

QUESTION: How do you expect the ¥.S. te help you?

ANSWIR: I expect much frém the U.S. by way of enlightened
friendly criticism, if it must be criticism, what I find
today is excessive praise of Indian effort or hopelessly
unenlightened criticjsm. The Press has taken very little
trouble to enlighten American opinion along the right
lines.

QUESTION: Does your renunciation of the Gwyer Award
imply an abandonment of cffort?

ANSWIR: On the contrary. Having cased mysclf of this
burden of crror, I feel as light as a bird and freer to
continue my effort to improve conditions in the ludian
states.

163

SiGAON,
WARDIIA,
MY DI AR AGATTIA,

At last 1 have a copy of your personal letter. 1t is exhaustive.
Of course you will come when you are ready. I am wriung to
G. about your passage. You must not de gangry with your
friends about their writing to me. But I am at case, now that
I have your assurancc that you will always lct me know your
wants no matter whether I can supply them or nof’

You arc having an anxious time there. Nothing but good
can come out of these contacts. I 1uok forward to your account
of the happcnings.

Here the Federation discussion does not worry me. The
question: of the release of political prisoners does. I have not yet
made an impression upon the powers that be that their releasc
cannot but make for peace. Their declaration of non-violence
needs to be taken at its value. I can certainly work upon it and
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hold the declarants to their promise. But the authorities are
timid. However, I am patiently working at it and have not lost
hope that they will be releascd before it is too late. | am well,
considering the strzin I wm going through.

Love.
Yours,

Bapu






So muclh is zood that our fuiure depends on
our strength, truthfulness, courage, dctermina-
tion, diligence and discipline.

July 18, 1937

Being an ardent belicver in the efficacy of non-
violence, I do ™ot have any faith in any such
punitive system—it is one and the sam: thiag,
whether the punishment entails violence on
a single individual or violence commutted for
purrase of general wellarc of the socicety.

L * *

India will rise or fall by the quality of the sum-
total of the acts of her many millions. Indivi-
duals however high they may be are of nn
account except in so far as they represent the
many millions.

April 2, 1939
M.K. Gandhi



